The London School of Economics and Political Science

Partnership or Partnerships? An Assessment of China-EU Relations between 2001 and 2013 with Cases Studies on Their Collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy

Jie Yu

A thesis Submitted to the Department of International Relations of the London School of Economics for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, London, September 2014

Declaration

I certify that the thesis I have presented for examination for the MPhil/PhD degree of the London School of Economics and Political Science is solely my own work other than where I have clearly indicated that it is the work of others (in which case the extent of any work carried out jointly by me and any other person is clearly identified in it).

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. Quotation from it is permitted, provided that full acknowledgement is made. This thesis may not be reproduced without my prior written consent.

I warrant that this authorisation does not, to the best of my belief, infringe the rights of any third party.

I declare that my thesis consists of **93820**words.

Statement of use of third party for editorial help

I can confirm that my thesis was copy edited for conventions of language and grammar by Mr. Ross McNeil and Mr. Joseph Barnsley

Abstract

This thesis provides an in-depth and detailed examination of China-EU relations between 2001 and 2013. Specifically, it investigates the collaboration on Climate Change and Renewable Energy between China and the European Union. It departs from the conventional academic literature in the field, which has treated Sino-European relations as bilateral ties between Beijing and Brussels, as well as between China and the national capitals of the EU member states. Instead, it studies Sino-European relations by focusing on individual institutions and corporate organisations. To achieve this, this thesis investigates the foreign policy formation and execution process in Beijing. It offers a detailed examination of the relations between elements of the Chinese Communist Party, as the ultimate decision maker, the Chinese governmental institutions and the Chinese companies involved in renewable and climate sectors. It analyses the extent to which changes in foreign policy priorities and the growing numbers of players involved in Beijing's foreign policy making process have altered China's EU policy. It also investigates individual actors on the European side. In particular, it focuses on whether the European actors recognise changes in China's foreign policy agenda as well as whether they have responded effectively to shifts in the institutional balance of power in Beijing. It uses Sino-European collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy as case studies to answer the key research question "To what extent are China-EU relations pre-dominantly determined by the interests of a diverse range of foreign policy actors?" It thus identifies who shapes the bargaining process; on which policy each actor bargains with, and the outcomes of the relevant bargaining process. The thesis was conducted using qualitative research methods, especially a large number of in-depth interviews, many of them with members of the commercial and political elite, and drawing the secondary sources to corroborate the interview results.

To My Parents Chu Rongying and Yu Zhanhai

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments7
List of Abbreviations
Chapter One: Introduction Error! Bookmark not defined.
Section 1.1: Literature Review on China-EU Relations Error! Bookmark not defined.
Section 1.2 The Analytical Framework and the Study of China-EU RelationsError! Bookmark not defined.
Section 1.3 Foreign Policy Analysis (FPA) and the Study of China-EU RelationsError! Bookmark not defined.
Section 1.4: An Overview of China-EU Collaboration on Climate Change and Renewable Energy
Section 1.5: Research Design for the Thesis
Chapter Two: Not Quite a Strategic Partnership: An Assessment of China's EU Policy between 2001 and 201373
Section 2.1: An Overview of China's EU Policy between 2001 and 2013 Error! Bookmark not defined.
Section 2.2: The Bureaucratic Actors in China's Foreign Policy Making Process and their impact on China's EU policy making
Section 2.3: Chinese Corporate actors in China's Foreign Policy Making Process and Their Impact on China's EU Policy
Chapter 3: Disjointed Partnerships: The Development of EU's China Policy between 2001 and 2013
Section 3.1: The Developments of the EU's China Policy and Power Shifts Among EU Institutions
Section 3.2: The EU Member States' China Policy between 2001 and 2013
Section 3.3 European Corporate Sector and the Developments of China-EU Relations142
Chapter Four: Green Partnerships in the Making: the Development of China-EU Climate Change and Renewable Energy Collaborations: A Chinese Institutional Perspective
Section 4.1: China's Climate Change Policy Making Process and its Key Institutional Actors
Section 4.2: Many Bureaucratic Rifts: The Roles of Chinese Central Governmental Institutions in Determining the Sino-EU Collaboration on Climate Change

Section 4.3: The Importance of the Chinese Central Governmental Institutions in Shaping China-EU Collaboration on Renewable Energy
Chapter Five: The Powerful, and the Vulnerable Few: the Role of Chinese Companies in Shaping China-EU Collaborations in Renewable Energy
Section 5.1 Chinese Companies and Their Relations with the Party and the Governmental Institutions
Section 5.2 The Role of Chinese State Owned Enterprises Participating in China-EU Collaborations on Renewable Energy
Section 5.3 The Role of Provincial Governments and Other Chinese Enterprises Participating in Sino-European Renewable Energy Collaboration and Competition
Chapter Six: A Fragmented European Union's Responses to the Chinese Governmental Apparatus and Corporate Sector during collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy
Section 6.1 The Role of the EU Institutions in Determining the Sino-European Collaborations
on Climate Change and Renewable Energy264
Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy
Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU
Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy
Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy
Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy
Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy
Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy. 282 Section 6.3 The Role of the European Companies in Determining the China-EU 282 Collaboration on Climate Change and Renewable Energy. 300 Chapter Seven: Conclusion for the Thesis. 318 Section 7.1 Theoretical Contribution 322 Section 7.2: Empirical Conclusion 330

Acknowledgments:

I am deeply indebted to all friends and colleagues who have consistently supported me throughout the last four years of my research journey.

I have a tremendous deal of respect and appreciation for the supervision provided by Professor Chris Hughes. His generous and candid comments have been a constant source of guidance and inspiration to me. His timely observations have greatly helped me to keep my research on the right track. If this thesis has been completed in good time, it is because of his continuous support and encouragement.

My heartfelt gratitude goes to Professor Arne Westad at Harvard University and Professor Michael Cox at LSE IDEAS. They have offered me tremendous opportunity for intellectual stimulation through my work experience for the IDEAS East Asia Programme and the LSE-PKU summer school. They have provided me with new perspectives on international politics and China in the wake of global power shift.

These special thanks also extend to my friends and colleagues at IDEAS, who offered me a second home away from home. My special gratitude goes to Joseph Barnsley, Dr. Luc Brunet, Dr. John Collins, Dr. Robert Falkner, Tiha Fraunlovic, Dr. Nicholas Kitchen, Dr. Emilia Knight, Corina Mavrodin, Ross McNeil, Lena Poleksic, Craig Smith, Dr. Luca Tardelli, Daniel Thomson, and Dr Valeria Zanier.

This research project has enormously benefitted from field research in China. In this context, Ambassador Wu Jianmin has been most generous in answering my questions and providing me with guidance on Chinese foreign policy, allowing me to access his life-long experience on witnessing almost every major decision being made on China's foreign affairs. Also, a large number of friends at the IDCPC, MFA, MOFCOM and the CCP Central Party School have kindly given their candid views on the subject, helping me a great deal to demystify Beijing's foreign policy making process.

On this side of the Continent, my very special gratitude goes to Mr Guy de Jonquieres, who has always offered me suggestions and intellectual stimulation beyond my academic research. A number of colleagues at the European Commission, the EEAS, the British Cabinet Office and the British Foreign and Commonwealth Office have also offered great deal of help and support.

Prior to my PhD research, my colleagues at Roland Berger Strategy Consultants, Dr. Duce Gutora, Stefan Haid, Waston Liu, and Kamil Szczudlik taught me all essential knowledge and skills that enabled me to complete this research. Special thanks also go to Joerg Wuttke at BASF, and many other corporate friends both in Europe and in China.

I need to thank a number of wonderful friends: Maria-Laura de Belgique, Professor Shaun Breslin, Dr.Nicola Casarini, Caroline Colvin, Professor Niall Ferguson, Professor Karl Gerth, Davide Giglio, Dr. Li Ling, Tatsiana Lintouskaya, Emmanuel Loriot, Tessy de Luxembourg, Dr. Edward Mortimer, Dr Ramon Pardo-Pacheco, Sylvain Marpeau-Roussel, Tess Sundelin, Zhou Zhengzhong and Dr Zhu Chenwei for their friendship and expertise.

I owe a great deal to Christophe Durrenberger, who has constantly given me his comfort, erased my fear, built my confidence and kept me happy.

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, Chu Rongying and Yu Zhanhai. They generously allowed me to go abroad alone and were always so proud of every step and achievement I have made in the past twelve years in the UK. It is because of their love and encouragement that I could complete this project.

London, September 2015

List of Abbreviations

BPDBarrel Per DayBPMBureaucratic Politics ModelCAACChina Civil Aviation AuthorityCBDRCommon but DifferentiatedResponsibilitiesResponsibilitiesCERsCertified Emission ReductionsCCPThe Chinese Communist PartyCCSCarbon Capture and StorageCDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huan Neng Renewable CompanyCHNRCChina Huan Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNOOCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean ItianentEUEuropean UnionFAMForeign DilecyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman Inte	BP	British Petroleum
CAAC China Civil Aviation Authority CBDR Commo but Differentiated Responsibilities Common but Differentiated Responsibilities Communist Party CCS Certified Emission Reductions CCP The Chinese Communist Party CCS Carbon Capture and Storage CDM Clean Development Mechanism CDO Central Department of Organisation CFALSG Central Foreign Affairs Leading Small Group CGNPC China Guangdong Nuclear Company CHN China Huang Neng Group CHNRC China Huang Neng Group CHNRC China Huang Neng Group CMA Central Metrology Agency CMC Central Metrology Agency CNC China National Nuclear Company CNNC China National Nuclear Company CNNC China National Nuclear Company CNNC China National Nuclear Company CNNC China National Difence Commission of Science and Industry CSFP Common Foreign and Security Policy DG Clima Directorate-General for Climate Action EADS European Francial Stability Fund EADS European Francial Stability Fund EFSF European Francial Stability Fund EFSF European Francial Stability Fund EFSF European Francial Stability Fund EFSF Foreign Direct Investments FP Foreign Policy FPA Foreign Policy Analysis GHG Greenhouse Gas GIZ German International Cooperation Agency	BPD	Barrel Per Day
CBDRCommon but Differentiated ResponsibilitiesCERsCertified Emission ReductionsCCPThe Chinese Communist PartyCCSCarbon Capture and StorageCDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Huang Neng GroupCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNNCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNNCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNNCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean CommissionEASEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	BPM	Bureaucratic Politics Model
ResponsibilitiesCERsCertified Emission ReductionsCCPThe Chinese Communist PartyCCSCarbon Capture and StorageCDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huan Neng GroupCHNRCChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCCCChina Investment CorpCMACentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCSFPCommon Foreign and Security Policy DG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean International ModelFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFP<	CAAC	China Civil Aviation Authority
CERsCertified Emission ReductionsCCPThe Chinese Communist PartyCCSCarbon Capture and StorageCDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Huang Neng GroupCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean Iniancial Stability FundEPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFAAForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	CBDR	Common but Differentiated
CERsCertified Emission ReductionsCCPThe Chinese Communist PartyCCSCarbon Capture and StorageCDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Huang Neng GroupCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean Iniancial Stability FundEPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFAAForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		Responsibilities
CCPThe Chinese Communist PartyCCSCarbon Capture and StorageCDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Huan Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSEASEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyCEEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign DilcyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy<	CERs	•
CCSCarbon Capture and StorageCDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Huang Neng GroupCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action European Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability Fund 		
CDMClean Development MechanismCDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Hua Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNNCCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security Policy DG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSEuropean CommissionEASEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean Parliament EU EU EUEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean Union Fragmented Authoritarian ModelFDISForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International CooperationAgencyForeign Policy		
CDOCentral Department of OrganisationCFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Huang Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNNCCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOCCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security Policy DG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean Financial Stability Fund EPEPEuropean Parliament EUEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		
CFALSGCentral Foreign Affairs Leading Small GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Hua Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear TechnologyCNNCCChina National Nuclear TechnologyCOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOCCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSECEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean Parliament EUEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	CDO	-
GroupCGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Hua Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOOCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSEASEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUFragmented Authoritarian ModelFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		1 0
CGNPCChina Guangdong Nuclear CompanyCHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Hua Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		5
CHNChina Huang Neng GroupCHNRCChina Hua Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security Policy DG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation	CGNPC	
CHNRCChina Hua Neng Renewable CompanyCICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNTCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDISForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFAMForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFPForeign PolicyFPAGorenhouse GasGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		
CICChina Investment CorpCMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNTCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCNOOCChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean International ModelFDISForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPEoropean Quice Action ServicesEFSFEuropean ServicesEFSFEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentFDISForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign DilcyFPAGoreenhouse GasGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		
CMACentral Metrology AgencyCMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNTCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		
CMCCentral Military Commission of the People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNTCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate Action EADSECEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyEFSFEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean Financial Stability Fund EPEUEuropean ParliamentEUForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		1
People's Liberation ArmyCNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNTCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGHGGerman International Cooperation Agency		
CNNCChina National Nuclear CompanyCNNTCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	CMC	5
CNNTCChina National Nuclear Technology CompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil Company COSTINDCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean CommissionEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	CNNC	-
CNOOCCompanyCNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGHGGerman International Cooperation Agency		
CNOOCChina National Offshore Oil CompanyCOSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation	CNNTC	
COSTINDChina National Defence Commission of Science and IndustryCSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	CNOOC	1 0
CSFPScience and IndustryDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGHGGerman International Cooperation Agency		
CSFPCommon Foreign and Security PolicyDG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEUEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAGreenhouse GasGHGGerman International Cooperation Agency	COSTIND	
DG ClimaDirectorate-General for Climate ActionEADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean CommissionEFSFEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	CSED	•
EADSEuropean Aeronautic Defence and Space CompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		÷
ECCompanyECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		
ECEuropean CommissionEEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	EAD5	
EEASEuropean External Action ServicesEFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	FC	1 2
EFSFEuropean Financial Stability FundEPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency	-	-
EPEuropean ParliamentEUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		1
EUEuropean UnionFAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		
FAMFragmented Authoritarian ModelFDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		1
FDIsForeign Direct InvestmentsFPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		1
FPForeign PolicyFPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		-
FPAForeign Policy AnalysisGHGGreenhouse GasGIZGerman International Cooperation Agency		-
GHGGreenhouse GasGIZGermanAgency		č
GIZ German International Cooperation Agency		
Agency		
	GIZ	1
GPL The Government Procurement Law		
	GPL	The Government Procurement Law

IMF IPRs LSG LVRT MES MFA MIIT	International Monetary Fund Intellectual Property Rights Leading Small Group Low Volta Rod Through Market Economy Status Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
MNCs MOF	Multi-national Companies Ministry of Finance of the PRC
MOFCOM	Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
MOST	Ministry of Science and Technology
MS	Member States
NCCCC	National Climate Change Coordination Committee
NDRC	The National Development and
	Reformation Commission
NEA	National Energy Agency
NZEC	Near Zero Emission Coal
ODIs	Outward Direct Investments
PBOC	The People's Bank of China
PLA	The People's Liberation Army
PP	Public Procurement
RMB	Renminbi (the Chinese currency)
ROI	Return On Investment
SASAC	State Owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
SCP	Standing Committee of Politburo of the Central Committee of the Chinese Communist Party
SEPA	State Environmental Protection Agency
SGCC	Sino-German Climate Change
	Programme
SMZs	Small to Medium Enterprises
SOA	State Oceanic Administration
SOEs	State Owned Enterprises
SP	Strategic Partnership
SWF	Sovereign Wealth Fund
TCEs	Tons of Standard Coal Equivalents
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework of
WTO	Convention on Climate Change World Trade Organisation

Chapter One: Introduction:

Introduction

This thesis will provide an in-depth and detailed assessment of China-EU relations between 2001 and 2013. Specifically, this thesis will investigate collaborations on climate change and renewable energy between China and the EU to answer the main research question "to what extent China-EU relations are pre-dominantly determined by the interests of a diverse range of foreign policy actors?"

By doing so, the research aims to address the shortcomings of the existing literature, which has predominately assumed China to be a monolithic and coherent actor when engaging with the EU. By adopting a Chinese perspective, this thesis will contribute to the current debate on Chinese foreign policy towards the EU, a subject which has not been fully explored in the European academia.

It will depart from the conventional academic literature in the field, which has treated Sino-European relations as a combination of bilateral ties between Beijing and Brussels and between China and the national capitals of the EU member states (MS). Instead, this thesis will focus on elements of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP), individual Chinese and European institutions, and corporate organisations from China and Europe.

To achieve this detailed examination, the thesis will provide a hypothesis as "the developments of China-EU relations are not only determined by the political willingness of the two sides; but also determined mostly by shifts in priorities in their foreign policy agenda and the outcomes of the bargaining process involved by relevant actors".

In order to test this hypothesis, the thesis will investigate the foreign policy formation and execution process in Beijing. It will examine the extent to which shifts in foreign policy priorities and the growing number of players involved in Beijing's foreign policymaking process have altered China's EU policy.

It will also examine individual institutional and corporate actors from the European side. It will assess whether the European actors recognise changes in Beijing's foreign policy agenda and whether they have responded effectively to the shifts in both policy agenda and institutional balance of power in China's external affairs decision-making mechanism.

This thesis will draw on case studies from the Sino-European collaborations on Climate Change (CC) and Renewable Energy (RE) to observe and analyse this 'actor-oriented' foreign policy formation and execution process.

There are three main reasons why this thesis focuses its empirical investigation on China-EU collaboration on CC and RE. Firstly, China and the EU have highlighted cooperation on these areas as a key component of their so-called "Comprehensive Strategic Partnership". Combating climate change and carbon emissions have become some of the highest priorities for the Chinese leadership. This is an area where the EU is able to claim it has championed the global climate change regime. The EU intends to draw on its foreign policymaking capacity to encourage and influence China to participation in global climate diplomacy.

Secondly, due to the nature of environmental diplomacy, it intertwines into a wide array of policy domains such as energy, transport, economics and foreign policy. It is therefore an

area where different institutional actors compete for greater influence and shape the policy outcome. It will provide a perfect analytical scenario for the researcher who wishes to produce an "actor-oriented" foreign policy analysis account.

Last but not least, CC and RE are two areas where political and business interests are heavily overlapped. This process of interaction has been a particular striking feature of China-EU relations, as economic ties are the backbone of their partnership. Using these case studies allows the author to further investigate the interplay between politics and business under the framework of Sino-European relations. Despite the importance of this interplay, it is an area has largely been overlooked by the existing literature.

By testing the hypothesis, this thesis will identify who shapes the bargaining process; on which policy each actor bargains with and the outcomes of relevant bargaining process. Given the opaque nature of the Chinese foreign policy decision-making process, this thesis will employs qualitative research methods, with in-depth elite interviews, triangulation of information amongst media sources and official documents widely utilised throughout each chapter.

With a strong focus on individual foreign policy actors, both institutional or corporate, this thesis will adopt a process-oriented Foreign Policy Analysis to examine China-EU relations. In particular, it will draw on the existing literature of Bureaucratic Politics Model (BPM) and Fragmented Authoritarian Model (FAM) to interpret the subject. Throughout the thesis, each chapter will demonstrate many compelling reasons to utilise BPM and FAM to analyse Sino-European relations. Unlike some existing literature, this thesis does not take a holistic approach to analyse their partnership with IR grand theories. Instead, it aims to prove that

each individual participant in their partnerships plays a vital role in determining the outcomes of those partnerships.

Beyond the proposed theoretical approach, this thesis will also make a good attempt to enrich the studies of China-EU relations form several empirical perspectives. It aims to provide a detailed examination of the relations between elements of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP), as the ultimate decision maker, and Chinese government institutions. By examining CCP-government relations, it will also reflect the changes in the CCP's domestic priorities and how such changes will largely impact upon the shifts in China's external affairs agenda.

This thesis will not only constrain its research scope to the Party-government relationship. It will also investigate the interactions between the CCP and State Owned Enterprises (SOEs), and the bargaining process between central governmental departments and SOEs when they come to deciding certain collaboration projects with the EU. It will demonstrate the extent to which SOEs utilise their own expertise to shape the collaboration agenda between Beijing, national capitals of MS and Brussels. It will also pay great attention to relations between the provincial government and large private owned enterprises (POEs).

This pair of relationships is a new subject of detailed academic research in regards to the Sino-European relations and Chinese foreign policy in general. None of the current literature in the field has focused upon this particular partnership. Given the ever increasing direct investments in Europe by Chinese POEs, their activities and economic well-being will gradually become a source of influence on Beijing's overall foreign policy agenda.

Meanwhile, this thesis will also examine the EU's policy making process on its climate diplomacy towards China. Specifically, it will investigate EU institutions, the MS and the European corporate sector's responses towards an equally fragmented and complex policy making process in China. It intends to illuminate that China-EU relations are better described as multilateral partnerships, and their relations are being shaped by many equally powerful foreign actors.

Beyond this introduction, the introductory chapter will firstly analyse the existing literature to examine what has been written and identify what remain under-studied aspects of China-EU relations. It will then outline the analytical framework of the thesis and explain the importance in this thesis of utilising both BPM and FAM to investigate Sino-European relations. This chapter will then explain the significance of studying the collaborations on CC and RE between China and Europe, and how such studies will contribute to current research on Sino-European relations in general. Finally, it will present the research methodology for this thesis.

Section 1.1: Literature review on China-EU relations

China-EU relations have been relatively understudied in comparison to Sino-US relations. Since China's accession to the WTO in 2001, growing numbers of IR scholars and China experts have begun to focus on the development of relations between China and Europe. By 2003, China and the EU declared their "Comprehensive Strategic Partnership", which triggered increasing interest among academics.

The reason why I refer to "Europe" instead of "the EU" is because existing scholarly works have specifically focused on China's bilateral relations between large member states (MS), as in such articles as Eberhard Sandschneider's, "China's Diplomatic Relations with the States of Europe" in 2002 and the recent Joern-Carsten Gottwald article on "Europe and China: Convergence, Politicisation and Assertiveness" in2009, which concentrated on the impact of the financial crisis upon China's relations with large MS, and Ireland (Gottwald,2009; Sandschneider, 2002). There is also an overwhelmingly array of articles assessing China's relations with Brussels.

However, as Michael Yahuda pointed out in one of his earliest China-EU articles, any comprehensive observations on China-EU relations need to consider both the role of Brussels and policy inputs by the national capitals of MS. This type of multi-actor analysis "would make the study of the China-Europe relation[s] a compelling case to [re-] examine China's relations with some of the most well-established regional organisations" (Yahuda, 1994: 24). Such views are also echoed by Feng Zhongping, who is one of the most prominent experts on China-Europe relations in Beijing (Feng, 1998: 2).

According to my literature survey, the current literature on China-EU relations has given overwhelmingly strong emphasis to the outcomes or policy results of their relations. Yet, there has been very limited scholarly works focusing on the process of formulating either China's EU policy, or the EU's China policy. Therefore, this thesis intends to fill the literature gap by instigating a focus on the process of foreign policy formulation. In particular, this thesis will investigate the Chinese foreign policy making process from a position which is in contrast to the conventional wisdom that assumes China is a monolithic entity; and that its foreign policy making is a straight forward top down system.

The current literature on China-EU relations focuses on two key questions. Firstly, should the EU be considered exclusively as a civilian/normative power when it engages with China? Secondly, does the China-EU strategic partnership, declared in 2003, have much validity?

This thesis will be investigating the existing literature on China-EU collaboration on climate change (CC) and renewable energy (RE). There are two relevant academic articles devoted to this specific topic. The first is by David Scott, "Environmental issues as a strategic key in EU-China relations", which was published in 2009 (Scott, 2009). The second was written by Jonathan Holslag, "China's Scepticism of Clean Energy Champion Europe" (Holslag, 2010). In addition, a substantial part of a chapter in a book written by Wang Bo, "Bilateral security relations between China and Europe" deals with this topic. They reveal several technological details and programmes supported by the European Union to China. They have also examined the achievements of China-EU collaborations so far, and have indicated the obstacles the two sides have encountered. But all three authors have paid little attention to the roles of European and Chinese companies, as well as European national governments in China-EU cooperation.

1. Strategic Partnership Debate literature review

Current literature has also challenged the validity of China and the EU establishing a strategic partnership. Scholars have attempted to address two questions: firstly, what China and the EU mean by a strategic partnership; and secondly, what policy instruments both sides have utilised to achieve a strategic partnership? In doing so, the current literature has examined official documents and actions taken by both sides to understand what happened operationally to establish and preserve a strategic partnership.

Yet there is not any clear definition of what "a strategic partnership" represents. This concept can be draw from my discussions with Professor Shaun Breslin and James Moran, the then director at the Commission DG Relex East Asia unit. A strategic partnership requires both parties to have: transparently defined common interests and objectives; these objectives must be long-term, multidimensional with a tangible operational plan; they need to have a global vision and distinctiveness that cannot be achieved with third parties. The existing literature has examined the objectives and practices within the "China-EU Strategic Partnership". Their conclusion is that the declaration of a strategic partnership has not translated into a substantial action plan. Both Beijing and Brussels have few clearly defined common objectives. They have also shown serious mutual misunderstandings and have taken few concrete actions to establish a genuine strategic partnership.

Most scholars in the field have paid great attention to official papers. They carefully observe words such as multilateralism, shared values, and democracy, and how such critical terms have been interpreted differently in official documents from both sides. Some scholars, such as William Callahan has made qualitative assessments on the various usages of these words, which revealed different views over the meaning of "strategic partnership." In September 2003, the EU's China policy paper, namely , "A Maturing Partnership-Shared Interests and Challenges in EU-China Relations". It suggests a comprehensive international role for the EU and China as "the EU and China have a clear interest in working together as strategic partners on international scene to promote sustainable development, peace and stability" (EC, 2003: 7-9). However, most scholars focus on analysing the paragraph below from the EU's China paper:

"The stability and development of China itself is a key concern to the EU... the EU has a major political and economic stake in supporting China's successful transition to a stable, prosperous and open country that fully embrace democracy, free market principles and the rule of law. It should do its utmost to support China's transition and reform process. China should exploit to the full the EU's experience of successfully adapting the socio-economic system of the formerly socialist access countries in Eastern Europe" (Ibid: 13)

They suggest that the EU exhibits "complacency to assume that China's economic development will be accompanied by parallel political liberalisation, converging to the European norms of political governance" (Armstrong and Chen, 2010: 162). Within a month, China's State Council responded with "The PRC, China's Europe Policy Paper" in October 2003. This has also paralleled with China crafting its "Peaceful Rising" strategy in autumn 2003. As Callahan argues, "talk of strategic partnership aids the EU's project of crafting the image of Europe as a civilian power; and it helps the PRC to construct a view of China as non-hegemonic superpower, those new relations reaffirm each side's image of itself and the other" (Callaham, 2007: 785). While the Commission's paper stressed "positive shared values" with China, the PRC paper insisted, "There is no fundamental

conflict of interest between China and the EU and neither side poses a threat to the other" (State Council, 2003: 3).

Callahan carefully observes how Beijing engages with the EC Paper by "reflecting and refracting the EC formulations in ways that nudge EU-China relations towards China's policy priorities" (Callahan, 2007: 787). He and others notice the word "multilateralism" being used differently. For the EU, effective multilateralism is not meant to imply multipolar balancing. Former DG Relex Commissioner Benita Ferrero-Walder was clear when he suggested that "it is not the number of poles which counts. Our vision on multilateralism is a world governed by rules created and monitored by multilateral institutions" (Ferrero Walder, 2005).

China's vision on multilateralism applies to the trade and economicsonly, the PRC document suggests that "the trend towards world multi-polarity and economic globalisation is developing amid twist and turns" (MFA, 2003:21). Narramore argues, "China's approach to multilateralism falls far short of the EU style experiments in pooling sovereignty and regulating affairs of MS" (Narramore, 2008: 97). Related to the word "Democracy", China emphasises that it "respects diversity in the world and promotes democracy" (Ibid: 24). It alters the EU's meaning in regards to domestic reforms to "safe guarding national sovereignty" (Ibid). From these qualitative analyses of official documents, a careful examination shows that these documents are carefully ambitious and analogous to the "future perfect verb tense" (Callahan, 2007: 790). The two sides are still unclear about what their common interests are and what they should do to improve mutual understanding.

Scholars have also conducted quantitative analyses on China and the EU's official documents to understand the validity of the strategic partnership. Jonathan Holslag employed a statistical methodology to seek: areas of mutual interests; numbers of priorities in which both sides have cooperated; the degree of dispersion of priorities over different areas of interests to measure the scope of the partnership. He found "a statement highlights 8.3 joint 'interests', 'needs' and 'necessities', whereas it flags the need for 'dialogue' and 'exchanges' 28.2 times, often even in areas where common interests were not clarified" (Holslag, 2011: 296). He then counted all 186 clauses of two official documents and calculated by dividing all clauses into five sectors. The result of dispersion is "45.3 percent related to the economic sector and with only 8.6 percent to the rule of law sector" (Ibid). Besides the calculations, Holslag also observed different usages of words to describe these five sectors. The trade and economic sector tended to be settled with clear policy objectives, "the wording in international security and policy clause remains limited to 'observing' and 'welcoming' rather than cooperation is agreed" (Ibid: 298). The quantitative perspective therefore also demonstrates a clear gap between the two declarations and how it is translated into substantial policy objectives.

2. China-EU Economics Relations literature review

Apart from examining official documents, the existing literature also evaluates a strategic partnership in practice. Such scholarly work assesses the policies implemented and the actions taken by both sides to establish, and to maintain, this strategic partnership. It investigates areas from trade relations to global financial regulations, and from arms embargoes to human rights dialogues. Most analyses conclude that the EU and China have failed to establish a strategic partnership. The EU aims to "encourage China's economic and social reforms and its integration into global economy" (EC 2003: 3, 4).

However, Brussels still rejects granting China's Market Economy Status (MES). As strategic partners, both sides have not achieved a clear understanding of their common strategic purposes or shared security interests. The EU and its MS "have no discernable impact on the strategic and institutional balance of the Asia-Pacific" (Godemont 2006: 56). Nor do they have direct interests in regional security.

It is economic ties that primarily determine China-EU relations. China is the EU's second largest trading partner. The EU has also becoming a major source of foreign direct investment (FDI) to China, as well as a popular investment destination for Chinese companies. Brussels and its MS are very enthusiastic about the promise of the vast Chinese market. While, from China's perspective, being granted a MES by the EU has both direct economic benefit and strong political symbolism.

The existing literature mainly focuses on the EU's refusal to grant China's Market Economy Status (MES), which is one of the major obstacles preventing both sides from becoming strategic partners in economic terms. Scholars such as, Mathieu Remond and Chen Zhimin devote either a whole journal article or a substantial part of a book chapter to discussing the issue (Remond, 2007; Chen& Amstrong, 2010). They indicate that the EU's refusal is principally due to the large trade deficit between the Union and China; and the EU is attempting to use MES as bargaining leverage when it discusses disputes with Beijing over the increasing barriers for European companies to enter Chinese market.

The EU continues to ignore the enormous economic progress China has made since introducing market economy reforms in 1978, and instead the EU continues to emphasis that their refusal is "a purely technical manner, that is in the framework of EU's antidumping policy, China does not yet fulfil the necessary requirements to be granted the status" (Remond 2007: 346).

The exported-oriented Chinese economy is a crucial reason why the EU still rejects China's MES. As Stephen Green suggests, "China's exports are much more diverse and concentrated in manufactured goods, which is a profile that threatens European firms much more" (Green, 2004). Without accepting China's MES, the EU Commission can launch anti-dumping cases against Chinese companies with relevant ease, than in a similar case with a company from a state that has already become a market economy.

Brussels also suggests that the Chinese government intervenes too much to prohibit European companies from operating in China. In addition to this, a lack of transparency and weak corporate governance contribute to the reason why China is not categorised as a market economy. The Commission has used four main criteria to exclude China from a designation as a market economy. They are: the "level of governmental intervention; implementation of transparent company law; effective property right protection; and transparent financial sector with adequate supervision" (EC 2004: 6).

For those who are familiar with the structure and characteristics of the Chinese economy, it is impossible to reduce the level or to eliminate state control in sectors such as banking, energy and utilities. China suspects that the EU has deliberately set up these four criteria in order to bargain with the Chinese government to gain broader market access. This is particularly the case after the 2007 global financial crisis. According to a survey I conducted before I began research for this thesis, 53% of the 207 European companies

operating in China surveyed were concerned about uncertainty in the business environment and the ongoing regulatory unpredictability (Roland Berger, 2010: 5). European optimism in the overall economic climate has been dampened dramatically by concerns about regulatory interference. We now have to ask the question: in whose benefit is the EU making such decisions? The current academic literature provides us with little related to Chinese governmental interference with European direct investments as well as government regulations on "the level of local content". The author will offer a detailed examination on the extent to which non-market oriented barriers have undermined Sino-European trade relations in Chapter Three.

3. China-EU Political Relations literature Review

According to the criteria used to determine strategic partners, the partnership should be multi-dimensional. This part examines the current literature that focuses on political/security issues between China and the EU. The arms embargo is probably the single biggest obstacle to China-EU relations. The existing literature extensively discusses the failure of the EU to lift the arms embargo. Scholars such as Nicola Casarini, Chen Zhimin, Terry Narramore and Axel Berkofsky concentrate on two points related to lifting the arms embargo. Firstly, the refusal to lift arms the embargo is deemed to be political discrimination towards China and which rejects China's great power status. This originates from the lingering victimisation sentiment widely acknowledged within Chinese FP analysis (Berkofsky, 2006; Casarini, 2010; Chen&Amstrong, 2010; Narramore, 2008).

Secondly, the failure of the EU to agree to a lifting of the arms embargo "reveals a complex, multi-level bargain over interests at domestic, regional and international levels"

(Narramore 2008: 98). Within the Union, Brussels had to deal with the disputes over this proposal amongst the 28 MS. These divisions displayed the EU's inability to speak as a single voice. At the global level, the EU faced intense pressure from Washington which sought to maintain its own strategic interests and hegemonic status in the Asia-Pacific region. More importantly, they helped the Chinese to understand that the EU was not capable of being a strategic partner with which to challenge US hegemony at both the regional and global level. The "new strategic axis" (Scott 2007: 204, Tombaugh 2004: 192) is therefore non-existent.

Lifting the arms embargo would be "a political act necessary for moving beyond Cold War thinking" (Casarini 2010: 123). It means whilst China has achieved great economic and political transformations, is ready to return to the international community and to receive equal treatment. European leaders concluded that the lifting would be mainly be a "symbolic gesture" (Ibid: 127) to show that the EU and its MS were keen to develop amicable relations with China and to deepen the economic ties of the two sides. The EU and its MS have no intention of exploiting the huge potential if the Chinese defence market. However, while it is true that China's defence market is vast, it remains unclear how much the European defence sector could gain from military procurement by the PLA.

Scholars have also analysed the role that the US plays in this so-called China-EU strategic partnership. David Shambaugh suggests that the EU-China axis was a joint effort to "constrain American's power and hegemony" (Shambaugh 2005: 246). The key problem with this interpretation is that the EU does not play a vital role in the Asia-Pacific region. Some even suggest that the EU has an incentive to free ride on the US security umbrella

in the region in order to ensure its economic interests in China and other Asian countries¹. (Archick et al 2005: 4-11, Grimmett and Papademetriou 2005: 9-10, Sandschineider 2006: 45, Tang 2005: 319, Casarini 2010: 131-135, Narramore 2008: 100)

Internally, the EU MS dispute whether to lift the arms embargo. The decision has to be made by all MS at the European Council under the Common Foreign and Security Policy pillar. The European Council in 2003 reached unanimity to open the discussion on the proposal to lift the embargo. Initially, countries that strongly emphasise normative values, such as Netherlands and Denmark, had some serious doubts on lifting arms embargos. Yet, they decided not to break the consensus amongst other MS in order to avoid any market entry refusal and commercial reprisal from Beijing.

By 2005, the Council finally rejected the proposal to lift arms embargos to China. One of major reasons for such a lengthy discussion and eventual refusal is due to strong oppositions from the US and even stronger opposition from newly admitted East European MS.

Brussels found it very difficult to overcome the internal divisions and the security interests of the US were not easily challenged. Perhaps, then, the China-EU strategic partnership is just wishful thinking, which does not go beyond rhetoric from both sides. The Chinese government is disappointed by the inability of the EU to be an effective global actor on political/security issues. The Chinese have therefore learnt a stern lesson that "the EU does not need to be taken seriously as a foreign and security policy actor with the influence and capabilities to threaten regional security" (Berkofsky 2006: 108).

¹ Discussions were made with several scholars at Salzburg Global Seminar Session 476 in December 2010.

Yet as one scholar contended, one must not overlook the existing strategic collaborations between China and the EU. For example, "Sino-European cooperation in Galileo, the European satellite system alternative to the American GPS, is still viewed by Beijing as a major element of their strategic partnership" (Casarini, 2010; 192). Such detailed and valuable cooperation between the two sides should not be ignored in studies of China-EU relations.

4. Climate Change Literature Review

China-EU collaborations on CC and developing renewable energy have emerged as a new topic of interest to scholars. However, given this is a new topic, few journal articles and book chapters have yet been written. From the bibliographic survey, I have found fewer than twenty journal articles which are fully focused on this topic published between 2010 and 2015. A handful of detailed assessments on the topic have been made by top think tanks. In addition, a substantial part of a book chapter written by Wang Bo addresses this topic. Scholars specialising in China-EU relations such as Nicola Casarini, Chen Zhimin, John Armstrong, and others have written short paragraphs within book chapters and journal articles stating the importance and developments of this collaboration (Armstrong & Chen, 2010; Casarini, 2010).

All existing works have assessed the achievements and addressed the obstacles of collaborations that have already occurred. However, there are two crucial aspects of China-EU CC partnerships which have not been thoroughly examined by the current literature. Firstly, almost all existing works treat China as a monolithic and unitary entity that conducts its climate diplomacy with the EU based on rational choice and careful policy implementation. Very few scholars noticed that the complexities of decision making inBeijing's foreign policy could undermine the prospects of further CC collaborations.Therefore, this thesis intends to make a modest contribution to disentangle this particular and yet crucial decision making process.

Secondly, the existing literature lacks a thorough assessment of the roles of European and Chinese companies in collaborative partnerships. Unlike the areas of traditional military security collaborations, climate diplomacy allows wider participations from corporate sectors and civil societies in the agenda setting process and in even shaping policy outcomes. The author aims to fill the literature gap by examining the extent to which both Chinese and European companies determine the substances of their CC and RE collaborations and how corporate actors interact with the government institutions to shape the Sino-European CC partnership.

Based on the literature survey, the existing literature attempts to answer three key questions; firstly, whether China and the EU have established the so-called 'strategic partnership' on CC; secondly, to what extent will the EU and its MS benefit economically from engagements with China in developing renewable energy; and last but not least, to what extent China's increasing awareness and development of renewable energy is a result of the EU and its MS' engagements?

Most scholars concur that the success of numerous technical collaborations do not substantiate the so-called China-EU strategic partnership on CC (Holslag 2010; Lee, 2012, 2013; Romano, 2010:17, 22; Scott, 2009; Torney,2012, 2013, 2014). They argue the EU and its MS face a dilemma between advancing commercial interests and crafting the Union's image of being a clean energy champion which would require it to teach China technical know-how.

Some scholars, such as Romano and Casarini, suggest that the Sino-European CC partnership departs from the conventional military security cooperation, and shifts to focus on transnational challenges that go beyond traditional military threats (Casarini, 2009, Romano, 2010: 12). The two sides have instead focused on the "soft sides of security", which include combating global CC. (Balies and Wetter, 2007: 178).

The literature acknowledges that the lack of Intellectual Property Rights protection in the Chinese renewable market has become a major obstacle preventing further CC collaborations between China the EU. They also doubt that the EU will be willing to transfer technology to China and thereby sacrifice its short-term commercial interests (Holslag, 2009:225; Lee, 2012: 24; Romano, 2010: 17). Brussels and its MS are frustrated by the ever-growing protectionism within the Chinese domestic market. The Chinese government procurement policy requires State owned enterprises (SOEs), which are the major consumers of European renewable equipments, to purchase products that have a certain percentage of local content. This policy barrier has made European renewable manufacturers less competitive when they export renewable equipment to China.

Nevertheless, China has rapidly developed its own renewable energy sector. This may lead to the disappearance of the "teacher-pupil" relationship between the EU and China or, indeed, even a reversal (Lee, 2012: 31). Such tremendous progress made in China's own renewable sector has resulted in its European counterparts becoming less attractive in the global market. As both Holslag and Scott suggest, "there is a rising tension between European commercial

interests and environmental concerns with the move of China from a consumer market to a key competitor with international reach" (Ibid; Scott 2009 325).

In particular, Holslag, Romano and Runge-Metzger analyse the different approaches to IPRs protection and technology transfer between Beijing and Brussels. They argue that China and the EU do not share the same view of technological cooperation. While China encourages a "centrally-planned" approach, including a single fund and a single executive body at the multilateral level capable of directing international technology policy and focusing heavily on IPR, the EU still relies on a "decentralised" approach, namely preferring the market and market-based mechanisms to promote technology transfers (Holslag 2010; Romano:2010; Runge-Metzger, 2010).

As one scholar observes, the commercial gains from providing technology transfers to China remain at a modest level. "For each hundred Euros of exported clean energy goods, the EU spent about 95 Euros in energy-related aid projects" (Holslag 2010: 122). Brussels believes that it should protect its technology through ensuring that IPR is valued as "a tradable good which China has massive foreign reserve to pay for rather than being given free through charity and environmental-friendly generosity" (Holslag 2010: 116). However, it seems that this so-called "tradable good" is becoming a major obstacle preventing a deepening collaboration between the two sides.

The existing literature supplies a large amount of detail on recent collaboration projects developed under the China-EU CC Partnership. Those scholarly works by Holslag, Scott, Romano and Torney list in chronological order when and how these collaborations have evolved, and also the amount of funding provided by Brussels and EU MS (Holslag, 2010;

Scott, 2009; Romano, 2010; Torney 2013). According to Holslag's research, "between 2000 and 2008, MS collectively spent 238 mn Euros on renewable energy related projects in China" (Holslag 2010: 120). The major contributors were Germany, Spain, Denmark and the UK, all of which had well-established renewable energy sectors.

Despite numerous projects and sufficient high expenditure on climate collaboration with China, the literature questions whether the EU will able to wield its "soft power" to become a global champion in addressing CC and be at the forefront of developing clean energy technology given its internal disputes over carbon emission reduction targets (Holslag 2010: 115; Lee, 2012: 27; Romano, 2010:17, 22; Runge-Metzger, 2010; Torney, 2013; Ibid, 2014: 129).

Romano contends that the Sino-European CC partnership remains as "an Asymmetrical Bilateralism" which derives from various characteristics of overall China-EU relations (Romano, 2010: 1). She argues that the partnership between Beijing and Brussels involves a nation-state and a confederation of nation-states with some significant divisions amongst member states. Such disparity offers China a choice of dealing with the EU directly, or dealing with individual member states according to Beijing's own preferences. As can be seen in other aspects of Sino-European relations, China has often adopted a "divide and rule" approach for the purpose of achieving its own policy objectives. Such an approach can only undermine Brussels' external image and the prospects to speak with one voice.

Noticeably, other scholars such as Holslag, Lee and Torney also echoed the view of Romano (Holslag, 2010; Lee, 2012; Torney, 2014), concurring that the lack of horizontal and vertical

policy integration is a major predicament for the EU in attempting to demonstrate its global leadership on CC, as well as pursuing further collaborations with China.

In addition to lack of policy integration, some authors also argue that the EU lacks "institutional capacity" to understand the complexities of the decision-making process in China's climate diplomacy (Lee, 2012; Torney, 2013, 2014). They disagree with Romano's view of China as a monolithic and unitary state, where policy has always been conducted with a top-down approach. As Lee points out, "assumptions of a monolithic China that always acts rationally can be misleading, as China's consensual decision making system has to balance a wide range of domestic, sometimes conflicted, vested interests" (Lee, 2012: 30).

Torney conducted several in-depth interviews in Beijing and Brussels and concludes that the EU has little institutional and personal capacity in engaging with an equally complex decision-making mechanism on climate diplomacy in Beijing (Torney, 2013, 2014). Such incapacity has therefore become another hindrance to pursing their collaborations and upgrading their collaborations to a more strategic level.

Several authors hint at the complexities of decision-making system in Beijing in relation to its climate diplomacy agenda. Yet, none of the authors have so far conducted a thorough analysis of the policymaking process of China's climate diplomacy towards the EU. Nor did they identify who are the vital stakeholders that shape the final policy outcomes. Therefore, this thesis will fill this literature gap by offering a comprehensive assessment of the particular decision-making process of China's climate diplomacy towards the EU.

Another noticeable literature gap is the lack of thorough assessments of the roles of both Chinese and European companies in determining the outcomes of the Sino-European CC and RE collaborations. As discussed in the introduction, climate diplomacy has had an expansive nature involving both state and non-state actors. In particular, climate technology innovation and IPRs protections are twin areas where relevant companies have played an indispensible role, in both China and the EU.

Therefore, one should not ignore the interactions between companies and relevant governments as well as the impact those companies generate on the climate diplomacy agenda amongst Beijing, Brussels and national capitals of related MS. By studying their collaborations, scholars could examine the extent to which either Chinese companies or European companies influence overall collaboration plans. It is in this sector that commercial interests have become closely intertwined with EUFP objectives. The pressure and persuasion from these companies on Brussels and Beijing should not be ignored.

According to the author's literature survey, scholars seldom refer to the role of companies in determining the Sino-European climate diplomacy agenda, even if some of them do so with very minimum references to secondary academic literature. They make their analyses based on primary literature research, such as official documents as well as media sources. It is an indication of how little this area has been studied so far. As a result, Chapters Five and Six attempt to add to the modest existing literature by discussing the interaction between each government institution and their corresponding corporate actor in facilitating the Sino-European collaborations.

In addition, one must admit it is very difficult to assess the roles that companies and national governments have played unless the author is either a practitioner in this area, or has closely worked with these companies and national governments. The author is a junior researcher on this topic, and so will be able to fill in some of these literature gaps as a result of her previous professional experience working with a large number of European utility conglomerates and some of the most prominent Chinese energy SOEs.

To conclude, this section has reviewed the existing literature on China-EU relations. The literature agrees that Beijing and Brussels remain unclear on their concrete objectives and purposed partnership. Neither side is sure which policies and actions to take to establish and maintain this strategic partnership. Economic ties are the backbone of China-EU relations. But Brussels' refusal to grant China Market Economy Status, and increasing economic disputes, have frustrated both sides.

In the political/security sphere, scholars have discussed extensively why the EU is unable to overcome its internal divisions and external pressures on its arms embargo. The strong opposition from the US on lifting arms embargo to China shows that the EU cannot challenge US supremacy in the region. Ultimately, both China and the EU have to readjust their strategic outlook towards each other.

Within the limited scholarly works on China-EU collaboration on CC and RE, this thesis aims to make an important contribution to an emerging field.

Section 1.2 The Analytical Framework and the Study of China-EU Relations

This section aims to provide a concise and coherent analytical framework to the thesis. One can argue that the studies of Sino-EU relations are the examinations of relations between Chinese foreign policy (FP) actors and their equivalent European counterparts. However, this thesis does not want to offer a scholarly work that observes and analyses the traditional bilateral state to state relations. Neither does it aim to treat China as a unitary actor seeking to develop relations with the fragmented European Union (EU) nor its member states (MS) as the current literature has.

Instead, this thesis aims to provide some insights into Beijing's foreign policy (FP) making process and to investigate the Sino-EU relations from a very different angle. This analytical perspective will help to understand the key research question 'to what extent Sino-EU relations are multilateral partnerships that involve many equally powerful actors which shape the outcomes'.

This thesis will retain its focus to individual foreign policy actors inside the Chinese foreign policy decision-making process. Prior to outline the analytical framework, this section will provide a brief schematic overview of the respective roles of the different institutions and ministries in China's foreign policy to the EU. This could give some illustration for the later chapters.

Like other domains of Chinese foreign policy, China's European policy making is no less straight forward. As pointed out in the previous section, when the CCP leadership only sets the broader policy agenda, each relevant ministries are asked to provide policy proposals and potential solutions to certain issues between China and the other countries and regions.

For the China-EU relations, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA) and the Ministry of Commerce (MOFCOM) are twin traditional FP actors that deal with China's external affairs with the EU. The MFA

The thesis will therefore analyse the Sino-EU relations from four broad perspectives. Firstly, it aims to disentangle the relations between the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) as the decision maker, and the various FP actors which include bureaucratic and corporate actors. Secondly, this thesis will investigate the bargaining process amongst various actors when they try to shape the decision outcomes. Thirdly, it will seek to explore the extent to which Climate Change is one of the highest priorities to the Party, and has triggered policy changes and institutional reshuffles of Chinese FP making. Last but not least, it will observe and investigate how Brussels and the MS have managed to adapt and to respond to such changes occurring in the Chinese FP making process.

Meanwhile, this thesis will pay great attention to the FP making process in China, and to a smaller extent in the EU. Within the above four perspectives, this thesis will seek to explore the main drivers of Chinese FP and the domestic sources that have induced changes in Beijing's FP agenda. This thesis will also divide China into three analytical units. These are: the Chinese Communist Party (CCP); the Chinese governmental institutions at both the central and provincial levels; and Chinese companies (regardless of their ownership). Based on these three analytical units and four broad analytical perspectives, I will explore seven

pairs of relations, with case studies on Sino-EU collaborations in Climate Change (CC) and Renewable Energy (RE) throughout this thesis. These seven pairs of relations include:

1) the relations between the CCP and central governmental institutions;

2) between provincial authorities and large private companies;

3) between central governmental agencies and large SOEs;

4) amongst various central governmental institutions

5) between the EU institutions and the Chinese central governmental institutions

6) between the EU member states and the Chinese central governmental institutions

7) between the European companies and the Chinese central governmental institutions

For the last four pairs of relations, I will only focus on the institutions at a central governmental level due to the restrictive length of the thesis. These seven pairs of relations are not static, nor are they isolated from each other. The shifts in one pair of relations will inevitably cause significant changes to the other pairs of relationships.

Beyond this introduction, this section will begin to outline the analytical framework, and then it will explain how these four analytical perspectives are related to one other. This thesis will also offer some preliminary findings to test the analytical framework.

In recent years, there has been a trend of studying and perceiving China as a decentralised and fragmented state, rather than viewing the state through the conventional view of China as a unitary and centralised actor. A number of scholars, such as Shaun Breslin, Wang Jisi and Jean Garrison have written and asked, "who represents China" (Breslin, 2009; Wang, 2011; Garrison 2009)? As a result, the Fragmented Authoritarianism Model (FAM) has gained popularity within the academic community that analyses China's political system. As Kenneth Lieberthal defined in 1992, "FAM argues that authority below the very peak of the Chinese political system is fragmented and disjointed" (Lieberthal, 1992: 8).

A process of decentralisation in decision making has occurred since the 1979 Economic Reforms in China. As a result, there has been no single bureaucratic body that has supreme authority over the others when it comes to making certain decisions. Bureaucracies and other actors have utilised their expertises to gain access to the highest level of the Party elites, namely, members of the Standing Committee of the Politburo (SCP), to shape policy outcomes according to their individual interests. FAM has been widely debated when scholars study the process of China's macro-economic policy making. As discussed in this thesis's literature reviews, scholars such as Linda Jakobson and David Lampton, have applied FAM to analyse Chinese Foreign Policy in recent years (Jakobson &Knox, 2010; Lampton, 2006). However, there is a dearth of studies of Sino-EU relations which use the bureaucratic politics model and the FAM. By utilising the bureaucratic politics model and the FAM it is to be hoped that this thesis will contribute to our understanding of the field.

The FAM has focused on changes in the power distribution and bargaining process amongst the various stakeholders when it comes to making certain policies. Given the nature of the Chinese political system, the Chinese Communist Party has performed an omnipresent role, in every aspect, in all kinds of policy making. Therefore, it is also of heightened importance to examine the relationships between the Party as the ultimate decision maker and the various institutional and corporate actors in the process of determining Chinese FP.

Based on research conducted for this thesis, the relationship between the Party and various actors are neither static, nor top-down . Rather, the Party has given authority to different

institutions to provide information to assist decision making as well as to implement policies. Each institution has subsequently managed to utilise their expertise to assist decision making to extend their influence in the Party further.

The case studies selected for this thesis will be used to explain the relations between the Party and various actors which involved in the Sino-EU collaborations on Climate Change (CC), and Renewable Energy (RE). These two policy domains have been given the highest priorities in the CCP. They are also both dominating China's domestic and foreign policy agendas. As will be explained in later chapters, the CCP's growing legitimacy has shifted from its ideology to its problem solving capacity. Environmental politics have become one the most prominent and most pressing test cases for the CCP's problem solving skills.

Like any other policy making processes in China, members of the SCP and the State Council generally set key strategic guidelines or long-term policy goals, however, more specific policy measures are mostly made and implemented by the various governmental agencies and corporate organisations. As a result, there are competing stakeholders with vested interests ready to play bureaucratic politics.

In the context of China's environmental policy, and its collaborations with the EU, the actual policy outcomes and areas of collaborations are the results of a balancing of interests, and bargaining, amongst a number of stakeholders. This thesis will examine how bureaucratic and corporate actors in China have managed to translate the Party's broad policy guidelines into a specific set of policy measures which fit with their own individual interests.

Related to the Sino-European relations, China's EU policy covers a wide array of policy domains as can be seen in the most recent "EU-China 2020 Strategic Agenda for Cooperation" from the traditional sphere of trade and investments to newly emerged urbanisation, climate change collaboration and legal collaboration (EEAs, 2013). This broader policy spectrum has provided a myriad of opportunities to the relevant government departments in Beijing to offer their own expertise to shape the agenda of China's EU policy. In some occasions, overlapping policy responsibilities and conflicts in departmental interests have become frequent occurrences. It is therefore subject to the CCP leadership to decide which policy options it will adopt.

For example, both NDRC and MOST are main stakeholders and agenda setters for China's Climate diplomacy to the EU. The former is to ensure the overall coherence of China's climate policy in line with the industrial and energy policies while the latter is to oversee the scientific rationales and developments of China's climate technologies. Based on my own preliminary research, conflicts often arise between two departments when the EU initiate major CC collaboration projects with China. The NDRC would almost certainly take in charge of budge and the contents of the collaborations. Yet, the MOST would demonstrate its expertise and deep knowhow on the climate technologies to compete for the dominance of the collaborations from the Chinese side. As a result, both the NDRC and the MOST would intensively lobby the Party leadership to ensure their own departmental agenda being represented. The author shall discuss the particular bureaucratic rift with more examples at the Chapter Four.

Besides setting broad policy priorities, the Party can determine the survival of any particular institutions. The Party has often created a new bureaucratic framework, or assigned, and

redistributed, responsibilities and budgetary powers to the existing agencies. However, such a restructuring process has not occurred on a regular basis. Rather, it is a reshuffle driven by issues and policy priorities. More often than not, an existing bureaucratic agency often challenges the authority of newly established organisations which may share competencies and budgetary powers. The Party will "award" or "punish" the challengers according to the situation and policy domains.

For example, the Sino-EU solar panel dispute has helped one ministry, in this case, the MOFCOM to restore its power while at the same time, undermined the authority of several others, such as the MFA and the NDRC. A similar case can be argued on the China-EU joint developments on civil nuclear technologies. The joint developments have been a result of an intensive campaign, from the China Guang Dong Nuclear Company (CGNPC), to one member of the SCP rather than representing China's own national nuclear renaissance.

However, one must admit that assessing the relations between the Party and the various organisations is not a straightforward process. Gaining access to the Senior Party members and ministers has become almost impossible. In the later chapters this thesis has drawn mostly from interviews with officials, business practitioners and academics that are very close to two SCP members and one minister.

The second perspective this thesis will analyse is the bargaining process amongst the various actors when it comes to determining China-EU collaboration on CC and RE. Throughout the later chapters, this thesis will search for the origins of the bargaining and explore the reasons why the bargaining arises at almost every level of the Chinese political system. In the context of China-EU collaborations, the later chapters will pay great attention to which institutions

are participating in the bargaining and how their involvement in policy formation has determined the outcomes of collaborations.

One of the most obvious examples to demonstrate the institutional bargaining process is China's erratic and inconsistent policy stances at the 2009 Copenhagen UNFCCC Climate Change Summit. As a number of scholars pointed out, one of the major reasons why the Chinese delegation refused to commit any further carbon reduction was "due to lack of coordination amongst various institutional actors involved in climate negoations" (Cornard, 2011; Torney, 2014). In addition, the Party leadership has not set a clear framework on who was the most powerful department in charge of China's climate diplomacy agenda. As a result, China's inconsistent behaviour caused much controversy with the EU who intended to collaborate with Beijing and therefore demonstrate itself as a global leader for combating CC.

According to the initial research for this thesis, the bargaining process within the Chinese political system often arises in three different ways: first, it occurs within the Chinese bureaucratic system in the forms of central governmental versus provincial governments, as well as amongst the different central governmental agencies; secondly, it arises between the central governmental institutions and the large State Owned Enterprises (SOEs); thirdly it takes place between provincial governments and the large private companies. The following Chapter Four, Five and Six will explore those three bargaining processes to a significant extent by using case studies from the China-EU CC and RE collaborations.

The first bargaining scenario takes place amongst the various governmental institutions at different levels. Due to the length restriction, this thesis will only focus on the institutional bargaining process at the central government level. As argued previously, the Party has

defined the bureaucratic status of each institution/actor, and granted the designated authority for producing specific policy measures, to each institution. The authority that is given by the Party has often been coupled with responsibilities and budgetary powers. However, certain policy domains have only recently emerged; for example, curbing carbon emissions and developing RE are shared by different departments. As a result, different bureaucratic units and stakeholders have to find ways to retain their share of power. Therefore, a bargaining process "involves negotiation over resources among units that effectively have mutual veto power" (Lieberthal, 1992:9). Depending on their standpoints, each stakeholder will always make specific policies that can extend their own political influence over the ultimate decision maker, or satisfy their own departmental interests.

In the case of China's developments in RE, for some, RE is a development concern, for others, an environmental concern, for others still, an access to technology and intellectual property rights issue. As Jean Garrison rightfully pointed out, "each bureaucratic perspective carries with it different policy prescriptions" (Garrison, 2009: 26). This in turn has made the whole policy making process more complex, with frequent inter-departmental bargaining occurring. An intensive bargaining process, and shared policy competencies, encourage a search for consensus amongst the various institutions in order to initiate the major policy measures they have debated. "A consensus requires extensive and often elaborate deals to be struck through various types of bargaining stratagem" (Lampton, 1992: 23).

In Chapter Four, this thesis will examine the roles between the NDRC and the National Energy Bureau when it comes to implementing RE policies and hold a different position when collaborate with the EU. These two institutions have held different, and even

contradictory, opinions on China's RE development, because of each department's political influence and financial resources.

The second way in which bargaining occurs is between central governmental agencies and SOEs in China. Their bargaining generates a substantial impact on China's collaborations with the EU, as well as China's overall energy policy making. As Erica Downs suggested, "bureaucratic politics is obvious in the failed re-organisation of the energy apparatus" (Downs, 2006:235). This particular type of bargaining will be examined in Chapter Five.

In the case of Sino-EU RE collaboration, some of the energy SOEs that have little experience in developing RE are dominant players in China's traditional fossil fuels sector. They are far less likely to implement the central governmental agencies' policy on developing RE, but rather find a way of making deals with the governmental departments to "escape" from policy implementation. More importantly, some of the energy SOEs hold the same political ranking as the major energy-oriented governmental agencies within the CCP. They have every reason to refuse to implement policy measures that may harm their business interests. There is a constant tension between China's political priority in the energy sector and the need to generate a greener and energy-efficient economy.

In Chapter Five, this thesis will illustrate how some SOEs have managed to combine the CCP's policy priorities and utilise their own industrial expertise to collaborate with the EU on several flagship RE projects. They act as useful information providers and policy implementers to further accelerate Sino-European collaborations on renewable energy, and therefore have become indispensable actors which deserve more detailed examinations in this thesis.

The last way in which bargaining takes place is at the provincial level, unlike the traditional, SOEs dominated fossil fuels sector. China's RE sector has encouraged the participation of private entrepreneurs and as a result most of the large RE equipments manufacturers in China are privately owned by individuals. This particular bargaining process takes place between the large private RE equipment producers and provincial governments.

On the one hand, the provincial authorities implement RE policies from Beijing and also have the fiscal power to offer subsidies in searching for potential investors to boost their provincial GDP and local employments. On the other hand, private entrepreneurs seek to gain more governmental subsidies and greater tax preferential treatments from their provincial governments. So in an ideal situation, private companies and provincial authorities should formulate a perfect demand and supply relationship. However in reality, disputes arise frequently because there are competing interests between the provincial level, which needs to follow the central government's policy guidance to keep RE equipment prices below the market level, and private companies who push for more profits and greater sales volumes with increased market prices.

In case of the Sino-EU solar panel dispute, one of the world's largest solar panel manufacturers, Suntech, was a main victim of the dispute and went bankrupt. One of the major reasons the dispute triggered its bankruptcy was because Suntech followed the Jiangsu Provincial Government's advice to reduce its solar panel prices to a level that were made below its actual production cost. While Suntech might aspire to see a rationalisation in solar panel pricing that is determined by the market, but the provincial government distort the price to reap its own political benefit. Moreover, private entrepreneurs have far less political

resources, compared to SOEs, to ensure their voices are being heard by the Party leadership. They have no alternative to but to follow the provincial government's decision even if such decisions will harm their business.

The third perspective that I would like to analyse throughout this thesis is the domestic sources of Chinese FP. This thesis aims to explain the extent to which shifts in domestic politics have led to changes in Chinese FP. Studying the Sino-EU collaborations serves as a perfect test case to illustrate how the changes in Chinese domestic energy and environmental policies have resulted in changes to China's climate diplomacy. This thesis intends explore the reasons why China's domestic climate change policy shifts, as well as who drives the changes in the field.

While China's astronomical growth is an economic miracle, its corresponding growth in energy use and recurring shortages show China's inability to address its energy security adequately. According to the IEA, "China's domestic oil production will reduce to 24 million barrel per day (BPD) by 2030 rather than the 32 million BPD the IEA projected in 2006" (IEA 2012). Such a reduction leaves a shortfall to be addressed by imports. This lack of supply has resulted in a domestic campaign highlighting energy efficiency and seeking to develop alternative sources of energy. The Sino-EU collaborations on CC and RE are driven by China's needs to tackle carbon emissions and diversify its energy consumption away from fossil fuels. Their collaborations are not driven "by the EU's success in promoting its 'normative power' of sustainability" as some scholars argued (Youngs, 2011: 3, Holslag, 2011:297). Rather, "it is out of necessity for national survival"².

² Interviews with Professor Pan Jiahua at Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, August 2012

The 2005 Renewable Energy Law set a goal to "generate 15% of China's energy from the RE sector, which would be up from the current 8%" (NDRC 2012). The Party Leadership has shifted its position from a deep suspicion towards climate change to embracing the ideas of RE expansion and curbing carbon emissions. Moreover, the CC and RE sectors are largely driven by technological advancements and innovations. Developing cutting-edge RE technologies have coincided with China's self-innovation campaign. The nature of RE technologies has enabled both the SOEs and private companies to join a process of innovation. The self-innovation campaign aims to accelerate the economic restructuring process in China. Such a process will help China to transform from a low value-added exports oriented economy into an innovative technology driven economy. As a result, collaborating with the EU seems to be a natural choice for China.

During the collaborations, several disputes have arisen between Beijing and Brussels due to various factors. Their disputes can also be interpreted as the consequences of changes in Chinese domestic policy measures in the field of CC and RE. For example, China's suspension of the coal to oil projects has severely damaged several British and German companies' corporate interests. One reason to explain such a suspension is because the Chinese authorities realised the coal liquefactions technologies is neither as environmental friendly nor geographically feasible in China as the Europeans claimed. Similar arguments can be made about the EU's complainants of China's discrimination against European RE products during the process of governmental procurements. This is largely due to the fact that the quality of China's RE products has significantly improved in the last five years, and the Chinese authorities have made good efforts to protect their newly formed RE sector. These domestic sources that generate an impact on Sino-EU collaborations will be examined throughout the later chapters.

The last perspective this thesis will analyse is the responses to changes in China from the EU and its MS. Most of this thesis will focus on the process of making Chinese FP and explore the changes in Beijing's FP agenda. But, it is also crucial to investigate responses from the EU when it comes to engaging with China. This thesis, throughout chapter six and seven, will examine aspects such as, how the EU and its MS understand China; whether the EU has succeeded in adapting to changes in priorities in China's domestic politics and foreign relations; whether the EU and its MS have managed to disentangle the relations between the Chinese Party Leadership and the core Chinese institutions.

The EU is renowned for its complex bureaucratic system and is now facing a partner which has established equally intricate bureaucracies. By exploring those aspects, this thesis aims to answer the ultimate research question as to whether their collaborations and the overall China-EU relations are a bilateral partnership or multilateral partnerships.

In this thesis, the analytical units from the Chinese side are the Party, the Chinese governmental agencies and the large Chinese corporate organisations. Equally in regards to the EU, the analytical units consists of the EU institutions in Brussels; the Member States (MS); and the European conglomerates that participate in the Sino-EU collaborations. Similar to the investigations into the policy making processes of Chinese FP, I will analyse the domestic sources and the main drivers of the EU and MS' FPs towards China. It is also of heightened importance to understand changes in the EU, and MS' FPs, against the backdrop of the prolonged sovereign debt crisis. Given the significance of the European corporate sector within their collaborations, I will also examine their corporate activities during their collaborations with Chinese partners. However, the European companies are mostly detached

from their respective governments in terms of corporate governance. Their corporate independence has generated different models of collaborations than when compared to their Chinese counterparts.

According to initial findings, the EU institutions in Brussels have largely failed to understand and adapt to changes in China's domestic and foreign policy priorities. Their misunderstandings have almost triggered a trade war between the two sides, and generated an ever stronger sense of hostility between Beijing and Brussels. The MS have been presented with a mixed picture. Some MS have seized the opportunities to establish or restore their sound economic ties with China, whilst others have developed fluctuating partnerships with Beijing. The European corporate sector has certainly grasped the opportunities to expand their business operation in the Middle Kingdom, even though they have made many complainants about the tough business climate in China.

In the context of Sino-EU collaborations, China has entered two relatively new policy fields and has lacked the appropriate experience to integrate new sectors into the existing economy, namely, Climate Change technologies and Renewable Energy. The European companies treat China's lack of experience as a unique opportunity to set foot into China's vast domestic market. For example, the NDRC, the chief executive on China's energy policy, has even consulted Vestas, the Danish Wind Energy giant, when drafting *"the PRC's Wind Energy Equipment Manufacture Standard"* in 2009³. To this extent, most European companies' collaborations in China can be deemed as being successful. However, as China's RE sector has grown rapidly in the last three years, achieving greater business success via collaboration for European companies will only become harder.

³ Interviews with governmental relations team at VESTAS' China, August 2012

In conclusion, this chapter has outlined the analytical framework of this thesis and offered some preliminary findings. Overall, this thesis will give a strong emphasis on the study of the policy making process; the relations between decision maker and the various FP actors, as well as the bargaining process amongst FP actors. Therefore, it is of heightened importance to adopt the actor-oriented and the process-oriented approaches from the existing literature on Foreign Policy Analysis. This thesis will explain and analyse the feasibility of these two approaches in the next section.

Section 1.3 Foreign Policy Analysis (FPA) and the study of China-EU relations

Given the intricate nature of China-EU relations, using just the mainstream theories of International Relations, such as Realism, Liberalism and Constructivism, is insufficient to explain the complexities of their partnerships. Instead, this thesis will employ selected Foreign Policy Analysis (FPA) approaches together with some grand IR theories to explain Sino-EU relations. As discussed previously, this thesis aims to analyse Sino-EU relations from a bureaucratic politics perspective. The main analytical units consist of each individual FP actor rather than a state or an organisation as a whole. Therefore, it will adopt an actororiented approach to analyse the motivations and behaviour of each FP actor in its attempts to shape China-EU relations.

The Bureaucratic Politics Model (BPM) is an actor-oriented approach that has been widely debated and utilised amongst IR academics. Scholars often employ the BPM to analyse the foreign policies of liberal democracies. However, this thesis aims to challenge the prevalent view and to demonstrate that the BPM is by no means limited to a certain category of political system. It is possessed with great explanatory value when it is used to examine foreign policies regardless of the type of regime.

The main focus of this thesis will be individual foreign policy actors in the Chinese foreign policy decision-making process. This section will provide a brief schematic overview of the respective roles of the different institutions and ministries in China's foreign policymaking towards the EU, to illustrate the importance of the actors analysed throughout this thesis.

Like any other domain of Beijing's foreign policy, China's EU policymaking is not a straightforward process. As pointed out in the previous section, while the CCP leadership sets

broader policy agenda, each relevant ministry is asked to provide policy proposals and potential solutions to existing issues between China and other regions and countries.

For China-EU relations, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA) and Ministry of Commerce (MOFCOM) are twin traditional FP actors that deal with China's external affairs with the EU. The MFA mostly executes bilateral and multilateral relations on political issues, while the MOFCOM retains primary position on trade policy with the EU and its MS. When there is a dispute arising between the two departments, as this thesis shows in Chapter Two, the Central Small Leading Group of the External Affairs, led by the President, will meet resolve the dispute and reach the consensus.

In recent years, several key institutions not traditionally belonging to the decision-making process of China's foreign policy have also gradually emerged as powerful players in making China's EU policy. First and foremost, the National Development and Reformation Commission (NDRC), is responsible for ensuring the overall coherence of Chinese macro-economic and industrial policy. It stands in higher bureaucratic status than both the MOFCOM and the MFA. While the NDRC has little experience in foreign affairs it participates in almost all China's foreign economic policymaking.

As argued, economic relations between China and the EU remain the backbone of their partnership. This provides institutions such as the People's Bank of China (PBOC) and the Ministry of Finance (MOF) with crucial roles in dictating China's financial collaborations with the EU. Both are highly regarded and mostly trusted by the CCP leadership, as Chapter Two will illustrate through their important contribution to China's participation in resolving the European Sovereign Debt Crisis. The other institution that has come into prominence is the State Owned-Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (SASAC). It regulates overseas direct investments of Chinese State Owned Enterprises. More importantly, it holds the authority to approve Chinese SOEs' investments in Europe and worldwide.

The roles of Chinese SOEs as vehicles to initiate investments have also come to prominence in recent years. The strangest yet crucial feature of the SOEs is their bureaucratic status both within the Party and amongst the central governmental apparatus. By having a full ministry status, they place themselves in the same position to the MFA, the MOFCOM and some other ministries. As a result, when a conflict of interests occurs, SOEs have the ability to bypass ministries and ensure their voices and preferences are heard directly by the CCP's top leadership.

Given the above complex institutional setting, this section aims to explore the potential of using "the BPM approach" of FPA throughout this thesis to interpret the China-EU relations. As argued in the previous section, this thesis will focus on the policymaking process of Chinese FP and Beijing's climate diplomacy. Therefore, it will also adopt the so-called "Process Approach" of FPA in order to observe the changes and domestic sources of Chinese FP.

As referred to above, China-EU relations are dominated by the interactions amongst various state and non-state actors. It is therefore crucial to focus on what those actors have done either to strengthen or to distort China-EU relations. It is also very useful to analyse the

motivations of each actor during the process of determining China's policy towards the EU and vice versa.

This thesis will also utilise the bureaucratic politics model (BPM), which is an actor-oriented FPA approach, to explain how China's EU policy, as well as Brussels' China, policy are made. The BPM suggests that "different institutional settings means officials and politicians view FP issues through different prisms, resulting in distinctively different views" (Neustadt, 1970: 2).

The conventional rational choice model is based on decision makers adopting the most optimal policy proposal in a particular situation. However, according to Graham Allison, "the rational policy model may be useful; it neglects the role of the bureaucracy in determining FP. Each bureaucracy manipulates FP in the direction that corresponds to its particular interests, bureaucratic considerations may override national interests" (Allison,1969:690). Similarly, scholars such as Chris Alden and Amnon Aran, echoed Allison's ideas, "Whilst the rational policy model accounts for the interaction between states in terms of a competition between two purposive individuals, the BPM explanation focuses primarily on the political process internal to each state" (Aiden and Aran, 2011: 38). The BPM can therefore explain the domestic sources of one state's foreign policy and the causes and processes of bureaucratic rifts.

One can argue that the BPM is largely applicable to liberal democracies with multi-party systems to satisfy the electorates' interests. Therefore, there are numerous interest groups across the whole political spectrum, which are making many attempts to shape the FP according to their desired outcomes. China, as an authoritarian state, is conventionally

perceived as monolithic, and therefore does not have interest groups which could oppose or influence decisions made by the Standing Committee of the Politburo (SCP).

However, the phenomenon of bureaucratic politics, described by Graham Allison and Morton Halperin has not restricted its application to a particular political system, and vested interest groups do play a significant part across through the Chinese political system. "Whilst the rules of game might play out very differently in a democratic elected government, the fundamental characteristics of bureaucratic competition remain the same regardless of the type of government" (Allison, 1968: Halperin 1974).

The relevance of BPM to interpreting Chinese political system are twofold. Firstly, almost every domestic or external affairs decision made are based on a desire to achieve a consensus amongst the seven or nine members of the SCP, even if such consensus is sometimes merely an illusion. This consensus seeking model has provided a unique opportunity to those potential interests groups seeking to influence the opinions of SCP members. Those three bargaining scenarios as I referred at the last section have often occurred in a process of consensus seeking amongst interests groups. These interests groups maybe located both inside and outside of the formal FP making process. They mainly consist of governmental institutions, Chinese companies and even some foreign corporate organisations to a smaller extent. They attempt to formulate Chinese FP based on their departmental preferences and corporate interests respectively. More importantly, none of current nine members⁴ of the SCP have much experience in FP making. This in turn has provided relevant Chinese FP actors more channels and alternatives in which to shape China's FP agenda.

⁴ It was nine members at SCP by between Nov 2007 and Nov 2012, and is now reduced to seven

Secondly, Chinese FP has increased in scope and content which has created fertile ground for the various stakeholders and interests groups to compete to shape the policy agenda via various channels. In the case of renewable energy developments, only a few central governmental departments have sufficient experience and expertise. The Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) is the front-runner for China's scientific innovation policy and has never become a formal participant in the Chinese FP making process. Impressively, it has managed to exercise its limited competence in science to extend its impact on final FP outcomes. Its role as an institutional partner for China's international collaborations has also helped it to become an important, if not formidable, actor in China's FP making. Moreover, both governmental institutions and non-state actors have constantly lobbied the decision making body to ensure their interests are being represented. The following chapters will provide detailed analysis on how the BPM can be used to explain China's EU policy.

This thesis will also adopt the "Process" approach of FPA to study relations between actors and the ultimate decision maker. The Process approach aims to explore the actual process of FP decision-making rather than its final outcomes. For scholars who prefer to use the Process approach such as Valerie Hudson and Laura Neack, they assert that to study a country's FP is to examine what FP actors are actually doing when participating in the dynamic process of making decisions. As Laura Neack suggested, FPA "needs to consider how certain goals arise and why certain behaviour results. Our emphasis will be on determining these factors and the process by which policy (statement and behaviour) is made" (Neack, 2003:26).

The Process Approach to FPA will not only focus on a single decision, but a series of decisions taken with reference to a particular situation. To this extent, one can search for sources and motivations of changes within a series of FP decisions. For example, by using the

Process approach, one can interpret the reasons why China has gradually increased its market entry barriers to European companies when they are investing in China. The higher market entry barriers in China have become one of the major obstacles within China-EU relations. Mounting market entry barriers have largely reflected changes in China's EU policy. At the beginning of the Century, China eagerly searched for sources from which to acquire cutting edge technologies to upgrade its outdated industrial sector. Direct investments from Europe has served as a vehicle to achieve China's own objective. Whereas now, the Chinese industrial sector has now almost completed its "catch-up" and intends to become a fullyfledged competitor to the Europeans. As a result, the Chinese government has tactically set up higher barriers to protect its home grown enterprises. In this context, using the Process approach will allow one to examine why and how changes are made, and the extent to which these changes affect overall China-EU relations.

By using the Process Approach to FPA, the state is no longer seen as a unitary actor in international politics. "States are not conceived as unitary actors but rather as an institutional structure within which, and on behalf of which, individual decision makers act" (Carlsanes 2008:89). The state consists of a number of institutions and organisations performing certain domestic functions and participating in the FP making process. These actors influence the final FP decision-making through a process of problem recognition and proposals of possible solutions. This particular approach can appropriately be applied to analysing China-EU relations.

The reasons which justify this approach are twofold: firstly, the EU is *a sui genersis* entity with characteristics of both a state and an international organisation. There are a number of different EU institutions and national governmental agencies sharing EUFP decision making

power. Making the EU's China policy is no exception to the rule, with the involvement of both Brussels and member states (MS). Secondly, the scope of Chinese foreign policy has expanded enormously in the past eleven years. As a result, actors who were traditionally located outside the formal FP making process have participated in Beijing's FP decision making. Therefore, one can conclude that the studies of China-EU relations are essentially assessments of interactions, competitions and collaboration amongst various actors from both China and Europe. In regards to China-EU relations, actors are the governmental institutions in Beijing, Brussels as well as each individual EU member states (MS), corporate actors including Chinese SOEs, Chinese private companies and European firms.

In conclusion, examining China-EU relations is far too complex to rely upon the grand IR theories or any one particular FPA approach alone. Instead of exclusively focusing on the outcomes of FPs as the Policy approach does, it is of vital importance to assess the origins and the series of changes within the FP making process. Therefore, the Process approach of FPA has served as an appropriate tool to unfold the changes and dynamics of one state's FP. Given the large numbers of equally powerful actors involved in the Sino-EU relations, an actor-oriented approach, such as the BPM, can produce ample food for thought for the studies of China-EU relations. By utilising the BPM, this thesis will explore the origins of a particular set of FP agendas from China, the EU and its MS. It will examine the nuances of the relations between those interest groups and the Party. It will also help to analyse intricate relations and bargaining processes amongst various institutional and corporate actors. In doing so, it will test the main hypothesis of this thesis, which suggested that China-EU relations.

Section 1.4: An Overview of China-EU collaboration on climate change and Renewable energy

This section will offer an overview of China-EU climate change (CC) and renewable energy (RE) collaboration. It aims to provide a foundation for examining Sino-EU collaborations on CC and RE in the later chapters. This thesis argues that their collaborations are multilateral in nature, and takes place at the EU, national and regional levels. It will firstly explain the importance of studying this topic, and then depict the current literature gap. It will explore what are motivations to collaborate from both the Chinese and European perspectives. It will also identify persistent challenges that undermine the prospect of further strengthening their collaborations.

Collaborations on climate change and renewable energy are of heightened importance to China and the EU. The two sides can achieve concrete results and benefit from closer collaborations both economically and politically. Their collaborations only began in 2005 and progressed at a modest level. According to my previous literature review, there is a dearth of secondary literature in this area. There are only eight academic journal articles, three think tank policy papers and one book chapter written on this topic. The reasons are twofold: firstly, it is still a recent phenomenon; secondly, studying this area requires good understanding of renewable technology as well as knowledge of the current trends on carbon trading market and the RE sector. Conducting research on this topic requires researchers to have the right amount of knowledge and first hand working experience within this sector. This thesis does not wish to dismiss the existing literature and attempt to create a brand new piece of research. Rather, it aims to elaborate on research from what scholars have written so far and to bring vibrancy to academic debates on the topic. From a Chinese perspective, collaborating with the EU will benefit China both domestically and externally. Soaring energy demand, achieving industrial upgrades and crafting a positive international image are the key drivers of collaboration from Beijing's mindset. Domestically, China's rapid economic growth has created a soaring demand on fossil fuels such as coal and crude oil, which have been vital sources of electricity and heating generation since the 1950s. The enormous consumption of coal has resulted in an excessive amount of Green House Gas emissions and pollution. Since the early 1990s, China has started to experience major side effects in the wake of its economic boom. It has become, since 1995, a net importer of crude oil. Its limited domestic oil outputs have made China heavily reliant on imports, and therefore it is very vulnerable to oil price fluctuations which unwillingly involve China in international conflicts in oil-rich, but dangerous, areas in order to secure its supply. As a result, developing a sizeable renewable sector would partly resolve the above challenges.

The CC and RE sectors are largely driven by technological advancements and innovations. RE technologies aim to generate cheaper, cleaner and more effective alternatives when compared to traditional fossil fuels consumptions. To this extent, developing cutting-edge RE technologies has coincided with China's self-innovation campaign. The nature of RE technologies has enabled both States Owned Enterprises (SOEs) and private companies to join a process of innovation. As observed by many scholars, "prior to 2005, technology transfers from the EU had been a critical source of technological capacity in renewable developments in China" (Berger et al, 2013). Chinese companies had often signed license agreements with its European partners in order to obtain some of the core RE technologies. Obtaining such technologies had established a solid foundation for further innovations in the Chinese RE industry. During this period, technology transfers had been organised through a mechanism of foreign direct investments (FDIs), trade and issuing licensing agreements by European governments and firms.

From a Chinese FP making perspective, developing renewable technology will help China to craft a positive international image. Beijing's recent involvements in the UNFCCC have been substantially shaped by its desire to be an active stakeholder within this framework and to reinforce its leadership role in advocating for developing countries. Like China's other engagements with multilateral institutions, China's main objective in the international climate change arena was to maintain an international environment that would not disrupt its domestic development.

However, as some scholars have observed "China found itself caught between a contradictory role of being both an advocate to developing countries and a major climate culprit" (Messiner and Cornad, 2012: 18). Beijing had rapidly implemented CC and RE projects at home even as it resisted binding commitments abroad. As a result, climate change negotiation has become a main source of persistent tension between China, the EU and other pro-climate change advocates. Beijing believed that emphasise on developing renewable energy would exhibit its efforts to curb carbon emissions and would be acknowledged by the rest of the world. Increasing in renewable power installation could be an effective way for China to seek international recognition in the global climate change regime and thereby ease international pressure on China to commit to obligatory carbon reduction targets.

Developing renewable energy could also reduce the possibilities for China to become involved in unnecessary international conflicts. China has attempted to secure its access to international supplies of energy and natural resources, to fuel its industrial development.

However, as late comers, Chinese energy companies have to focus on resource-rich countries or regions where their Western competitors have not already established mature business operations. As a result, Chinese energy firms have to venture to the most politically unstable and dangerous regions worldwide. Their economic stakes have then been placed in jeopardy by violent internal political upheavals and territorial disputes in their hosting states.

From a European point of view, the EU aims to become "a policy shaper rather than a policy taker in international environmental affairs, generating policy agenda rather simply responding to policy imperatives" (Lenschow 2004: 143). Both the EU and China are among the worlds largest oil importers as well as Carbon emitters. Establishing successful collaborative partnerships with China will increase the EU's credentials as a valuable global actor. The two sides established their strategic partnerships on climate change at their high-level bilateral summit in September 2005. They outlined six areas of cooperation: 1) Energy efficiency and renewable energy; 2) Clean coal; 3) Methane recovery and use; 4) Carbon capture and storage (CCS); 5) Hydrogen and fuel cells; and 6) Power generation and transmission.

Both sides have achieved some concrete results in terms of financial and scientific collaborations compared to other areas of China-EU relations. They have financed cutting-edge scientific projects with several prestigious research institutes at various locations in China and Europe. The Commission and "the European Investment Bank funded a total 645 million Euros to clean energy project collaborations with China" (Holslag, 2010: 120). More importantly, Brussels and its MS also have perceived the Chinese RE market to have huge economic potential. Between 2002 and 2008, the cumulative EU exports to China of renewable energy equipments already reached a rather impressive level, with "a total value of

92.5 million Euros" (Ibid). Further to RE equipments sales, the European companies have also had the opportunity to export RE installation and follow-up maintenance products.

However, their collaborations have been more problematic than they expected. This was largely because their cooperation has encountered persistent obstacles generated by the Chinese government, Brussels and by the EU MS. Chinese and European governments and corporate actors play equally important roles in the collaborative relations. This multi-actors process has resulted in the emergence of incoherence to the overall China-EU collaborations on CC and RE. Domestic environmental policy making and climate diplomacy have a typically expansive quality that goes beyond the strict responsibilities of any particular institution or national government.

As some scholars have argued, this mixed nature coupled with an "Inter-sectoral character of environmental policy can make policy makers deliberation quite extensive and often difficult" (Vogel 2006: 90, Sbragia 1996: 244-246). Setting environmental diplomacy agenda involves trade, energy, taxation, transport, finance and scientific research. As a result, the intricate nature of environmental diplomacy has had a major impact upon both China and the EU's competence to coordinate various actors in their collaboration process. It therefore depends on "the location of internal competence and granting of external recognition" within their respective policy-making process (Vogel 2006: 93).

Meanwhile, the Chinese hold a very different attitude towards compliance with obligatory carbon reductions which have been enthusiastically promoted by the Union at the UNFCCC. Beijing has largely disagreed with the EU's stance to set compulsory emission targets for developing countries. The reasons for China's resistance are threefold: firstly, the West

should be responsible for current environmental damage; secondly, China has the right to tackle more pressing issues such as hunger and poverty alleviation, and China should receive more funding and technological assistances to collaborate with the EU and other developed countries in a multi-lateral framework of CC. Thirdly and equally important, tackling climate change and setting carbon reduction targets are seen as China's domestic affairs. The EU and other climate advocates have no right to intervene in the domestic affairs of another country.

The current literature on the Sino-European climate and renewable collaborations overlooks the impact of those states', and non-state actors generated in the collaboration process, while exclusively focusing on the collaboration at the China-EU level. From a Chinese perspective, environmental policy and FP making have gone hand in hand since environmental diplomacy became a part of the Chinese FP agenda in the early 1990s. There are a number of governmental institutions competing to shape China's CC and RE policies. The traditional FP making and implementation institutions, such as the MFA, have only played a minor role in facilitating China's multi-lateral climate change negotiations. Instead, institutions that are in charge of economic and industrial policies have become key players in formulating China's climate diplomacy agenda, and dictate China's CC and RE collaborations with the EU.

Apart from governmental institutions, Chinese firms have also played an indispensable part in either promoting or prohibiting collaborations according to their commercial interests. They have performed simultaneously the roles of policy formulator and policy implementer. This is largely because some of the Chinese firms are semi-independent from the government. They have become vehicles to implement RE policies made by the government. They are also operating as corporate organisations, which have commercial interests to pursue, like their European peers. Therefore, they have attempted to influence the

government's policy agenda for their own benefits. This thesis will explore the roles played by each of the Chinese actors in collaborations with the Union in Chapters 4 and 5.

From a European perspective, their collaborations have also become problematic. This is largely because EU FP has been perceived as inconsistent since the European Union's creation. In the case of China-EU collaborations, horizontal and vertical inconsistencies have co-existed from the beginning of collaboration in 2005. Horizontal inconsistency refers to policy dis-coordination among various European institutions. Environmental policy has traditionally been a competence of the Commission therefore; the DG Clima should have enjoyed ultimate freedom to set the EU's environmental policy agenda from both domestic perspective and external domain.

However, the DG Clima is not able to establish its exclusive competence during the EU's climate diplomacy agenda setting process. Brussels' climate policy agenda is shaped by various other equally important European institutions' engagements in the EU' environmental diplomacy. A constant process of bargaining and turf wars has occurred frequently amongst European institutions. To this extent, the outcomes of European domestic environmental policy and its climate diplomacy are not always in accordance with what the Union is trying to promote. Part of Chapters 6 will exhibit how China-EU collaborations on CC and RE have been constrained by this horizontal inconsistency in Brussels.

Vertical Inconsistency in comparison, it is the incoherence taking place between the decisions of the European Union and the decisions of its MS. There is little coordination between Brussels and each capital of the MS on what is the best way to cooperate with China on CC and RE. The EU Commission and MS realise that pursuing renewable energy cooperation

with China will add invaluable assets into Sino-EU relations. It will also raise the international profile of the Union as a champion to tackle global warming. However, the EU finds it very hard to present a unified vision that convinces China on areas of CC and RE. Vertical inconsistency has inevitably occurred when it comes to choosing the best ways to collaborate with China.

At the EU level, Brussels and China are very keen to see collaborations on CC and RE taking place whilst MS dispute with DG Clima on the extent of collaboration with their Chinese partners. For example, there is a strong fear in Germany that its unique clean coal technology is being copied by Chinese. While Denmark has always been reluctant to show installation methods of off-shore wind turbines to their Chinese customers. Chapter 6 of the thesis will also unfold the so-called "Vertical Inconsistency" between the MS and the EU when they come to collaborating with China.

One cannot deny the vital importance of European companies in shaping the collaborations. They treat China's ever growing RE sector as another enormous economic opportunity. Major European utility/energy conglomerates have either sold their RE equipment or set up joint ventures with Chinese energy SOEs to develop the latest RE technologies. However, their collaborations have exhibited some of the recurring disputes between China and the Union, such as market entry and involuntary technology transfers. Throughout the years of their collaborations, many European energy conglomerates have expressed their frustration to both the governmental departments and their business partners in China through the relevant EU institutions or their respective national governments. They have filed complains of receiving unfair treatment in the domestic market by the Chinese government, and they have also

suffered from frequent Intellectual Property Rights violations while delivering technology transfers to their Chinese business partners.

Unlike relations between the Chinese government and its firms, European firms have not performed "policy implementation" roles in their collaborations with the Chinese. Their collaborations with China are largely determined by economic interests and the market. They have considered the European institutions, both in Brussels and in their respective countries, as their agents who merely represent their economic interests. On some occasions, European firms and governmental institutions are also in dispute as they disagree with each other about which are the optimal collaborative practices with China. Their disputes in turn have also further distorted the EU's environmental diplomacy agenda. In addition, European companies have generated a significant impact upon China's RE policy making as the Chinese RE sector is still developing in its very early stage. This thesis will also explore the complex relations between European companies and governmental actors from both China and the EU in Chapter 6.

As argued above, the study of China-EU relations cannot exclusively concentrate on the China-EU level as the current literature has outlined. Rather, it should also retain a focus to a multi-level of analysis, which can affect decision making process of all parties involved in the collaboration. This thesis will explore the intricate nature of their collaborations in the following chapters.

Section 1.5: Research Design for the Thesis

This section aims to provide the research design framework for this thesis. It will firstly outline the hypotheses that will be tested in the thesis. It will then indicate the methods that the thesis will adopt to collect the research data and give the reasons why these specific methods are being employed. It will also outline the levels of analysis of the research project.

A research design is "the plan, the structure and the strategy of investigation, so conceived as to obtain answers to research questions or problems" (Kerlinger 1986: 4). It is the point "where questions raised in theoretical or policy debates are converted into feasible research projects and research programs that provide answers to those questions"(Hakim 2000: 24). In order to conduct a research project, the author will have to identify hypotheses for the thesis. In this thesis, they are:

- China-EU relations cannot be exclusively interpreted in light of a Sino-EU bilateral partnership which only involves the interactions between Beijing and Brussels. Rather, China-EU relations are a series of multilateral partnerships, which involve Chinese and the EU bureaucratic institutions, national capitals of EU MS and corporate actors. They are all playing equally important roles in this multilateral relationship.
- 2) Both Chinese bureaucratic actors and their European counterparts have built up their own centre of gravity in their attempts to shape the overall Sino-EU climate change (CC) and renewable energy (RE) collaborations. On the one hand, these actors are pursuing the policy agenda or collaboration strategies that have been crafted or approved by the respective decision makers. On the other hand, these actors have mobilised their own expertise or formed alliances with other stakeholders to exert influence upon the policy choices by the ultimate FP decision making entities.

In order to test the above hypotheses, this project will apply an inductive approach to link IR theories with empirical evidence within overall China-EU relations. Realists, Liberals and Constructivists ideas have all been utilised by policy makers from Beijing, Brussels and the national capitals of MS. Given the nature of this topic, it is not driven by quantitative data collection; rather it is concentrated on analysing the discourse. This thesis will therefore employ a qualitative approach to conduct this research. In doing so, this thesis will use the case study design in chapter four, five, six to test the hypotheses. According to some political scientists, "Case studies enable researcher to focus on a particular policy area and study it in depth" (Burham et all 2004: 53). While both qualitative and quantitative data can be utilised in this method, this thesis will utilise more qualitative data in order to evaluate the process and possible outcomes of China-EU collaboration.

After identifying the models of research design, the author will have to decide what kind of data she will collect in order to fulfil the requirements of the research model. As mentioned earlier, collaboration between China and the EU on CC and RE is a recent phenomenon in the development of Sino-EU relations. It has not been as widely studied as other elements of China-EU relations. Primary, or first-hand, data is best to facilitate the requirements of this research. As suggested by some scholars, Primary data "consists only of evidence that was actually part of, or produced by, the event in questions" (Lichtman and French 1978: 18).

To collect primary data, the best approach is to conduct interviews. Due to the opaqueness of the Chinese policy making process, the author believes that semi-structured interviews are deemed to be most appropriate with which to obtain the required data. The author will conduct semi-structured elite interviews with decision makers and practitioners who have extensively worked in this area. The author will draw on contacts from her previous

consulting projects as well as contacts from several of her participations in think-tank conferences. The author believes these interviewees will provide invaluable insights into the current developments on China-EU collaboration; as well as asserting visible, and invisible, barriers that prohibit collaboration from proceeding further.

Despite the limited amounts of secondary data available in this area, the author will still need to consult them. Referring to secondary data, as a number of scholars have asserted, consists of "other evidence relating to and produced related to the event" (Ibid: 19). The secondary data will allow the author to "verify and confirm (up to a certain extent) the consistency of the information and data collected" (Burham et al 2004: 179). This thesis will draw secondary data mainly from official documents and analyses written by scholars and up to date media sources. In addition, this thesis will examine the roles of European conglomerates in facilitating or undermining collaboration between China and the EU. The annual reports from publicly listed conglomerates will become an important secondary source from which to understand the subject, even though they are not written for the purpose of academic discussion.

Given the complexities of the Chinese FP making process and the hybrid nature of the EU, this thesis will conduct analyses at three levels in order to fully comprehend China-EU relations and their collaboration on CC and RE.

 China-EU level: This thesis will evaluate how decisions are made and implemented by the Chinese governmental departments and their EU counterparts affect the overall collaboration on CC and RE. This thesis will also assess to what extent the outcomes of their collaborations are shaped by either their individual bureaucratic preference or corporate interests.

- 2) China-EU-EU MS level: This thesis will examine to what extent the policy preferences of the MS will determine the outcomes of China-EU collaboration. At this level, the thesis will assess how individual MS interact with China either to enhance or to distort their bilateral collaborations. This thesis will also consider how the individual MS' own interests have undermined the overall coherence of the EU's policy agenda on Sino-EU CC and RE collaborations.
- 3) The European institutions and the Chinese provincial governments' level: At this level, their collaborations have mostly reversed into a major source of bitter disputes between China and the EU. This is largely due to the Chinese provincial government's own authority to dictate its local renewable energy industry without consideration of China's overall renewable development strategy and the international demand and supply of the renewable equipment. At the provincial level, this thesis will turn the focal point to the relations between the large private owned enterprises and their respective governments in the wake of the Sino-European solar panel dispute.

The purpose of presenting the different levels of analysis is to test the hypothesis that "China-EU collaborations on CC and their overall relations are not bilateral but multilateral partnerships with various layers, and therefore they must be considered from different actors' points of views.

Chapter One Conclusion:

In conclusion, this chapter has outlined and reviewed the shortcomings of the current literature on China-EU relations, which have predominately concentrated on both China and the EU as monolithic and coherent actors in their engagements with each other. Instead, this thesis will adopt the Process Approach of Foreign Policy Analysis to disentangle the relations amongst main protagonists of China-EU relations.

With a focus on various foreign policy actors in this thesis, the author believes that the Bureaucratic Politics Model and the related Fragmented Authoritarian model are also equipped with significant explanatory values when they are used to examine the foreign policies of non-democratic regimes, such as China. While China and the EU have undergone a dramatic transformation in recent years, their common interests in climate change and promoting renewable energy have emerged as a new area for scholarly debates.

However, there is a dearth of secondary literature in this area. The existing literature has mainly focused on collaborations at the China-EU level without assessing the cooperation made by individual governmental institutions and corporate actors from China, the EU and member states. This thesis aims to fill the literature gaps by examining the roles of the relevant actors in shaping the overall collaborations in the following Chapters; Four, Five and Six. The thesis has also outlined the level of analysis and research methodology that will be used in the thesis.

Chapter Two: Not quite a strategic partnership: An Assessment of China's EU Policy between 2001 and 2013

Introduction:

This chapter examines the developments in China's EU policy between 2001 and 2013. Both China and the EU have consistently emphasised the importance of their diplomatic relations, and have made serious efforts to maintain sound economic ties. In 2001, China's WTO membership marked as a historical milestone in China's return to the international community. Its successful application for WTO membership was thanks to the substantial help from the EU and individual member states (MS). The two sides then enjoyed a relatively short honey-moon period and before suffering bitterness by the end of 2008. In the past three years, their relations have again been revived against the backdrop of the global financial crisis and lingering sovereign debt crisis within the Eurozone.

During these twelve years, China's engagements with the Union have largely reflected its rapid economic growth as well as a major political ideology shift amongst the decision makers in Beijing. The main aim was to have amicable relations with both the EU and individual members, and to accelerate China's own economic modernisation through the absorbing of advanced technologies and industrial expertise, from the EU. Despite having strong commercial ties, their relations were no less problematic than China's relations with the other great powers. With the ups and downs of China-EU relations, both Beijing and Brussels were disenchanted by what they could offer to each other in order to establish a so-called "strategic partnership". China recognised that the EU had a long way to go before it could become a credible player in the international arena. As a result, China shifted its strategy from dealing with Brussels to strengthening its bilateral ties with MS.

73

China's EU policy has exhibited distinctive characteristics in its foreign policy (FP) agenda, such as a staunch belief in safe guarding national sovereignty and resentments of past humiliations. Its economic engagements with the Continent have largely been intertwined with specific political agendas such as the "One China policy". Policy makers in Beijing believe that smooth political ties are the prerequisites of further economic collaboration. China has begun to flex its economic muscle to achieve political goals. In other words, China never hesitates to practice economic statecraft, either in conventional or non-conventional forms, when engaged with the EU and individual MS, as has already been argued in Chapter 1,.

Practising economic statecraft requires a number of actors involved in both the FP making and implementation processes. There are no shortage of numbers of actors participating in China's EU policy making and implementation. The evolving nature of China's EU strategy has reflected the expanding scope and numbers of players participating in the policy-making process. These actors are either semi-autonomous or autonomous, and have built up their own centre of gravity in their attempts to shape Beijing's EU policy agenda. On the one hand, these actors are pursuing economic statecraft under the remit of Beijing's careful executions of its EU policy. On the other hand, these actors have mobilised their own expertise or have formed alliances with other stakeholders to exert influence upon the Standing Committee of the Politburo (PSC), which is the ultimate FP decision making body in Beijing. This chapter will seek to explore the dynamics and the conflicts amongst these two groups of actors, either semi-autonomous or autonomous, when they comes to influence the policy making process as a whole. This chapter will firstly provide an overview of China's EU policy by searching for its origins and objectives in Section 2.1. It also aims to provide an insight into, and the identity of the main protagonists of the Sino-EU relationship in the past 11 years. In section 2.2 this chapter will then identify who are the actors currently participating in the formulation of China's EU strategy as well as who is implementing that strategy. It will attempt to unfold these actors' relationship with decision makers, in other words, the relations between the bureaucratic/governmental actors and the ultimate decision-making entity. Finally, in section 2.3 this chapter will explore the roles played by the corporate sector in China's EU policy making process. In doing so, this thesis will answer one of key research questions, to what extent these FP actors have shaped China's EU policy making.

Section 2.1: An Overview of China's EU Policy between 2001 and 2013

This section aims to provide an insight into China's EU policy in the past eleven years. It seeks to explore sources of Beijing's EU policy agenda, and to search for correlations between China's foreign policy (FP) objectives and China's engagements with the EU and the individual member states (MS). It will explain the reasons why China has largely failed to establish "a strategic partnership" with the European Union.

This section will also reflect the increase in scope and the complexities of China's EU policy as China has re-emerged as a global power. This evolving nature has provided fertile ground for various Chinese FP actors competing to shape the policy process. This section will pave the way to examine how these competitions and conflicts between the Chinese FP actors have played out in formulating China's EU strategy in the next section. This section will firstly examine the objectives of Chinese FP, and then search for correlations between China's FP goals and China's EU policy. By depicting the main challenges to China-EU relations, this section will also assess to what extent China's EU policy has actually created, rather than eliminated, persistent obstacles to further strengthening Sino-EU relations.

China's FP objectives have been mostly inspired by its core national interests, which are: 1) To prioritise economic developments over political pluralism as a function of reinforcing the Chinese Communist Party's legitimacy with the People;

2) To maintain social stability across different provinces through a reduction in income inequality by promoting further sustainable economic growth

3) To safeguard the absolute leadership of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP)

4) To safeguard territorial integrity and national sovereignty through a policy of zerotolerance towards separatists unrest in Tibet and Xinjiang, and the secession of Taiwan. Chinese President Hu Jintao summarised these reasons by stating that China's diplomacy must safeguard the interests of sovereignty, security and development (Hu, 2009).

Therefore, Chinese FP has always served the interests of domestic politics, which is first and foremost to create a stable external environment in order to help China's own economic developments and to acquire advanced technologies to modernise the country. More importantly, the ultimate objective of Beijing's FP is to sustain the absolute leadership of the Party. Facilitating continuous economic growth has been, and will continue to be, the vital source of the CCP's modern day legitimacy.

China's FP has defensive and inward looking objectives based on its core national interests. Such ideas were initiated by Deng Xiaoping who stated that China should be "Keeping a low profile in international affairs and focusing on domestic economic development"(Wang, 2011: 159)⁵. China's active engagements with Europe, the US and other advanced industrial states have served this purpose well. Under certain circumstances, Chinese leaders had to make some compromising choices to not antagonise the US in order to cultivate a relatively peaceful environment to allow its economy to flourish in the 1990s, just as Japan did in the 1950s. For example, China had been very reluctant to take any military actions against the US even when cross-strait relations were at a very low point in the late 1990s. From the late 1990s onwards, China became a net importer of crude oil and other raw materials from resource-rich states. Therefore, it has been crucial for China to maintain sound relations with

⁵ I am using the official translation from MFA here, which is different from commonly known as "Bidding times and hiding capabilities".

African and Latin American countries to secure China's energy supply to support and accelerate further economic growth.

Chinese FP agenda is driven by three considerations: the economy, world order and regional security considerations. In the case of Sino-EU relations, economic considerations have been placed at the centre of China's EU policy. Developing strong economic ties with the EU and its MS reflected changes both in Chinese domestic politics and international affairs.

Domestically, China has deepened its market reform and restructured significantly the state controlled economy since the late 1990s. A large number of non-performing and debt-ridden SOEs were ordered to be shut by the central government. The Chinese economy very much needed to be sustained by profit-driven and exported-oriented private entrepreneurs. Joining the WTO became a realistic option as it would revitalise the Chinese economy even further. The EU's support was important to China's successful application. A willingness to join the WTO became a necessity, as it would help to integrate China into the world economy. For the Chinese government, "the WTO membership was an economic opportunity and a challenge for the Chinese companies (People's Daily, 2001)".

Externally, China has always admired highly innovative industries and cutting-edge technologies from the EU and the US. It considers both continents to be vital sources of obtaining desired expertise and knowledge. However, it is more difficult to acquire them from the US given its various tariff restrictions and non-tariff barriers. By engaging with the EU and its MS, China has benefited from extensive research and development agreements with its European counterparts. Since the mid-1990s, the EU had enjoyed a long period of economic boom; and Chinese manufacturers had experienced soaring demands for their

manufacturing products thanks to the relatively low value of the RMB. The Union became a vital export market for China. The boom had enriched a large number of private entrepreneurs and secured a considerable portion of employment in China. This sound economic growth further legitimised the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) regime.

Despite having close economic ties, China-EU commercial relations have become rather problematic. The EU's refusal to grant China Market Economy Status (MES) is one of the recurring obstacles that have not been overcome by the two sides in the past twelve years. Brussels refused to grant China a MES based on a lack of transparency and the heavy governmental intervention in economic and trade policies.

The rejection was also considered a political humiliation by decision makers in Beijing. They argued that the granting of the Status would be a benefit for the Sino-EU strategic partnership both economically and politically. They realised that the refusal was principally due to three reasons; 1) a large trade deficit between the Union and China; 2) the Chinese government's market intervention is not fully in line with what the EU consider as a market economy; 3) the EU, in particular the European Commission, attempted to use MES to leverage more bargaining power in order to resolve trade disputes and market entry barriers that disadvantage European companies.

However, the MES is of exclusive competence of the Commission. It continues to emphasise that the refusal is "a purely technical matter, that is within the framework of EU's antidumping policy, China has not yet fulfilled the necessary requirements to be granted the status" (Remond 2007: 346).Chinese officials criticised what was perceived as the arrogance of the EU and accused the Union of being self-interested in prohibiting Chinese products

79

from entering the EU. They had been frustrated by the Europeans' reluctance and also confused by the indecisiveness of Brussels.

In response to the EU's rejection, China started to stretch its economic muscle and conducted several forms of economic statecraft in order to create potential opportunities for the granting of MES. Beijing took both positive and negative measures simultaneously to facilitate their engagement with the EU and the individual MS. However, its "carrot" and "stick" strategy has not been successful.

In terms of punitive measures or "sticks", China began to set higher market entry barriers to European firms, which either wished to continue operating in China or to commence greenfield investments. The Ministry of Commerce in Beijing (MOFCOM) also sets quotas on certain products to cut off the European companies' supply chains. For example, Beijing had limited the export of the rare earth minerals which consists of a category of 17 elements that are found in an array of hi-tech products. China has mainly exported to rare earths to the EU and the US, which are widely used in manufacturing solar panels, wind turbines and smart phones. China accounted for more than 90% of global production of such materials by the end of 2012. Beijing has tightened supplies repeatedly over the past four years, but this measure was not as effective as expected. The quotas set by MOFCOM have not been exhausted by foreign buyers since 2010. The sharp price increase caused by Beijing has increased investments in production elsewhere that may with time break China's nearmonopoly over the supply of rare earths. In addition, the MOFCOM's tough stance on imposing rare earth quota has caused constant tensions between the MFA, the MOFCOM and the Ministries of Technology and Information as well as among other related governmental entities. This thesis will discuss the sources of their conflicts in the next section.

Besides negative measures being taken, China had also offered "carrots" to certain MS to improve their bilateral relations. This in turn has created a greater propensity for those MS lobbying the Commission when the EU comes to deciding on China's MES in Brussels. Those countries were mainly from members at the EU's southern periphery.

Between 2002 and 2008, representatives from Italy and Spain were the main advocates in refusing to grant China a MES inside the Commission. As the sovereign debt crisis lingered, debt-ridden Southern and Eastern European members have treated China as "a complement or even an alternative to European or IMF loans" (Godement and Plenser, 2011: 8). China made purchases of governmental bonds as a sign of reassurance and trust. For example, China agreed to buy Spanish governmental bond with a value of over 1 billion Euros during Vice Premier Li Keqiang's visit in 2011.

However, China's "carrots" seemed to have received little in return. It has even placed Beijing in a difficult situation as these investments in a troublesome Euro bonds market could jeopardise China's vast foreign reserves. At least 20% of China's foreign reserves were deposited into the Euro bond market and China has become the largest trading partner of the EU. Therefore, the Euro sovereign debt crisis was just as much a crisis for China, and saving the Euro was also vital for China.

Even so, China became very hesitant in increasing its holdings in a problematic, or even insolvent, bond market as Chinese state-owned financial institutions would receive little return on investments. Yet, the Chinese officials had finally decided to increase the amount of Euro bonds via European Financial Stability Fund (EFSF)⁶ (Reuter, 2012b). They would not make any further attempts to exchange a favoured decision for China's MES by purchasing more insolvent bonds.⁷ To this extent, China and the EU's economic relations had largely remained turbulent even if China had utilised both "carrots" and "sticks" to engage with the European Union. The two sides have not been able to overcome obstacles of MES refusals and trade disputes during the past twelve years.

Between 2001 and 2012, China experienced an unprecedented transition to become an emerging economic giant and a global power in waiting. It had therefore eagerly searched for a new international identity and recognition. China's neighbours have feared that China's was ultimately a threat to their national interests. In 2003, the Peaceful Rise discourse was issued, debated and utilised by Beijing in order to reassure its neighbours and the rest of world.

The Chinese government realised that the "Peaceful Rise" discourse seemed to share commonality with what Brussels promoted as "a normative/civilian power" (Song, 2010: 772). The EU could be a natural partner to China in the international community. According to Zheng Bijian, the architect of China's Peaceful Rise discourse, "A peaceful rising China does not have fundamental conflicts with an integrated EU. We share so many commonalities with the EU, in particular we all agree that international politics is based on a multilateral framework and the pursuit for general public good" (Zheng 2006).

The EU Commission's China paper also stated that "China and the EU share positive and common values" (EC 2003). However, this "commonality" was a cogitative mistake from both sides. The most obvious example is their different perception on "multilateralism".

⁶ EFSF is replaced by European Stability Mechanism

⁷ Interviews with officials at Ministry of Finance and MFA in Beijing, Aug 2012

Multilateralism, for Europeans, is a defining principle of organising the world politics and a core element of constructing the "normative power" of the EU. Multilateral cooperation should solve most transnational problems and even some hard security issues.

While for China, multilateralism is "a continuation of realpolitk by other means (Holslag, 2011: 295). It is a "tool and tactic" with which China can advance its own interests (Shambaugh, 2011: 19). Chinese officials perceived that encouraging China's participation in multilateral institutions was in fact a trap to contain the rise of China. It could undermine China's ambition to restore its great power status. It should not be considered as a regular mechanism to solve global issues. Their different perceptions of "common values" had caused more frustrations than further enhancement of their relations on several occasions.

In the case of climate change, the fundamental division of multilateralism between Beijing and Brussels was the driving force that caused China to oppose the EU's stance on an international climate change regime. Chinese officials viewed that tackling climate change and carbon emissions should be resolved by an individual country according to their different situations whereas the EU contended that environmental issues were transnational in nature and should be resolved via binding rules from international organisations. This thesis will offer an in-depth discussion on the division between China and the EU on climate change issues in Chapters 4, 5 and 6.

Chinese FP makers have a long tradition of assuming that "Multilateralism" was equivalent to "Multi-polarity"⁸. They view the world as consisting of different poles under a US hegemony, and China has to make alliances with other poles to challenge US supremacy.

83

⁸ Interviews with a senior official at IDCPC, Sep 2012

Given the EU's rising profile in international politics, Chinese FP makers assumed "establishing an alliance with the EU could undermine US dominance, and was a viable option"(Wu 2004).

However, some European China analysts suggested that "forming an alliance against the US was a naive idea and this was elaborated by Chinese scholars. Establishing an alliance with one country does not necessarily intend to oppose another partner⁹". The EU and the US actually share many more common values, such as embracing liberal democracy, respecting the rule of law and universal human rights, than China does with Brussels.

Beijing's misunderstanding of the EU has brought severe consequences to its relations with the Union. Between 2003 and 2006, Chinese officials were rather optimistic about overcoming one of the perennial obstacles of Sino-EU relations, namely, the arms embargo. The EU's arms embargo to China was imposed immediately after the 1989 Tian'anmen incident to condemn China's lack of respect for democracy and individual human rights. Economic sanctions, or embargo, were one of the conventional forms of economic statecraft that the EU had practised when it engaged with China.

Since China joined the WTO, the Chinese government made great achievements in improving the living standards of ordinary Chinese people. Meanwhile, both China and the EU declared an intention to establish a "strategic partnership" with one other. Therefore, lifting the arms embargo was seen as a natural step to strengthening their partnership according to Chinese and some European officials' views.

⁹ Interview with Dr Gudrun Wacker at SWP, Berlin, Nov 2011

Moreover, France and Germany were governed by leaders with a "pro-China" attitude during that period. Despite the UK's closer relations with the US, the Labour government was also in favour of the lifting of the arms embargo. Some Chinese FP makers argued that the "arms embargo could be lifted without any hesitation by the end of 2005" (Ibid).

Unfortunately, Beijing had under-estimated the US' influence on Brussels on this occasion. The White House had openly stated that the US opposed the EU's proposal to lift the arms embargo on China. Chinese officials had mistakenly concluded if German, French and British reached agreements, the EU 25^{10} as a whole must form unanimity.

Agreements though had not been achieved amongst the 25 EU members¹¹. In addition, with the enlargement of the EU in 2005, former Eastern Communist countries were admitted such as Poland and Hungary, which had expressed suspicious and negative views about the CCP. This has further increased the difficulties in lifting the arms embargo. Since then, Chinese officials have almost given up the hope to lift the embargo from Brussels¹². The failure to reach an agreement marked a turning point for Sino-EU relations. Beijing finally realised the impotence of EU formulating a unified China policy, and it was disenchanted by what the EU could offer to China. To this extent, China shifted its focuses back to engagements with individual MS, which would certainly benefit China economically. This in turn may add to China's economic and political leverage to Brussels.

Apart from these two persistent obstacles, China has been in dispute with the EU on other normative issues, such as China's human rights records and China's political reforms. This

¹¹ In time of the event, there were 25 member states in the EU

¹² Confirmed by a senior official at MFA, August 2012

was largely driven by sources of Chinese FP, namely, the revival of nationalism and the safe guarding of territorial integrity and national sovereignty. These sources have profoundly shaped China's FP as well as its international identity. Needless to say, China's EU policy has also been determined and further complicated by these sources.

A strong sense of nationalism is a product of contemporary Chinese history. China was ruled as a semi-colonised state either by Japanese or by Western major powers until 1945. The CCP government gained its legitimacy through fighting foreign invasions. Consequently, being independent from any foreign influence was echoed by both the elite and ordinary Chinese. The Chinese government has utilised nationalism as an effective instrument to unite the country as well as to achieve the goals of its FP.

The 2008 Beijing Olympics was a historical and symbolic moment for China. Most Chinese firmly believed that their country had finally achieved the status of a great power in the global arena and their past humiliation was withering away following one global sporting event. Yet, Chinese willingness to show its national strength was challenged by the EU and some MS. The President of the European Parliament openly called for the European leaders to boycott the opening ceremony of Olympics as a sign of protest against China's heavy crackdown on Tibetan riots in March 2008. This gesture had brought a disastrous impact on Sino-EU relations. Europeans' vociferous criticism had enraged both the Chinese elites and the public. Chinese has always resented Europeans telling them what to do and believed that Europeans were "jealous of China's economic success and played a conspiracy against the Chinese people" (Xinhua, 2008). To a great extent nationalism is a formidable force in Chinese FP which has clearly been overlooked and misunderstood by the Europeans. Their complacency on how they can shape what is happening in China should be abandoned.

Nationalism has also created an attachment to state sovereignty. Beijing and Brussels hold very different, even contradictory views on national sovereignty. There was "a conceptual gap on sovereignty between China and the EU, which breeds misunderstanding and disputes" (Pan, 2010: 235).

State sovereignty by the CCP's understanding consists of territorial integrity and independence from external interference in domestic affairs. It was non-transferable and absolute. Whereas in Europe maintaining state sovereignty was not a key component of FP for both Brussels and its MS. EU members have pooled their sovereignty and joined the European Union. They view sovereignty as a matter of accountability, which means a government must be accountable to the people it governs. The role of the state is to protect the economic well-being, basic human rights and physical security of its population. Accountability is the main source of governing legitimacy of a state. Accordingly, Europeans emphasised the protection of human rights as a key function of a state, and contended that the role of sovereignty in international politics was diminishing and linked to authoritarianism.

Their different understanding of state sovereignty has caused bitter disputes between Beijing and Brussels as well as having distorted China's relations with some MS. This was exhibited in China's policies on Tibet and on human rights. From the CCP's perspective, to keep Tibet within the PRC's territory is to safeguard national sovereignty. The Tibet issue was also under the domain of domestic politics. According to the Chinese government's understanding, "what the Dalai Lama, the exiled Tibetan spiritual leader, wanted to have is the independence of Tibet and some parts of China's western provinces. Obtaining more religious freedom

87

from the CCP government was just an excuse by him to win more support from the Europeans and the Americans" (Xinhua, 2014a)

Whereas the Europeans treat Tibet as a human rights issue and suggested China should allow the granting of more religious freedom to Tibetans in order to legitimise China's sovereignty in the region. Beijing denounced the EU and its MS for interfering in its domestic politics and undermining China's national sovereignty. It accused the Europeans of ignoring what China has achieved in improving the Tibetans' living conditions, and instead of only focused on what China did not obtain.

To conclude, China's EU policy is representative of the fundamental characteristics of Chinese FP. China is a country with "dual identity", combining a developing country reality with great power ambitions. Therefore, this particular identity has created "issue-oriented national interests, which can easily conflict with the type of value-based relationship most preferred by the EU" (Zhang 2009: 123). It has been of little surprise that Beijing's EU policy has largely failed to overcome two of the biggest obstacles, which are obtaining MES and lifting the arms embargo. These strains show no sign of abating, and illustrate that closer bilateral trade ties alone cannot achieve a strategic partnership as both sides have expected. To no extent did Beijing and Brussels share "common values" as they both declared.

Over the years, China's EU policy has changed according to its core national interests. These changes have induced a large number of FP actors to become involved in formulating policy. The next section will shift the focus to the actual policy process and the way these actors are engaging in the process.

Section 2.2: The Bureaucratic Actors in China's Foreign Policy Making Process and their impact on China's EU policy making

No analysis of a country's foreign policy (FP) can be conducted without a comprehensive understanding of the FP formulation process. The analyses of China's EU policy and overall Chinese FP are not exempt from this logic. This section will observe the expanding scope and the number of players involved in China's EU policy making. It will also seek to explore the reasons why the Chinese FP making has undergone a process of institutionalisation and pluralisation.

By using the Bureaucratic Politics Model (BPM), it aims to disentangle relations between bureaucratic actors and the ultimate decision-making body in Beijing. Through examining the policy process, it will also demonstrate to the extent to which these institutions have conducted economic statecraft on behalf of the Chinese government.

This section will firstly offer reasons as to why China should not be treated as a monolithic entity when the Chinese government comes to formulating its FP. It will then identify how the main ministries or governmental institutions are participating in the policy process. Finally, it will assess the extent to which these bureaucratic actors have shaped China's EU policy agenda. Due to the restrictive length, this section will dedicate its discussions to the intricate relations between governmental institutions and the ultimate decision-making body. The next section will exclusively focus on the extent to which the Chinese corporate sector has influenced China's EU policy.

FP actors are "institutions and individuals who have the power to make FP decisions, and are formally part of the FP formulation process, or seek to influence FP" (Jakobson and Knox, 2010:2). According to this definition, any institution or individual that fulfils such criteria is

89

considered as a FP actor. This definition has not restricted FP actors to exclusively being from government ministries and institutions. Influential non-state actors are also seen as active FP actors in the Chinese FP making process. But this section will exclusively focus on governmental institutions.

In the past twelve years, IR scholars and some China experts shared a view that China is no longer a monolithic FP player in international politics (Ibid, Lampton 2008, Wang 2011). Beijing's FP formulation has become increasingly diversified and pluralistic compared to the one of Mao and Deng's era. There have been fierce debates on who makes Chinese FP and why there has been a proliferation of institutions participating in Chinese FP making process. The answers to the above questions are far from clear amongst IR scholars. However, what remains unchanged is the ultimate decision making power of the Standing Committee of Politburo (SCP).

The main reason for such changes is due to the expanding scope and increasing complexities of Chinese FP. Beijing's FP has evolved from simply maintaining amicable relations with its neighbours and other great powers to developing a longer term strategy with Africa and Latin America. Given its unprecedented economic growth, China is seen as an engine of recovery against the backdrop of a global financial crisis. As a result, Chinese FP has incorporated what are traditionally considered as "low politics" domains such as economics, global financial institutional reform, climate change and foreign aid as integral parts of its FP. China has become an indispensable member of the international community organising international politics. The idea of "Tao Guang Yang Hui" or keeping a lower profile is "a necessary component of Beijing's foreign policy, it is also insufficient" (Wang, 2011: 76). Therefore

the FP making process has become more diversified and resulted in more detailed division of labour for each participant within the process.

Changing the CCP leadership has also contributed to institutionalisation and diversification of the Chinese FP making process. The CCP leadership has evolved from what Charles Hermann defined as "a predominant leader" during Mao and Deng's era to "a single collective group", which currently consists of nine members at the PSC who was headed by Hu Jintao (Hermann, 1981: 363). As many China experts observed, "Hu paid greater attention to formal institutions in policy making, laying a greater emphasis on proactive and pragmatic diplomacy and collaborates more closely with Premier Wen Jiabao" (Lai 2010: 37, Bachman 2003: 116). Such an opinion was also echoed by senior members at the MFA and the MOFCOM. "Since China joined the WTO, Chinese FP making process has become institutionalised and required professional knowledge in specific policy domains such as complex financial deals and carbon trading market from diplomats at all levels"¹³. As a result, there has been a surge of various government institutions and non-state actors participating in both policy making and implementation processes.

Moreover, the PSC under Hu's leadership was very much in favour of consensus building when they had discussed both domestic politics and FP. President Hu had always emphasised reaching consensus amongst the other eight members of the PSC even if occasionally the consensus was merely an illusion. Therefore, the importance of consensus building within the PSC has encouraged institutions and actors both inside and outside the official FP making mechanism to find ways to influence the views of the PSC members.

¹³ Interviews with senior members at MFA and MOFCOM in Beijing, August 2012

However, this process of institutionalisation has not undermined the ultimate decisionmaking power of the SCP. The SCP is the ultimate decision making body of both domestic policies and external affairs in China. It deliberates on the most important matters. In particular, it takes critical decisions on external affairs that relate to national sovereignty, territorial integrity and potential military conflicts as well as shifting FP orientations. As a senior Chinese diplomat pointed out, "issues within the domain of 'High Politics' will only be decided by the SCP. Other policies such as climate change, energy security, trade and international aids will be ranked by the SCP members according to their perceived importance. The higher such an issue ranks, the more likely the related policy is decided by the SCP members within a very short period of time.

According to my interviews with diplomats at MFA, "governmental departments will only provide choices of policies for reference to the SCP members"¹⁴. Therefore, it is overly simplistic to conclude that one particular governmental department or non-state actor prevails in Beijing's FP making process. Moreover, the SCP members are overloaded with other important domestic policy decisions to be made. FP has always been of secondary importance compared to the discussions on domestic issues during SCP members' weekly meetings.

As a result, most Chinese FP decisions were taken by members of CCP Central Foreign Affairs Leading Small Group (CFALSG). Under the SCP, the CFALSG together with the PLA Central Military Commission (CMC) are two equally important agencies in handling matters related to Chinese FP. These two agencies are responsible for reporting policy proposals on external affairs for approval or objection to the SCP. In the case of China's EU

¹⁴ Interview with a very senior Chinese diplomat at MFA

policy, the PLA CMC plays only a small role as most of China's EU policy agenda are primarily economically focused.

Apart from the SCP, actors that participate in Chinese FP making process have a relatively clear division of labour. Ministries such as the MFA, MOFCOM and the International Department of the CCP (IDCPC) manage the daily business of China's external affairs. They also submit policy proposals or strategic options to the CFALSG and the SCP members and carry out research accordingly.

Submissions of policy proposals offer a myriad of opportunities to these ministries in an attempt to shape the final FP outcomes. Despite the ultimate decision making power laying with the SCP, Chinese FP making process has encouraged participation of various ministries and institutions through their supplies of policy proposals. The relevant institutions have therefore retained a level of autonomy through the proposal submission process. In other words, they are semi-autonomous bureaucratic actors.

On the one hand, they carry out and follow the policies made by the SCP. On the other hand, they mobilise their expertise and resources in attempts to shape the Chinese FP agenda according to their own preferences. They have strived to create their own centres of gravity and shape the decision making process. According to several interviews conducted with diplomats at the MFA and the IDCPC¹⁵, they suggested that most policy proposals have been carefully drafted and extensively discussed in relevant "Divisions" and "Bureaus"¹⁶ before the CFALSG members' meetings taking place. Ministers of the relevant departments finally have to present those proposals to the CFALSG. In most cases, the CFALSG members do not

¹⁵ Interviews with diplomats at MFA, MOFCOM and IDCPC in Aug 2012 and Nov 2012 in Beijing and Brussels respectively

¹⁶ Division is written as "处 Chu", "Bureau" is written as "局 Ju"

object to proposals provided by relevant institutions unless there are major disagreements amongst the CFALSG members.

Related to China's EU policy, the China-EU high-level political dialogues are co-organised by the MFA and the IDCPC on the Chinese side. These dialogues are one of the most important mechanisms of policy exchanges between Beijing and Brussels. The scope and contents of such dialogues are mostly researched and prepared by the European Bureau of the MFA and the EU bureau of the IDCPC. According to several interviews with senior staff members at both institutions, "CFASLG members have never rejected any contents or proposals for the policy dialogues since they were established in 2003"¹⁷. More often than not, the CFASLG members who participated in the China-EU dialogue had only added a few minor comments based on what the MFA and the IDCPC provided.

For example, China-EU policy exchanges on healthcare reform had never been part of the dialogue as it was beyond the scope of foreign policy. However, in 2006, the EU bureau of the IDCPC included a discussion on European health care reforms and believed it would become one of key areas for further China-EU collaboration. The IDCPC submitted the potential dialogue proposals for the CFASLG's approval, which was disagreed with by the MFA based on the position that health care was not an area of concern for China's foreign policy. Ultimately, the CFALSG fully agreed that the health care issue had been a sector of immediate concern for both China and Europe. Therefore, policy exchanges in this domain became a core component of the dialogue in years to come.

¹⁷ Interviews with MFA AND IDCPC staff members, August 2012, Beijing

The MFA of the PRC has traditionally dealt with Sino-EU political relations and bilateral relations with the EU MS. In recent years, given the increasing weight of economic issues in FP making, the Ministry of Commerce (MOFCOM), the People's Bank of China (PBOC), the National Development, Reformation Commission (NDRC) and the Ministry of Finance (MOF) have become the main institutions involved in setting China's EU policy agenda together with the MFA. All these institutions have strongly challenged the status of the MFA as "chief FP executive. Some of the domains of China's EU policy overlap, which have inevitably resulted in competition amongst the different governmental departments. "One of the MFA's major roles is to translate broad policy guidelines or long-term goals into practical policy choices and implementation plans" (Lai, 2010: 145).

However, as argued above, China's expanding international role and the growing complexities of global issues have resulted in a flourishing of all sorts of Chinese FP making entities. Policy domains that are exclusively run by the MFA have declined significantly. The MFA must often rely on other entities for expertise, or even compete with other institutions for influence.

As pointed out in the previous section, the EU's refusal to grant China status as a MES has been a chronic obstacle in China-EU relations. Issues related to trade and foreign direct investments have been mainly dealt by the MOFCOM. Issues related to MES and trade with the EU have caused a major bureaucratic rift between the MFA and the MOFCOM. Given the importance of China-EU trade relations, the MFA had also performed an important role in setting the negotiation agenda and facilitating actual negotiations between the two sides in 2005. Due to a lack of trade and economic expertise, the MFA has been marginalised during the China-EU trade disputes and negotiations in regards to MES by the MOFCOM between 2005 and 2008. The clashes between the MFA and the MOFCOM on how China should engage with the EU had become almost a daily routine rather than a rare occurrence. They disputed the extent to which China should eliminate certain market barriers to allow European companies to enter the Chinese market. They were also in disagreement about whether China should set retributive quotas on certain European imports. Quotas and market entry barriers have been part of the reasons why the EU has refused to grant China MES status.

Setting quotas as quantitative restrictions on exports and imports is one of the negative sanction instruments when a state conducts economic statecraft. China has become increasingly accustomed to doing so when it comes to dealing with the EU and the US, though it has not been at all effective. The MOFCOM had been the main agent of the Chinese government and placed itself at the centre of China's tactics to conduct such statecraft. Given Brussels' tougher stance on Chinese exports, Beijing began to explore similar negative measures to disadvantage the EU.

In 2005, the MOFCOM had launched a textile war against the EU Commission in response to Brussels setting retributive duties on 10 different types of Chinese textile exports. During the CFALSG meeting in May 2005, the MFA criticised the MOFCOM's by saying the action was "careless and did not consider the bigger picture of Sino-EU relations", whereas the then Minister of the MOFCOM, Bo Xilai contended that the "MFA had zero knowledge of international trade"¹⁸. Externally, the MOFCOM had persistently pressed the EU Commission on withdrawing the retributive duties for textile and was determined to resolve

¹⁸ Interviews with MOFCOM officials who participated in that CFALSG meeting, Nov 2012, Brussels

issues related to MES between 2005 and 2006. Internally, the MOFCOM prevailed over the debate on whether China should set quotas on European textile imports.

Since China joined the WTO in 2001, the MOFCOM's competence and power has expanded significantly. It has become "one of the indispensable institutions for making Chinese foreign economic policy"¹⁹. Two former ministers of the MOFCOM have even been elevated to the position of vice premiers between 2001 and 2007. One of key responsibilities for the MOFCOM is to boost China's trade volume. It has played a vital part in promoting China to become the world's largest trade partner with the EU. It preferred to depreciate the Chinese currency RMB in order to further expand China's trade volume with other key partners, including the European Union. This in turn would benefit the MOFCOM as a governmental department both financially and politically.

Economically, a larger trade volume had been synonymous with a bigger departmental budget in the subsequent financial years to come. The budgetary increase would also trigger the political success of key officials of the MOFCOM and the ministry as whole. Senior diplomats at the MOFCOM have been promoted to higher political rankings much quicker than any other central governmental departments in Beijing²⁰. The MOFCOM's jurisdictions have been extended to include oversight of China's outward direct investments, which previously belonged to the NDRC.

However, MOFCOM has not enjoyed many victories over a very long period of time. It has been at odds with the People's Bank of China (PBOC), China's central bank over issues on

¹⁹ Interviews with ECIPE fellow, Brussels April 2011

²⁰ Interviews with officials at IDCPC, September 2012

how China shall 'rescue' the Euro in order to avoid massive losses to its own economy. Since 2009, the EU has suffered from a double economic recession, triggered by the global financial crisis and the sovereign debt crisis. Such crises have weakened European consumer demands for Chinese exports. China was also asked by the EU to offer financial assistance. The MOFCOM suggested to the SCP members that China should offer direct financial assistance to the nearly bankrupted Southern European members immediately to 'rescue' the Euro. In doing so, they would avoid a massive decline in Chinese exports and the collapse of Chinese manufacturers whose main customers were from the EU.

The most significant player in formulating China's monetary policy, the PBOC, held a contrasting position to the MOFCOM. The PBOC has been dictating China's domestic monetary policy and its growing importance in the Chinese FP making process mirrors China's growing impact on foreign economies and world financial markets. The PBOC has the authority of managing RMB exchange rates and China's vast foreign currency reserves. These functions placed the PBOC in "a unique and powerful position" (Jackbson and Knox, 2010: 11).

The PBOC did not object to the idea of "saving the Euro" on the grounds of China's own economic interests. Rather, as several scholars point out the Chinese leadership under consistent advice from the PBOC, have always supported the Eurozone for political reasons, viewing it as a step towards the creation of multipolar currency order with RMB alongside the dollar and the Euro (Otero-Iglesias, 2012: 2,3; Ryan, 2014:5).

Against the background of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, the PBOC challenged the MOCFOM's idea of offering direct financial assistance to individual MS. Rather, it preferred

to contribute to the European Financial Stability Fund (EFSF) or to deposit China's financial assistance at other international financial institutions. The PBOC was very cautious in increasing its holdings in a troubled, or even insolvent, bond market. The monetary policy management committee of the PBOC has always been prudent. It has not "committed to a further increase in holdings of European governmental bonds rather via increasing contributions to the EFSF" (Reuter, 2011; Yu, 2011). Meanwhile, it began to expand the usage of the RMB as a settlement currency in London, aimed at diversifying the holdings of the US Treasury bond and European sovereign bonds.

In February 2012, Chinese and EU leaders hosted their annual summit. The governor of the PBOC Zhou Xiao Chuan pledged that "China will always adhere to the principle of holding assets of EU sovereign debts through the IMF or EFSF" (Bloomberg, 2012a; Reuter 2012b). Such a statement implied that the SCP had already adopted the PBOC's proposal of contributing to the EFSF and would refuse to offer direct financial assistance as the MOFOCM proposed. The SCP realised that the MOFCOM's proposal of offering direct financial assistance to nearly bankrupted Southern European members would receive little in return. As a result, the MOFCOM did not manage to prevail in the debate on whether China should 'save the Euro'.

China's EU policy was no longer a quest for synergy between "China's Peaceful Development" and the "normative Power of Europe". Instead, the Chinese government emphasised its economic ties with the EU. Apart from increasing bilateral/multilateral trade and investments, the Chinese government has also expanded the scope and volume of government procurement as well as collaboration to develop renewable energy with the EU and individual members. As a result, governmental institutions that are not traditionally seen

99

as external affairs related departments also joined this bureaucratic land-rush. They have widely participated in this multi-actors led policy-making process and shaped the agenda.

For example, the NDRC, and the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST) are departments that have mostly been responsible for domestic innovation policies. Between 2009 and 2013, both departments have played vital roles in determining China's climate change policy as well as establishing Sino-EU low carbon zone partnership. Due to their lack of experience in foreign policy making, they have created more obstacles and generated a negative impact on China's EU policy, rather than using their expertise to enhance relations. This thesis will discuss the roles that the NDRC and MOST played in Sino-EU relations to a greater extent in Chapter 4 and 5.

To conclude, competition between the relevant stakeholders or bureaucratic actors has been prevalent and fierce during China's EU policy process. These bureaucratic actors are semiautonomous and have built up their own centre of gravity to influence China's EU policy agenda according to their own desired outcomes. As has been argued in this section, there was no single bureaucratic actor that prevailed over every single policy debate. Rather, it had largely depended on specific issues and the external environments of that period. As China-EU relations are becoming more complex, the number of actors and the scope of the policy will only continue to expand to a greater extent.

In particular, the dynamics of Sino-EU relations have shifted from "pupil-teacher" relations to "buyer-seller" relations. Chinese firms began to play an indispensable part in the change of focus in China's EU policy agenda. They have made ever greater efforts to incorporate their specific corporate strategies into China's EU policy agenda. As a result, they comprised a key

100

interest group, which has actively interacted with the government. This in turn may alter China's EU policy agenda. I will continue to examine the roles that Chinese firms play in the China-EU relations in the next section.

Section 2.3: Chinese Corporate actors in China's Foreign Policy Making Process and Their Impact on China's EU Policy

As argued in the previous section, the scope of Chinese foreign policy has expanded enormously, with its economic aspects being given equal weight to Beijing's geo-political concerns. As a result, Chinese firms have become an indispensable part of China's foreign policy making process. In 2000, the Chinese government launched a national campaign to encourage Chinese firms to 'Go Global', part of a strategy to increase China's competitiveness and help rebalance China's export-oriented growth model, as well as gaining political capital overseas (People's Daily, 2008). Since then Chinese companies have acquired natural resources and purchased sophisticated technologies from their business partners and competitors. In the context of China-EU relations, the national campaign of "Going Global" has certainly influenced China's EU policy to a great extent. This is largely due to Chinese companies' active engagements in the EU. Their overseas activities in the continent have further complicated China's EU policy making process.

This section will firstly examine the overall relations between Chinese bureaucratic actors and corporate players participating in China's FP process. Then it will use examples of Chinese firms' engagements in the EU and individual MS to illustrate how the corporate sector has determined China's EU policy agenda.

Chinese companies have become formidable sources for shaping their country's FP regardless of their ownerships. Their attempts to influence policies are mainly determined by their nature as corporate organisations, which is profit-maximising. They are not simply subsuming their interests and preferences to Beijing. Instead, they have mobilised their expertise and resources to influence the views of the SCP members according to their own desired outcomes.

Chinese companies who have been equipped with this enormous power are the Sovereign Wealth Fund, large State Owned Enterprises (SOEs) and a handful of extremely successful private companies. They often have direct contacts with members of the SCP to ensure their voices are heard either by contacting them through regular meeting channels or having private conservations on certain issues.

The China National Offshore Oil Company's (CNOOC) project of joint oil exploration near

the South China Sea with the Vietnamese and Philippines National oil companies in 2005 is the best example to illustrate what was just asserted above. In 2005, "the Chairman of CNOOC, Mr Fu Chenyu, initiated the discussion with his Vietnamese and Philippines' counterparts to jointly explore the potential oil fields near the South China Sea" (SASAC, 2005). Between 2001 and 2007, China had maintained relatively amicable relations with its South East Asian (SEA) neighbours. Joint explorations would benefit all three companies both economically and politically.

From an economic perspective, oil-fields near the South China Sea were mostly explored and operated by the US and British oil giants, such as Chevron and British Gas. Chinese oil companies had only acted as services providers to their western business partners until this joint project commenced. As some media argued, "joint explorations with other SEA neighbours would break the dominance of western companies and profit the CNOOC from the market expansion" (Bloomberg 2005). The area near the South China Sea had been geopolitically critical to all countries who border on the South China Sea. Joint explorations would allow China to place its own foot in this oil-rich, yet contested water. In November 2006, the CNOOC had long discussions with officials from the MFA and the State Assets Supervision Commission (SASAC), which "regulates the activities of SOEs" (SASAC web).

However, the MFA objected to the proposal based on the grounds that the "CNOOC's project was overly complicated and could potentially antagonise Sino-US relations"²¹. The CNOOC managed to arrange a meeting with Premier Wen JiaBao, who has a geology background, and knows the oil industry very well. Wen offered his full approval to the CNOOC together with another SCP member, Zhou Yongkang, who used to be the Chairman of the China National

²¹ Interviews with a CNOOC senior management team member who participated in the meeting

Petroleum Company (CNPC) before his tenure at SCP (Reuters, 2013) As a result, the consensus in favour of carrying out the project was reached amongst the nine PSC members. The MFA was ordered to give all diplomatic and administrative support to facilitate the project. The CNOOC's project finally "began in early 2006" (Bloomberg, 2005). It was the first and the last project in which China collaborated with the SEA states. It had become a key part of the success of China's relations with SEA states, before their relations deteriorated from 2009. This example illustrated how the powerful SOEs, like the CNOOC, could by-pass governmental institutions to influence the final decision-making in China's FP.

Competition between bureaucratic actors and the corporate sector were as pervasive as to cooperation between these two groups. Chinese companies have formed alliances with governmental entities in order to influence the SCP' decisions during the policy making process. Companies collaborate with governmental institutions by either a bottom-up or top-down approach.

For a bottom-up approach, it usually takes place at a policy agenda setting stage. Companies lobby relevant ministries/departments to ensure their concerns/preferences are incorporated as part of the policy proposals, which are then submitted to the SCP. Corporate interests will thereby be represented once the SCP approves certain proposals from relevant ministries. Therefore, bureaucratic entities have sometimes become agents of those companies.

For example, Huawei, the world largest telecom provider, participated in China's EU policy making through the "bottom-up" approach outlined above. Huawei, one of the largest private publicly listed companies in China, has achieved great success in the European market through providing telecom products, with their sale prices 20% lower than its competitors.

As some media observed, "because of Huawei's success in the European market, its European competitors accused it of being subsidised by the Chinese government" (WSJ 2011). In early 2011, they "requested the EU Trade Commission to launch an 'anti-subsidy' investigation to examine whether Huawei had received state subsidies when it sold telecom products to the European market" (Ibid). Based on the WTO agreements China signed, the Chinese government should not allow the provision of subsidies on exports such as textile and telecoms equipments.

The MOFCOM contested the Commission's accusation and insisted that Beijing did not offer any subsidies to Huawei. Instead, according to the MOFCOM's study, "the EU gave significant subsidies to its telecom companies in violation of WTO rules" (China Economic Review, 2011). In addition, Huawei pointed out that the Commission did not only accuse Huawei, more importantly, Brussels wanted to file a complaint about China breaching the WTO agreement.

After several rounds of hard lobbying to relevant officials in the MOFCOM, Huawei convinced them to negotiate on its behalf and asked them to discuss the case during the China-EU High Level Economic Dialogue in Beijing in July 2012. Ultimately, the then State Councilor Dai Bingguo reassured the Trade Commission that "the Chinese government had not provided any forms of subsidies to Huawei and other telecom manufacturers, and requested Brussels to withdraw the complaint from the WTO" (Caixin, 2012). To this extent, Huawei managed to form an alliance with the MOFCOM and utilised the ministry as its agent to influence China's EU policy agenda

For a top-down approach, it is most likely to happen in the policy implementation process. Governmental institutions implement certain policies that require having companies playing a part, such as the campaign of "Going Global". In so doing, government institutions will achieve implementation targets that are set by the SCP. As established by the former Chinese President Jiang Zemin, "targets fulfilled by the relevant governmental institutions will be taken into account of each institution's annual assessment" (People's Daily, 2008). Related governmental officials are often rewarded with promotions if their achievements are seen as outstanding. Those companies that follow the policy may benefit economically or make substantial losses financially from complying with specific policies.

China's "going global" strategy is the best example to illustrate this "top-down" approach between bureaucratic actors and the corporate sector in Chinese FP process. For Chinese firms, following the "Going Global" policy will ultimately increase their exposure to mature market economies, allowing them to learn sophisticated management skills and to create long-lasting brand value for their products. These intangible assets are abundant in developed countries but relatively scarce in China, and their development by Chinese firms will boost sales volumes and profits. Moreover, those companies that invest themselves in the opportunities of global expansion will reap the benefits in competitive advantage over other Chinese firms both in the domestic market and abroad.

From the Chinese governmental institutions' view, Chinese firms 'Going Global' may be considered a better alternative than holding governmental bonds. As pointed in the previous section, China faces a dilemma of whether to follow its economic interests as the EU's largest trading partner and increase its holdings of Euro-denominated bonds, with the consequent risks that increasing its holdings will only further trap Beijing in this troubled monetary union. Or on the other hand, reduce Chinese exposure by reducing its holdings, which will certainly have the effect of alienating political allies and more importantly threaten vital sources for the import of advanced technologies.

The China Investment Corp. (CIC), China's own SWF provides us with an excellent example to help illustrate its complicated relations with the governmental department when it acts as a vehicle to carry out China's "Going Global" strategy. SWFs are investment vehicles set up by governments to better utilise large savings. "The CIC was set up in 2007 by the Chinese government" as an investment institution tasked with generating higher returns on China's \$3200 billion of foreign reserves than those offered by the US Treasury (Sovereign Wealth Fund Centre Data). The CIC's formidable size, "with a \$200 billion seed fund and later \$400 billion under its management", has attracted unprecedented attention around the world (Ibid). It has collaborated with other bureaucratic institutions such as the MOFCOM and the China National Development Bank.

Meanwhile, The CIC has often opposed policy proposals initiated by the governmental departments causing bureaucratic rifts with them. This is because the CIC perceives that certain policies adopted by the government could pose strong obstacles to its own business developments. Following these inappropriate policy mandates will result in a potential threat to the CIC's own survival.

For example, "one of requirements of the SOEs which invest abroad is to submit their annual Profit and Loss Sheets to the SCP and SASAC"²². SOEs that have made reasonable profits will be encouraged to continue their business while those who made grave losses have to

²² Interviews with the former deputy director at Bank of China, HK Branch, January 2012, London

explain the reasons why they have failed their overseas business operations. However, due to the nature of the CIC's investments, it is impossible to make any profit at the infant stage of investments. As a result, despite the CIC being establishing under the approval of the SCP, it was frequently criticised by the SCP due to some of its loss-making portfolios.

As media observed, "The CIC has been particularly active in Europe and Africa, to the extent that it has become a representative of the Chinese government in conducting its economic statecraft" (EconoMonitor, 2013). Around the world, the CIC is paying particular attention to the types of industries they want to invest in, and measure their returns on investments over a three to five years cycle. The CIC has concentrated on industries such as civil aviation, civil nuclear technology, bio-tech, infrastructure, oil and gas.

In the financial year 2009-2010, the average Return on Investment (ROI) for "the CIC's portfolios was around 11%, with a focus on high-technology portfolios in Europe" (Ibid). In 2011, the CIC seized opportunities to invest in European infrastructure portfolios, mostly in the form of equity purchases rather than directly managing the targeted companies, with the former being easier for the CIC to handle. This is because directly managing the targeted companies would require related industrial expertise, which the CIC often lacks.

Moreover, investing in infrastructure programmes provides local employment opportunities, which the CIC hopes will help, mollify any hostility to its investments within the countries involved. "CIC's 8.6% equity purchase of Thames Water in January 2012" was the best example to reveal its investment strategy (BBC, 2012a). The CIC has been particularly active in the UK since its market is more open to foreign investment than comparable economies on the continent.

The CIC's activities in Europe are mostly based on commercial merit, and focused like any other private investor on profit maximisation and risk avoidance. However, its opaque management structure and its direct links with the CCP have caused great discomfort and at times outright hostility in hosting countries. The then Chairman of the CIC, "Lou Jiwei, and most of its senior management, are directly appointed and assessed by the CCP's Department of Organisation", and its investments are the subject of significant public political scrutiny (Brodsgaard, 2012: 215).

For example, the CIC's very first investment, in the Blackstone Corporation, a US private equity firm, made a huge paper loss and was much criticized domestically, resulting in the State Council ordering the CIC to withdraw from the investment, turning a 'paper loss' into a 'real loss' of \$1.9 billion (CIC, 2011: 21). Based on interviews, "Mr Lou was subsequently asked by the CCP Department of Organisation to explain the reasons for the loss during his annual performance assessment meeting"²³. Thus the CIC's close ties with both the government and the Party have distorted its portfolio management and may undermine the CIC's foundational goal of better utilising China's foreign reserves.

Despite the political difficulties that Chinese firms face, the biggest obstacle to their 'Going Global' plan is that they are not equipped with the sufficient management skills to take on complex and long-term investments abroad. Their often unsuccessful overseas operations, particularly in Europe, have done more harm than good to China-EU relations.

Many Chinese firms have enough cash to acquire European companies, but have lacked the

²³ Ibid

confidence and experience to deal with the challenges involved. Such hurdles co-exist at both the initial acquisition process and at the actual business operation stage. Most of the senior management teams of Chinese companies which invest abroad are equipped with industrial expertise, but not the necessary management skills and general market knowledge. They are unfamiliar with the market environments of the investment destinations and have little understanding of their end-customers in the EU States.

Chinese firms sometimes naively assume that smooth bilateral political relations between China and their European investing destination states will automatically produce a good business environments, and believe they can therefore conduct 'business as usual' in those countries as they would in China. This of course is far from the reality. Most Chinese firms have had difficulties dealing both with local labour unions in their investment destinations, and with respect to the cultural differences of local employees. Independent organised labour is a relatively new concept in China. China's All Labour Union is affiliated to the CCP, whereas unions in continental Europe are often formidable forces in salary and welfare negotiations with their employers. Chinese companies have believed that simply retaining local labour forces following an acquisition will be sufficient to maintain good industrial relations, and are not accustomed to labour unions asking for salary increases or going on strike.

For example, TCL's acquisition of a French Television manufacturer Thomson in 2004 indicated the enormous and unprecedented challenges that this company, China's largest Television manufacturer, faced. TCL retained most of Thomson's employees after the initial acquisition (TCL Case studies Zhejiang University EMBA course reading, 2007). Within six months of operation, TCL management team realised the inefficiency of the local French

labour force and therefore took a chance to encourage under-performing local French employees to leave the company. However, the French workers organised a three months long strike and sued because the TCL did not abide the French Labour Law by pressuring them into accepting redundancy. The French government finally made inquiries into the incident and asked the TCL to withdraw its business unit from France, in 2006, because of TCL's ignorance of French Labour Law. During the French President Jacque Chirac's visit to Beijing, "the TCL's incident became an issue of discussion between Beijing and Paris" (People's Daily, 2007).

To conclude, whilst Chinese companies have become a significant group of actors in shaping China's EU policy, their business activities in Europe deserve more nuanced analysis. Despite their sheer size and cash heavy account, Chinese companies are short of global business exposure. Some of their operations have even undermined Sino-EU relations. Moreover, their competition and collaboration with the Chinese government has constrained their ability to become leading players in their European investment destinations.

Conclusion for Chapter Two:

In conclusion, China has treated its relations with the EU and individual MS with great importance. But, it has largely failed to establish a truly strategic partnership as Beijing expected. Its EU policy has embodied the fundamental characteristics of China's FP. Some of them are in contradiction to what the EU has promoted around the world. China has been disappointed by Brussels' impotency in removing two chronic obstacles to enhance their relations, namely: China's MES and the arms embargo. China has since completely given up the naive idea of building a Sino-EU alliance hedging against the US's prominence in international politics.

To a great extent, China's EU policy has also reflected the expanding scope and number of actors in participating in China's FP process. Besides the traditional FP actors such as the MFA and the MOFCOM, a number of new FP actors have made a great debut in the international stage and generated a substantial impact on deciding China's EU policy agenda. During the past eleven years, most of these actors have enjoyed temporary victories, which were largely dependent on where their expertise was required by the SCP. However, the ultimate decision power of deciding China's EU policy has been retained in the hands of the SCP. The next chapter will shift the focus to Europe. It will identify the actors who make Brussels' China policy and assess the extent to which the policy has been manipulated by the MS. It will also observe how conflicts amongst different institutions in Brussels as well as between the EU and the MS have been played out when they tried to formulate a coherent China policy in the past eleven years.

Chapter 3: Disjointed Partnerships: The Development of EU's China Policy between 2001 and 2013

Introduction:

This chapter aims to explore the developments of the EU's overall China strategy in the past twelve years. These developments represented a significant shift in Brussels from an almost exclusive inward focus on its own integration to a consideration of the EU's relations with the other major powers in international affairs.

More importantly, the formulation of an overall EU China strategy was driven by the growing economic significance of China to the Union. By pursuing this strategy, Brussels shifted its China policy from constructive engagements to establishing a comprehensive strategic partnership (SP). It was aimed at encouraging China to further integrate into the world economy, which would ultimately induce political reform within in the country. Both constructive engagements and establishing the SP could be interpreted as the EU utilising a form of economic statecraft, namely economic inducement or "structural linkage", to persuade China to further liberalise its economy (Mastanduno, 1999: 292).

As can be referenced in the EU-China 2020 Strategic Cooperation agenda, the EU and China cooperate on four major fronts, namely: "Peace and Security; Prosperity; Sustainable Development; People to People Exchanges" (EEAs, 2013). This thesis assess China-EU relations in "Prosperity and Sustainable Development" field.

The preliminary findings suggest the EU has enjoyed some successes and suffered from some failures in addressing these two subjects with China. The cause of their failures are threefold: firstly, there has been a deep misunderstanding by the EU of China's role in the world as a global emerging power.

Secondly, there has been a failure by the EU to recognise China's own strategic priorities in external affairs, and the domestic priorities that drive Beijing's views of the EU as a reliable and credible partner. As was argued in the previous chapter, this failure to appreciate China's own FP objectives has caused recurring obstacles to improvements in their relationship. And thirdly, there have been inconsistencies within the EU'S China policy formulation process. These inconsistencies simultaneously occur across various EU institutions, and between Brussels and individual member states (MS).

Moreover, the European corporate sector's intensive lobbying of European bureaucratic actors has undermined a move towards a positive direction for China-EU relations. European companies' active engagement with Chinese bureaucratic actors, which have shaped some of China's EU policy agenda, have also further complicated Sino-EU relations.

This chapter will provide an examination of the aforementioned failures in three sections, each based on the different group of FP actors. The first section will start to assess the roles and inconsistencies amongst European institutions when they come to deciding Brussels' China strategy. It will also explain the reasons why the "civilian power or normative power" model of pursuing their China policy has largely failed. The second section will turn the focal point to the individual MS and assess their different types of policies towards China. More importantly it will depict, and examine, the divisions and conflicts between the overall China strategy from the EU and MS' own China priorities. The final section shifts the focus to the European corporate sector. By examining European companies' engagements with both European and Chinese institutional actors, it will assess to what extent the European corporate sector has affected the EU's China policy agenda, as well as to what extent both

115

European and Chinese governmental institutions have acted as agents on behalf the European

firms.

Section 3.1: The Developments of the EU's China policy and power shifts among EU institutions

This section will provide an examination of the EU's overall China policy in the past twelve years. It will focus primarily on the EU's role *sui generis* in projecting its foreign policy (FP) through EU institutions including the Commission, the European Parliament (EP) and the recently established European External Action Services (EEAs).

This section aims to challenge the prevalent view that the "EU's China policy would be best served by actively increasing the strength of its normative rhetoric as part of a broader value-based diplomatic effort" (Youngs, 2010:2). Instead, it argues that the EU's normative engagements with China have largely failed because the EU has misunderstood China and its core national interests. No progress can be made without seeking overlapping interests between the two sides.

More importantly, the EU is not a monolithic actor. Its complex institutional settings have provided fertile ground for bureaucratic turf wars and resulted in policy incoherence, which has caused frustration in the Chinese government.

This section will firstly explain why the EU has failed to pursue a normative-oriented China strategy. It will then assess the roles of EU bureaucratic institutions in making a China policy and disentangle their conflicts and compromises, which have caused an institutional incoherence and failure to deliver an effective policy.

The nature of the EU as a FP making entity has been widely contested amongst policy practitioners and academics alike. One of the widely accepted concepts is of the "EU as a

normative power", proposed by Ian Manners, (Manners 2002:238). This term attempts to "avoid the civilian and military dichotomy in favour of a focus upon the ideational impact of the EU's international identity" (Bretherton and Vogler, 2006:42; Manners, Ibid). He outlines five core values of the EU as a normative power; peace; liberty, democracy; the rule of law and respects for human rights. Based on these five core values, Manners then devises four subsidiary values; social solidarity, anti-discrimination, sustainable development and good governance, which are translated into the guiding principles of domestic and FP making of the EU and its MS. The establishment, and development, of the EU are based on these values and principles, which are accepted and practised by the 28 MS.

Therefore, the Union expects to "export" this model to third countries when it comes to setting its FP agenda. Hazel Smith nicely summarises the essence of the EUFP, which is "the capacity to make and implement policy abroad that promote[s] the domestic values and interests and policies of the EU" (Smith, H 2002: 8).

At the beginning of New Millennium, the EU had enjoyed an optimism that was a result of the process of globalisation. This process would enable the EU to reach out to the world with their unique historic experience as a global normative power. Some scholars who have studied European FP echoed the idea of the EU as a normative power, asserting that the normative element is one of the key features of the power possessed by the EU. "This influence resides in the EU's capacity to shape positive perceptions of key values that other states then internalise, enabling these ideas to become constituent elements within international relations" (Manners, 2002: 239; Mattlin, 2009: 96; Men, 2011: 7; Geeraerts, 2011: 58).

118

As a result, China-EU relations have provide an excellent case study for the EU on its normative value oriented FP. Most parts of the EU's China policy are derived from the rationale behind the concept of normative power. This sense of normative power has not only expressed through general political norms such as respects of human rights and the Rule of Law. Rather, the EU intends to act as norm-setting entity on both political and economic fronts.

The establishment of economic norms within a market-driven economy, including regulated bilateral trade, seems to have become the ultimate aim for EU engagement with China. Whilst political norms are still central to EU foreign policy, "the EU has largely failed to engage with China on various aspects of political norms" (Crooke, 2013: 640).

Since the late 1990s, the EU and its MS have used a method of non-confrontational engagements towards China with the ambition of encouraging China's participation in the world economy; the so-called "Constructive Engagements". In doing so, the EU had offered its strong support for China to join the WTO in 2001. Some officials in Brussels, such as Romano Prodi and Javier Solana, assumed that China's deepening economic reform would automatically create a 'spill-over' effect and extend reforms into the Chinese political system. This in turn would induce China to embrace liberal democracy, the rule of law and a respect for universal human rights. In doing so, the linkage would eventually produce a political transformation leading to desirable changes within China.

Meanwhile, there had been a sea change in the notion of 'security' in international politics. According to Emma Rothschild, the concept of security was "extended from military to political, economic or human security, which is a horizontal extension" (Rothschild, 1995:

119

54). The prominence of economic security has inspired the EU's China policy. Therefore, the EU upgraded its "constructive engagements" strategy to establish "a comprehensive strategic partnership (SP)" with China in 2003, in "a confluence of historical events" (Callaham, 2007: 29).

As established in the previous chapter, the idea of a 'Peaceful Rise' seemed to be in convergence with the EU as a non-hegemonic power or a normative power. According to the EU official China Policy Paper published in 2003, the Union decided to make "a shift from a traditional state to state partnership, up to the EU level, across a broad range of issue areas, anticipating developments not only in the EU, but also in China. The Union would speak with one voice" (EC, 2003:2). The need for consolidation came from the proliferation of dialogues, exchanges and policy initiatives across various policy domains between the two sides.

However, after the initial euphoria of establishing a so-called "strategic partnership" in 2003, both China and the EU have been disenchanted by what they could offer to one another. This is largely due to the Europeans' value-based approach in dealing with China as an emerging power coming into conflict with China's own priorities and interests.

The value-based China strategy is conducted in two separate yet interconnected aspects of China-EU relations: economic ties and political relations. On the economic front, the EU would like to engage with China to become a more collaborative partner in abiding rules and regulations in world trade and market entry. On the political relations, the EU appears to have focused far more on generating an impact upon domestic politics in China. "Whilst such an approach may have been successful when linked to the lure of prospective membership to Central and Eastern Europe states over the last decade, there is growing evidence to show that positive outcomes from this approach are far harder to achieve" (Filipini, 2009 ; Van Ham, 2012).

The two aspects are interlinked as Brussels believes greater integration of the Chinese economy to the rest of the world would eventually lead to further political reform inside China with a liberal democracy and multi-party systems being introduced.

Apart from the EU's own cognitive mistakes, Brussels' China policy has become very problematic and incoherent due to its intricate FP making process. The EU has no ultimate decision making body like China does. Institutions, such as the Commission, the EP and the EEAs have taken responsibility for different domains of the EU's China policy. As a result, bureaucratic conflicts have become inevitable amongst the EU institutions when they come to deciding and delivering any FP. Brussels' China policy is no exception.

This institutional incoherence has often occurred both within one single institution as well as between different institutions. For example the EU Commission, that is the policy implementation and formation body, has experienced frequent internal disputes over how to engage with China. As noted previously, the EU's China policy has crossed four main policy spectrums (EEAs, 2013). The EU Commission is responsible for the policy domains of "global governance, trade and investments and technical assistances". Issues related to global governance such as climate change are dealt with by the Climate Action Commission (DG Clima), while the Trade Commission (DG Trade) enjoys the exclusive jurisdictions of trade related matters.

DG Trade and DG Clima have been in disagreement over how they should treat China's solar panel exports. On the one hand, DG Clima has been a main advocate amongst the EU institutions in promoting China-EU Climate Change and Renewable Energy collaboration. In doing so, it has signed "a detailed memorandum of Understanding and Technical assistances documents with the Chinese government" (EC,2005a; Ibid, 2009a). It has introduced some cutting edge renewable technologies to Chinese manufacturers.

On the other hand, the Trade Commission has exercised its exclusive jurisdiction to deal with the EU's trade dispute with China with the usual defensive approach to Chinese solar panel exports. It has never hesitated to utilise duty measures as an instrument of economic statecraft in order to shape China's trade policy. The Trade Commission has played a significant role in initiating campaigns against Chinese trade policy since China joined the WTO in 2001.

However, its most punitive instruments directed at China have produced greater mistrust and frustration between the two sides. The scope of the EU's negative instruments has also expanded from filing dumping cases to imposing retributive duties on exports that have been heavily subsidised by the Chinese government.

To prove an anti-dumping case requires one to show that the export price of the goods is lower than its domestic price. This is not difficult when European companies are allowed to use the flexibility between the EU regulation on anti-dumping and the ratified WTO agreements. While when filing on an anti-subsidy case, "the EU needs to have

122

documentations on the subsidies and evidences that they affect the export prices. It has to refer to the WTO agreements, which contain direct definitions of what constitutes a subsidy. Such WTO agreements do not allow the EU to use flexible definitions as in the case of antidumping^{"24}.

DG Trade officials have insisted on launching anti-dumping and anti-subsidy investigations simultaneously against Chinese solar panel manufacturers and have argued that "partners, like China should also follow the WTO agreements, The Commission will not withdraw the investigations unless the Chinese government admits its subsidies"²⁵. As a result, the solar panel trade disputes between China and the EU have escalated and dominated China-EU High Level Political Dialogue since the investigation launched in September 2012. The Chinese media criticised the EU for being "arrogant, self-interested and untrustworthy" (People's Daily, 2012a). The incoming Chinese Premier Li Keqiang wrote a personal letter in November 2012 to Markus Ederer, the then EU ambassador to China and asked for the Trade Commission to withdraw the investigations. In the Letter Li Keqiang suggested that "the EU shall not once agree with establishing a climate change partnership with China while imposing retributive measures on Chinese renewable exports. The EU's investigations have been in contradiction to what it tried to promote"²⁶.

To this extent, the Chinese government has been frustrated by the incoherence between trade and climate changes policies and is confused by who is actually in charge of the EU's overall China policy. This inconsistency has partially been caused by the increasing competitiveness of Chinese exports to the EU market. Both the Commission and European companies are concerned that Chinese manufacturers have rapidly moved up the value chain of

²⁴ Interview with Fredrik Erixon, ECIPE, London, June 2011

²⁵ Interviews with a Trade Commission official who is in charge of China's trade relations, Salzburg, 2012

²⁶ Interview with Markus Ederer December 2012, Beijing

manufacturing to threaten their own homegrown high-end manufacturers. The EU no longer considers China a junior partner, or pupil, of European sophisticated industries.

Described within the bureaucratic politics model it can be said the Trade Commission, one of the most well-funded and established EU Commissions, has attempted to prevail amongst other EU institution when it comes to dealing with China.

The DG Clima plays a leading role in promoting the China-EU Climate Change partnership and champion itself as the most influential institution to decide Brussels' China policy. Yet, it has to share the competencies with its MS and agreements between Brussels and the MS have been a rare occurrence. A successfully established China-EU Climate Change partnership would reinforce the position of the DG Clima in promoting the EU's FP agenda in an area related to global governance.

Whereas the DG Trade believes that the trade and investments policy domain is the single most important policy area in which the EU engages with emerging powers, like China. With a confusing message sent from Brussels, the Chinese government has returned its focus to influential MS and asked for their assistance to resolve the investigations. This thesis will discuss the role that MS have played in this trade dispute in the next section.

The developments of the EU's China policy have also reflected the shift in the balance of power amongst the EU institutions, which has added more incoherence to the EU's overall China strategy. This lack of coordination has posed another serious challenge to the maintenance of the overall policy coherence. Beside intra-departmental disputes, the inter-institutional incoherence and disputes have also taken place amongst various EU institutions.

124

Disputes on how to interact with China between the European Parliament (EP) and the newly established EEAs illustrate most clearly the institutional flaws of EU's China policy. Since the ratification of the Lisbon Treaty, the EP has begun to play a greater role in European external relations. This in turn affects the EU's approach to China, and overall China-EU relations. The EP mainly deals with the "Political and social changes" domain of the EU's China policy, "host[ing] the All-Party Parliamentarian dialogue with the Chinese People's Congress and the IDCPC twice a year, either in Beijing or in Brussels"²⁷. The dialogue covers an extremely wide range of policy areas from social reforms to financial regulations. The EP has vociferously criticised China's human rights record and issues related to Tibet and Taiwan. It was labelled as "Anti-China" but lacked the substantial amount of power required to pursue its agenda until 2007.

With the Lisbon Treaty in place, the EP has been granted more power to strengthen its budgetary and political roles and to impose some forms of budgetary control over EU institutions. In the pre-Lisbon Treaty era, the Commission and the Council were the main decision making bodies of the EUFP. MEPs could ask questions and make certain recommendations, but the Commission and the Council largely downplayed their views. Due to their newly acquired budgetary and regulatory roles, the EP has greater influence over the EEAS, "newly established in early 2011 to promote overall coherence in EUFP, with 3600 staff and an annual budget of EUR464 million" (EU Insight, 2012: 1).

The EP seized this opportunity to extend its influence over the EEAS and in particular some of the EEAS' policy preferences. "While the EEAS can only begin to work after the personnel

²⁷ Interviews with an official at the European bureau of IDCPC, Brussels, November 2012

and financial regulation have been modified, those two requirements have given the EP a strong bargaining position in the establishment of the EEAS" (Weiss, 2010: 3).

In the case of China-EU relations, the EEAS and the EP have always been at odds with each other since the EEAS began to operate in 2010. Catherine Ashton, the head of the EEAs, emphasised that the EU's interests in China are located in trade, investments and co-operation on global challenges. She suggested to the EU leaders that "arms embargoes is a major impediment for developing stronger EU-China co-operation on foreign policy and security matters" (Daily Telegraph, 2011).

In contrast, the EP urged that the EU should be more actively promoting Brussels' beliefs and practices on human rights. An interviewee commented in 2011 that "Ashton may compromise as a result of pressure from the EP and add a more human rights related agenda into the EU's approach to China^{"28}. This shift was subsequently proved during the China-EU high level political dialogue in February 2012. Despite the looming sovereign debt crisis dominating the dialogue, Ashton had surprisingly brought up the issue of Chinese women who live in rural areas and their rights to have a second child²⁹. According to this author's interviews with a Chinese diplomat who sits on the dialogue, she believed that "Lady Ashton was simply trying to make a point to please the President of EP who also participated in the dialogue"³⁰.

Apart from its growing political influence, the EP has also extended its influence over economic aspects of the EU's China policy formulation. Prior to the Lisbon Treaty, the EP had only participated in the process informally during the EU multilateral trade negotiations. "The Lisbon Treaty requests to have Parliamentary consent in Common Commercial Policy

²⁸ Interview with Dr. Gundun Wacker at SWP Berlin, Nov 2011

²⁹ Interview with a Chinese diplomat from MFA who participated in the dialogue on 13 Feb 2012

related agreements" (Thym, 2006: 112). Such agreements include areas in foreign direct investments and IPRs where China and the EU have already encountered severe disputes.

Involvement of the EP will only further complicate and escalate conflicts between the two sides. This is because "the EP can insist that non-economic objectives should be taken into account, and use its veto power as leverage over the EU's negotiations with China" (Qu, 2011:9). Simon Hix suggested that "the EP would not veto the trade agreement between the EU and China, but, will set up its positions by resolutions on non-commercial issues which will be subject to a review and linked to a potential refusal of a future bilateral agreement"³¹. Issues such as increasing unemployment in the EU will certainly put blame on China given its growing inflow of direct investments in Europe.

Despite the growing importance of China to Europe, most MEPs are parochial and focus on issues related to the interests of their constituents. China has sometimes been treated as a 'scapegoat' for increasing unemployment and a large trade deficit. Moreover, MEPs are preoccupied with certain preconceptions on China and are reluctant to learn more about China outside the European media coverage, which often portray a very negative image of the Middle Kingdom.

As a result, the Chinese government has set up the parliamentary affair attaché specifically to introduce China to MEPs. Such personnel are drawn from the IDCPC, who are required to be fluent both in English and French. Conventionally, the IDCPC sends only one person to each country to carry out parliamentary affairs related work. But there are two personnel from the IDCPC residing in China's Mission to the EU who are specifically targeting the EP. Chinese

³¹ Interview with Professor Simon Hix in Berlin Nov 2011

diplomats have arranged monthly meetings with MEPs who will either visit to China or receive Chinese officials. The contents of their meetings cover basic facts and figures of the PRC to more complicated and technical matters, such as how Chinese hospitals deliver prescription medicines to patients³².

On political matters, IDCPC staff managed to convince MEPs to minimise the discussions regarding Tibet and China's human rights record. On the economic front, the Chinese government has fully acknowledged the importance of MEPs, after the ratification of Lisbon Treaty, when it comes to discussing issues related to "non-tariff" trade barriers and foreign direct investments. As a result, relevant Chinese governmental departments and large Chinese companies which plan to invest in Europe will always be introduced to and consult MEPs' opinions on specific issues before they carry out any actual projects. According to an interview by the author, a Chinese diplomat suggested that the "EP has become more important than the EEAs because the former can exert control over the latter, so it would be useful to make the MEPs understand China better"³³.

To conclude, the EU itself has found its heroic ambition to pursue a value-based China policy beyond its capacity. China has made few political reforms over the past eleven years. The current predicament between China and the EU stemmed from a misunderstanding and a lack of recognition as to what the policy priorities are from each side.

Also, the EU's China policy has lacked overall coherence, an issue which is derived from both the EU institutions and the MS. Due to the nature of the Union, it does not possess an

³² Interview with IDCPC staff at China's Mission to Brussels, Nov 2012

³³ Ibid

ultimate decision making body. In the case of the EU the institutions and the MS share some of the final decision-making power of external affairs.

The ratification of the Lisbon Treaty has worsened the institutional incoherence by tilting the balance of power among the EU institutions. The EP, which is traditionally seen as 'anti-China', has been equipped with a more substantial influence over EU external relations. The EEAs has been constrained financially and politically whenever it attempts to forge a China strategy that fits its own preferences. The Commissions has been in disagreement with itself on how to engage with China. This has led China to adjust its focus to individual EU members. As a result, influential MS have become a formidable source for making the EU's China policy. The next section will therefore turn the focus to the Member States' China policies.

Section 3.2: The EU Member States' China Policy between 2001 and 2013

This section will shift the focus from an EU policy formulation level, towards the individual bilateral partnerships between individual member states (MS) and China. Between 2001 and 2008, the MS had played a pivotal role in shifting China-EU relations from a honeymoon period to a near breakdown of their partnerships, which subsequently triggered Beijing to postpone the 2008 China-EU Annual Summit in Lyon, France.

As argued in the previous section, the EU's China policy has focused on four main areas, in each of which the MS have disputed the EU's direction. The MS are also divided amongst themselves over two main issues, namely the growing significance of the Chinese economy to Europe, and attitudes towards China's normative issues.

Despite their divisions, they have vigorously competed with each other in order to gain a lion's share of the Chinese market for their own companies. This is because they realise the real economic benefits of engaging bilaterally with Beijing. As China re-emerges as a major power in world politics, China has been a target of almost all EU MS' calculations in terms of foreign policy decision making.

Meanwhile, given the persistence of the sovereign debt crisis, MS' China policies have become more pragmatic and interests oriented compared to that of Brussels. Not only have divisions between the EU and MS been prevalent, simultaneously disagreements have also existed amongst the MS on how they should deal with China.

As a result, the more that each MS is in a quest for access the Chinese market, the less likely Brussels is to have a coherent overall China policy. This section seeks to explore the reasons why the member states (MS) individual China policies have induced an overall disjointed China strategy within the EU. In doing so, it attempts to test the main hypothesis of the thesis, which asserts that China-EU relations are multilateral in nature with the extensive involvement of MS, as well as inputs from the EU institutions simultaneously.

This section will firstly examine the major disputes between the EU institutions and MS on their stances over China policies. It will then depict and analyse the different types of China policies executed by the MS. It seeks to explore the extent to which domestic politics of each MS has determined its individual China policy agenda.

As argued in the previous chapter, there are two stumbling blocks existing in Sino-EU relations, namely China's Market Economy Status and the Arms Embargo. Deep divisions amongst MS on these issues have prevented their resolution. Whether to grant China a MES has been intensively debated for a long time between the EU and its MS. On the one hand, the EU institutions firmly believe that China has not yet fulfilled the criteria of being a market economy. As discussed earlier, China's heavy state intervention into their economy, a large trade surplus with the Union, and high market entry barriers for foreign companies were

the main reasons why the EU has so far rejected MES for China. As argued by a scholar, "EU's refusal to give MES would encourage China to restructure its economy and induce the Chinese to fulfill their WTO commitments" (Remond, 2007: 347).

On the other hand, some of the major MS have disagreed with the EU, and contend that the refusal would cause retribution by China who would increase the difficulties faced by their companies operating in China. Between 2003 and 2007, France, the UK, Denmark and Germany were the four main active advocates who sought to persuade the EU to grant China MES. This was largely because their business collaboration with China was located in aviation, finance, energy and the high-tech sectors, which were least likely to be threatened by cheaper Chinese exports. On the contrary, China was treated as a huge market for them with extremely high demand for their products and services.

In contrast, member states with their main industries based on the labour-intensive manufacturing and textiles sectors, such as Italy, Spain and Portugal have been the main opponents of granting China a MES between 2001 and 2008. These three governments feared that most of their family owned manufacturers in leather and textile industries would be threatened by Chinese products which have significantly lower prices. Whether to grant MES is to be decided by a unanimous voting of the 28 members. Due to the large existing divisions, the EU has therefore continued to refuse to grant MES to China.

In the area of trade, the EU has been widely known as a vital and unified player in the international arena. As China's biggest export market, the Union is legally required to act as one entity on trade policy. But in reality, major members of the EU have been openly opposed to the EU Trade Commission's decision to launch"Anti-dumping" investigations into certain

Chinese products on several occasions.

The German government under Angela Merkel spoke out against the Trade Commission's "Anti-dumping and Anti-Subsidy" investigations in regards to China's solar panel exports. This is the best example with which to reveal the deep divisions and conflicts between the MS and Brussels when they engage with China. In this case, Berlin and the Trade Commission appeared to be doing their best to undermine the EU's ability to wield international influence, and its ambition to be taken seriously by the Chinese government. During Chancellor Merkel's state visit to Beijing in early September 2012, she openly suggested that the "solar panel disputes between China and the EU should be resolved via negotiations. Any forms of trade protectionism are short-sighted" (People's Daily: 2012).

Interestingly, it was a group of small to medium sized German solar panel manufacturers who requested the Trade Commission to initiate the investigation against the Chinese products. During her trip to Beijing in September 2012, "she sealed a deal for fifty Airbus fleets orders from the Chinese aviation authority" (Reuters, 2012). Therefore, she was ready to make a concession and to oppose the DG Trade's decision against the Chinese solar exports.

By comparison, the gain in tax and revenues from the Airbus purchases outweighed the economic challenge from the Chinese solar panel manufacturers. This large Airbus order has inevitably boosted Germany's flagging-export dependent economy and therefore contributed to Chancellor Merkel being re-elected in 2013. Her gesture has further encouraged the division between Brussels and the MS. This has also ultimately convinced the Chinese government to continue to play "divide and rule" tactics when it comes to engaging with the EU.

MS have also disagreed with Brussels' engagements with China in the area of global governance, such as climate change. This was largely because some of climate change policies that the EU intended to pursue would seriously damaged the economic well-being and unique competitiveness of some MS.

For example, in January 2012, "France was vociferous against DG Clima's proposal to impose a carbon duty on non-European airlines, including China and the US, flying in the EU" (New Statesman, 2012). The proposed carbon duty would be calculated and charged from the starting points to the European destinations that each flight operates. DG Clima's proposal had caused "equal opposition both within the EU and from non-EU countries in early 2012" (FT, 2012b).

Outside the Union, the US and Indian governments claimed that it would take legal action against the DG Climate if the proposal was enacted. The Chinese government criticised Brussels' "double standards and interfering in the domestic economic affairs of other countries" (Xinhua News 2012). Beijing asserted that EU's proposal was against the fundamental idea of multilateralism that the Union has always advocated.

To respond to the EU's proposal, "China decided to delay their payments for its 35 orders of Airbus A330 and 10 Airbus A380 fleets with a total value of USD 12bn" (China Daily, 2012)³⁴. Within the EU, both France and Italy, that are important actors in the international civil aviation sector, opposed the DG Clima's proposal in January 2012. Airbus³⁵ has been a major source of French export revenue since it was established, so having potential delays of

³⁴ US dollar is used as final payments for any forms of aviation purchases globally

³⁵ Part of the EADS Group

payments by Airbus' clients such as China would have generated a severe impact on an already fragile and sluggish economy in France. As a result, the French government openly opposed the DG Clima and launched several rounds of intensive lobbying together with EADS to ask the Commission to postpone the imposition of carbon tax on international airlines. Ultimately, "the EU Commission decided to postpone the carbon tax charge until further notice" (People's Daily, 2012b).

The DG Clima's decision to postpone the carbon tax charge has not only illustrated the external influences that the EU is having to take into consideration, but more importantly revealed policy incoherence and deep divisions between Brussels and MS. It has also indicated that the EU's ability to pursue a "normative-oriented" foreign policy has been deeply restricted by the power of the major MS.

On normative issues, Brussels and the MS have also lacked a consensus of how they should engage with China. On the one hand, Brussels incorporated its "normative power" discourse into its FP making. As a result, seeking to influence China's human rights and promoting rules of law have become an indispensable part of the EU's overall China strategy. On the other hand, most MS have largely disagreed with what the EU wanted to pursue. They feared that being vociferous on China's poor human right records would severely affect their individual economic ties with China. The Chinese government has always treated good political relations as a pre-requisite for any further economic collaboration or for the "awarding" big contracts to the MS.

For example, the French government has long been "the facilitator for its national companies" (Casarini, 2010). This is mainly because large French MNCs from civil nuclear,

aviation and utility sectors are make up a major part of the French national economy and almost two thirds of total employment. Therefore, securing large contracts with other states is an effective method with which to maintain economic growth and employment.

However, the Sino-French relationship became sometimes erratic, and experienced severe turbulence in the past few years. This was largely because the French government under Nicolas Sarkozy initially "boycotted the Beijing Olympic Games and spoke out against the Chinese government's treatments of Tibetan ethnic groups in 2008" (Daily Telegraph, 2008). Sarkozy also sent his wife to meet the Dalai Lama while he was in Beijing to attend the Olympic Opening Ceremony. His apparent political inconsistency enraged both the Chinese elites and the public, and then brought Sino-French relations to a low point. After an array of disputes between China and the major EU MS, Beijing finally postponed the annual China-EU Summit that was supposed to hold in Lyon in 2008. In February 2009, France was omitted by the Chinese Premier Wen Jiabao from a list of European countries to be visited. "Not until November 2010, did the Chinese President Hu Jintao visit France and seal a deal for another 102 Airbus fleets" as an indication of reconciliation for Sino-French relations (Xinhua, 2010b).

As the sovereign debt crisis has deepened, in most of the bilateral meetings between Beijing and the MS, normative issues are no longer a concern. The EU MS had witnessed the ups and downs of Sino-French relations in 2008 and decided not to further antagonise China on normative issues. Instead, they rushed to compete in gaining a lion's share of the Chinese market without considering the overall coherence of the EU's China strategy. Their competitions to access the Chinese market have led Chinese diplomats to assert that "normative issues" have become a rather minor part of Sino-EU relations since 2009. The vast Chinese market was far more important than holding to the principle of human rights³⁶.

Changing attitudes towards China on normative issues amongst the Eastern European MS revealed how their economic concerns have also taken priority when engaging with the Chinese government. Apart from the Czech Republic, which has always held a very critical opinion on China's human rights record, the rest of Southern and Eastern MS have been silent on issues related to Tibet and Taiwan.

The Hungarian Prime Minister Viktor Orban's recent treatment of the Dalai Lama, the Tibetan Exiled spiritual leader, could be used to explain such a shift. Orban met the Dalai Lama when he was the Prime Minster in 2000, but, did not do so when Tibetan leader visited Hungary again in 2012. Instead, he praised "a new alliance of major significance with the PRC" (Reuter 2012). This was largely because the Chinese Premier Wen Jaibao visited Budapest and offered a series of financial assistances through Chinese companies' acquisitions and investments in Hungary during his visit in June 2011. For example, Wanhua, one of the main Chinese chemical SOEs took full control of BorsodChem³⁷ in 2011, creating the third largest isocyanine maker in the world (Financial Times, 2011a). China had also promised to hold several billions of Hungarian bonds during Wen's visit. A few European scholars concluded that "Some Eastern European MS have treated China as "a complement, or even an alternative, to European or IMF loans" (Godement and Plenser, 2011: 8).

A careful observation of the above disputes between the EU and its members' China policies shows that the domestic politics of the MS have made a decisive impact on their relations to Beijing. In the case of Sino-EU relations, politicians from the MS prioritised their domestic

³⁶ Interviews with a diplomat at Policy Planning Bureau, MFA, August 2012, Beijing.

³⁷ The largest chemical company in Hungary

concerns. This is because the MS have been disenchanted by the EU's inability to formulate a China policy that will tailor for all their specific needs.

On the one hand, the larger MS have been frustrated by the mounting barriers to access the Chinese market, which could further worsen their already fragile economies. On the other hand, the debt-ridden Southern European members have searched eagerly for financial assistance from Beijing to overcome the lingering crisis. For both reasons, to obtain short term economic benefits has become much more important than formulating a coherent long-term EU China strategy which retains a focus on normative issues in China. Solving the pandemic sovereign debt crisis is the only domestic priority that most MS are concerned with at the moment. Therefore, engaging with China economically seems to be the most viable and effective solution to the leading politicians amongst the MS. Their engagements show that they aim to address the immediate economic concerns of their respective states, which will in turn create the potential for them to be re-elected.

The British government's recent economic engagements with China provide very a good illustration on how politicians prioritise domestic economic concerns over other issues. The idea of "China as a trading partner" has been widely hailed by both the previous Labour, and the current Coalition governments, during the past twelve years. However, the UK has been consistently critical about China's human rights record and on issues related to Tibet. "Prime Minister David Cameron's meeting with the Dalai Lama had brought progress in Sino-UK relationships to a halt in 2012" (BBC 2012b). The Chinese government has "decided to cancel all ministerial-level meetings related to social and political issues" (Daily Telegraph, 2013).

Despite these cold political relations between the two sides, their economic ties have been strengthened by senior politicians in charge of economic affairs and British business leaders. According to my interviews with board members of China-Britain Business Council (CBBC), they echoed that "Sino-EU economic relations had been insulated from recent political hiccups between Beijing and London. None of big contracts between China and the UK was withdrawn for political reasons"³⁸.

Between 2001 and 2012, both Germany and France gained large commercial contracts from China. The UK has neither an abundance of the natural resources China is keen to import nor the capacity to produce high-end manufactured goods. The main asset of the UK is its much developed financial services sector. Opposing rigorous financial regulations and the EU's Tobin tax, the UK financial market remains relatively open to non-European investors. In late 2011, the Chinese government granted London the status of being the first offshore RMB trading point, which "allows the RMB to become an exchangeable currency from financial deals made in London" (FT, 2011b). Since then, major investment banks and financial institutions have benefited from the lucrative amounts of commission fees generated from relevant deals. Despite its small scale, RMB offshore trading reinforces London's status as an international financial services hub. This may in future help to rejuvenate the sluggish UK economy. "It is therefore the first time the UK has gained longer term contracts from China which France and Germany will not able to take"³⁹.

Apart from the internationalisation of the RMB⁴⁰, the British government also welcomed Chinese investors to invest in its outdated infrastructure sector. According to the UK

³⁸ Interviews with a Board member of Huawei, UK, March 2012

³⁹ Interviews with Francoise Godemont, January 2012

⁴⁰ The Chinese Financial Authority preferred to call "The Expansion of RMB"

Treasury, British infrastructure needs to generate GBP 200bn of investment in order to have appropriate upgrades. The Chancellor George Osborne has been very keen to lead the CIC to invest in the UK infrastructure through its participation in public-private-partnerships (PPP) as an equity investor. Lou Jiwei, the then Chairman of the CIC, praised the UK as "one of the most open economies in the world, a position bolstered by its sound legal system" (Lou, 2011: Financial Times).

However, despite the small sum of funds invested, the CIC's equity with Thames Water caused much public controversy. The British media portrayed the CIC's equity purchase as "a Conquest of Britain" (Daily Telegraph 2012). With more of CIC's portfolio developments in the UK, Sino-UK relations may encounter further turbulence caused by these Chinese sovereign investments.

In conclusion, the MS have been a pivotal group of actors in shaping overall China-EU relations. Their individual China policies have significantly undermined the EU's ability to utilise its self-claimed "normative power" to influence China's domestic and foreign policies. In this period of financial turbulence, MS have mostly marginalised normative issues during bilateral engagements with Beijing. The MS left EU institutions such as the EEAS and the EP to conduct numerous dialogues with China on the policy domains related to political and social changes. By examining the China policy agenda of individual MS, one cannot deny the importance of corporate sector in determining their respective governments' China policy. They have actively persuaded their own governments to shift the China policy objectives from normative oriented to business focused ones. At the EU level, the European companies have also formed alliances with relevant bureaucratic actors to address their own business concerns with the Chinese government. The European companies do not simply subsume

their interests to their national governments and the EU institutions; rather, they make the bureaucratic actors their agents to ensure their commercial interests in China. The next section will give an exclusive focus on the roles of the European corporate sector on the recent developments in China-EU relations.

Section 3.3 European Corporate Sector and the developments of China-EU Relations

This section will give an exclusive focus on the activities of the European corporate sector that have influenced the EU's China policy, and overall China-EU relations, in the past twelve years. It aims to assess to what extent the European corporate sector is seen as a significant interest group shaping Sino-EU relations. It will also seek to explore the reasons why the EU, and some of its member states (MS), have sidelined their pursuit of a normative foreign policy agenda towards China in the past three years.

This section asserts that European companies have been the main driver of the EU's more economically orientated China strategy. Unlike some Chinese companies, most European firms are independent from state interferences when they design their business strategies. Their activities and interests in China represent the nature of their corporate aims, which is market-orienting and profit-maximising. Therefore, China's vast domestic consumer market and large government procurement budget have presented a unique opportunity for European companies.

Despite being independent from the EU institutions and their national governments, they have sometimes relied upon governmental institutions to represent and negotiate their business interests with officials in Beijing. Given that economic ties are the backbone of China-EU relations, the European companies have therefore played an indispensable part in either strengthening or distorting relations since 2001. As the sovereign debt crisis loomed, European companies started to take a more robust position in the face of Chinese competition and the mounting entry barriers to the Chinese domestic market.

As a result, the request to ensure a level playing field in China and full implementation of China's WTO commitments have become recurring themes dominating all kinds of dialogues and meetings between Chinese and European officials (EC, 2011). In order to examine the roles of European firms, this section will firstly examine to what extent the European corporate sector shapes the EU's overall China policy agenda. It seeks to explore why the EU institutions have frequently criticised China on issues related to trade, investments,

143

Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) and market entry. It will then explore the relations between European firms and their national governments when those States come to formulate their China strategies.

Between 2001 and 2008, the European companies had made a positive contribution to the driving forward of Sino-EU relations. They had made few complaints in Brussels, and eagerly persuaded MS to develop amicable relations with China. They had actively lobbied both their national governments and European institutions to sideline normative issues, which would create greater opportunity for their business operations in China.

Smooth economic relations, at this time, between China and the EU were largely because China was at the very early stage of upgrading its industries. Mostly the European companies that operated in China had become a major source of technology assistance. They offered technological transfers mostly in the form of foreign direct investments (FDIs). "An important character of the EU FDIs in China was its focus on capital and technologyintensive manufacturing industries, such as automotive, chemicals and pharmaceuticals" (O'Callaghan and Nicolas, 2007: 25). Also, European investments in China were primarily market-seeking, in other words, European firms were motivated by market expansion rather than by cost considerations.

However, since 2009, Chinese manufactures have almost completed their "catch-up" stage with their European partners. European firms have inevitably shifted their status from one of "tutors" to "competitors". As a result, the Chinese government has initiated a series of policy measures to undermine European firms' ability to compete with home grown Chinese companies. Moreover, "the Chinese government issued a RMB 4 trillion stimulus package in

order to accelerate an industrial upgrade in the midst of global financial crisis" (Bloomberg, 2008). The package has further undermined the Europeans' competitiveness in China. This trend has largely been reflected in the developments of the Chinese renewable energy sector and Beijing's climate change policy, which I will discuss to a great extent in Chapters 4 and 5.

As some media observed, "Most European conglomerates have realised the business environment in China has become tougher since 2009" (Daily Telegraph, 2010). Their business optimism has been dampened dramatically by concerns of regulatory interferences and unfavourable domestic economic policies directed at foreign enterprises. As a result, the European corporate sector has actively "sought the support of the EU institutions, in particular, the EU Commission, to ensure their business interests are upheld in China" (EC 2011).

In the areas of trade and investments, the DG Trade assumes exclusive jurisdiction, and negotiates relevant agreements on behalf of MS and European companies. In recent years, the DG Trade under the Commissioner Karel de Gucht has voiced particularly strong criticisms that the Chinese domestic market has become increasingly difficult to enter and operate in. Most of the criticisms are derived from European companies that have been affected by the latest policy measures established by the Chinese government.

Amongst their several criticisms to the Chinese business environment, there are three main complaints that have particularly worsened China-EU economic relations. They are: firstly, unfair treatment in the public procurement projects bidding process, secondly, as established by commercial report, "involuntary technical transfers and finally, invisible entry barriers to the Chinese domestic market" (EUCCC, 2012)⁴¹. As a result, the EU Commission has welcomed the corporate sector's criticisms of China. This is largely because the Commission relies upon effectively managing the corporate sector's complaints to reinforce its status quo as the single most significant institution when the EU deals with China. It has attempted to inform the Chinese government that the Commission, not the EEAs nor the MS, is the ultimate decision-making body for the EU's China strategy.

The Commission's attempts have been driven by Beijing's preference to resolve trade and investments issues bilaterally with MS. According to my interviews with two senior members of the DG Trade China Team, they suggested that "our requests to meet the relevant officials in China between 2010 and 2011 were mostly refused by our Chinese counterpart, the MOFCOM"⁴². The Commission was furious with the Chinese government's assertiveness and arrogance. It believed that being vociferous in its criticism of China's non-commitment to the WTO rules and lack of transparency would be the best way of getting the Chinese government's attention"⁴³. As a result, the EU Commission has addressed the most immediate concerns of the European corporate sector, namely, their unfair treatment in the public procurement projects bidding process. The requirement of a level of playing field has also become regular rhetoric during the meetings between the Commission and the Chinese government.

Given the investments driven model of the Chinese economy, China's vast public procurement (PP) market has presented European companies with enormous opportunities to set their foot in the domestic market. As indicated by European Chamber of Commerce in

^{41 2012} Business confidence survey by European companies in China, draw by Roland Berger Strategy Consultants GmBH, the author herself participated in analyzing survey result

⁴⁰ Interviews with DG Trade officials in Brussels and Salzburg Nov, Dec 2012.

⁴³ Ibid

China, "the total market value of Chinese public procurement market was worth RMB 6800 bn in 2011" (EUCCC, 2011a:18) PP is the "tendering by central and sub-central government and other public entities projects that are of public interests and/or use public funds" (Ibid:5). Sectors of PP include energy, transportations, constructions, governmental car fleets and public healthcare.

European companies are equipped with particularly strong technological advantages in these sectors. Their manufacturing products are synonymous with the highest quality and latest technological standards in China. They have also positioned China as one of the key places in their global strategic outlook.

Obtaining PP contracts is treated as a unique opportunity to conquer the Chinese market and to compete with their peers globally. Because the Chinese PP contracts are often very large in physical scale and have very high publicity during the project construction. Such high publicity will enable the chosen European companies to establish their reputations across different levels of governments. This may help them to win other PP projects in future.

Even in post-project utilisation, the Chinese government will ask the winning bidder to offer maintenance and repairing services for several years after construction. For example, "in 2001 the Maglev train between Shanghai Pu'Dong Airport and central Shanghai were manufactured by Siemens and Thyssen-Krupp", the German industrial giants (Beijing Review, 2006). After the completion of the project, "the Shanghai Municipal government has insisted on continuing to use technicians at Siemens to maintain the carriages and the tracks" (People's Daily, 2003).

However, in recent years, as suggested by several media sources, this enormous PP market has become a key disputed area of Sino-EU economic relations, rather than creating new business opportunities as one expected (DW, 2012; Erixon, 2012). European firms jointed by the EU institutions have brought up endless complaints that they have been discriminated against by the Chinese government during the PP tendering process. This is largely because the granting of PP contracts now favours domestic Chinese bidders.

The European companies have realised that they must overcome ever growing numbers of hurdles before they could even reach the final bidding platform of the tendering process. Most of the hurdles are tactically set up by the Chinese government in order to promote domestic manufacturing products. One of major hurdles that have undermined European companies' competitiveness is the requirement of domestic content for the PP projects.

This particular requirement was introduced in 2007 by the Ministry of Science (MOST). According to this restriction, it suggested that "the PP projects are required to utilise 50% of domestic manufacturing products" in its initial publication in 2007 (MOST 2007). Since 2009, "the required percentage has increased to 80% of domestic content on products such as steel and railways" (EUCCC, 2011a: 12). Civil nuclear and civil aviation, in which Europeans still own an absolute technical supremacy, are excluded from this requirement. This is largely due to China's under-developed capacities for producing its own nuclear reactors and air fleets.

Meanwhile, the Chinese government also announced "China's National Indigenous Innovation Products Catalogue" in 2009 (MIIT&MOF, 2009). This Catalogue has provided an important guidance to the carrying out the PP tendering process and to deliver PP projects. There were only 2% of the listed products that were made by European firms who invested in China in the 2009 Catalogue⁴⁴. Without being short-listed on the Catalogue, the European firms' potential to win PP projects has been severely undermined.

For example, in the area of high-speed railways and infrastructure constructions where European companies previously had an absolute advantage in PP projects, they can no longer easily win PP projects due to the requirements detailed above. Often, European companies criticise that "the tendering process is very opaque and lacks any clear instructions as to when they can bid and in which format they can bid"⁴⁵. The author herself shares the similar experience with those interviewed European companies during a bid process with a European conglomerate.

According to interviews with several management team members in a large European companies, they echoed that "to win a bid, European companies find they need to engage the buyers or the Chinese government at a very early stage, even one year before the bid, because by the time actual tendering is announced, the winner has already been decided"⁴⁶.

European institutions and companies' joint vociferous criticism have made little impact on the changing rules of the game in the Chinese PP market. Instead, the Chinese senior officials asserted that the "Europeans are being self-interested and unrealistic" (Wen, 2012). Similarly, the bidding process in the renewable sector has also disadvantaged the European firms, which will be discussed in a greater extent in Chapter Six.

⁴⁴ Based on the Catalogue with over 800 types of products, with only 17 made by European firms

⁴⁵ Based on my previous working experience in a bidding process with a European firm in China

⁴⁶ Interviews with management team members at BASF China,, Sep 2009

As a result, the European conglomerates that have made great losses in the domestic Chinese market are making attempts at retributions by targeting Chinese export manufacturers. They have begun to turn against Chinese high-end exports to the European Common Market. Trade disputes between China and the EU have existed since 2001. There has been a clear trend of increases in trade disputes between China and the EU since 2009. In recent years, the DG Trade has worked stridently to prove the existence of a systematic campaign by Beijing of lavishing improper subsidies on favoured industries to boost China's global competitiveness.

Between 2001 and 2008, European companies that filed complaints were mostly familyowned Southern European textile manufacturers. In the past three years, however, they have been joined in their complaints by well-established European Multi-national companies. These leading European companies have formed alliances with the EU institutions to criticise the Chinese government. In particular, they have not only accused the Chinese firms of dumping exports in the European market, but more importantly they have challenged the Chinese government's generous subsidies to manufacturers across various industries. Examples given in previous sections include the China-EU solar panels trade disputes, and the textile trade wars which are initiated by small to medium size European companies that have never really enjoyed business success in China.

"In Dec 2012, the DG Trade suggested that Beijing was helping makers of organic coated steel used in construction and to make household appliances to obtain materials at below market prices" (FT, 2013a). Unlike the trade disputes examples given in the previous chapter, the recent anti-subsidy steel investigation opened by the DG Trade has been initiated by Thyssen-Krupp and Arcelor-Mittal, two conglomerates that had achieved relative success in their China operations. Their profits plunged after the Chinese government launched a

national campaign for so-called "Self Indigenous Innovation" to promote home grown steel manufacturers and other industrial products in 2009.

Such a move by two steel giants has only escalated the ongoing trade disputes between Beijing and Brussels. "If the investigation is proven, the European steel makers will allow using this investigation as a benchmark to challenge any metal-based exports coming from China"⁴⁷ However, the MOFCOM, the equivalent of DG Trade in China, denied that its subsidies were against the WTO agreements and suggested the EU treated the Chinese steel products unfairly (MOFCOM, 2013b).

Inevitably, given the ongoing disputes, the European steel manufacturers will experience a difficult period in which to do business in China. Fierce criticisms from the Commission have done little to change China's governmental subsidies schemes and have only soured bilateral trade relations.

After several unsuccessful attempts by Brussels to negotiate with the Chinese government, many European companies have realised that the EU institutions have insufficient capacity to negotiate with the relevant governmental departments in Beijing on their behalf. As a result, more and more enterprises have turned to their individual national governments to seek the necessary support.

A few companies that have long been established in China are very familiar with mind-set of the Chinese policy makers. They have learnt that Beijing is very much in favour of developing stronger bilateral economic relations, rather than cultivating sound commercial

⁴⁷ Interviews with Fredrik Erixon, Brussels, January 2013

ties with the Union as a whole. Smoother bilateral relations will allow China to play the "divide and rule" method with different MS in order to maximise their own benefits. Wellinformed European companies have therefore treated their national governments as more effective agents to represent their commercial interests when their respective national officials meet with their Chinese counterparts.

Germany has set an excellent example of helping their own already competitive firms to gain a large number of high value business contracts in China. Under intensive lobbying from German entrepreneurs, since 2008 the Merkel government has not placed normative issues such as Tibet and China's human rights record as a priority at their bilateral summits. Instead, during their bilateral summits and cabinet meetings Berlin has supplied an extensive list of complaints from its corporate sector, which stated the increasing difficulties experienced by German companies trying to access the Chinese market.

German industrial leaders have shifted from a position of "pro-China" to ask Chancellor Angela Merkel to take a tougher stand in order to ensure a level playing field for their companies in China. The German government has dealt with China with a more cautious and well-executed approach than the EU institutions have managed.

Besides the requirements for domestic content, most German companies have often committed involuntary technology transfers in order to make themselves the "preferred" partners of the Chinese. It is one of the immediate concerns of German firms that have operated in China. This is because their business operations in China have been almost exclusively been placed in high-tech machinery, renewable energy, transportation and chemical sectors. These sectors are intrinsically affected by obligatory technology transfers

152

and partial denial of market access by the Chinese. Without a certain amount technology transfers, they cannot set up joint ventures with their Chinese partners.

For example, "BASF, a German chemical giant, began to collaborate with Sinopec to build the largest Asian chemical refinery in Chongqing", a Southwest Municipality (China.org.cn, 2009). One of key agreements between BASF and Sinopec for this joint venture was to offer methane and lubricant technologies, which Sinopec and other Chinese chemical peers lacked. Despite the reluctance of BASF, it still agreed to do so because this high profile, the Municipal-government backed Chongqing plant was too precious to lose. BASF's nonparticipation in Chongqing would have jeopardised its other business operations in China⁴⁸.

In addition, not only are German MNCs concerned about mounting barriers to market access in China, but also German's family-run, small to medium sized enterprises (SMZs) are too. Involuntary transfers have threatened the survival of some SMZs since they lack the resources and political capital both to negotiate with key officials and to access information from a rather opaque and complex Chinese governmental framework.

Instead of openly accusing Beijing, some German companies have taken initiatives to sign a range of agreements with the Chinese companies. Such agreements would encourage the two sides to establish a wide range of industrial research & development centres across different industries between German firms and some of the most important SOEs in China. By doing so, as argued by some media sources, "the German firms would have some level of autonomy in which technologies they transfer to their Chinese partners and in which forms they transfer" (21st Century Economic News, 2011; Xinhua 2012c). Companies, like BASF and

⁴⁸ Interview with Head of Government Relations, BASF, Berlin, November 2011

Volkswagen are front runners for this initiative. Therefore, they have managed to maintain relatively good relations with the Chinese government, which will help them gain larger contracts in future.

In conclusion, one cannot deny the importance of European companies as an interest group in determining the EU's China policy agendas. Examples have been shown of ways that both the EU and the MS have moved away from normative-oriented China policies and turned instead to business-oriented ones. European firms have therefore acted as the main drivers in the shift of the EU's China policy priorities at both the EU and MS level.

The EU institutions have been more than willing to support their firms to combat Beijing's increasing assertiveness of its foreign economic policies, even if their attempts have achieved little success.

At a national governmental level, rushing to the Chinese markets has almost become a mantra for the European leaders in order to revive their own national economies in the midst of a sovereign debt crisis. European companies have served well as vehicles for their politicians to achieve concrete economic successes.

Conclusion for Chapter Three:

In conclusion, the EU has largely failed to pursue its normative-oriented China strategy. It has unsuccessfully applied several forms of economic statecraft, such as structural linkage and free trade, to induce social and political reforms within China. Subsequently and concurrently its relationship with the Middle Kingdom has become more and more disjointed in the past twelve years. As argued above, the EU has misunderstood China, and therefore implemented a China strategy that has little in common with the interests of Beijing.

Within the EU, the failure to develop a coherent China strategy has largely reflected the deep divisions between Brussels and the MS. Against the backdrop of economic problems, the MS have treated China as both a strong competitor and "a solution" for the lingering crisis. As a result, MS have vigorously competed with each other to benefit from China's economic boom without considering the EU's overall objectives when engaging with China.

Meanwhile, one cannot ignore the complexities of the EU's institutional structure, which have also contributed to the EU's incoherence. The institutions overlapping responsibilities and the ratification of the Lisbon Treaty have tilted the balance of power amongst the EU institutions. Each institution has only made and implemented its own specific China policy agenda, which suits its own departmental interests. Therefore, its China policy has been subject to all sorts of institutional constraints and bureaucratic turf wars.

Apart from the governmental apparatus, the European corporate sector has become an indispensable actor in China-EU relations. European companies have mainly acted as policy formulators for the Union's China strategy. Their corporate interests have been mostly represented by their national governments as well as the EU institutions. They have

determined the shift of the EU's China policy priorities from value-oriented to businessfocused at both the EU and MS level.

China-EU collaboration on renewable energy provides an excellent test case to examine the extent to which both bureaucratic and corporate actors have flexed their muscles to shape the final outcomes of the collaboration. In Chapters Four and Five, there will be a strong focus on the roles of Chinese actors, both governmental and corporate one. In Chapters Six, there will be an examination of the extent to which the Europeans actors respond to policy changes and shifts in the institutional balance of power in China during the collaboration process.

Chapter Four: Green Partnerships in the Making: the Development of China-EU Climate Change and Renewable Energy Collaborations: A Chinese Institutional Perspective

Introduction:

After reviewing the developments of overall China-EU relations in Chapters Two and Three, this chapter will shift the thesis focus to their climate change (CC) and renewable energy (RE) collaborations. In particular, this chapter seeks to explore the collaboration process through an institutional perspective from the Chinese side. In other words, it will turn the focal point towards China's central governmental institutions. It will examine the significance that institutional actors have placed in determining the outcomes of collaborations. More importantly, this chapter aims to disentangle the relations between the CCP, as the ultimate decision-maker, and the other various bureaucratic agencies, which are also foreign policy (FP) actors. These actors co-exist in the established FP making framework in China as well as outside the conventional FP making process.

The current literature in this field has paid great attention to individual projects, policy initiatives, and the results of collaborations. However, it has largely ignored the vital roles of the CCP, which is the key source, and driver, of both China's climate change policy and collaborations with the EU. On the one hand, the CCP has driven the dynamics of collaborations and regulated the Chinese institutions that are involved in the collaboration process. On the other hand, the relevant institutions have attempted to mobilise their own resources to implement and modify decision outcomes according to their own departmental interests. Inter-department and intra-departmental bargaining have become frequent occurrences. Their preferred outcome is decisions that will help those institutions to acquire more financial resources and to achieve higher bureaucratic status. It is therefore of

heightened importance to examine the relations between the Party and various institutions during the collaboration process as well as bargain process amongst different agencies. In doing so, it will help to answer a research question as to what extent governmental institutions have managed to shape the overall collaboration.

In recent years, China has undergone a dramatic transformation in terms of social and economic developments. Soaring energy demand has become a recurring symptom to constrain more robust economic growth. China has also experienced the unpleasant side effects of CC in the wake of its own economic success. As a result, tackling CC and developing alternative energy have been treated as one of the highest priorities on the CCP's agenda. The Chinese government has changed its approach to CC dramatically, by moving from a position of deep suspicion of curbing emission to drafting a comprehensive and ambitious strategy to set China on to a path of low carbon and sustainable growth. Beijing has issued a flurry of climate and energy related legislation and policy initiatives to create a momentum of transforming the Chinese growth model.

As a new comer in the field of CC and RE, China has eagerly searched for international partners and sources of learning CC related technologies. As an emerging power, China has realised that its persistence of holding "Common Goals But Differentiated" principal and its self-assumed status as "a developing country" began to its lose explanatory value. As a result, China has turned to the EU, which is seen as a global champion of CC and a crucial source of technological assistances. Both sides had shown tremendous enthusiasm for their collaborations and have tried to achieve some concrete results. However, their collaborations have progressed at a rather modest level. These are mainly due to their misunderstanding of collaborative purposes intertwined with an extremely complex institutional setting when

dealing with one other. In particular, this chapter will provide insights into the bureaucratic complexities from the Chinese side.

Beyond this introduction, this chapter will divide into three sections. The first section will explore the bureaucratic restructuring process of China's climate change policy making. The two major reshuffles have exacerbated the fragmentation of climate and energy policy making, and therefore triggered much confusion when China collaborates with the EU. The second section examines the roles of Chinese central governmental agencies in participating in Sino-EU climate change collaboration. The final section will provide some insights into the bureaucratic land-rush among the central government institutions when they collaborate with the EU in the area of renewable energy.

Section 4.1: China's Climate Change Policy Making Process and its Key Institutional Actors

This section will explore the evolving process of institutionalisation in regards to China's Climate Change policy making. It aims to build a foundation of understanding of the crucial role of Chinese central governmental institutions in determining the Sino-EU collaborations on Climate Change (CC) and Renewable Energy (RE) in the next two sections.

China has experienced an unprecedented high level of economic growth and industrialisation. The price of such economic success has been severe environmental degradation. A wide range of climate related problems, such as pollution and energy shortages, have posed immense and immediate challenges to further economic growth and the social stability of the Middle Kingdom. CC policy making in China has been changed significantly in accordance with the Chinese Communist Party (CCP)'s priorities. According to the Chinese President Hu Jintao, "the CCP has rapidly elevated environmental politics to the highest priority on its agenda" (Hu, 2009). As indicated by the NDRC, "numerous policy initiatives have been carried out by various existing central and provincial governmental agencies" (NDRC 2009f: 11).

The CCP has also created a large number of new institutions and restructured some existing agencies to implement its ever-changing policy agenda. Inevitably, fierce competitions amongst the various institutions have become a frequent occurrence. These agencies have competed with one another for pre-eminence in influencing the decision outcomes according to their own preferences. Winning such competitions will result in a larger governmental budget as well as elevation of their bureaucratic status within the policy making process.

This section will search for the sources of changes and the reasons for persistent bureaucratic conflicts within China's CC policy making and implementation process. To do so, this section will begin by analysing the relations between the CCP and the governmental institutions when it comes to the making of China's climate and energy related policies. Secondly, it will identify the key players, either conventional foreign policy actors or the newly established ones. Finally, it will assess the impact of such a fragmented institutional framework has generated to China's CC policy making process. And this impact has certainly cast a long shadow over the Sino-EU collaborations.

As argued in Chapter One, rising environmental problems have constrained China's economic growth and caused a decline in public health and living standards. Such degradation has already triggered some incidents of social unrest and public grievances. Therefore, China's environmental problem has posed a serious challenge to the very core of the CCP primary objective: retaining power. In the past thirty years, the CCP's legitimacy has shifted from ideology to their performance in governing the state. In other words, demonstrating their political problem-solving capacity has become the foundation for the CCP's self-assumed power. In relation to tackling environmental problems, the CCP has made many serious attempts to demonstrate its ability to govern. During the middle to late 1990s, the CCP had cast serious doubts on the impact of global warming. They treated the international climate change framework as a trap made by the Western liberal democracies to interfere in China's own domestic affairs. However, since China joined the WTO, climate change and the environmental policy agenda have rapidly become grounds of concern for the CCP. According to official documents from the PRC, tackling climate change has recently become part of China's core national interests (UNFCCC 2004).

The reasons why the CCP shifted their views and policy stances on climate change are twofold: firstly, there has been a growing sense of vulnerability to the potential impact of global warming, which will certainly become intertwined with the existing social inequality and the political risks of governing. Secondly, curbing carbon emission can create a huge potential for China to fundamentally transform its economic model from a heavily polluting manufacturing-oriented base to a sustainable, technological, and innovation driven model. Based on the above two reasons, the CCP has issued a flurry of policy initiatives, and pursued several environment protection related laws in order to demonstrate its problem-solving capacity. As a number of China experts and historians suggested, "The CCP is a Party that is equipped with a rapid learning-curve to adapt changes according to different historical situations" (Westad, 2012; Lampton, 1992). Its policy shift on climate change has certainly reflected its flexibility and resilience in the face of social changes.

Given the number of climate change related policy initiatives being taken, the CCP needs to create new governmental institutions and to restructure the existing policy-making apparatus in order to accommodate its national campaign of tackling climate change. As a result, a number of new policy actors or bureaucratic institutions at the national level have been created by the CCP, such as SDRC⁴⁹ and Environmental Protection Commission⁵⁰. These newly emerged actors have had to share the competencies and financial resources of the existing actors such as the Central Metrology Agency (CMA), the Ministry of Industry, Science and Technology (MOST) and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA). From a domestic perspective, these bureaucratic re-organisations have exacerbated the incoherence and a lack of coordination in China's domestic environment and energy policies. Externally,

⁴⁹ Renamed as National Development and Reformation Commission in 2003

⁵⁰ Later elevated as Ministry of Environment Protection in 2003

with a number of equally important central governmental institutions sharing responsibilities, potential partners in the collaboration on climate change have found it exceedingly difficult to identify and to distinguish the functions and competencies of the various departments.

As argued in Chapter One, bureaucratic rifts often occur as a consequence of a shift in the political priorities of certain policy areas within the domestic political arena. In the context of CC policies in China, the emergence of CC as an immense political challenge has triggered profound changes in the distribution of bureaucratic power. Given the expansive nature of climate change issues, it has not only become one of political priorities of Chinese domestic politics, but it also has ranked equally important in China's foreign policy making sphere. As a result, the institutions that are responsible for environmental policy and foreign policy making have to share the responsibility and compete for financial resources when they participate in China's CC policy making process.

Since 1998, the CCP began to reform China's climate change policy making framework. This restructure hinted which institutions would take the lead for China in the field of CC. As a scholar observed, "the 1998 reshuffle had also established a foundation for a second reshuffle in 2003" (Conrad, 2010:57). During the 1998 restructuring, institutions such as MFA remained the only organisation to deal with Beijing's CC diplomacy. As indicated by one of the NDRC official document, "the newly created SDRC has since taken several responsibilities from the previous state planning commission, including its duty as the leading coordinator of China's CC policy" (NDRC2009f: 16; Xinhua, 2003).

However, the distribution of bureaucratic power is a zero-sum game. The SDRC's bureaucratic triumph had caused dissatisfactions amongst, and a decline in the authority of,

the other institutions that had also previously performed key roles in making China's CC policies. As observed by a scholar, "the CCP realised that its climate change policy had become institutionally fragmented" and lacked focus in its policy agenda (Conrad, 2010: 57). In an attempt to resolve the fragmentation issue, the Party began to use its usual practice of establishing a Small Leading Group to improve institutional coordination. As mentioned in Chapter Two, Chinese FP has also suffered from institutional fragmentation, establishing a "Foreign Affairs Leading Small Group" was the attempt at a solution in order to improve coherence. Similarly, a National Climate Change Coordination Leading Small Group (CCCLSG) was established in 1998 under the State Council. As observed by a Sinologist, a "Leading Small Group (LSG) is a common instrument in Chinese politics employed by the Party leadership to coordinate policy decision-making where the existing institutional structures prove unable to bring about results"(Lieberthal, 1992: 12).

"Establishing a LSG could also signal the importance of a specific political issue by the CCP" (Ibid). This was certainly the case for China's CC policy making. The CCCLSG has therefore become a platform where institutional specific interests clash and interdepartmental bargaining takes place. During the 1998 reshuffle, "the State Science and Technology Commission was upgraded to the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST), and the National Environmental Protection Agency was renamed as the State Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA)" (Xinhua, 2003). Both institutions managed to successfully extend their influence over China's CC policy making process. Later, they played key roles in facilitating the Sino-EU collaborations in Climate Change and Renewable Energy.

Despite the efforts being made to increase coordination, China's CC policy making process largely remained fragmented after the 1998 reshuffle. As outlined by the CCCLSG opening statement, "given the increasing importance of environmental issues in both domestic politics and FP, the CCP decided to pursue another round of institutional restructuring in 2003, which intended to clarify the CC policy agenda and to distribute responsibilities more evenly amongst various institutions" (CCCLSG, 2003). The 2003 reshuffle largely reflected the current institutional structure of formulating and implementing China's climate and energy policies. Unlike the 1998 re-organisation, this 2003 reshuffle has not only just divided institutional responsibilities in pursing the domestic CC policy agenda, but equally important, it has also outlined the responsibility of each institution when they participate in international negotiations, as well as conducting cooperation with other countries or entities.

The SDRC was "renamed as the NDRC and remained the most powerful institution in China's CC policy making", if not the most powerful in China's macro-economic policy making in general (Lewis, 2008: 158). Its strengthened authority has inevitably undermined other institutions competencies and power in both domestic CC policy formations as well as in China's climate diplomacy. As a scholar remarked, "the NDRC has played a major role in CC policy formation as well as policy implementation since the 2003 reshuffle of the Chinese central bureaucratic system" (Hegglund, 2007: 18). To do so, the NDRC has established a new "Climate Change Bureau⁵¹" to focus on policy formation and implementation. The newly established Bureau aims to compete with other institutions which share the responsibilities of making CC policy with the NDRC.

One of the most compelling challengers to the NDRC's authority on international CC negotiations is the MFA. The MFA has set up a special "Office for Special Representative on

⁵¹ 国家发改委应对气候变化司 Climate Change Bureau at the NDRC

Climate Change⁵²"to deal with policy domains related to China's environmental diplomacy. The NDRC and MFA have been in frequently disagreement, and have become each other's ultimate rivals. According to interviews I conducted in both institutions, officials in these two departments hold almost directly contrasting opinions. An interviewee who holds a key position at Climate Change Bureau of NDRC accused the "diplomats at the MFA lacking any scientific and economic understanding of climate change. They have always 'appeased' foreigners when it comes to negotiating with Westerners"⁵³. Whereas the MFA personnel I interviewed contended that the "NDRC has little experience in international negotiations, which often causes more damage rather than a positive contribution to China's climate diplomacy"⁵⁴.

However, given the importance of the NDRC to overall domestic policy making, the NDRC has often prevailed over institutional conflicts. This is largely because CC and scientific innovations are areas that intertwine with China's own economic developments. Increasingly in-depth scientific assessments have demonstrated China's vulnerability to the detrimental effects of CC. The costs of mitigation have become much smaller than the costs of the "Business as Usual Scenario". In the light of China's climate vulnerability, the CCP believes that China's current heavily polluted, export-oriented model is no longer viable for China's longer term development. As a result, ministers that are in charge of the macro-economic and scientific innovations policy agenda have had a greater impact on CC policy formulation than the MFA.

The 2003 restructure has not triggered the result that the CCP expected; as a scholar

⁵² 外交部气候变化特别代表办公室 Special Representative Office at MFA

⁵³ Interviews at NDRC Beijing, August 2012

⁵⁴ Interviews at MFA Beijing August 2012

observed, "China's CC policy coordination has still remained at a modest level" (Marks, 2010: 977). Despite the reshuffle of the existing agencies, the bureaucratic new comers that were created by the Party leadership, have further complicated its CC policy making and implementation process. Further to the 2003 reshuffle, "the CCP has transformed the CCLSG into the National Climate Change Coordination Committee (NCCCC) of the State Council" (NDRC, 2009f: 17). The NCCCC is an administrative body not only charged with interministerial policy coordination but also to formally represent the ultimate decision making body regarding China's CC policy.

Based on the NCCCC's organizational description, initially, "there were 15 different central governmental agencies granted memberships of the NCCCC. The granting of memberships signalled their status as core institutions of CC policy-making. The Director of the NDRC is the second man of the NCCCC, second only to Premier Wen Jiabao himself, who is the chairman of the Committee" (NCCCC, 2008). More interestingly, there were four institutions which serve as the "Vice Chairs" of the NCCCC with the same bureaucratic ranks and equal political importance. "These are: the MFA; MOST; SEPA and the CMA" (Ibid). Each Vice Chair has represented their own distinctive interests and has been assigned different responsibilities by the Chairman. According to a Chinese CC expert, he suggested that "the co-existences of four Vice Chairs were a result of prolonged period of bureaucratic rifts"⁵⁵.

Unlike the CCP wishes, the establishment of the NCCCC has further exacerbated the bureaucratic conflicts as institutional interests have become even more diversified. Despite the NDRC's commanding position, the establishment of four vice chairs produced a substantial counter-weight to the NDRC assuming authority. This multi-tier set-up of

⁵⁵ Interviews with Professor Pan Jiahua, at the Chinese Academy of Social Science (CASS), August 2012

bureaucratic apparatus allowed for a number of institutional actors to exert a tangible influence over the policy making process.

However, despite interviews with members from various ministries, it has still remained very difficult to assess which institution can generate the greatest impact on the CC policy making process. None of the institutions mentioned above have achieved absolute overarching power to produce their desired decision outcomes on every occasion. The Party leadership has retained the reins of final decision power in its own hands. The next two sections will offer vivid examples of Sino-EU collaborations to demonstrate the complexities of making and implementing decisions.

In conclusion, China's climate and renewable policy making have largely remained fragmented even though the Party has made two serious attempts to improve coordination amongst their core governmental agencies. This intricate institutional setting has certainly cast a long shadow over the Sino-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy. The next section will examine the extent to which these bureaucratic rifts in Beijing have constrained China's capacity to collaborate with the EU in the area of Climate Change.

Section 4.2: Many Bureaucratic Rifts: The roles of Chinese central governmental institutions in determining the Sino-EU collaboration on Climate Change

This section will offer an examination of the roles of the Chinese central governmental institutions in the process of China-EU collaboration on climate change (CC). As argued previously, the complex institutional framework does little to help formulate coherent CC policies in China. Domestically, a fragmented institutional framework has severely challenged the CCP's capacity to tackle environmental degradations and energy shortages. Externally, a lack of institutional coordination has undermined China's ability to demonstrate itself as a responsible and active player in international CC negotiations. Similarly, its collaboration with the EU has largely been affected by complex institutional settings from both sides.

Much literature has already been written on the EU's renowned bureaucratic turf wars in various policy areas whilst there is little that has explored the bureaucratic rifts from the Chinese side. Most institutions referred to previously have participated in the process of collaboration. They have played roles as collaboration agenda formulators as well as executors to deliver collaborative projects. Competitions for budgets, agenda-setting and project implementation have become inevitable amongst them. Some of those institutions have prevailed and utilised the collaboration as a unique opportunity to boost their political influence. While others have become marginalised due to a lack of sufficient and appropriate resources with which to play decisive roles during the collaboration.

In this section, the author will use case studies on China-EU high-level climate change dialogue, China-EU disputes at the Copenhagen UNFCCC Summit and the Sino-EU joint

research programme on Nearly Zero Emission Zone to illustrate how the collaboration has largely been shaped by bureaucratic power shifts within China's CC policy making process. This thesis will utilise three case studies to illustrate the bureaucratic land-rush when relevant Chinese institutional actors came to deciding on, and participating in, the Sino-European collaboration on Climate Change. The following three case studies are not chosen on the basis of arbitrary selection or random examples. Rather, the case studies have significant reasons, as detailed below, to justify their inclusion in this thesis.

Firstly, all three case studies represent very high profile events in China-EU relations. Secondly, apart from Climate Change, the collaborative mechanism between Beijing and Brussels has also been established in other fields of their partnerships. In particular, the Sino-European High-level sectoral Dialogue has also occurred frequently amongst other policy domains. Therefore, by examining the internal bureaucratic rifts and the composition of participants within Beijing on Climate Change Dialogue, one will be able to observe and analyse the Chinese bureaucratic disputes amongst other Sino-European sectoral high-level dialogues.

Thirdly, the China-EU trade disputes have become a necessary component rather than an exception in their partnership. Investigating the complexities of Chinese bureaucratic actors' involvement in the solar panel dispute could largely reflect upon their engagements in other areas of Sino-European trade disputes.

Last but not least, all three case studies involve one, or several, non-conventional Chinese foreign policy actors to challenge the status quo of the established foreign policy actors in shaping the Sino-European relations. My analyses of those case studies below are mostly based on interviews conducted between 2010 and 2012 as well as my previous consulting experience with Chinese energy conglomerates. Most interviewees are practitioners who have participated in those projects and wish to remain anonymous.

1. China-EU High-Level Dialogue on Climate Change

"China and the EU established the CC partnership in September 2005 and elevated their partnership to that of ministerial level in 2010" (EC 2005; NDRC 2010c). Both sides have expressed great enthusiasms for collaboration throughout years. Both governments believe that CC is an area where they can achieve major and concrete results through collaboration. Like other areas of China-EU collaborations, China-EU high-level dialogue on CC is one of the major mechanisms to initiate the collaboration agenda and to discuss potential projects. According to their joint declarations, "the dialogue is held either in Europe or in China, once or twice a year" (Ibid).

During the first dialogue in March 2006 in Vienna, both sides agreed to collaboration according to the "China-EU Climate Change Rolling Work Plan". The Plan prioritised nine different areas of collaboration which were mostly scientific and technological cooperation driven, such as developing renewable energy, joint projects on Clean Development Mechanism and energy efficiency improvement (MFA, 2006). Only two of those areas were non-scientific or non-technological in nature. They were "Institutional capacity building and Raising public awareness of Climate Change" (Ibid). Based on the agenda from the plan, it indicated that their collaboration was very much driven by technology transfers and scientific cooperation. This in turn has led the MFA to have an insignificant role in driving the collaboration forward.

As referred to previously, the NCCCC has four vice chairs to make decisions on China's CC policies. The MFA is granted one of the four vice chairs. This signals the MFA's importance in China's international CC negotiations and collaboration with foreign partners. However, in reality, the MFA's authority and competency have been undermined by the NDRC and other science-led institutions.

In the case of China-EU collaboration, the role of the MFA has diminished throughout the past six years. Its authority as the "chief negotiator" of the international CC negotiations has encountered several strong challenges from other institutions, which are either located within the Chinese FP making process or emerged as what Linda Jakobson labelled as the "new FP actors" in Beijing's FP decision making process (Jakobson and Knox 2010:2). The MFA's decline in bureaucratic influence over China-EU collaboration is reflected upon both in institutional arrangements and the agenda setting of the collaboration.

In terms of an institutional setting, the MFA only acted as the chief executive on the Chinese side when initiating the dialogue at the very two first meetings between Beijing and Brussels. Afterwards it attempted to use various dialogues and international negotiation mechanisms to formalise its territory over environmental diplomacy. To do so, the MFA established the Office of the Special Representative for Climate Change. The Special Representative also acted as the chief negotiator during the first two China-EU CC bilateral dialogues. At the first two meetings, the Chinese dialogue consists of 25 personnel, 7 of them from the MFA, 4 of them from the NDRC, 2 from the MOST, 2 of them from the Ministry of Finance (MOF), and the rest of team were drawn from relevant university research institutes and large SOEs, which sought to explore business opportunities in which to cooperate with European

companies. In addition, there were two personnel from the China Mission to the EU in charge of CC issues. One of those was appointed as the councillor and the other was ranked as the First Secretary, both of whom were from the MFA⁵⁶. This setting indicated the bureaucratic significance of the MFA over China-EU bilateral dialogues.

From a bureaucratic politics perspective, the MFA had managed to extend and to strengthen its influence as the chief negotiator on China's CC issues. Financially, the MFA had also been granted the bigger budget from the State Council because they needed to have more monetary resources to deliver the dialogues and negotiations. Part of the budget was generated from some of agreed collaborative commercial projects from the dialogues.

However, there has been a sea change on the CCP's attitude towards environmental issues. As discussed above, seeking CC international collaboration has become one of key methods through which the CCP demonstrates its ability to tackle CC issues both domestically and internationally. In relation to this shift, the CCP intended to conduct a wave of "Technological Diplomacy" to maximise its benefits from their international collaboration partners (Economy, 1998: 23). Given the MFA's traditional area of responsibilities, it has had very little knowledge regarding the latest climate technologies and renewable know-how. As a result, the NCCCC headed by Premier Wen decided to change the focus and team composition of the China-EU bilateral dialogue and other international negotiations.

The dialogue team is now made up of 30 personnel. The MFA Climate Change Office no longer acts as the Chief Negotiator. Instead, during the 2007 and 2008 bilateral dialogue it was headed by the director of the NDRC Climate Change Bureau, Su Wei. The NDRC has

⁵⁶ Interviews with officials at China Mission to the EU in Brussels Nov 2012

sent 10 representatives to participate in the dialogues. The other 20 representatives consisted of 3 from the MFA, 5 from the MOST, 3 from the CMA and the rest were from research institutes and SOEs. Moreover, China's Mission to the EU has also changed the institutional setting. There are still two people in charge of CC issues. However, the previous councillor of the MFA has been replaced by an equivalent politically ranked representative from the NDRC; and the First Secretary remains an MFA appointee⁵⁷.

By 2010, the bilateral dialogue was elevated to that of the Ministerial-Level. According to a MOU from the two sides, the NDRC has become the one and only institution taking overall responsibilities for dialogue from the Chinese side. All agreements in regards to CC between China and the EU were signed by either the Director of the NDRC or the director of National Energy Agency⁵⁸. The NDRC's chief negotiator role was therefore consolidated, and this left the MFA with little room to manoeuvre. Surely, the NDRC's authority and assertiveness have generated a clear impact on the EU side. The EU Commission on CC and energy has a clear understanding of who they can speak to amongst their Chinese counterparts. However, the Copenhagen Summit further exacerbated bureaucratic conflicts and frustrated the Europeans, which will be discussed later in the section.

In terms of agenda-setting, the NDRC has enjoyed undisputed authority over other institutions in overseeing the dialogue agenda. Its agenda-setting role has been largely reflected upon in changes to the contents in many years of dialogue. In the very first two dialogues, the Chinese side had stressed the importance of collaboration and China's political will to tackle global warming whereas little details had been revealed on the methods of collaboration and which technologies transfers that Beijing wished to acquire from Brussels.

57 Ibid

⁵⁸ Archive search from the NDRC website

Since 2008, the content of the dialogues have become more specific and technologically driven. Both sides have revealed details of financial contributions, areas of technology transfers, areas of joint research and the time span of joint researches. Such detailed contents of their dialogues have been rare amongst the other China-EU dialogues. These contents have illustrated the heightened importance of the involvement of the NDRC and the MOST. As a result, the MFA has been marginalised and "lost its previous budget to support its CC office. The remaining budget on tackling CC from the State Council was transferred to the NDRC and MOST"⁵⁹. According to the interviews from the MFA Climate Change Office, they admitted that "we do not have sufficient expertise to understand the complexities of CC. We can only be in charge of political and logistical matters of the dialogue"⁶⁰.

Carbon capture and storage (CCS) is a key technology for curbing carbon emission that China is keen to learn from the EU. I have asked a couple of questions related to CCS to several MFA interviewees. It seemed that none of the MFA interviewees were familiar with technical matters. But, they all rigidly insisted that MFA still does play a crucial role in facilitating the bilateral dialogue. However, they could not assess the significance or extent of the MFA's role as an agenda formulator during the dialogue.

2. China and the EU at the UNFCCC Copenhagen Summit

According to the "Rolling Work Plan" and other MOUs between Beijing and Brussels, the EU will coordinate with China when it comes to international CC negotiations (EC 2005, MFA 2006). However, in Copenhagen in 2009, the Europeans became confused and

⁵⁹ Interviews with a staff member at China Mission to the EU, Brussels November 2012

⁶⁰ Interviews in an official at Policy Planning division MFA in Beijing August 2012

frustrated by China's incoherence regarding the carbon emission reduction as well as "Beijing's vociferous emphasis on its status as a developing country" (NDRC, 2009b; Xie, 2009). The 2009 Copenhagen Summit was therefore deemed as a low point for China-EU CC collaborations.

One of the main causes of the confusion was due to the lack of institutional coordination and communication from the Chinese side. As referred to in previous paragraphs, the MFA used to be the chief negotiator for China on international CC negotiations. Given the increasing environmental challenges within China, the CCP has treated climate change as part of China's development issues. "The Party has strong incentives to use the international CC cooperation to solicit the assistances of developed nations in achieving its domestic CC goals" (NDRC, 2009f). Despite shifts in domestic politics, China has continuously insisted on holding to the Principle of "Common but Differentiated Responsibilities (CBDR)" (Ibid). The CCP framed this principle according to three key issues:

- 1) The West's responsibility for current environmental damage.
- 2) China's right to tackle economic development issues first.
- The emphasis on receiving funding and technology to cooperate in an international multilateral framework.

Based on the Chinese government's own analysis, "China and the EU have disagreed with each other on two major issues in regards to tackling climate change. And these two issues have dominated the Sino-EU CC dialogues and other relevant official meetings" (Shen, 2009). Firstly, the EU disagrees that carbon emission should be viewed in historical terms and on the basis of equity. In other words that developed countries, such as the EU member states, should contribute more; and that "developing countries have the right to develop and to refuse to accept binding commitments in the field of CC mitigation and adaptation" (Hegelund et al, 2009: 34).

Secondly, the EU rejected China's idea that the international framework and collaboration should give China the privilege to ask for preferential agreements on technology transfers and funding in order to comply with international agreements, and even to justify eventual requests for a waiver of IPR protection while still deciding any kind of binding commitment (Euractive, Wen's speech 2009). Based on these two main disagreements, China and the EU have had little chance to stand in the same camp during the 2009 Copenhagen Summit.

According to my interviews with Su Wei, the director of Climate Change Bureau, "China is very unlikely to give up the CBDR principle and this has become a recurring issue yet to be resolved in the annual China-EU CC bilateral dialogue. For China, holding the CBDR principle is one of key reasons why it wishes to collaborate with the EU. China's position is unlikely to change in many years to come"⁶¹. His view was echoed by a senior diplomat at the MFA, "holding the CBDR principle is in accordance with China's overall FP and its claim to 'a developing country' status"⁶².

Without much agreement between each other before and during the Copenhagen Summit, the Europeans were largely disappointed by China's persistence of a non-binding commitment to carbon emission. China's policy inconsistency on its negotiation position had further undermined the trust and validity of collaboration with the EU. This inconsistency arose from the Chinese negotiation team. As one observed, much academic literature and journalistic

⁶¹ Interviews with Su Wei, Beijing August 2012

⁶² Interview with a senior diplomat at MFA, Beijing August 2012

articles have described and discussed China's Copenhagen fiasco" (De Matteis, 2012; Wubbeke, 2013; Xinhua 2009b). However, little attention has been paid on the reasons why the Chinese negotiation team behaved so unusually and inconsistently during an important international negotiation.

According to verdicts from several members from the negotiation team, the major cause of the fiasco was due to fragmented policy making process on China's CC policy, without a powerful and credible overarching authority to make the final decisions. This was particularly the case for China in Copenhagen just as in China's recent rifts with its neighbours near the South China Sea. The initial team at Copenhagen from China was very similar to the China-EU CC bilateral dialogue. According to MFA's statement and information from media outlets, the Chinese delegation was "headed by Xie Zhenhua, Vice Director of NDRC (Ministerial-level), who was also former head of SEPA; the second in charge was Su Wei whose position was the Director of Climate Change Bureau at NDRC. Another key team member, Yu Qingtai, is from the MFA" and a special representative for the CC talks (MFA, 2009; Southern Weekly, 2009). As one scholar observed, "the Chinese team combined a high degree of climate expertise with relatively extensive decision-making authority and experience on the international stage" (Conrad, 2012: 444).

My interview with Professor Pan Jiahua, who is the most prominent climate change scholar in China, and has participated in the negotiations in Copenhagen, confirmed other scholars' observations. According to Professor Pan, "Our team was probably the best team for CC negotiations China ever had, and the three main negotiators had reached agreements on every little details that may affect China's international standing"⁶³. However, as seen by media and some academics, "the arrival of Premier Wen and his diplomatic advisory team reversed and objected to some terms that the initial China team had agreed with other participants"(Ibid; Foreign Policy, 2009). One of the initial key agreements was "by 2020 China will join the binding commitment of compulsory carbon reduction⁶⁴."

However, as observed by a scholar and confirmed by one's interviews, "Premier Wen and his team declined this proposal" (Ibid: 445); his own advisory team was mostly from the MFA policy planning unit, which have limited understanding on how CC mitigation works⁶⁵. Instead, this group of advisers only stressed that "China is a developing country, with no further changes regarding this status" (Lynas, 2009). Wen's reversal on the proposal has increased the Europeans' frustrations towards China holding on to its CRBD principle. Consequently, several European leaders denounced China at the post-Summit press conference as well as in European major newspaper, with accusations that China was "a selfish and irresponsible player in Copenhagen" (Milband, 2010).

China's Copenhagen fiasco was deeply rooted in its fragmented CC policy making process. There has never been any clear guidance from the NCCCC as to which institutions or individual has the overarching authority to settle internal disputes, and who shall communicate and advise the Premier before, during, and after the Summit. Certainly, each individual institution wishes to shape the opinion of the Premier, but whose opinion carry the heaviest weight remains unclear.

⁶³ Interview with Professor Pan Jiahua, at Chinese Academy of Social Science, Beijing August 2012

⁶⁴ Ibid

⁶⁵ Interview with Professor Zhou Dadi, Senior Fellow at Energy Research Institute, NDRC, August, 2012

3. China-EU Collaborative Project on Near Zero Emissions Coal

China-EU collaboration has been badly affected by China's CC policy formation process. Equally complicated, Beijing's policy implementation process can also generate a negative impact on their collaboration. The NDRC's authority as the most important player in China's CC policy making and implementation process has been strongly challenged by the other institutions who share many of the responsibilities during the implementation process.

In particular, participations in policy implementation by the MOST have posed the strongest challenge to the NDRC. As a scholar pointed out the reason for MOST's challenge to the NDRC, "this is largely because the politics of CC has been intricately linked to scientific data and technological innovation" (Wubbeke 2013: 713). CC was a scientific concept long before it entered the realm of main stream politics. Political decisions on CC are crucially dependent on scientific research findings and the feasibility of technologies. With a strong scientific element, the MOST has seized on this unique opportunity to extend its political influence. By expanding its political influence and adding scientific credibility, "the MOST has long established a close relationship with a few front-running CC research institutes amongst China's elite universities" (MOST 2012). Based on my archival search, "the MOST has encouraged those institutes seeking international cooperation projects under the umbrella of the MOST"⁶⁶. Meanwhile, the "MOST also provides initial seed funds to institutes which have collaborative projects with international partners", according a scholar's observation (Wubbeke, 2013: 723). With many international collaborative projects on its hands, the MOST has established its own reputation as the institutional partner for China's international CC collaborations. The MOST' reputation has also put itself in a rather advantageous position when China collaborates with the EU.

⁶⁶ Refers to all documents I examined through MOST website

The best example to illustrate the MOST's ability to contest the NDRC's capacity is in the EU-China joint initiative for developing Near Zero Emission Coal (NZEC).⁶⁷ NZEC is one of the key areas in which both sides indicate their interest in deepening the collaboration, which has also been stated in their "Rolling Working Plan" (MFA 2006). NZEC promotes the exploration and testing of the Carbon Capture Storage (CCS) capability of coal fire plants in China. NZEC is a capital investment intensive technology and requires a large sum for an initial setting-up fund. Currently, "only Germany and the UK have developed and adapted this technology due to the financial support from both their national governments and private enterprises" (Feng & Yuan , 2011: 31). NZEC related projects have often been established under alliances of private-public partnerships to carry out research and adaptation in European countries.

Given its initial high costs, the NDRC has consistently spoken out against Chinese coal-fired plants, and SOEs, developing NZEC. The NDRC officials pointed out that the "NZEC will produce very limited environmental benefit and render both governments and SOEs very heavy financial burdens"⁶⁸. "NZEC had been frequently mentioned by the EU officials during the 2008 China-EU CC bilateral dialogue" (EC 2009a). As a result, the NDRC officials also suspected that "the Europeans strongly advocating this costly technology to China were largely driven by private firms' commercial interests in China."⁶⁹

NZEC is acknowledged by the EU as one of the most expensive CC technologies to develop and to adapt. Therefore, the EU has contributed a total amount of EUR 50million up to 2012

⁶⁷ Aka, Clean Coal Technology

⁶⁸ Interviews with an official at NDRC, Beijing August 2012

⁶⁹ Interviews with officials at China Mission to the EU, Brussels, November 2012

to fund collaborating with China to jointly develop the technology. According to archival survey in the EU-China CC policy documents, the EU's financial assistance to China in developing NZEC is the largest single amount the Union has spent so far in contributing to the China-EU CC partnership (EC, 2012a; Lee, 2012: 42). According to the Commission, most parts the funds were from large European utility companies, which would hope in later years to participate in NZEC projects in China. Only a small proportion of the fund is from the EU Climate Change and Trade Commissions.

Despite scepticism of NZEC by the NDRC, the MOST has dismissed the NDRC's suspicion and proposed to the NCCCC to develop a few pilot studies in the coal-mining rich Western provinces. The MOST admitted the high initial costs to set up the technology, but contended that "China would become one of the very few countries to have NZEC, which would have a longer term benefit for China's ever-growing energy consumption. Developing NZEC would also help China to win international scientific prestige and possible follow-up projects globally."⁷⁰

The reasons why the MOST was enthusiastically campaigning for NZEC collaboration with the EU are twofold. Firstly, the MOST has utilised NZEC collaboration with Brussels as an opportunity to challenge the NDRC's authority over China's CC policy implementation. NZEC is a scientific innovation and international collaborative project. Projects related to NZEC should belong to the competence of the MOST, which cannot be eroded by the NDRC. The MOST also has the responsibility to directly report to the NCCCC without much interference from the NDRC.

⁷⁰ Interviews with an environmental expert at Chinese Academy of Science, who previously worked for MOST, Beijing December 2012.

Secondly, launching NZEC related projects can boost the MOST's financial power enormously. Given a lavish budget from Brussels the MOST, as the Chinese institutional partner, can manage to utilise the budget for NZEC projects as well as general administration within the Ministry. The fund for developing NZEC would not only be drawn from the Union, the Chinese government itself would also contribute accordingly.

More importantly, the development of NZEC technologies has been endorsed in China's National Climate Change Programme in 2008 and 2009 (NDRC, 2007, Ibid: 2009f). This endorsement has reflected the increasing political influence of the MOST in China's CC policy making and implementation processes. It has also shown how the MOST managed to exercise its limited competence to extend its impact on final policy outcomes. Moreover, the MOST's role as an institutional partner for China's international collaborations has also helped it to become an important, if not formidable, actor in China's FP making. The MOST's impact on China-EU relations has also been illustrated during the China-EU solar panel disputes, which will be discussed in the next section.

Section 4.3: The importance of the Chinese central governmental institutions in shaping China-EU collaboration on renewable energy

This section will shift the focus to the roles of the Chinese central governmental institutions in determining China-EU renewable energy (RE) collaboration. As discussed in the previous section, the Chinese government launched a series of policy measures to mitigate the detrimental effects of climate change. Similarly, promoting RE has also become one of key long term development goals for China. In the view of the Chinese government, the EU is considered as both "a leading player of international climate change regime as well as a global champion for renewable energy" (Falkner, 2012: 457). According to the Rolling Working Plan of the China-EU Climate Change partnership, collaboration on RE is a key area of focus from both sides, and therefore Beijing and Brussels had shown great enthusiasms in the early years of collaborations between 2007 and 2010.

However, due to China's unprecedented progress in developing RE technologies, China has now shifted its position from a junior partner, to a formidable competitor in the RE sector. As a result, a key area of collaboration has become an area of contention and dispute in the light of the recent Sino-EU solar panel dispute. Indeed, it is crucial to acknowledge that the solar dispute has become a major obstacle to Sino-EU relations, together with the Market Economy Status and Arms Embargo issues. It is even more important to be aware that their RE collaboration and disputes are not insulated from the continuous bureaucratic rifts amongst institutions from both China and the EU. Such institutional conflicts have worsened their diplomatic relations.

Most academic literature and media reports paid much attention to the disputes itself without

seeking to explore the causes of these disputes.⁷¹ This section will exclusively focus on institutional conflicts from the Chinese side. The ever growing numbers of players involved in China RE policy making have certainly aggravated the disputes and undermined the quality of collaboration.

Beyond this introduction, this section will divide into two parts. The first part will offer a snapshot of China's RE development and point out how China's RE development has been a good foundation for Sino-EU collaboration. The second part will feature two case studies to disentangle the complexities between the decision maker, or the Party, and the bureaucratic institutions, as well as conflicts amongst institutions. It seeks to analyse the key reasons why the China-EU RE collaboration has been stagnated. To do so, this section will use case studies about China-EU collaboration on developing coal liquefaction technologies, and China-EU solar panel disputes to illuminate the analysis.

This thesis is drawing on the following two case studies because firstly, both case studies will reflect the participation of non-traditional foreign policy actors in shaping the overall Sino-European relations. Secondly, both case studies will exhibit the extent to which non-conventional foreign policy actors solicit their own expertise to challenge the existing authority of the traditional foreign policy actors. Finally, both case studies will reflect changes in focus of Chinese foreign policy, and the extent to which these changes have corresponded to the institutional shifts in the balance of power in the Chinese foreign policy making process.

At the beginning of the Twentieth-First Century, the Chinese government had taken a decisive step to fundamentally restructure its energy production and consumption over the

⁷¹ Refer to articles written by Jing Men (2014), Financial Times (2013), People's Daily and Reuter's Reports (2012)

next ten years. The newly published Twelfth-Five Years Plan in 2012 indicated Beijing's strong political will to continue its expansion of China's renewable sector. According to this Plan, "the new installed renewable capacity will reach 160GW, including 61GW of hydropower, 70GW of wind power, 20GW of solar power and 7.5 GW of biomass. The electricity generation from renewable sources will account for more than 20% of total electricity generation by 2015" (State Council 2012). The proportion of renewable consumption will also significantly increase. By 2015, "the annual renewable energy consumption will reach 478million tons of Standard Coal Equivalents (TCE), representing more than 9.5% of the overall energy mix. Such a large scale renewable campaign has been driven by a combination of domestic motives and foreign policy considerations" (NDRC 2007; Ibid).

Under a carefully orchestrated renewable technology innovation campaign, the Chinese renewable sector has "caught-up" rapidly since 2005. Most Chinese renewable manufacturers have not only played a catch-up role, but more importantly have learnt to design their own wind turbines and nuclear reactors. Chinese renewable manufacturers have then become strong competitors to their international partners, who in the past used to offer outdated technologies for technology transfers. The Chinese manufacturers have enabled themselves to produce technologically advanced and internationally priced competitive renewable equipments for export. For example, "in Brazil, 90% of their wind turbines were imported from China by 2010" (Berger et al, 2012:5).

Such technologically advanced exports have partly shifted China's export model from low cost, low value-added products, to high value added exports. This transformation has fitted well into the Chinese leadership's plan to restructure the existing economic growth model and enabled China to move up the value chain. As a result, the RE sector has been continuously

"highlighted as one of seven strategic industries, earmarked to produce technology innovation" (Reuter 2010). The Chinese leadership wishes to use the RE boom to achieve an industrial shift from "Made in China" to "Invented in China".

In addition, the geographic feasibility of renewable energy does not always meet the demand side. Inland provinces such as Xinjiang, Tibet, Inner-Mongolia and Gansu are abundant in renewable resources, such as solar and wind energy. Developing renewable projects could create economic incentives for local governments, in order to sustain economic growth and secure local employments. However, as some studies suggested, "coastal provinces which need more electricity have to bear the high transmission cost for renewable generated electricity" (EC2 Report, 2012:26, Berger et. all, 2013: 5). This in turn has led grid companies from coastal provinces to purchase electricity generated by coal. Until transmission technologies are optimised, it is still very difficult to suggest how the inland provinces could benefit from the renewable energy boom.

The CCP has taken bold steps to promoting developments in the RE sector. Numerous policy measures and regulations have been introduced in order to achieve the goals set by the Renewable Energy Law and other stipulated policies. However, the developing renewable sector involves both economic policy-making and scientific policy measures amongst others. Given RE policy-making is a relatively new territory for the Chinese government, some of the policy measures has been rather inconsistent with an overlapping of responsibilities and functions amongst various institutions. As referred to at the beginning of this thesis, the phenomenon of bureaucratic politics, described by Graham Allison and Morton Halperin has not limited its application to a particular political system. "Whilst the rules of game might play out very differently in a democratically elected government, the fundamental

characteristics of bureaucratic competition remain the same regardless of the type of government" (Allison, 1968; Halperin 1974).

Analysing China's RE policy making process and exploring the role of Chinese institutions in the Sino-EU collaboration can also apply to the Bureaucratic Politics Model. Developing the renewable sector in China requires the Party to have substantial scientific expertise as well as market knowledge. However, none of the current members of the Politburo Standing Committee possesses a good understanding of alternative energy, even if most of them are from physics or other science background. They have always made decisions based on the knowledge of scientists and the relevant bureaucrats. As a result, when it comes to delivering a particular set of RE policy measures; this mixed nature of the RE sector has provided fertile grounds for bureaucratic battles.

The best illustration for a bureaucratic battle is the roles the NDRC played in making and implementing China's overall RE energy policy. As stated in the previous section, the NDRC is the most powerful governmental institution in China's climate change and energy policy-making processes. It characterises various departments holding overlapping competencies. For example, both the Climate Change Bureau and National Energy Bureau are in charge of carbon reduction policy in China (NEA, 2012). The NDRC's authority in those two policy areas has not only been challenged by other equally important ministries, but simultaneously, its internal departmental conflicts have constrained its capacity to act as the most important actor within the policy making process.

The NDRC itself is a highly fragmented organisation that includes a wide range of different departments holding overlapping competencies as well as a number of internal units with a large degree of internal independence. In the field of RE policy making, the NDRC has particularly suffered from this fragmentation. This is largely due to China's fragmented energy policy governance. As many scholars in this field of research pointed out, "The Party has never succeeded in establishing a Ministry of Energy to coordinate China's energy production and consumption. There have been constant conflicts arising between the central governmental institutions and the national oil companies, both of which have had the same political ranking within the Party" (Cornad, 2010, Downs, 2006, Garrison, 2009). The NDRC has therefore never managed to integrate the energy related departments or control the three major oil giants, i.e. CNPC, CNOOC and Sinopec.

Instead, the State Council established the National Energy Bureau (NEB/NEA)⁷² during the 2003 reshuffle, which is "a vice-ministerial body with over 100 personnel and acts almost entirely independent from the NDRC's competency" (NEA 2012; Caijing Magazine, 2008b). The State Council has also never explicitly defined the function of NEA within the NDRC. In principle, tackling climate change and developing RE should go hand in hand under the overarching authority of the NDRC. However, according to recent policy engagements on several different issues, "the semi-independent NEA has not always corresponded to the policy agenda issued by the NDRC" (Caijing, 2008b). It has always resented the NDRC's attempts to undermine its authority of regulating China's energy production.

For example, the "NEA has always been at odds with the NDRC when they come to deciding China's diesel price"(Caijing, 2008a). As a result, the NEA has always overridden the NDRC's authority as chief-policy maker and implementer body within China's energy policy making process. On several occasions, the NEA ensured its policy proposals went beyond

⁷² Re-named at National Energy Administration in 2011

the NDRC'S supervision to be finally adopted by the State Council. Its clashes with the NDRC have not only created intense bureaucratic conflicts, but also projected a negative impact on China-EU renewable collaboration.

1. China-EU collaboration on Coal Liquefaction Project

The best example to illustrate how the NEA managed to override, and shape China's renewable policy is the China-EU joint development of "coal to oil" (aka. Coal liquefaction) technology. This example has also revealed that bureaucratic conflicts could trigger the slowing of progress in China-EU RE collaboration.

Given China's abundant resources of coal, "Beijing initially decided to utilise its large number of coal mines in its Western provinces to extract coal and turn this into crude oil (Caijing, 2008c)". This particular technology was invented in the UK and required both sophisticated machinery and precise operation to reach optimum results. Under the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) of the China-EU partnership on climate change and renewable energy, providing technical assistances on "clean coal and coal to oil was one of the key areas that the EU very much wanted to promote in China" (EC 2005). The NDRC had issued a specific set of policy guidance to invite European companies to establish partnerships with Chinese utility SOEs (NDRC, 2006b). Both Beijing and Brussels believed that collaboration on developing coal liquefaction technology could be a flagship programme to induce further cooperation in the field of RE technology.

Based on my previous consulting experience, I discovered that the NDRC chose the China Shenhua Group, one of China largest coal mining SOEs, to carry out a pilot study on this technology with British Petroleum (BP). Both the Chinese and British had invested extensive

190

amounts of financial capital and personnel on this flagship project located in the province of Inner Mongolia in mid-2008. BP had provided almost all the technical assistances it could offer within the project. And its Chinese partner, Shenhua, enjoyed the political advantage of being chosen as the front-runner for this particular project. The project went smoothly, without any technical and safety hazard, and was about to be introduced to other utility companies in China. The State Council even began to prepare to issue special policy guidance on "Carrying Coal Liquefaction in Northwest Provinces" projects under the advice, and in consultation with, the NDRC⁷³.

However, as suggested by a few interviewees at Shenhua Group, "the NEA resented that the NDRC has taken overall responsibility and acquired the financial resources of coal liquefaction projects"⁷⁴. As a result, some of senior members at the NEA who previously worked in the coal mining industry spoke out that the coal liquefaction technology was neither environmentally friendly nor economically viable. The core resource for supporting coal liquefaction technology is water. Paradoxically, most coal-mining rich provinces in China had suffered droughts over a very long period of time. Those provinces would not be able to supply the large quantities of water to sustain the process. "The whole coal liquefaction process required 3-5 tons of coal inputs to produce one ton of oil, which is not exactly environmentally friendly"⁷⁵. After intensive discussions among the various relevant governmental departments, the State Council finally adopted the NEA's policy proposal by "calling for a major overhaul of new coal liquefaction projects and suspending the existing projects at the Shen Hua Group in early August 2008" (Caijing, 2008c; Xinhua August, 2012b).

⁷³ Corporate Consulting Interviews with BP and Shenhua Group, April 2009

⁷⁴ Ibid

⁷⁵ Interviews with a member of BP coal liquefaction project team, London 2010

As a result, both the Shen Hua Group and BP suffered a major capital loss through the ceasing of the coal liquefaction project. BP had even attempted to pursue a legal action against its Chinese partner. However, losing the Chinese energy market would bring severe if not detrimental damage to BP's global business plan. Since then, BP has decided not to invest in the Chinese coal mining or renewable sector, and now has turned its focus exclusively onto the oil and refinery industries instead.

This example illustrates how internal bureaucratic battles could alter the final policy outcomes, and therefore created a strong sense of inconsistency in the Chinese RE policy-making process. BP's short-lived collaboration has offered a strong signal to other potential European partners, either governmental or corporate ones. Most European companies have suggested that "cooperating with China was a puzzle mapping adventure, rather than a smooth business operation"⁷⁶. This was largely due to the Europeans being confused by who is the final decision maker, and to what extent the Chinese governmental institutions can reverse the decisions or policies that have already been endorsed by the Party or the State Council. Europeans were puzzled as to whether they had collaborated with the Chinese governmental institutions, or with the Chinese SOEs. Such policy inconsistency was caused by bureaucratic rift, which in turn has undermined the potential of China's collaboration with the Union.

2. China-EU Solar Panel Dispute and Negotiations

As argued above, the overhaul of the coal liquefaction projects was a result of an intradepartmental conflict within the NDRC, which has brought very damaging impacts to the prospect of China-EU RE collaboration. The recent Sino-EU solar panel trade dispute has

⁷⁶ Interview with Joerg Wuttke, China Representative of BASF

even further worsened the potential for collaboration. This particular dispute has become one of stumbling blocks to overall Sino-EU relations. It is crucial to acknowledge and understand that the lingering Euro sovereign debt crisis is an important cause of the dispute. The media and think tanks from both China and the EU have offered detailed analyses on the economic and business sides of the damages. The vertical division between the EU Trade Commission and the Member states has also been widely exposed and discussed, whereas little focus has been given to the political side of the dispute inside the Chinese policy making apparatus.

This part of the section will discuss two aspects of the dispute which have been under-studied by current policy analyses. Firstly, based on several interviews I conducted in the past few months, this thesis will argue that the solar panel dispute marks an important shift of China's, or the Party's, strategy towards the EU. The Chinese government has played "a divide and rule" game between the Commission and the MS when it comes to engaging with the Union. Beijing had engaged with both Brussels and the MS simultaneously until late 2008. However, since 2009 the Chinese government has exhibited a tendency of marginalising the EU institutions, and instead sought to explore greater commercial and political ties with individual MS.

Secondly, various Chinese institutions seized the opportunity in dealing with the trade dispute either to restore their bureaucratic status or to extend their influence within the Chinese foreign policy making process. An intra-departmental conflict, as described previously, has been transformed into an inter-departmental competition.

As referred to in Chapters Two and Three, the Chinese government, or the Party leadership, has always been puzzled by the EU as a *Sui Generis* entity. As a Chinese scholar asserts,

"Beijing has never felt at ease when it only engages with the EU institutions (Chen& Armstrong, 2010: 135)". Therefore, the Chinese authorities have learnt to interact with the EU and the MS simultaneously from an early stage of their so-called "strategic partnership". During the past eleven years, the Chinese government has witnessed Brussels' inability to resolve both domestic challenges, and its failure to extend its influence globally. As a result, China has begun to give a much strong emphasis on cultivating greater bilateral relations with the major MS.

The EU institutions, especially the Commission, realised that it has been sidelined and ignored by the Chinese authorities. This was illustrated by Beijing's refusals to attend most of the Commission's meeting requests⁷⁷. Meanwhile, the current Trade Commissioner Karel de Gucht has been very vociferous in his criticisms of China on an array of trade and investments related issues. In order to draw the Chinese authority's attentions back to the EU Commission, "De Gucht himself launched a flurry of trade investigations against China when he became the Trade Commissioner in 2009, such as an anti-dumping investigation against Chinese telecom manufacturers, and an anti-subsidies case against Chinese high-end paper manufacturers" (Southern Weekly, 2013). Most of his predecessors had only opened cases under the requests of targeted European manufacturers.

Unlike his predecessors, De Gucht initiated these case investigations from the Commission and then collected evidence from individual manufacturers. "The Chinese government was furious by De Gucht's series of investigations and therefore declined to communicate with the Commission even further."⁷⁸ Instead, the Chinese government under both Wen Jiabao and Li Keqiang have stressed the importance of sound bilateral relations with the MS and paid

⁷⁷ Interviews with members at DG Trade in Brussels

⁷⁸ Interviews with two members of DG Trade, Brussels November 2012

frequent visits to various European capitals.

According to the observation by some Chinese scholars, "both of them have strengthened and revived commercial ties with "old" MS such as Germany and France, and harnessed good relations with Southern and Eastern "New" MS" (Liu,2013; Xu,2014). The Chinese authorities has also understood that the final decisions on whether to imposes retributive duties to potential recipients has to be decided by Qualified Majority Voting within the EU. Surely, the more MS that have sound economic ties with China, the less likely the MS would jeopardise their companies' commercial interests in the Middle Kingdom by voting against the Chinese solar panel exports.

In the case of the Sino-EU solar panel dispute, De Gucht failed to convince most MS which have had a well-developed and matured solar energy sector to impose retributive duties on China. In particular, Germany as the front runner of world solar energy has opposed the investigation as well as imposing retributive duties. As one world trade expert suggested, "The German government and the EU Commission appear to be doing their best to undercut the EU's ability to wield international influence" (De Jonquieres, 2012). De Gucht's initiatives and the German opposition have become an almost open invitation to let China practice "divide and rule" tactics further. These investigations have hardly restored the Commission's status as the EU's "chief executive"⁷⁹ for the EU's China strategy. Failure for such an investigation has further encouraged China to marginalise the Commission, if not the EU institutions as a whole.

Unlike previous Sino-EU trade dispute, the top Chinese leaders have put a strong emphasis

⁷⁹ Opinions from members at DG Trade, Brussels November 2012

on tackling the solar panel dispute. According my interviews in Beijing, the Small Leading Group for External Affairs held two meetings between July 2012 and December 2012 to specifically discuss the dispute and possible solutions. As indicated in interviews, "it has been extremely rare for the Small Leading Group to meet so frequently in such a short period of time"⁸⁰. As both my interviewees and a media report pointed out, "the solar panel case had temporarily become one of the highest priorities in Chinese foreign policy, alongside territorial disputes, because the imposition of a retributive duty would jeopardise the survival of the Chinese solar energy sector, which in turn would cut over 400,000 job opportunities" (China's First Financial Daily, 2013b)⁸¹. The second aspect of the dispute I will explore is the roles that the Chinese central governmental institutions have played before, as well as their participation during the dispute negotiations.

In theory, trade disputes and China-EU relations should be dealt by the MOFCOM and the MFA respectively. However, given the emphasis from the Party leadership and the nature of the dispute, a number of institutions have inevitably become involved in disputes negotiations and policy formation. Some of the agencies or ministries are formally located within Beijing's FP making process whereas others are not. Two Chinese institutions have used the solar panel case to restore, or to strengthen, their capacities as two of the most important actors in China-EU relations, namely, the MOFCOM and the MOST.

The MOFCOM has long been the "chief negotiator" of China's trade related issues and chief executive of China's foreign economic policy. However, in the past five years, the importance of the MOFCOM has significantly declined. The causes of its decline in power are twofold. First and foremost, the Chinese economy has gradually transformed from an exogenous-

⁸⁰ Interviews from those who participated in meetings within the Small Leading Group, Jan 2013

⁸¹ Interviews with members at MOFCOM Dec 2012, Potential Unemployment numbers are confirmed by media report

oriented one to an endogenous growth model. In the first five years of the 21ST Century, China became a member of the WTO and used its export trade volume expansion to boost the economy. The MOFCOM had played a critical part in preventing China from "being constrained by the relevant international trade treaties and greatly promoted China's role as a World Factory" (The Lawyer, 2013).

However, after the 2008 Global Financial Crisis, the external demand has shrunk dramatically. China could no longer rely on producing low value-added manufacture goods alone to sustain its economic growth. Its export volume had fallen drastically after 2008. The Party Leadership had initiated and endorsed a RMB 4 trillion stimulus package, which mainly "concentrated on domestic infrastructure investments to maintain the national employment rate" (Bloomberg, 2008). Correspondingly, the MOFCOM was lowered to a rather embarrassing status as it had little involvement in the domestic economic stimulus. Despite increasing numbers of trade disputes with the US and the EU, none of these disputes were seen as important as rejuvenating the domestic economy in the wake of the global financial crisis. The MOFCOM had been temporarily marginalised.

The second reason was more on a personal level. The former Minister of the MOFCOM, Bo Xilai, now a disgraced Chinese politician, was a strong character who had tried his best to elevate and extend the MOFCOM's influence within the overall Chinese FP making process during his tenure. For example, he insisted on keeping international economic assistance within the MOFCOM rather than establishing a new Ministry of International Development⁸². After his departure, his successors have had much less ambition and personal capacity to reinforce the MOFCOM's political status. As a result, MOFCOM has only become one of the

⁸² Interviews with staff members at MFA, Beijing August 2012

many ministries amongst others, rather than a leading actor in Chinese FP.

The Sino-EU solar panel case offered the MOFCOM a unique opportunity to re-gain its bureaucratic importance. This is because "the Party Leadership wants to resolve the disputes as soon as possible" (China First Financial Daily, 2013a). The MOFCOM has therefore naturally harnessed its own expertises in international trade negotiation and previous experiences in dealing with the EU Commission. To do so, the MOFCOM has established a special team consisting of international trade experts, European Law specialists and veteran trade negotiators to formulate possible solutions to the disputes⁸³ (MOFCOM, 2012a). Meanwhile, the MOFCOM has kept in close communication with Chinese major solar panel companies, such as Suntech, Yingli and Trina, to investigate the prices Chinese manufacturers offer in the EU market and their sales volume in each MS⁸⁴. The MOFCOM has used this opportunity to establish itself as the central player of settling disputes both inside the Chinese FP making process and externally to the rest of the world.

The author conducted archival survey to all published documents from MOFCOM related to the Sino-European solar panel dispute. After reviewing all related documents, the author discovered that the MOFCOM has kept the State Council and the Premier himself updated on a weekly basis regarding the progress of negotiations internally. In order to prevent competition from other ministries, the MOFCOM sought support from the State Council and asked the Premier "whether the MOFCOM could be the chief negotiator of the dispute settlements amongst various equal politically ranked ministries"⁸⁵. "The State Council endorsed the MOFCOM's request and offered the authority of coordination to the MOFCOM" (MOFCOM, 2012b). As a result, the MOFCOM managed to by-pass the NDRC,

⁸³ Interviews with members of MOFCOM, Beijing December 2012

⁸⁴ Confirmed by interviews with the Head of Government Relations at Trina Solar, Zurich, 2013

⁸⁵ Interviews with Ministerial Conusellor Commercial Consulate of Chinese Embassy to the UK, January 2013

which is the chief player in making China's RE policy. The MOFCOM has indeed utilised its expertise and experience to expand its autonomy and influence, when it deals with the EU Commission on solar panel disputes.

Externally, the MOFCOM has also successfully managed to marginalise the MFA during the Solar panel disputes settlements. The MOFCOM has updated the progress of the negotiations through its press office and spokesperson on a weekly basis between September 2012 and January 2013 whereas the other ministries involved have not done so (MOFCOM, 2012b; Ibid, September 2012). The MOFCOM's press conference arrangements signal its success in side-lining the MFA during the disputes settlements. The MFA's press conference should have been the most important one in regards to China's external affairs, regardless of the nature of the subject. However, despite the political importance of the solar panel case, the MFA press conference has rarely mentioned solar panel disputes and its related negotiation progress.

According to my archival survey, the MOFCOM and the MFA had held 8 and 20 press conferences respectively between September and December 2012. The MOFCOM mentioned and updated news of the solar panel disputes 25 times out of its 8 press conferences. Whereas the MFA had merely mentioned the dispute 5 times by making the same statements as the MOFCOM had made⁸⁶. By calculating those numbers, one can conclude that the MOFCOM has managed very well to maintain its status as the chief negotiator and coordinator of the dispute from China's side.

Consequently, the MOFCOM has successfully managed to restore its bureaucratic status as

⁸⁶ Survey made under the assistance of a member at MFA Press Office

the chief player in Chinese foreign economic policy formation and implementation. Surely, the MOFCOM, like any other players in the game of bureaucratic conflicts, viewed the institutional competition with the MFA as a zero-sum game. It had tried its best to marginalise the MFA's involvement in solar panel disputes even through the MFA is also well equipped, with a substantial number of international treaty experts and veteran negotiators.

More impressively, the MOFCOM had prevailed in turf wars with the NDRC during the disputes. As stated extensively in earlier discussions on the role of the NDRC, it is the single most important and powerful institutions in the realm of China's environment and energy policies. Most documents related to the Sino-EU collaborations were signed by the head of the NDRC (NDRC 2011; Ibid, 2012; Ibid, 2014). However, the NDRC has played only a minor role in settling the Sino-EU solar panel dispute. According to a professional consulting service firm's data, NDRC's failure is mainly due to the fact that "the NDRC has become a victim of its own success through implementation of the 4 trillion stimulus package" (Roland Berger, 2009).

The MOFCOM accused the NDRC of being "the creator of the solar panel disputes"⁸⁷. The NDRC let the scale of Chinese solar panel production expand enormously without considering the actual consumer demand from both in China and abroad. The NDRC's solar energy sector expansion plan was simply designed to implement part of the stimulus package. According to the "Regulation of Implementation Stimulus Package", both central and provincial government should give priority to the examining and endorsing of the development of renewable energy, including: solar, wind, nuclear, hydro and biomass. Following this regulation, the NDRC and provincial governments had encouraged the

⁸⁷ Interviews with a staff member at MOFCOM

expansion of renewable energy equipment production without any financial requirement attached to manufacturers.

Between 2008 and 2011, the Chinese solar panel batteries ad PV production had jumped from "0.8GW" to "3.2GW" (IEA 2012). Provinces such as Jiangsu, Zhejiang and Jiangxi, are the sites of 90% of the production capacity of China's solar panel. These provinces have embraced the NDRC's plan without any hesitation.

However, one of key bottlenecks for China's renewable energy usage is the capability and transmissions of electricity to the national electricity grid. As observed by industrial experts, "85% of renewable energy produced cannot be transmitted with the current electricity network" (Li&Shi, 2010: 3). Consequentially, the renewable equipment producers including solar panels manufacturers had to slash their product prices to export them to European countries and other global destinations. Given such a low price, the EU Commission has good reason to accuse the Chinese government of offering subsidies. Brussels also believed that Chinese manufacturers dumped their products to distort the market. The NDRC's implementation to the stimulus package without considering the actual demand and supply offered the MOFCOM enough reasons to persuade the State Council to insulate the NDRC from the solar panel disputes negotiations. The NDRC has only become a scapegoat to an ill-constructed and implemented stimulus package. But, the MOFCOM has therefore prevailed.

The other institution that has emerged as a more powerful bureaucratic actor during the solar panel dispute is the MOST. Unlike the MOFCOM as a conventional FP actor in China, the MOST is not formally established within the Chinese FP making process. In recent years, the growing significance of climate diplomacy has enabled the MOST to extend its political

201

influence into the realm of Beijing's FP making. The high profile solar panel dispute has further encouraged the MOST's participation in resolving the disputes. As a science-oriented organisation, the MOST carries the ultimate authority in interpreting climate change and the feasibility of renewable energy.

In the context of Sino-EU solar panel dispute negotiations, the MOST plays a role in interpreting the patent of Chinese solar panel products and explaining the relevance of the newly ratified Renewable Energy Law to the EU Commission. More importantly, since 2009 the MOST has drafted and implemented the "National Innovation Product Catalogue". The Catalogue has deliberately set up a very high market entry barrier to prevent more European companies competing with Chinese manufacturers. The renewable sector is one of key sectors which the MOST has tried to include more Chinese products in the Catalogue.

As argued previously, part of the reasons why the EU Commission has vociferously criticised China's solar panel industry is because of the governmental subsidies offered and because Chinese solar panel products are included in the Catalogue. The MOST is the key institution to select which products can be included in the Catalogue and which enterprises deserve to be subsidised. Therefore, the MOST has emerged as a crucial institution that Brussels has to communicate with during the solar panel dispute negotiations. The MOFCOM is able to negotiate with the Europeans in terms of prices and export volumes of solar panels. However, the MOFCOM could not give evidence on which technologies those Chinese manufacturers adopted to produce those panels. It cannot answer the key question for the EU Commission on whether the products made from such a particular technology have violated intellectual property rights of other European companies. "The MOST had collected such evidence and reported directly to Premier Wen Jiabao on the variety of panel manufacturing technologies used in October 2012"⁸⁸.

As a result, the Small Leading Group for External Affairs requested that the Vice Minister of the MOST become the deputy chief of the solar panel disputes negotiation team. The Small Leading Group also asked the MOST to collect evidence from the top fifteen solar panel manufacturers in China, including: which technology the enterprise has used to produce the panels and where is the origin of this technology. The MOST's investigation has found that companies such as Suntech, Yingli and LDK, the top three Chinese solar manufacturers that also ranked in top five globally, have all used their own technologies and own the patents of their self-invented technologies. As an industrial expert asserted, "The MOST has concluded that the EU Commission's accusation is invalid. It also justified the products from those large Chinese solar panel manufacturers and suggested that they are of a good quality, durable and far more economically viable than the European products"⁸⁹.

The MOST' involvement in solar panel negotiation has caused much discomfort in the MOFCOM, and possibly even in the NDRC. Both institutions have long claimed their institutional status in China's trade and economic policy-making. However, the nature of the renewable sector and the highly politicised solar case has intricately involved both science and politics. The Party would prefer to use science as a strong evidence to back its "self-innovation" campaign domestically and "a responsible participant" of the international climate change regime. The MOST has placed itself in a unique and advantageous position to interpret science through the standpoint of the Party Leadership. During the solar panel dispute negotiations, the MOST was asked to become the chief institution to collaborate with the EU on "Sustainable Urbanisation", an area in which the newly formed Standing

⁸⁸ Interviews with a renewable expert at Chinese Academy of Science Dec 2012

⁸⁹ Ibid

Committee of the Politburo of the CCP has been very keen to develop. Such a request illustrates the increasing importance of the MOST as a FP actor in shaping overall China-EU relations.

Meanwhile, the EU Commission has invited the MOST to establish a joint "China-EU Clean Energy Centre" to co-develop cutting edged renewable technologies (EC2, Introduction). Such an invitation has indicated that Brussels has now realised that the MOST has become an indispensable institutional player in determining the overall China-EU RE Collaboration. The EU Commission needs to pay greater attention to the MOST. This in turn will strengthen the MOST's status as a newly emerging FP actor in China for many years to come.

Conclusion for Chapter Four:

In conclusion, this chapter has assessed the roles of the Chinese central governmental institutions in determining the Sino-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy. It has extensively investigated two important pairs of relationships identified in Chapter One, namely, the relations between the Party and the central governmental institutions and the relations amongst central governmental agencies.

It concludes that the governmental institutions have not formed submissive relations with the Party as one might traditionally perceive. Their relations deserve to have more nuanced analysis. Rather, the Party has created the institutions as well as assigned certain amount of authority and financial power in order to pursue the Party's priorities. Institutions have managed to utilise their expertise to push for their desired policy outcomes. In doing so, some of those institutions have reinforced their bureaucratic status and gained greater financial resources while others have failed the game. To this extent, this chapter have analysed the pervasive bureaucratic conflicts and bargaining process amongst central agencies that participate in China's climate and energy policy making.

This chapter concludes that the pandemic institutional competitions in Beijing are one of major reasons why the Sino-EU collaborations have not progressed at a very fast pace. These intense bureaucratic rifts have caused policy inconsistencies from the Chinese side when they have collaborated with the EU. China's Copenhagen fiasco and its overhaul to the coal liquefaction technology project are two good examples.

This chapter also concludes that major changes in domestic politics will certainly trigger a greater foreign policy shift in China's external affairs. The Sino-EU solar panel dispute can

be viewed as one of the natural consequences of China's national renewable energy developments campaign.

Surely, given the importance of the corporate sector in promoting renewable energy, a study of China-EU collaborations on CC and RE cannot be complete without examining the role of Chinese companies in determining the collaborations. Equally, increasing involvement in shaping Beijing's foreign policy has made the Chinese companies become a formidable and indispensable group of actors. The next chapter will therefore discuss the roles of Chinese companies in shaping the Sino-EU collaborations.

Chapter Five: the Powerful, and the Vulnerable Few: the Role of Chinese companies in shaping China-EU collaborations in Renewable Energy

Introduction:

Following the similar pattern as the previous chapter, this chapter aims to provide an in-depth analysis of China-EU collaborations in Renewable Energy. The analytical unit of this thesis has now shifted from a narrow focus on central governmental institutions to a broader focus which includes Chinese companies. The Chinese companies in this chapter include those which are directly owned by the state and the Party, namely the State Owned Enterprises (SOEs) and those which are directly influenced while not necessarily being owned by the state. Given the Chinese SOEs' unique characteristics, it is of vital importance to analyse the relations between the Party as the ultimate decision-maker, and SOEs as policy executors. Therefore, this chapter attempts to disentangle the relations between Chinese SOEs and the Party, as well as their ties with central governmental institutions, when they come to deciding collaborative projects with the EU.

Also, this chapter will make a nuanced analysis on the roles of other non-state owned renewable energy companies in determining China-EU collaborations. The current literature on Sino-European relations have rarely observed and analysed how these companies determine China-EU relations.

This chapter will be divided into three sections: the first, short, section will be devoted to analysis of the relations amongst the Party, the SOEs and the relevant central governmental institutions. The second section will analyse the role of powerful SOEs in determining China's renewable policy making, and the SOEs' collaborations with the EU. The third, and final, section will offer detailed examinations on the relations between non-state owned companies and provincial governments in determining Sino-European collaboration and ever more intense competition.

There is no shortage of studies on how powerful SOEs have successfully managed to influence foreign policy making in China, and it is certainly the case that powerful SOEs have evolved into formidable vested interest groups that determine China's domestic politics and external affairs. Most of the current research on the roles of Chinese SOEs in shaping Chinese foreign policy (FP) focus on the traditional fossil fuels sector, while so far little has been written on how Chinese SOEs are responding to Beijing's overall climate change policy and renewable energy (RE) campaign. Therefore, this chapter intends to fill the literature gap by examining the role of powerful SOEs in shaping overall China-EU collaborations on RE. Developing RE and curbing climate change are policy initiatives where high politics and scientific innovation have inevitably intertwined. Chinese SOEs are located in an unusual position, both delivering Beijing's policy as well as seeking innovations to maximise their profits.

As demonstrated in an earlier chapter, the relationships between the Party and the SOEs are not simply top-down relations. Although still subject to Party control, SOEs have become more autonomous and influential under China's economic reforms of the past thirty or so years. Most bargains between SOEs and the central government institutions are lengthy and complex processes where some SOEs have become winners, whilst others have made grave financial and political losses. This chapter aims to identify who the winners are, and why the others are the losers in the bargaining process. This chapter will draw case studies from China's recent boom in the civil nuclear sector, CNOOC's recent development of bio-fuels with BP, and its failure to collaborate with the Danish company VESTAS in offshore wind

208

energy, to test the hypothesis of the thesis, i.e. That the outcome of China-EU collaborations on CC and RE is determined by their multilateral nature and the involvement of a diverse range of actors.

A significant difference between RE and fossil fuels sector is that RE lies outside of the traditional SOE sphere of Chinese economic enterprise. And also the nature of the RE sector does not involve geo-political and military security concerns. Instead, it is driven primarily by technology innovations, there is sufficient room for some innovative, and non-state owned, Chinese companies to participate in collaborative projects with the EU. However, their collaborations have mostly turned into competition, and bitter spats, with their European counterparts. It is therefore of vital importance to also examine the role of non-state owned enterprises in shaping Sino-European collaborative partnerships. In particular, the complex relationships between those enterprises and their respective provincial governments deserve more nuanced analysis when one considers the backdrop of the Sino-European solar panel dispute.

According to this thesis's research findings; it was the provincial governments' political decisions to curb solar panel prices which triggered the solar trade dispute between Beijing and Brussels. These companies became the policy executors of the provincial authority even if they knew such practice would have a detrimental impact upon their business activities. However, they have far less political capital to negotiate with the provincial authorities when the non-state owned companies are intending to participate in a national campaign of renewable energy, and are therefore likely to follow the provincial governments' political decisions more closely. They are also treated as important sources of provincial GDP growth and taxation by their respective local authorities.

209

Provincial governments have always been keen to develop amicable, yet authoritative, relationships with these enterprises which operate within their provincial borders. On the one hand, provincial governments need to have the financial contributions from private enterprises to fulfil the plans of the central government. On the other hand, provincial governments have the ultimate authority to endorse private enterprise's domestic operations and overseas expansion. Private companies have therefore adopted semi-submissive relations in respect to their provincial governments.

In light of the above, this chapter will address the evolving relationships between the Party and the SOEs, the intricate set of ties between the seemingly powerful SOEs and the central bureaucracies, and the complex bargaining between the provincial government and those non state owned enterprises in the RE sector, to test the hypothesis of this thesis.

Section 5.1 Chinese Companies and their relations with the Party and the governmental institutions

This section aims to explain the relationship between Chinese companies and the Party state. As established in the introduction, Chinese companies, in particular the SOEs have an unusual structural characteristic with a combination of corporate organisation and governmental ministry. Their relations with the Party and the central governmental apparatus have not now always a submissive one. In recent years, large Chinese SOEs, in particular energy and utility companies, have had subsidiaries listed on foreign stock exchanges, and with an eye on the pursuit of profits, their corporate interests do not always coincide with those of the Party-state. As a result, bargaining between the central governmental institutions and the SOEs has been a frequent occurrence.

As a scholar nicely summarised, there are two types of bargain taking place between the central governmental institutions and the SOEs, "namely a bargain over redistribution and a bargain over planning" (Naughton, 1992: 268). This process of bargaining does not only operate between SOE's and the central government institutions, but also extends to other types of Chinese companies' relations with the state. These other companies, although not directly owned by the state, still play a crucial role by participating in collaborations with the EU, and these companies engage in similar bargaining activities with their provincial governments. The current literature on China-EU relations and overall Chinese foreign policy has so far ignored those non-stated owned companies' participation in China's external affairs, which this thesis intends to rectify. By using a case study, this thesis will demonstrate the extent to which non-state owed companies' business activities and their relationships with the provincial authority generated a significant impact upon China's relations with the EU.

This section will explore the bargaining processes from two perspectives. Firstly, this section will examine the redistribution bargain where interactions take place between a superior and their subordinate. There are two pairs of the superior vis-v-vis the subordinate relationships which will be examined: 1) between the Party, the central institutions and the SOEs; 2) between the provincial authority and non-state owned Chinese companies. Secondly and equally important, this section will draw on what Nina Halpern called the "competitive persuasion" model to explain the relations between these companies and the ultimate decision maker (Halpern, 1992: 126). This section will lay an analytical framework for the following two sections.

Literature on the Chinese SOEs' relations with the central governmental ministries and the Party has recently gained great popularity in the field of China studies. A number of scholars have argued that conflicts between the SOEs and their superiors, such as the Party and the central ministries are pervasive, and trigger severe policy dis-coordination both in domestic politics and external affairs (Downs, 2008; Garrison, 2009; Jakobson&Knox, 2010, Lampton, 2001).

It is important to distinguish the SOEs' relations with the Party to those with the central ministries. The former is a rather submissive relationship as the Party has power and authority over the central ministries in terms of personnel appointments and resource distribution. As some scholars observed, the latter relationship is less submissive, for while the central ministries have the power to regulate the SOEs' activities, "their regulatory power has often been undermined due to the SOEs' enormous capacity to alter policy outcomes" (Brodsgaard 2012: 625). This is because the SOEs often by-pass the governmental institutions to communicate directly with the Standing Committee members of the CCP

212

politburo (SCP). Some SOEs and central governmental institutions share the same bureaucratic ranking within the CCP. Also, SOEs do not always follow the decisions that are made by relevant ministries. Rather, the SOEs treat the government institutions as their intermediary to express their preferences or as useful allies when seeking to influence the Party.

In recent years, the CCP has established a regulatory framework designed to set the parameters for the economic activities of SOEs. Even more importantly in terms of authority and power relations, as indicated by a few scholars the CCP controls the appointment of CEOs and the Party secretaries of the most important SOEs, such as CNPC, CNOOC, China Telecom and CGNPC (Ibid; Li, 2009: 20; Rosen and Hanemann, 2009: 6). The CCP appoints the heads of those SOEs through two regulatory bodies. One of these is handled solely by the Central Department of Organisation (CDO); the other involves recommendations by the State Owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (SASAC). The CCP does pay great attention to the CDO's assessments of certain personnel, but also uses the latter as a complement to the former.

Unlike in the conventional understanding, "the SASAC does not hold a decisive position in the appointment of the heads of those most important SOEs" according to SASAC's own functional description (SASAC website). Instead, CEOs from those SOEs that I mentioned above (and not only those, there are 53 in total) are "directly appointed and assessed by the Party" (Ibid; Brodsgaard 2012: 625). These CEOs have ministerial or vice-ministerial status and, in terms of rank, are equal to State Council ministers and most provincial governors⁹⁰. Within the Chinese political system, political ranking is the ultimate benchmark for selecting

⁹⁰ For detailed discussions, please refer to Brodsgaard (2012) and Li(2009)

personnel. It is a system where one's personal capacity to fulfil the task becomes far less important than one's political rank. To this extent, one can argue that "certain commercial decisions made by the SOEs are mostly dependent on whether the CEOs of the enterprises either want to improve their assessment results from the CDO or wish to enhance their bureaucratic positions"⁹¹. This view is also echoed by some other scholars who suggest that successful commercial decisions and outcomes will offer CEOs a chance to improve their political ranking within the Party as well as the bureaucratic status of the whole company in the government apparatus"(Rosen and Haneman, 2009: 21).

As China has experienced more than thirty years of economic reform, a process of decentralisation has taken place across every aspect of its national economy. This process of decentralisation has become a double-edged sword. On the one hand, both the governmental departments and enterprises have accumulated the necessary skills and improved professional experience by operating in a market economy. On the other hand, the governmental institutions and the companies are locked into various lengthy bargaining scenarios which were outlined in the introductory chapter of the thesis. On some occasions, the interests of the governmental institutions are in direct contrast to those of the companies. Bargaining amongst relevant stakeholders takes place during the policy formulation and execution process, and here this thesis draws on Barry Naughton's categorisation, namely the "redistribution bargain" and the "plan bargain" (Naughton, 1992:268).

In the process of the redistribution bargain, the bureaucratic agencies still retain the power to distribute financial and physical resources to fulfil their own policy priorities. As Barry Naughton noted, "the central government uses the redistribution exercises to reach down the

⁹¹ Interview with Liu Jianfei, Professor of International Relations at the CCP Central Party School, Beijing August 2012

administrative hierarchy and shape the bargaining between the enterprises and in ways that reflect central-government priorities" (Ibid: 269). Certainly, both the SOEs and other enterprises can benefit by appealing to patrons at the central and provincial agencies. In doing so, they will have to make investments or launch new projects in the industries that the government institutions decide to support. The enterprises will then be rewarded by the distribution of extra financial and physical resources.

However, as some scholars observed in China's fossil fuel industries, "conflicts have often arisen when the government's priorities are contrary to those of the enterprises" (Downs, 2008: Kong, 2009: 805). Even worse, as will be discussed in the next section, sometimes following the policy priorities of the government will undermine the economic well-being of the enterprises or threaten the very survival of the companies.

As these distributed resources from the government are not sufficient to keep up business as usual, the enterprises will argue back and forth with the relevant institutions to change policy priorities, or ignore the policy priorities as some powerful SOEs have been able to do in the past. For example, the central governmental agencies can identify key projects through the issuing of special policy documents or Five Year Plans. As indicated by the NDRC, "the Renewable Energy (RE) sector has become a priority industry to develop since 2007 during the period of the Eleventh Five Year Plan towards the Twelfth Five Years Plan" (NDRC, 2007:15,16; Ibid, 2013a). Companies that participate in developing the RE sector would be "rewarded" with a special tax rebate and lower barriers to access bank loans (NEA, 2007:30).

While for the fossil fuels sector, those SOEs where oil is their core business units are not planning on developing the RE sector as they are unfamiliar with the industry, which means

they are therefore not equipped with the right expertise and personnel to launch any related projects. They have, therefore, utilised various bargaining methods, such as reducing pre-tax revenue, increasing unnecessary production costs and expanding unplanned overhead costs, to bargain with the central government.

In other words, the central institutions have the authority to distribute financial and physical resources, but the enterprises will always ask for more to be given as a trade-off for their following of the government's priorities. As will be discussed in the next section, neither the governmental resource distribution nor the enterprises' bargaining have always been smooth transactions. Their bargaining outcomes have gravely affected international collaborations and have damaged the reputation of both the Chinese government and the companies.

Another bargaining process that will be analysed is the so-called "Plan Bargain" (Naughton, 1992: 268). It often derives from the policy formation process where the enterprises aim for their preferred policies or business models to be endorsed and adopted by the governmental institutions. This type of bargain involves the enterprises seeking to persuade the key personnel in both governmental departments and at the highest level of the Party. Due to the restrictive length of this thesis, I will only focus on the plan bargain in the field of renewable energy (RE). Given the nature of RE, it is driven by technological innovation. As one scholar observed, "science and politics are heavily intertwined in China, this has given the enterprises with the knowledge of cutting-edge technologies sufficient room to persuade their superior or the key decision maker" (Wubbeke, 2013:713,715). This thesis will draw on what Nina Halpern has described as the "Competitive Persuasion" model to disentangle these bargaining relationships between the companies and governmental institutions (Halpern, 1992:125).

Beside the conventional bargaining scenario, the bargaining process between the SOEs and the central government can be summarised as a "competitive persuasion" model. Within this model, the SOEs attempt to formulate persuasive arguments about appropriate policy or investment projects in competition with other companies. The SOEs will benefit from the policy outcomes once the policy persuasions are endorsed by the governmental institutions. A competitive persuasion model neither focuses on the SOEs subordination to the Central government nor does it explain the exchanges and mutual veto power between the government and the SOEs as discussed previously. Instead, it pays a great deal of attention to expertise and area-specific policy making process. It is therefore intended to "apply only to the normal bureaucratic decision-making process where information and expertise are regarded as important" (Halpern, 1992: 126).

This particular model, suits very well, attempts to analyse Chinese SOEs influence over RE policy making as well as the content of international collaborations amongst the relevant SOEs. The relevance of this model can be explained from two perspectives: firstly, developing RE has little involvement with China's military security. It is a particular energy sector where national security concerns do not always conflict with the SOEs' commercial interests. Unlike the fossil fuel sector, bargaining between the SOEs and the state do not always involve irreconcilable disputes within the RE sector. Secondly, the developing RE sector is a relatively new policy arena. Based on my own experience and interviews, governmental departments often lack sufficient expertise and administrative capacity to drive the policy formation process.⁹²

⁹² Consulting projects interviews with officials at NDRC in August 2009

As a result, their lack of capacity has offered SOEs room to manoeuvre policy objectives and outcomes. As Halpern pointed out, "lacking the information and expertise necessary to evaluate the recommendation of lower-level units, political leaders will often permit those units to become de-facto decision makers in their own policy spheres"(Ibid). This chapter will use Chinese collaboration with France on civil nuclear power stations to illustrate how "competitive persuasion" has largely applied to the policy formation process in developing the RE sector.

The word "competitive" in this formula suggests a sense of competition by the relevant stakeholders to persuade the core decision makers. Therefore, there are winners and losers in every process of policy persuasion and execution. From my extensive research and interviews, the Chinese national oil companies have mostly become "losers" in the process of policy formation. Based on my interviews, "this particular group of SOEs feel their core commercial interests are under threat by the government's renewable energy campaign"⁹³. They therefore refused to carry out government decisions due to all kinds of pretexts, and have argued back and forth over so-called "special circumstances" (Ibid). They mostly seek to impede the smooth implementation of the government's decisions. While most literature on China's energy SOEs have suggested the enormous power that they are able to deploy, very little of the literature has observed occasions when these SOEs have lost their battles. This chapter will draw on the failures of the CNOOCs in establishing a RE Unit and their failure to negotiate with the MOF renewable subsidies, to illustrate "losers" in the bargaining game.

The two types of bargaining activities described above also arise between non-state owned companies and provincial governments. This is because the central government does not have

⁹³ Interviews with several employees at CNOOC, August 2012, Beijing

direct control of those companies' activities as Beijing does over the SOEs. Some of their business activities, in particular "overseas investments, are approved and regulated by their relevant provincial government" (MOFCOM, 2013). Their economic contribution has become a reliable source of a provincial governments' tax income. Despite the process of decentralisation that has evolved, the provincial governments still remain as the subordinate partner that fulfils the policy targets, or investment plans, made by a superior, in this case, the central government.

In other words, the provincial authority treats non-state owned companies as the ideal candidates to fulfil the economic plan that is decided for them by the central government. In the field of China studies, there has been no shortage of academic literature to disentangle the relations between Beijing and the provincial governments. However, this section will not focus on the central-provincial governmental bargaining process. Instead, it will pay greater attention to the redistribution bargaining that takes place between companies and provincial governments; and to a lesser extent the plan bargaining between both parties, which should rectify the literature gap.

As discussed above, the central government decides on and implements priority investment programmes according to the Five Years Plan. As demonstrated in the various regulations from the NDRC and in observations by some scholars, "the central government will ask the provincial government to execute the Plan through some of the non-state owned companies' participation in investment; and the provincial government retains some autonomy to redistribute resources to the participants in investment programmes" (Kostka& Hobbs, 2012: 766; NDRC, 2007, 2009f). For these companies, on the one hand, they are glad to be included in large-scale governmental programmes. Yet on the other hand, they are also afraid

that these programmes will impede their own profit-driven smaller scale investments, even if they can obtain various special treatments and are being distributed extra financial resources from their provincial government. As a result, the companies and the provincial governments are locked into a classical "redistribution bargain" when each party has something the other needs (Naughton, 1992: 262). It is in the interests of both parties to get together, and it is in the interests of each to shape the resulting bargain to their own advantage.

Plan bargain has also been exhibited between the enterprise and the provincial governments. This is mainly because the provincial governments find themselves squeezed between Beijing and those non-state owned companies. On the one hand, they must bargain hard with the centre. On the other hand, they seek to retain and maximise their disposable resources. They must advocate their own development strategies, but they find themselves highly constrained by a lack of knowledge and experience. As a result, provincial governments often "assume a paternalistic and somewhat benevolent attitude towards all their enterprises and encouraging those companies developing individual strategies" (Naughton, 1992: 261).

The last section of this chapter intends to use the case study of the relations between the Jiangsu Provincial Government and Suntech, one of the world largest solar panel manufacturers, to illustrate how such bargains derive from both policy formulation and policy implementation stages. This theis will analyse to what extent price manipulation, by the local authority, of Suntech's solar panels, caused the severe disputes between China and the EU over the solar panel industry.

In summary, Chinese companies, regardless of their ownership, have become significant actors in the determination of China's RE policy and the Sino-European collaborations on RE. They are locked into both plan bargaining and redistribution bargaining in the

220

formulation process of China's RE policy, and carry out collaborations with the EU. Such bargaining processes are very likely to remain a persistent feature whilst the collaborations continue. The next two sections will therefore use the case studies to explain how such lengthy and complex bargain processes have determined the outcomes of collaborations.

Section 5.2 The Role of Chinese State Owned Enterprises participating in China-EU collaborations on Renewable Energy

This section will further narrow down the focus of the analysis on the role of Chinese SOEs in determining the Sino-European collaborations on Renewable Energy (RE). As argued in the previous section, Chinese SOEs have the power and resources to be important players in the domestic policy making process as well as collaborating with foreign partners in fossil fuels and RE. According to this thesis's research findings, the SOEs shape the decisions mainly in two ways. Firstly, SOEs influence the final decision making at the policy formation stage. The central governmental institutions and the Party exert certain fiscal controls and discipline to regulate the SOEs' economic activities, while the SOEs utilise their specific expertise to shape decisions to eventually benefit themselves. On some occasions, the central energy-related bureaucracies lack the sufficient personnel and financial resources to fulfil their policy targets. As a result, the central governmental institutions have inevitably relied upon the SOEs own renewable developments to fulfil the government's policy targets.

To illustrate this process this thesis will apply Nina Halpern's "competitive persuasion" model to the case study of the China Guangdong Nuclear Power Company's⁹⁴ collaboration with European companies, revealing how this particular RE decision making process has largely been determined by the motivations and activities of the SOEs (Halpern, 1992: 126).

Secondly, it can also be shown that the SOEs are sometimes not successful in influencing the decision outcomes at the policy execution stage. This can be seen from the fact that not all of the SOEs have achieved economic triumphs and have been able to elevate their political status through the developments of RE with other European partners. Unlike the conventional

⁹⁴ Known outside of China as "China General Nuclear Power Group" from September 2013

policy making game, SOEs that hold monopolies in fossil fuels have suffered from grave losses in the decision making process over RE policy. They have not managed to propose the right policy options that would have benefited them. Two examples from the China National Offshore Oil Company's (CNOOC) cooperation with BP to develop bio-fuel technologies and its collaborative project with VESTAS on offshore wind energy will thus be used to illustrate how the SOEs' constraints and failures which can cause both economic losses and diplomatic disputes.

4) The China Guangdong Nuclear Power Company and its collaboration with the EU in developing civil nuclear technology

The civil nuclear sector is a relatively new energy sector when compared to the conventional fossil fuels industries. "China only began its civil nuclear program developments in 1982" (China Energy Daily, 2012). Like the adoption by China of other advanced technologies, the Chinese government established collaborative partnerships with Western companies. In the case of civil nuclear technology, China's primary partner is France, which developed its technology in the 1960s and the 1970s due to the Gulf oil crisis. As a result, "China and France collaborated to construct the first civil nuclear power station at Daya Bay in Guangdong Province in 1987" (Ibid). Given the enormous amount of financial resources required and substantial safety risks, the development of civil nuclear technology was proposed and regulated by the China National Defence Commission of Science and Industry (COSTIND)⁹⁵ (SASTIND website). The COSTIND used to "set production targets and to prescribe technological standards within China's civil nuclear sector" (WNA, China).

⁹⁵ Now renamed at State Administration of Science, Technology and Industry for National Defence (SASTIND)

However, the COSTIND is a semi-military governmental agency (SASTIND website). Despite its expertise on nuclear usage for military purposes, it failed to prescribe appropriate civil nuclear energy production guidance and to plan further power station construction. Therefore, "the central government divided the existing nuclear operation units into three different SOEs, each with specific functions" (China First Financial Daily, 2012). They are: the CGNPC, the China National Nuclear Company (CNNC) and the China National Nuclear Technology Company (CNNTC). "The CGNPC is the front runner for adopting European technology and international collaborations" (Financial Times Chinese Website 2012) . The CNNC specialises in nuclear energy production and the CNTG focuses on the home grown innovation of nuclear technologies. "The NDRC and National Energy Bureau also replaced the COSTIND in its regulation of the CGNPC and CNTG, whereas the CNNC remains under the direct control of the COSTIND" (Nakano,2013; WNA, China).

As referred to in the previous section, the relations between the Chinese nuclear SOEs and the central government can be described as a "competitive persuasion" model (Halpern, 1992). The relations between the nuclear SOEs and their superiors can be interpreted within this model. According to my research interviews, their relations with the central government agencies are no longer seen as the relations between the subordinate and a superior. Unlike the in relationships between the SOEs in the fossil fuels sector and the central institutions, the nuclear SOEs are not locked into the conventional bargaining process when the subordinate and their superior's interests are often in conflict.

As examined by a number of scholars, "the SOEs in the fossil fuels sector and the governmental agencies are in constant battles during the process of formulating and executing policies" (Downs, 2008; Breslin 2012; Garrison 2009). Rather, the nuclear SOEs play a role

224

as information providers to the decision makers who often lack the sufficient capacity to formulate policies. Through their provision of knowledge and expertise to the decision makers, the nuclear SOEs have often successfully persuaded the decision makers to formulate policies according to their own preferences. Competitive persuasion can be exhibited into two ways. Firstly, the nuclear SOEs act as information providers at the policy proposal consultation and formation stages. They do this by selecting and filtering the provision of information to the decision makers in order to produce the SOE's desired policy outcomes. Secondly, the nuclear SOEs draw on their previous experience during the policy execution process to convince the decision makers to keep to the "business as usual" scenario and oppose any changes that may undermine their commercial and political interests.

For example, the CGNPC acted as an information provider and a policy practitioner when competing with other nuclear SOEs for collaborations with the French utility companies, mainly EDF and AREVA. Its successful collaborations have not only advanced its economic interests and political standing, but also acted as a show case for Sino-European collaborations on renewable energy.

As AREVA helped CGNPC to establish the first nuclear reactor in 1985, it has become the only partner to CGNPC when delivering large civil nuclear projects in China. Between late 2006 and early 2007, the State Council and the NDRC orchestrated a range of debates and consultations to prove the necessity of developing China's home grown nuclear technology with the assistances of foreign partners. As a result, the State Council published the Eleventh Five Years Plan on China's civil nuclear industry (COSTIND, 2007). Before then, all three major nuclear SOEs relied heavily upon importing core reactor technologies from major Western industrial conglomerates such as, AREVA, Westinghouse and General Electric. The

Chinese government was very concerned that continued imports of reactors from the West would pose a persistent threat to industrial safety and national security. Therefore, developing China's own nuclear reactors and generators was the most appropriate solution to avoid this long term security dilemma.⁹⁶ Such views have also been echoed by media report, suggested "without the intervention from the very top of the Party leadership, none of civil nuclear SOEs knew which types of technologies from which countries would post daunting security threat to China" (21ST Century Economic News, 2012a, 2012b)

According to interviews, the central governmental agencies involved, such as the NDRC, the NEA and the MOST, "have neither the sufficient experience nor the appropriate personnel to make impartial judgements regarding the quality and design of the Chinese home grown reactors",⁹⁷. Their insufficient expertise offered all three major nuclear companies enormous opportunities to shape the consultation process as well as to alter the final policy outcomes. The central institutions relied on information and evaluation provided by the SOEs to assess the feasibility of developing a home grown nuclear reactor as well as the capacity for new civil nuclear power stations. Within the civil nuclear sector, the central institutions are most likely to accept the suggestions made by the SOEs even if they are aware of the SOEs' incentives to promote their own corporate interests.

The most common form of information flow from the SOEs to the central institutions is through the submission of the individual SOEs' five years plans. The central institutions draw on the Five Years Plan from each SOE and draft the overall Five Years Plan of the Chinese civil nuclear industry. According to information gathered during my previous consulting experience, the consultation process for the development of home grown reactors in 2009, all

⁹⁶ Interviews with a research fellow at Chinese Academy of Science in Beijing August 2012

⁹⁷ Interviews at NDRC and Chinese Academy of Science in August 2012

three nuclear SOEs submitted their individual tailor-made Twelfth Five Years Plan drafts. The nuclear SOEs and other large SOEs used to hire top-tier Western professional services firms, such as auditing and consulting firms to gather relevant information and to write up the Plan drafts. The CGNPC hired a leading European consulting firm to evaluate global market potential while writing up the Plan. This allowed the CGNPC to have a better judgement when choosing a foreign partner to develop its proposed home grown nuclear reactors. This was because the CGNPC knew only too well that its competitors would also choose other leading foreign civil nuclear companies to propose too.

On most occasions, the NDRC and the NEA would choose the proposed technologies from one particular SOE, and the other SOEs have to adopt the proposed technologies unconditionally, which are endorsed by the NDRC and the NEA. For any of the nuclear SOEs, it is therefore of vital importance to have its proposed technologies adopted. This in turn will promote the chosen SOEs' political and commercial interests⁹⁸.

The CGNPC drew on its unique advantage as the engineering company for, and the owner of, the first nuclear power station in China. Within the civil nuclear sector, the owner and the engineering companies are mostly separated from each other, which may result in operational inefficiency when it comes to building new power stations. The CGNPC proposed to continue to extend its collaborative partnerships with EDF, AREVA in France and IDERBODRA, a Spanish renewable giant, "through the designing of China's own home grown reactors during the period of the Twentieth Five Years Plan with an investment of RMB 72.5 billion" (Xinhua News, 2013b).

227

⁹⁸ Interviews with Professor Pan Jiahua at Chinese Academy of Social Science, August 2012

Based on previous working experience and in-depth interviews with its management team members⁹⁹, I argue that CGNPC has three major incentives for why they want to win the policy consultation process and to have its technologies endorsed. Firstly, "the CGNPC was very keen to expand its business footprint from being Asia-focused, such as in Pakistan and Kazakhstan to the rest of the world" (Caijing, 2009; China First Financial Daily, 2014a). It is of heightened importance to have its technologies endorsed and recommended by the Chinese government. In the near future such an endorsement will help the CGNPC to win the government-led nuclear construction projects in countries which have amicable relations with China.

Secondly, the CGNPC has an exceedingly strong incentive to improve its political and bureaucratic standing within the Party-State apparatus. The CGNPC is a SOE with "a viceministerial position" in the bureaucratic setting (CGNPC at Glance). Its ultimate rival, the CNNC, is "a full ministerial equivalent SOE", and can obtain a wider range of resources when compared to the CGNPC (CNNC Introduction). The CGNPC is therefore determined to climb up the bureaucratic ladder.

However, this proved to be almost impossible to achieve in the short term due to the CNNC's governance structure and institutional setting. "The CNNC is under the direct control of the People's Liberation Army (PLA) whereas CGNPC is regulated under the civilian government apparatus."¹⁰⁰ According to interviews with a staff member at the CNNC, "The PLA is often equipped with greater autonomy and bargaining power when it comes to deciding its affiliated SOEs' bureaucratic standing within the CCP"¹⁰¹.

⁹⁹ CGNPC Consulting interviews in September 2009, Shenzhen Guangdong Province; research interviews in August 2012, Beijing

¹⁰⁰ Refer to COSTIND's direct control to CNNC

¹⁰¹ Interviews with a staff member at CGNPC September 2012

Thirdly, the CGNPC has encountered ever greater financial difficulties in recent years because of its projects overstretch, both at home and abroad¹⁰². Also, "the CGNPC had unwisely invested in different types of financial derivatives before the 2008 Global Financial crisis" (FECN, 2011). It urgently needs to have the NDRC's endorsement, which would help it to gain access to state-owned bank loans and other forms of financial assistance from the Ministry of Finance. Parts of the financial aids the CGNPC desired were called the "National Special Funds for Innovation on Science and Technology"¹⁰³. They are distributed to SOEs exclusively to develop cutting-edge technology. Such technologies would apply to large scale production and usage in future. They also last for at least ten years which would be ideal for the CGNPC to help develop lengthy nuclear power station construction projects.

However, obtaining the funds is extremely difficult because the evaluation and approval processes are complex and involve five different ministries over several months, including the Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Science, Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, State Council and the NDRC/NEA. The only way to access fast-track approval was to have the CGNPC's home grown reactor technologies endorsed by both the NDRC and the NEA. Therefore, having its technologies approved posed a great significance to the financial well-being and the survival of the CGNPC.

Beyond the consultation process between the governmental institutions and the nuclear SOEs, "the CGNPC has also been in frequent exchanges with two members of the Standing Committee of the CCP to explain its motivation and unique advantages in developing China's

¹⁰² Consulting Interviews with CGNPC Corporate Strategy Department, August 2009 103 In Chinese as "国家重大专项科技基金"

home grown reactors¹⁰⁴. The CGNPC knew that the support and approval from the SCP members are decisive, and irreversible by any other governmental officials. On most occasions, the governmental agencies would neither object to the decisions made by SCP members, nor oppose to the consensus amongst the SCP membership. According to Linda Jakobson's observation, "SOEs often meet SCP members on informal occasions and provide information to persuade SCP members to make decisions according to SOEs' own interests" (Jakobson&Knox, 2010:4). The CGNPC's persuasion to the SCP members fit well into Jakobson's description.

Unlike the hosting of regular meetings with the NDRC and the NEA, the CGNPC persuaded two members of the SCP, Wen Jiabao and Zhou Yongkang in various informal meetings. The CGNPC chose to target those two particular SCP members due to "their previous working experience in the energy sector and the personal relations between the CGNPC management team and the SCP members" (China Vitae; Xinhua, 2002)¹⁰⁵. According to previous consulting interviews, senior members of the CGNPC presented its proposal for developing home grown nuclear reactors from three perspectives that were directly related to national security and self-innovation.¹⁰⁶

First and foremost, the CGNPC, after many years of experiments in China, is equipped with a sufficient pool of talents to develop reactor technologies. Its chosen partner, AREVA, would only play a minor role in the technological literature research and in providing case studies from its existing power plants in France and Finland. The CGNPC would orchestrate and control the overall reactor design and the engineering tests. Therefore, the core technologies of the home grown reactor would not be exposed and examined by its French partner.

¹⁰⁴ Interviews with CGNPC senior members at the management team, August 2009 105 Ibid

¹⁰⁶ Ibid

The CGNPC also pointed out that both the CNNC and the CNNTC had long established collaborative relations with Westinghouse and GE and that "China should neither allow one particular type reactor, such as the AP1000 from Westinghouse, to dominate the Chinese civil nuclear sector. Nor should it only collaborate with companies from the US. The specific concern is that American companies might steal nuclear secrets from China on behalf of Washington D.C."¹⁰⁷ As a number of Chinese media outlets have observed, "the CGNPC openly complained about CNNC's close ties with the American Nuclear technology giant as well as CNNC's tactics to dominate the Chinese civil nuclear sector, which would do more harm to the developments of the sector" (China's First Finacial Daily 2012, 2014a; Caijing 2009).

Secondly, the CGNPC argued that it chose a place for engineering tests that is located in a relatively remote area of Anhui Province¹⁰⁸. Such a remote location would allow engineers and nuclear experts to experiment and to construct a miniature reactor. This in turn would not threaten the economic well-being of the host province. This would also pave the way to construct a fully-fledge power plant in Anhui Province¹⁰⁹ where the CGNPC could easily transmit generated electricity to both inland and coastal provinces.

Thirdly, the CGNPC could develop the reactor technologies by spending only two-thirds of the National Special Funds for Science and Technology Innovation. Its proposed expenses were much lower than the other two civil nuclear SOEs' estimated costs. As a result, the CGNPC managed to persuade those two SCP members who were in direct and frequent contacts with the Company management team. Those two members expressed their opinion

¹⁰⁷ Roland Berger consultants meeting notes management team meeting at CGNPC, September 2009 108 Ibid

¹⁰⁹ Anhui Province locates at the centre of PRC geographically.

to the NDRC and the NEA that they were in favour of the CGNPC developing China's first home grown civil nuclear reactor.

CGNPC also utilised its foreign partner AREVA's political network in France to make an even stronger case to the SCP members. As argued in Chapter Three, the French government often facilitates "Grande Contracts" for its industrial conglomerates when engaging with China. AREVA, alongside other French multinational corporations, has been a long term benefactor of such engagements. In 2009, China-France relations were at a very low point after President Sarkozy's official meeting with the Dalai Lama, the Tibetan Spiritual Leader in exile. Despite the nearly frozen bilateral political relations, Paris wished to maintain amicable economic ties with Beijing. As suggested by a European expert on China, President Sarkozy and the French Prime Minister took different views on the relations with China; with the Prime Minister taking a mercantile approach when engaging with China¹¹⁰. AREVA's collaboration with CGNPC could therefore serve as a good opportunity of rapprochement.

According to interviews with AREVA and EDF, they have sought to have support from Prime Minister Francois Fillon when they began to bid for collaboration with the CGNPC in 2009 (EDF 2009). They believed that "collaborations with the CGNPC would not only benefit the French civil nuclear industry over the longer term, but would also pave the way to repair Sino-French bilateral political relations"¹¹¹. As a result, Prime Minister Fillon asked the former Chinese Ambassador to France, Wu Jianmin, for assistance in communicating with senior officials in Beijing, such as Wang Yang and Ma Kai at the CCP Central Committee.¹¹² Despite, Beijing's vociferous criticism of Nicolas Sarkozy, it continued to maintain a great

¹¹⁰ Interviews with Francois Godement, London, January 2012

¹¹¹ Interviews with members at AREVA corporate strategy department, Paris 2011 and 2012

¹¹² Interviews with Wu Jianmin, Beijing 2012, Wang Yang was the Party Secretary of Guangdong Province where CGNPC HQ is located, Ma Kai was the director of NDRC. Both of them were members at the 17th CCP Central committee

deal of interest in sound commercial ties with the second largest economy within the EU. This in turn might help China to gain ever greater leverage when it comes to engaging with the Union economically as a whole. Therefore, AREVA and France's participation in the CGNPC's reactor design project were welcomed by both the CCP and the Chinese government.

With persuasion from the CGNPC, and the campaign from Paris, the SCP members and the NDRC finally decided to choose the CGNPC as the one and only developer of China's home grown nuclear reactors, and "the Chairman of CGNPC was promoted to be the deputy director of the NEA, a position equivalent to that of a full ministerial level official in the Chinese government apparatus"¹¹³ (Caixin, 2010a). The CGNPC crafted its persuasion strategies, and then acted as an information provider for both the central governmental institutions and the SCP members. It also took into consideration China's external relations and Beijing's grand ambition to become a champion of innovation. To this extent, the CGNPC's interests had been in step with those of the CCP and the Chinese government. Its successful persuasion has established for itself a good image as the most innovative and international oriented renewable energy SOE in China. This positive image has been reflected in its investment in the UK civil nuclear industry, which will be discussed in the next chapter.

5) The China National Offshore Oil Company and its failures to develop a offshore wind farm with VESTAS, and collaboration with BP on biofuel

Unlike the successful example of the CGNPC, the CNOOC suffered from the central government latest RE campaign. This is largely because in the "CNOOC, like in any other

¹¹³ Due to Qian's seniority with the Party, he was elevated as full ministerial status even if the NEA is only a viceministerial body

fossil fuels SOE, the core business units are not located in renewable energy and they are relative new comers when it comes to developing the sector" (China Energy Journal 2013). The CNOOC's establishment and the closure of its renewable energy subsidiary have vividly exhibited how an SOE can become rather vulnerable when it comes to negotiating with the central agencies. The Chinese SOEs, in particular the national oil companies, are often portrayed as "powerful and decisive" in China's energy policy formation and execution (Downs, 2006:2). However, there are also occasions where the SOEs are unable to secure a better bargaining position, such as in the case of the CNOOC's misfortune with its renewable unit.

The CNOOC established its renewable subsidiary (CNOOC Renewable Company) "in early March 2007 following China's Eleventh Five Year Plan" (CNOOC website). The Plan proposed a major breakthrough in developing RE against the backdrop of turbocharged economic growth. Most energy SOEs were expected to follow the Plan and carry out major investments in the RE sector. For utility SOEs, developing RE would help them to invest in their existing RE projects. For example, "the major five utility SOEs have been ecstatic about this major shift in the Plan to focus on renewable energy" (China Electricity Council, 2011). While for oil companies, developing RE was new territory and would result in heavy financial burdens.

As established by media source, "the CNOOC was chosen by the NDRC to act as a frontrunner to develop cutting-edge offshore wind energy farms and to produce bio-fuels" (China Energy Journal 2013). The CNOOC itself was also interested in bio-fuels production as such production would provide extra fuels for its oil exploration vessels and oil rigs' consumption. This was largely due to its previous extensive experience with offshore oil exploration and

234

production. However, none of other two major oil SOEs, which is the CNPC and SINOPEC, followed the Plan or the NDRC's policy guidance. As discussed by a number of Chinese media outlets, as well as in my interviews with CNOOC employees, "both of the other two oil companies argued that they had always generated lower profits than the CNOOC. Apart from a lower operating profit, they also insisted that their overhead costs and production costs were much higher than the CNOOC. Therefore, they could not spare any of their existing financial resources to develop RE technologies"¹¹⁴ (Ibid, Economic Observer 2014, 21st Economic News, 2014).

Due to a lack of expertise, the CNOOC chose VESTAS, the Danish wind energy giant, and BP's Bio-fuel Unit as their collaborative partners with which to develop the required key technologies. Between 2008 and 2009, "the CNOOC Renewable Company assumed that the central bureaucracies, such as the NDRC, NEB, and the MOF would offer both financial and political support to their offshore wind and bio-fuel projects, and the promised subsidies and tax concessions of RMB25mn within that Financial Year would be granted in due course."¹¹⁵ In addition, as established by both media outlets and a NDRC official document, "the CNOOC believed that as they were helping those central bureaucracies to fulfil policy targets financial assistance and political backing should come naturally" (NDRC, 2009d; People's Daily, 2014). As a result, the CNOOC Renewable Company took bold steps and invested heavily at its own cost to set up various renewable projects in the subsidiary's first two years of operation.

However, the CNOOC was too optimistic in its assumptions that the redistributed financial resources and political support would automatically flow to its newly-established enterprise.

¹¹⁴ Interviews with a senior member at CNOOC Renewable Company, August 2012, Beijing

¹¹⁵ Interviews with a project manager at CNOOC Renewable Unit, August 2012, Beijing

In reality, neither the financial assistances nor the political backing was given by the central institutions. In the case of offshore wind energy, the CNOOC and VESTAS jointly invested in China's first-ever offshore wind farm near the coast of the East China Sea. Based on my extensive research interviews with VESTAS, "both the Company and VESTAS agreed to divide their investments in a ratio of 58:42 respectively"¹¹⁶.

VESTAS clearly recognised, and accepted, their extremely low profitability in this project. Given the political importance of this joint project, VESTAS became more than willing to spend more than it intended with a total amount of RMB 10.5mn, which was 1.5 times greater than VESTAS initially agreed with the CNOOC. According to my interviews with VESTAS, it argued that "its collaborations with the CNOOC Renewable Company were more oriented towards a market foot-setting strategy than profit-seeking project."¹¹⁷The political importance of the project became the primary reason why it wanted to collaborate with the CNOOC. Both companies had lobbied intensively to the NDRC, NEB and the MOF in order to gain their approvals for the joint projects. After many months of consultation and the approval processes, the CNOOC and VESTAS, after obtaining approval from the relevant ministries, were about to commence the project.

Yet, they were informed that the project could not begin without a license given by State Oceanic Administration (SOA). As introduced by itself, "the SOA was initially established as a scientific research institution for China's Antarctica explorations" (SOA 2013). In recent years, it has gradually gained enormous power under various policy frameworks across government, from Chinese foreign policy to domestic energy policy. "It is under the direct control of the State Council and parallel to other ministries in terms of bureaucratic rankings"

¹¹⁶ Interview with Government Relations adviser at VESTAS dealing with CNOOC, August 2012, Beijing 117 Ibid

(Ibid). Therefore, it will not follow the decisions or agreements of other ministries which may potentially harm its own interests.

In the case of the CNOOC-VESTAS joint project, SOA opposed their project proposal on the ground of "not being suitable for ecological balance near the coast of the East China Sea" (Xinhua News, 2011). Beyond this official reason given by SOA, the real cause for refusal was that "SOA and NDRC/NEA had been in dispute over who has the ultimate power to grant operational license for companies that wanted to carry out any industrial related activities near the coastline in China"¹¹⁸.

In addition, according to the several media reports, "the CNOOC had frequently ignored the SOA's rules and regulations while it carried out other deep-water explorations and extractions in the past few years, such as ignoring health and Safety standards during oil rigs operations and the high profile oil spill case caused by its joint venture partner, ConocoPhilips" (Bloomberg, 2011; Sohu News 2011). The SOA decided to refuse the CNOOC-VESTAS proposal in order to punish its previous breach of the regulations. Both CNOOC and VESTAS asked for the help and coordination from the NDRC and the NEA. Despite several attempts made by the NEA, the SOA refused to grant an operational license to both companies. One member of the SOA pointed out, "we share the equal bureaucratic rank with the NEA and are in charge of different functions, why should we fulfil the NEA's wishes"¹¹⁹.

According to the media report, "both the CNOOC and VESTAS ended up withdrawing from the entire project, regardless of the initial investments being made" (China Energy Journal, 2013). As a VESTAS interviewee suggested, "We will not collaborate with any oil company

¹¹⁸ Interviews with a senior management team member at CNOOC Renewable Company, September 2012

¹¹⁹ Interviews with a member of staff at SOA, August 2012, Beijing

in future for renewable projects, because they were unprofessional; and the approval process was so messy"¹²⁰. VESTAS intended to use this proposal project to bid for future offshore wind farms with other Chinese SOEs. However, this seems to be unlikely to happen in the near future in the light of the 2008 CNOOC fiasco.

Also other European wind energy players have learnt from this case the complexity of entering the Chinese market. This unsuccessful bid is a classic example of how bureaucratic politics shapes the outcomes of China's international collaborations on renewable technologies. It indicates the extent to which institutions like even the SOA, which does not have direct control over SOEs, can determine the nature and progress of SOEs business activities. Also, it exhibits the extent to which Sino-European collaborations are largely interfered with by the central institutions, even if the SOEs are often seen as powerful players in Chinese domestic politics and external affairs, and had strong willingness to collaborate with the Europeans.

The CNOOC has been repeatedly locked into a redistribution bargain with the central agencies, and it did not manage to win the bargain as the CNOOC expected. Rather, it became the loser of this bargain and decided to withdraw from the entire renewable developments campaign in China. As pointed out previously, the SOEs serve as effective vehicles for the central government to fulfil its policy targets. In the process of executing the policy, the SOEs are often asked to implement special programmes, to invest in mostly white elephant projects, or even to set up a separate subsidiary to fulfil policy targets. By doing so, the SOEs are allocated various kinds of additional financial resources, political support and tax concessions.

¹²⁰ Interviews with Government Relations adviser at VESTAS, August 2012, Beijing

Despite these resources, the SOEs mostly ask for still more benefits to be granted, and for them to be elevated to higher political ranks within the government apparatus. As a result, the SOEs and the related central bureaucracies are locked into a classic redistribution bargain. More often than not, the central agencies are beneficiaries of this re-distribution bargain process whereas the SOEs have merely wasted their own financial resources to fulfil the policy targets of the governmental departments.

6) The CNOOC Renewable Unit and its Collaboration with BP on joint production of Biofuels

As mentioned previously, the Chinese SOEs can obtain a special fund from the central government whilst they carry out major industrial projects to fulfil the ministries policy targets. In the case of the CNOOC's bio fuel production, its experiments in the field would fit well into the category of National Special Fund for Innovation on Science and Technology. "In 2010, the CNOOC had developed a bio-fuel technology which utilises food waste as its main component" (Reuter, 2010). Such technology required a large amount of monetary support to explore its feasibility. It therefore turned to apply for the Special Fund from NDRC/NEA. As argued previously, applying to the special fund was a lengthy and complex process, just like any other bureaucratic process in the Chinese government apparatus. The CNOOC lobbied various agencies intensively in order to obtain the funds.

Meanwhile, the CNOOC approached BP's Renewable Unit and indicated their wish to collaborate with BP in further bio-fuel technological innovation and with market entry to

Europe. As some media observed, "BP has been a long term partner with CNOOC in the traditional fossil fuels sector and was keen to set its foot at the Chinese renewable market" (Bloomberg, 2010; China Daily 2010b). As a result, a joint project on bio-fuel seemed to be a plausible option. BP also realised that the CNOOC Renewable Unit was in the process of bidding for the Special Fund to make up for its previous financial loss in the offshore wind farm project. Winning the Special Fund would also symbolise the political importance of the project and would in turn help BP to expand its renewable unit in China. According to my interviews with BP, "BP decided to help the CNOOC by lobbying various governmental departments from its own Chinese political network"¹²¹.

In December 2011, the NDRC/NEA finally approved the special funds and provided it in the form of fiscal subsidies rather than a lump sum or grant. This subsidy promised to cover 20% of production costs for the CNOOC's bio-fuel project, and by the 2011-2012 Financial Year, "the Company could expect a 30mn RMB subsidy from the central government, which would be issued by the Ministry of Finance" (China Energy Journal 2013). Both CNOOC and BP showed their initial enthusiasm about the subsidy.

However, as the grant was given in the form of fiscal subsidies, according to the final statement from NDRC/NEA, the grant had to be granted by the MOF in May 2012 (NDRC, 2011a). As demonstrated by interviews with CNOOC Renewable Company's CEO, "there was a blurring of responsibility between the NDRC and the MOF on who should initiate the payment. The conventional procedure was to have initial approval from the NDRC and the MOF would make a payment accordingly.

¹²¹ Interviews with Head of BP Renewable Unit in China, Beijing September 2012

According to interviews at the CNOOC, "its case with BP was slightly complicated as CNOOC was involved in projects with a foreign partner"¹²². As in other similar cases, the MOF was obliged to make its own investigation and audit on the financial side of the BP-CNOOC project and therefore postponed the payment to the CNOOC. The CNOOC had again inevitably entangled itself into this inter-departmental bargain over financial resources distribution as it did in the case of VESTAS offshore project. The NDRC/NEA decided to offer RMB 5mn to compensate for the delay of payment caused by the MOF. This was largely because the NDRC planned to use the CNOOC-BP biofuel project to fulfil its policy target of developing cutting-edge technology. Despite several efforts made by the relevant parties, "the MOF continued to refuse to grant the rest of the RMB25mn fiscal subsidies to the CNOOC-BP project. As a result, both the CNOOC and BP had to withdraw from the project until further financial assistance was provided"¹²³.

As can be observed in CNOOC's financial records, and through media reports, "throughout the past six years, the CNOOC's renewable unit has always been in debt, and differed itself from the rest of the business units within the company" (CNOOC; Economic Observers 2014). As an oil exploration and production company, the CNOOC is renowned for its high returns in investment, and high profitability since its inception. Its excellent performances are seen as an exception amongst the Chinese SOEs. However, its renewable operation was seen as the "black sheep" of the company and undermined its sound financial and industrial record.

Due to such heavy financial losses, "the CNOOC announced the closure of is renewable subsidiary from December 2013 and only retained the shale gas unit for future exploration"

123 Ibid

¹²² Interviews with CNOOC Renewable project manager on biofuels, September 2012

(China Energy Daily 2014a). The unfortunate fate of the CNOOC exhibited the vulnerability of SOEs when they come to negotiate with the central bureaucracies. Most interviewees echoed a view that "the Chinese government was keen to develop renewable energy but its policy outcomes, and following implementations have become inconsistent and arbitrary"¹²⁴. This in turn has undermined the prospects of collaborations from those SOEs' foreign partners.

Those European utility and renewable giants have been disenchanted by what both the Chinese government and the SOEs have offered to them. An area of future collaborations has almost turned into an area of contention and bitter spats. As indicated above, the CNOOC's unsuccessful collaboration with a British bio-fuel firm caused the closure of its renewable subsidiary, as well as an additional diplomatic row between China and the UK. The dispute has therefore cast a long shadow over renewable collaborations between China and the UK, as well as to a lesser extent between China and the EU. This case study illustrates the extent to which the Sino-European collaboration on RE has been largely determined and undermined by interactions between the relevant companies and institutions, even if there has been a grand vision of collaborations from Beijing and Brussels.

In conclusion, this section has examined the roles of Chinese SOEs and disentangled their bargaining relationships with the central institutions in the process of Sino-European collaboration on RE. Unlike in the conventional wisdom, the SOEs in these case studies were not as powerful as they seem to be in the traditional fossil fuels sector. The success of these collaborations has not only been determined by the political willingness of the two sides. Rather, it was shaped by the skills of the SOEs in persuading the ultimate decision makers,

¹²⁴ Several interviews with members at CNOOC and BP in Beijing, August 2012

and in eventually influencing the decisions outcomes. It was also largely determined by a complex bargaining process between the SOEs and the central bureaucracies.

As shown in the case studies, the results of the SOEs' projects were mixed, and not as successful as they initially expected. Beside the bargaining relationships at the national level, the bargaining ties between the provincial government and those non-state owned enterprises also deserve to be discussed. Their intricate relationships have rarely generated collaborations but have triggered ever intensifying competitions between China and the EU in the field of RE. This thesis will exclusively focus on their bargaining relationships in its next section.

Section 5.3 The Role of Provincial Governments and other Chinese Enterprises Participating in Sino-European Renewable Energy Collaboration and Competition

This section will shift the observation of bargaining relationships to another level, namely between the provincial government and those enterprises directly influenced by the local authorities. It intends to examine to what extent the business interventions and controls of renewable energy enterprises by provincial governments have undermined the potential of further renewable collaborations between China and the EU. According to detailed investigations undertaken for this thesis, the local authorities' interventions have resulted in ever intensifying competitions, and have almost led to trade wars between Beijing and Brussels.

This section will begin by disentangling the intricate and inter-dependent ties between the local authorities and other enterprises. In particular, it will examine the bargaining process on how provincial governments manage to extract companies' profitability to boost their provincial GDP growth. Then, it will use the case study of Suntech, once a star enterprise of the Chinese RE sector and its relations with the Jiangsu government to illustrate one of the major reasons for the Sino-European Solar panel dispute. This section also aims to reveal that the bargaining relationships in Chinese energy policy making does not only exist in the traditional fossil fuels sector between the SOEs and the central bureaucracies, but has also largely played out between other enterprises and their provincial governments.

Despite these bargaining activities taking place at the provincial level, the rules of the bargaining process have largely remained the same as that which occurs at the central level. Meanwhile, the outcomes of these bargains have not only caused bankruptcy or rendered

financial difficulties to some enterprises, but have also triggered severe trade disputes between Beijing and Brussels. There has so far been hardly anything written on the Sino-EU collaboration on RE from a provincial perspective, and this section intends to fill that literature gap. In doing so, this section aims to test the hypothesis that China-EU relations are not bilateral ones determined by the central bureaucracies in Beijing and Brussels. Rather, they are multilateral in nature which involve a wide array of actors to shape the Sino-European relations and are even affected by decisions made by the Chinese provincial governments.

In the field of RE, some other enterprises¹²⁵ have played a major role in accelerating industrial innovation. Amongst the top ten Chinese renewable manufacturers, nine of them are non-state owned enterprises and are located in Southern Provinces in China. This case study will specifically focus on the relations between Suntech, one of the world's leading solar panel manufacturers, and the Jiangsu provincial government. It will explore to what extent Suntech's bankruptcy was not determined by the Sino-European solar panel dispute. Rather, it was caused by Jiangsu provincial government's consistent interventions in Suntech's business management and adjustments to the redistribution of profit between the authority and the enterprise.

As pointed out in a previous chapter, one of the striking features in the Chinese policy making system is a sense of fragmentation within the decision making process amongst the central bureaucracies. The SOEs have also suffered from this fragmented decision making and responsibility sharing amongst the central institutions, as was revealed in a previous section of this thesis.

¹²⁵ These firms are not directly regulated by the state

At the provincial level, however according to some scholars, "this sense of fragmentation is actually shifted into a degree of policy integration between local enterprises and provincial governments" (Kostka & Hobbs, 2012: 778). As Walder points out, "the relationships between the provincial government and the local enterprises are less to compensate for fragmentation than allowing enterprises significant autonomy in important business decisions" (Walder, 1992:310). In other words, a city's industrial system and revenue have been largely dependent upon the operational incomes from various corporations. The provincial government has played a role in carefully regulating the proportion of financial flows from the enterprises to the provincial government and has intervened extensively in crucial business decisions in those enterprises.

As asserted by a number of scholars, "the single biggest aspect of autonomy that the provincial governments enjoy is to decide the proportion of local enterprise revenue sharing between itself and the enterprises" (Breslin, 2000: 209-210; Naughton, 1992: 270). The provincial government can use the various mechanisms at its disposal to change the distribution of corporate revenues which include: tax concessions, subsidies, and minor share-holding, issuing provincial bonds and loan repayments. Some scholars who have observed the relations between the provincial governments and their local enterprises concluded "there are yet no clear standards about what is legitimately the provincial government and enterprises share of industrial profits" (Walder,1992: 331). As a result, a classic bargaining relationship between the provincial government and an enterprise is formed under this particular institutional setting. It is only out of the bargain process that a "fair" determination of these matters can be reached.

246

The enterprises that enjoy the best bargaining position are the ones on which the cities/provinces depend upon substantially for the supply of scarce inputs for local industry. These enterprises can also acquire substantial amounts of bargaining power when they have a good international reputation or become a leader of a particular sector. In contrast, the firms enjoy less advantageous bargaining position when their products become less "useful" for local industrial integration. Or their international reputations are deteriorating for various reasons. The case study of Suntech is a clear example on how its bargaining position with the Jiangsu provincial government shifted from extremely advantageous to powerless when it was no longer seen in a positive light by both international and domestic investors.

Suntech, the Chinese solar panel maker, was once an example of the country's phenomenal prowess in RE. According to its own introduction, "founded in 2001, the Company rose to become the world's largest solar panel manufacturer, by sales, in a decade" (Suntech Website, 2014). In the early years of Suntech, it was treated as a role model for non-state owned enterprises by its provincial government, Jiangsu. The New York listed company had attracted much attention both inside of the renewable industry sector as well as from investors in financial institutions globally. Suntech's early success originated in China's nascent understanding of solar energy in the beginning of the Twenty First Century.

The Jiangsu Provincial government realised the enormous potential of the solar industry and were fully aware of the determination of the central government to develop RE. Therefore, as the Chinese media reported, "it offered its strongest fiscal and policy support to facilitate Suntech's ambitious business plans" (Beijing Youth Newspaper, 2013). By doing so, the Jiangsu authority asked Suntech to transfer 10% of its total operating profit as part of provincial GDP incomes between 2001 and 2005, which was a very low ratio compared to

247

what other local enterprises had contributed¹²⁶ (Ibid). "Such a low ratio almost certainly came with strict conditions attached, and the Jiangsu government acted as one of the minor shareholders of Suntech through a state-backed investment agency, the so called 'Wuxi Guolian Development Co' (Global Entrepreneur Magazine 2013). This investment agency acted as a representative of the provincial government to intervene in Suntech's business operation consistently throughout the years even though it was only a minor investor in a consortium of investors.

According to Suntech financial records in the Financial Years of 2001 to 2005, "the Wuxi Guolian Development Co. had indeed upheld only 10% of total operating profit from Suntech" (Suntech 2006). Meanwhile, the Jiangsu authority issued a special policy document that offered direct tax concessions to all solar power manufacturers and equipment producers. Suntech was amongst the main beneficiaries of this policy and expanded rapidly under those preferential treatments (The Jiangsu Provincial Government 2006). Further to this policy document, as some Chinese media discovered, and was later confirmed by my interviews, "the authority also made local branches of China Industrial & Commercial Bank and China Construction Bank issue five years loans for Suntech's European expansion as well as facilitating its initial public offering (IPO) on the New York Stock Exchange (Xinhua, 2013a)¹²⁷.

In addition, the Jiangsu authority also utilised its own political network to convince the China Development Bank (CDB) to offer long-term loans to fund Suntech's overseas expansion. According to the usual practice of the CDB, "it used to only offer such loans exclusively to the SOEs' overseas acquisitions," yet it was willing to make an exception to Suntech due to

¹²⁶ I used Andrew Walder's comparison in ratio here (Walder, 1992: 305), also proved by interviews with industrial expert at Suntech as well as media sources referred, August 2013

¹²⁷ Interviews with a staff member at Suntech August 2013, Beijing

the Jiangsu government's intensive lobbying and willingness to act as a guarantor (CDB& Xinhua, 2013a). With a flurry of political support and generous credit from state owned banks, "Suntech jumped into the league table of leading global solar panel producers by sales" (Sydney Morning Herald, 2013).

In September 2006, Beijing and Brussels signed "The Rolling Plan for China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy". Part of the Plan was to "promote Renewable Energy development at the provincial level" (MFA 2006). According to the Plan, those provinces that began to develop RE technology would receive fiscal support from both the EU as well as the central authorities in Beijing. Beijing treated the provincial engagements as part of the successes in the collaborative partnerships between China and the EU. This was largely because Beijing expected that provincial participations in RE collaboration with the EU could generate more substantial outcomes both economically and politically. The Jiangsu authority, like any other Chinese province, was keen to be part of the collaborations in order to obtain fiscal support as well as to demonstrate its political loyalty by following Beijing.

Inevitably, Suntech had become a role-model enterprise that could carry out the actual operational activities of the collaborations. In the process of bidding for participation in the overall Sino-European collaborative framework, Jiangsu encountered many strong provincial competitors, mainly from the other resource rich provinces such as Gansu and Inner Mongolia. According to interviews with staff members at the Jiangsu Provincial government, it came up with three existing unique advantages Jiangsu possessed in order to facilitate better collaborations.

Firstly, "Suntech, as a home grown Jiangsu enterprise had been successfully listed on the New York Stock Exchange in 2005, and eventually become an international leading player in the field of RE^{*128}. Secondly, "Jiangsu had already facilitated an extensive industrial supply chain to develop RE, from equipments manufacturing to electricity transmission networks" (People's Daily 2013a). European partners could maximise their industrial efficiency by utilising the existing supply chain, while their competitors had to build their supply chains from scratch. Finally, "Jiangsu is a coastal province with a relatively high GDP per capita, and has the mature infrastructure network needed to develop all sorts of hi-tech sectors" (Ibid). Beijing was convinced, and in the following three years, the governor of Jiangsu participated in all forms of China-EU High-level Dialogues on Climate Change as well as visits to Brussels to further discuss the collaboration plans. Suntech, as one the chosen enterprises, had indeed expanded rapidly in Europe. Based on its own press releases, it established its European laboratory and collaborated with other European enterprises in France, Spain and Italy on the latest models of solar panels (Suntech Website 2007, 2008, 2009).

However, despite its rapid international expansion, Suntech's profitability stagnated between 2005 and 2010 (Financial Times, 2013b). This was largely due to intervention from the Jiangsu Provincial government on some of Suntech's key business strategies. Suntech could not always refuse the "advice" from its local authority as it was the main beneficiary of a range of tailor-made policies. As referred to in previous paragraphs, the local authority has enjoyed the ultimate autonomy in setting certain prices of products where other local enterprises require these products as production materials. Given the unprecedented success of Suntech, "the Jiangsu provincial government intended to integrate all local solar

250

¹²⁸ Interviews with a staff member at the Jiangsu government, November 2012, Paris

manufacturers and to create a Jiangsu high-tech industrial complex" (The Jiangsu Provincial Government, 2006). By doing so, the Jiangsu government authority would fulfil the policy targets made by the central government on developing RE. Even better, Jiangsu would serve as a role model for the rest of the country as the front-runner for the national RE development campaign.

Suntech, as the key player in the solar industry supply chain worldwide, was expected to follow the provincial government's policy agenda. It was therefore asked to keep its solar panels' prices below the international market prices in order to reduce other solar manufacturers' production costs. As my interviewees suggested, "Suntech was in strong disagreement with the local authority and argued that Suntech as a public listed company should focus on profit maximisation rather than supporting other local enterprises"¹²⁹.

Meanwhile, Suntech was in the process of establishing its European strategic partnership in collaborations with Conergy AG, a local Munich solar panels producer (Suntech Website 2007). Given its low profitability over several years, Suntech urgently required the financial backing of state owned banks back in its headquarters in Wuxi, a city in Jiangsu province. On the one hand, the Jiangsu authority was furious to learn of Suntech's reluctance to keep its solar panel prices below the market price. On the other hand, the local government wished to have Suntech's contribution to fulfil its policy target of developing RE. As a result, "relevant local governmental departments came up with a loan condition to Suntech, which was to keep Suntech products prices below the international market prices and to ask all nine state owned banks in Jiangsu to offer cheap loans to Suntech from 2007 onwards."¹³⁰ With cheap credit in

¹²⁹ Interviews with staff members Suntech, Beijing August 2013

¹³⁰ Ibid

easy reach, Suntech agreed this Faustian pack and inevitably entangled itself into the Sino-European solar panel dispute three years later.

In addition to price controls, "the Jiangsu authority had also utilised its autonomy to adjust the ratio of Suntech's financial contribution to the provincial investments which would boost the local GDP growth" (Beijing Youth Newspaper 2013). Between 2007 and 2010, the Jiangsu authority requested to increase Suntech's financial contribution to the total local taxation revenue of the province from 10% in 2001 to 15% from 2007 onwards. The Jiangsu authority argued that it had promoted Suntech both at home and abroad extensively, and would expect Suntech to make its "long overdue" contribution in return for the series of political and fiscal support it had received¹³¹. Suntech initially agreed with the new percentage of contribution and continued to invite "Wuxi Guolian Development Co." to act as the representative of the Jiangsu authority on the board of its shareholders.

As Suntech's profit stagnated, the management team realised that "it was not financially viable to contribute such a great proportion of operating income to the local authority. Therefore, Suntech managed to buy back the equity owned by "Wuxi Guolian Development Co."¹³² As pointed out in both my interviews and the Chinese media source, such a tactful purchase became a turning point of the once amicable relations between the Jiangsu authority and Suntech (International Financial News 2013). The Jiangsu authority realised that Suntech was no longer in need of its support to expand at home and afar. This in turn indicated that Suntech was no longer willing to serve as an effective vehicle for the Jiangsu authority to fulfil its policy targets and expand its provincial GDP.

¹³¹ Interviews with a member from Jiangsu Province, November 2012, Paris

¹³² Interviews with staff members at Suntech, Beijing, August 2013.

While Suntech was in the process of expanding into Europe, China experienced the euphoria of embracing RE technologies between 2007 and 2010. A rapid solar expansion in China was fuelled by cheap credit from state owned banks, and resulted in a glut of capacity. "By 2012, the Chinese solar sector produced more than half of the world solar panels" (Financial Times, 2013b). However, based on some experts studies, "it lacked sufficient installation capacity as well as an appropriate utility network to transmit electricity generated by various solar farms" (EC2, 2012: 26). This overcapacity resulted in the plunging of solar panels prices both inside China as well as worldwide. The excessive quantity of solar panels made Suntech lose its trump card when it came to negotiations with the Jiangsu authority. Solar panels, once a high-tech and exclusive product had become widely available everywhere in China.

The Jiangsu authority was no longer pursing its policy target to establish an integrated production chain of solar industry in the region. By 2012, Brussels began to pursue its controversial anti-dumping and anti-subsidies investigations on solar panel exports from China. Inevitably, Suntech, LDK and Yingli, three major players in the industry were accused of price manipulation in order to take over the European market, and the Chinese government was, for its part, blamed for offering subsidies which distorted the European solar market. Against this background, "Suntech had to withdraw from its existing collaboration with Conergy AG to develop super thin PV panels", a collaborative project that Suntech was once proud of, and through which Suntech had expected, together with its German partner, further fruitful collaboration (Suntech 2013). The entire Chinese Solar panel sector was coming "under renewed pressure from the central government agencies, such as the NDRC, and the Ministry of Industry and Information, and other investors, to cut overcapacity and turn round losses" (NDRC 2013c, China Securities Journal 2013).

253

As shown above, Suntech had long suffered from profit-stagnation under the price control by the Jiangsu authority. The symptom of overcapacity and the EU anti-dumping & subsidies investigations caused Suntech's share price to crash in early 2012. Even worse, "the Jiangsu provincial government withdrew all existing policy support and ordered the relevant banks to cancel all loans in support of Suntech by June 2012"¹³³. This was largely in order to follow Beijing's order to restructure the solar industry. "The provincial government must withdraw and discourage new investments in local solar equipment manufacturers", according to the NDRC announcements (NDRC, 2010a, 2011b). Eight months later, Suntech announced on 18th March 2013, that its primary subsidiary in China was facing insolvency. "Suntech became the most prominent foreign-listed Chinese company to end up in a bankruptcy court" (Financial Times, 2013c). According to the financial record of Suntech in 2012, "it had USD847mn of gross debt maturing during the Fourth Quarter of 2012, but only USD 168mn of cash to hand at the end of August 2012" (Suntech 2013).

With this staggering amount of debt, "the Jiangsu provincial government stepped in and asked the nine state owned banks as creditors to cancel USD1.4bn of gross debt" (Economic Observers 2013), and the state backed investment agency "Wuxi Guolian Development Co." was appointed as the transitional body in charge of Suntech's bankruptcy (Economic Daily 2013). Suntech's bankruptcy cast a long shadow over the entire Chinese solar sector. Other solar manufacturers are "set to follow the lead of Suntech as the industry enters a difficult period of consolidation and adjustment" (Financial Times, 2013c).

Unlike the Chinese SOEs, enterprises like Suntech, have little bargaining power when they come to negotiate with their respective provincial governments. The SOEs are able to

133 Ibid

negotiate with the central authority more or less on the same level due to their bureaucratic status in the government and their personnel ranking within the CCP. Companies like Suntech rely upon the provincial authorities' fiscal and political support, and have never acquired a strong bargaining position even if the provincial governments need to have their participation in certain policy execution processes. Suntech's bankruptcy thus sets a striking example to illustrate how much power a provincial government has in hand to dictate a blue-chip company's business plan. Such dictation was not based on plausible business considerations. Rather, the company served as a convenient vehicle for fulfilling the provincial authority's policy targets and to generate sufficient incomes to boost the provincial GDP growth.

Within the context of Sino-European collaboration, companies such as Suntech were promised as role-models for the two sides' cooperation. However, Suntech's business expansion caused more controversies than both Beijing and Brussels expected. The reasons for contentions were two-fold. Firstly, Suntech was a publicly listed company, with an ultimate goal of profit maximisation. Due to its rapid innovation plan, it no longer performed a role of "catching-up" with its European competitors. The process of "catching-up" had often generated sound collaborative ties between the two sides in the past few years, as observed in the Sino-French collaborations on the civil nuclear sector. By contrast, most Chinese solar panel manufacturers have had strong capability to compete with their European peers. As a result, the prospect of collaboration was largely undermined by China's sweeping success in the global solar industry.

Secondly, some crucial business decisions at companies like Suntech, were greatly influenced by its respective provincial authorities for various reasons. Enterprises often find it impossible to "refuse advice" from the local authorities. In the case of Suntech, it was the

255

Jiangsu provincial government's political decision to manipulate solar panel prices. Suntech had consistently refused to keep the prices below the international market price. As a result, it was under renewed pressure to follow the guidance from the local authority as a condition for the receipt of generous loans from state owned banks. Due to its profit stagnation, Suntech had no other alternatives to finance its global expansions besides the cheap credit offered to it by those state banks. It was therefore locked into a vicious cycle of lowering the prices of its products in order to obtain cheap credit.

As pointed out by Chinese media, "Other solar companies in similar size, such as Trina and Goldwind, had followed the same route with their respective local authorities regardless of the correctness of such a decision" (Beijing Youth Newspaper 2013). Therefore, they had inevitably entangled themselves into bitter spats over solar panels with the EU. To this extent, one can argue that the provincial governments' political and irrational decision triggered the Sino-European solar panel dispute. Their autonomy to dictate prices was a reflection upon China's unfinished market economy reform. Their anti-market decisions had truly dimmed the prospects of future collaboration. As pointed out at the beginning of this section, the Sino-European collaborations on RE, like any other areas of collaborations, are thus determined by various stakeholders, not just by Beijing and Brussels on their own.

Conclusion for Chapter Five:

In conclusion, this chapter has treated Chinese companies; both the state owned enterprise (SOEs) and non-state owned enterprises as analytical units. As outlined in the Introduction to this chapter, it is of vital importance to understand the relations between the Party and the SOEs, the interactions between the SOEs and the central institutions as well as the relationships between the provincial government and those non-state owned enterprises. By doing so, it will provide us with insights into the decision making processes of the Chinese energy sector and its foreign affairs. This in turn helps us to understand the motivation of each stakeholder in determining Sino-European RE collaborations.

This chapter concludes that: firstly, after thirty years of economic reform, the Party has still retained tight control over personnel appointments and certain business decisions of the SOEs, even if the energy decision-making has undergone a process of fragmentation.

Secondly, unlike conventional wisdom, those energy SOEs are not as powerful as some scholars claimed when they come to participate in Beijing's national renewable campaign. The enormous power that they possess in shaping the fossil fuels sector is largely undermined by the complex institutional settings amongst the central bureaucracies, which participate in making renewable energy policies. Some SOEs that are specialising in renewable energy, such as the CGNPC, have utilised well their exceptional expertise in civil nuclear industry, and successfully persuaded the ultimate decision-makers to adopt policy options they have long desired. The CGNPC's successful collaboration with the French has exhibited the importance of SOEs' persuasions which have a direct and major impact upon Sino-European collaboration on RE. It is true that one of the three major oil giants in China, the CNOOC suffered from its economic misfortune and entangled itself into inter-departmental conflicts

during the process of expanding its renewable unit. It had not only rendered itself into great financial difficulties but worsened the prospect of future cooperation with other European partners. To a large extent, one can conclude that parts of the Sino-European RE collaborations were determined by the extent to which the corporate interests of the SOEs coincided with the relevant ministries and vice versa.

Last but not least, the non-state owned enterprises had plenty of opportunities to participate in the collaborations. Such participations in national-lead projects have been rare occurrences in the past. This was largely due to the nature of the renewable sector being driven by technological innovation, something in which those enterprises enjoyed a steep competitive edge when compared with the SOEs.

However, their participations in the collaborations have hardly made much of a positive contribution, but have instead caused contentions and bitter spats between Beijing and Brussels. As the latter part of this chapter shows, these enterprises are mostly influenced and encouraged by their respective provincial governments during their participations in any international collaboration. The provincial governments have still retained the autonomy to indulge in price manipulations of certain products, and financial resource distribution for enterprises. As a result, non-state owned companies are too vulnerable to bargain with their respective provincial authorities. Losing such bargaining could undermine their potential to access tax concessions, bank loans and other financial assistances. Consequentially, these enterprises have little choice but to follow whatever is initiated and asked of by their provincial authorities. In the case of Suntech and other solar panel manufacturers, they accepted the price manipulations and inevitably involved themselves in the China-EU solar

panel dispute. Ultimately, their acceptance of these price manipulations failed to bring any extra commercial advantage and instead triggered further financial hardship for themselves.

As observed above, the quality of RE collaboration between China and the EU is not determined by the political willingness of governments on each side, but is largely shaped by the behaviour of each stakeholder. In particular, both Beijing's energy policy formation and foreign policy making have undergone a process of fragmentation, which offers plenty of opportunities for each stakeholder to play a major role in shaping final policy outcomes. Each stakeholder can either facilitate or undermine the Sino-European collaborations, according to its preference. The Europeans realised that the collaborations with China had become far more intricate than Brussels and the Member States had at first expected. The next chapter will shift the focal point to Europe and examine how the Europeans responded to changes in Chinese energy policy and external affairs.

Chapter Six: A Fragmented European Union's Responses to the Chinese Governmental Apparatus and Corporate Sector during Collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy

Introduction:

After analysing the roles of both the Chinese government and Chinese companies in collaborating with the EU, this chapter will shift the focus of the thesis to the European Union. It aims to investigate to what extent a fragmented EU responds and adapts to changes in Chinese foreign policy, and energy policy making. As stated in the analytical framework section, in Chapter 1, this chapter will examine how the EU adapts to changes in the priorities of Chinese foreign policy as well as the shifts in the balance of power amongst the relevant Chinese stakeholders.

While doing so, this chapter will not treat the EU as a singular analytical unit or foreign policy actor. Instead, in the first section it will investigate the responses of the EU institutions to the Chinese central institutions during their collaborations on tackling climate change (CC). This chapter will also observe the various ways in which the EU member states (MS) respond to changes in Chinese FP towards specific individual European countries. Then the final section will consider the motivation and behaviour of large European companies in determining joint renewable projects with both the Chinese government and their commercial partners. In brief, this chapter will have three analytical units, namely, the EU institutions in Brussels, the MS and European companies. Each of these analytical units is not static, and their individual responses to change have triggered changes in the policy making or shifts in the commercial strategies of the other units.

Neither the EU nor China is still embracing the euphoria of the so-called "Comprehensive Strategic Partnership" after the failures to overcome two stumbling blocks of their relationships: the Market Economy Status and the Arms Embargo. As argued by both veteran diplomats and academics in the field, both Beijing and Brussels realise that "they should focus on what they can achieve rather than what they aspired to achieve"¹³⁴. Surely, the EU is deemed to be a global champion for tackling climate change (CC) and innovator for Renewable Energy (RE). Whilst China has suffered from a severe environmental crisis after many years of economic growth fuelled by highly polluting industries. Climate Change and Renewable Energy have become twin areas in which the two sides have had huge potential to achieve concrete results. However, despite the so-called "Strategic Partnership on Climate Change", the two sides have not generated the greater and ever closer collaborations that they expected.

In the previous chapters considering the Chinese side of the partnership, this thesis has explained several of the different reasons why the collaborations have been undermined. So in this chapter it is one's intention to explain these unsuccessful collaborations which were driven by Brussels' institutional constraints as well as the Union's misunderstanding on China's intentions and policy measures on CC and RE. The main reasons for the failure to achieve greater cooperation are fourfold. Firstly, the EU is renowned for its complex bureaucratic system and is now facing a partner which has established equally intricate bureaucracies. The EU has lacked the sufficient institutional capacity to recognise the shifts in the balance of power amongst the Chinese governmental departments and to adapt to changes in the Chinese policy making system.

Secondly, the EU treats Climate Change as a transnational issue and believes that RE should develop through market forces. However, as a number of scholars demonstrated, China treats

¹³⁴ Interviews with Robert Cooper 2013, Wu Jianmin 2012 and Francois Godement 2012

tackling CC as a domestic priority that should not always be resolved by multilateral negotiations, but sometimes rather "through the reinforcement of effective domestic policy measures" (Heggelund, 2007: 168; Lewis, 2008a: 158). For RE, Beijing believes that the government should offer more policy support and fiscal subsidies to the industry during its nascent stage.

Thirdly, the EU institutions and the EU members have been in serious dispute over how they collaborate with China. In particular, the EU members are puzzled and in disagreement, with Brussels and amongst themselves, on how they should handle the political spats with China on the one hand, and how to embrace economic opportunities on the other.

Finally, the European companies are financially independent from both the EU institutions and their respective national governments. Their goals in collaborating with both the Chinese government and Chinese companies have sometimes been in contradiction with the aims of the EU governments. In the meantime, the Chinese companies have rapidly "caught up" on the technological edge of their European peers. The relationships between the European companies and their Chinese counterparts have shifted from a "pupil-tutor" partnership to the companies becoming strong competitors against one another. As a result, an area of potential collaborations has become an area of intensive competition and bitter spats. This has not corresponded to the EU's overarching goal of developing a collaborative partnership with China.

In the light of the above, this chapter will use several case studies to illuminate how each unit respond changes in the Chinese energy and foreign policy making. By doing so, it will answer the ultimate research question of the thesis, that is "To what extent are Sino-European collaborations determined by a diverse array of interests from multiple actors".

Section 6.1 The Role of the EU Institutions in Determining the Sino-European Collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy

This section seeks to discuss the role of the Brussels based EU institutions in shaping the Climate Change (CC) and Renewable Energy (RE) collaboration outcomes with Beijing. In particular, it will discuss the extent to which the complex bureaucratic politics amongst the EU institutions have undermined the prospect of fruitful collaborations with China. It will also examine the extent to which the EU institutions have understood and responded effectively to the equally complicated decision-making process within the Chinese governmental apparatus in the fields of energy and foreign affairs. This section also intends to address the shortcomings of the current literature, in which most scholars on the topic treat Sino-European collaborations as bilateral cooperation (Torney&Biedenkof, 2013; Men, 2014; Berger et al, 2013). Instead, this section will argue that treating Sino-European collaborations as bilateral misinterprets the nature of their collaborations. Instead, as previous chapters of the thesis have already demonstrated Sino-European collaborations are determined by their multilateral nature and the involvement of a diverse range of actors. This is also the hypothesis of the thesis.

This section will treat each relevant EU institution as the primary analytical unit. It will draw on what Simon Nutall argued was the fundamental flaws of the Union, which are the "horizontal inconsistency, institutional inconsistency and vertical inconsistency" to illustrate that China-EU collaborations are shaped, and negatively, affected by the bureaucratic politics in Brussels (Nutall, 2001:1). This section will firstly examine the role of the relevant EU institutions in determining Brussels' overall CC and RE collaborations with China. As referred to in this thesis's Introduction chapter, this section intends to examine the relations between the EU institutions and their Chinese counterparts. It will consider the existing processes to deal with the Sino-European collaborations and analyse the intrinsic flaws of having a fragmented collaboration framework. In the process of collaborating with China, each EU institution has had its own specific departmental interests. Therefore, such interests have inevitably reflected upon the outcomes of the EU's climate diplomacy with China. The EU institutions have also been in conflict with the Member States, which this thesis will focus on in the next section of the chapter.

Secondly, this section will offer a case study of the Sino-EU collaborations on developing Clean Development Mechanism projects with the relevant Chinese central governmental institutions. Given a lack of understanding of Beijing's intricate energy policy making process, the EU has failed to establish a more coherent and effective collaboration framework with the Chinese government. In the previous two chapters, this thesis has extensively discussed the intricate relations amongst the Party, the government institutions and the corporate actors in China. Their relations are not static but have shifted over time, and have generated an ever greater impact on Sino-European collaborations. However, Brussels has responded badly to the shifts in the institutional balance of power in Beijing. Their responses will be clearly exhibited in the following case study.

1) The Symptom of "Inconsistency"

There has never been a shortage of supply of EU foreign policy literature which argues that the EU's capacity to have a coherent foreign policy has been largely undermined by Brussels' complex institutional framework, and a very slow decision-making process. This thesis echos the views of these scholars and argue that this complex institutional framework has been one of key factors which prevent the EU from formulating a coherent collaboration plan with China. Simon Nutall categorised the EU's incoherence, or inconsistencies, into three different types, namely, "Institutional Inconsistency, Vertical Inconsistency and Horizontal Inconsistency" (Ibid). Each type of inconsistency has affected the other two. Regarding the role of the EU institutions pursuing its climate diplomacy agenda with China, all three types of inconsistencies have largely existed in the current collaboration framework.

In terms of institutional inconsistency, it refers to "when each individual institution has become bureaucratic rivals" (Ibid). The resulting lack of institutional coordination has been a recurring symptom throughout the many years of the Union's institutional development. Based on a number of scholars' assessments, "the 2007 Lisbon Treaty aimed to improve the institutional coordination at all levels across various policy areas. However, so far it has made limited progress on the subject" (Balducci, 2010: 36; Crookes, 2013: 640; Wacker, 2012).

Regarding the Sino-European collaborations on CC and RE, the institutions that are directly involved in collaborations at the EU level are: the EU Delegation to China; DG Trade; DG Climate Action (Clima); DG Energy and the European External Action Services (EEAs). With a numbers of institutions competing for policy influence, the EU's climate diplomacy and collaborations with China have resulted in two insurmountable bureaucratic challenges for those institutions mentioned above: firstly, the lack of institutional resources; the second and related symptom, the lack of personal capacity. The lack of institutional resources is a persistent challenge to the EU when it comes to pursuing its climate diplomacy agenda with China. This limited institutional resource has directly triggered the shortage of personal capacity when dealing with China.

According to the MOU of the China-EU Climate Change Strategy Partnership in 2005, "DG

Clima¹³⁵ and the EU Delegation to China, are the two principal organisations dealing with Beijing in the areas of CC and RE" (MFA 2005). The EU Delegation has the chief responsibility to coordinate with the Embassies of the MS in China. This has inevitably resulted in a huge amount of work for staff members at the Delegation across all policy areas dealing with the Chinese government. According to my interviews with its staff members, they suggested that "we were overwhelmed by the workloads as we had to deal with the Chinese government on the one hand, and the rest of 28 MS on the other"¹³⁶.

In regards to Climate Change policy areas, despite Brussels' emphasis on the importance of engaging with China, the Delegation has only had posted one full time counsellor,¹³⁷ and appointed a part-time officer in charge of the areas. These two diplomats take full responsibility for reporting back to Brussels and dealing with the Chinese governmental departments on climate change issues simultaneously. "Neither of them is fluent in Mandarin; but they are environmental science experts"¹³⁸. This lack of knowledge of the Chinese language has certainly undermined their ability to gauge, and to respond to, the latest policy and bureaucratic shifts in the field of energy and environmental protection in China. As described in the previous chapters, the NDRC and energy-related ministries mainly consist of Chinese speaking officials. The EU Delegation staff members have found it almost impossible to establish personal contacts with officials at the NDRC and the other relevant government bodies without a working knowledge of the language. Yet having personal contacts, and good working relationships, are crucial to getting certain European projects endorsed by Chinese officials.

¹³⁵ It is used to be DG Environment taking the lead and was shifted to newly established DG Clima in 2010

¹³⁶ Interviews with two staff members at the EU Delegation in Beijing, August 2012

¹³⁷ Not a ministerial counsellor but counsellor at division level

¹³⁸ Interviews with a staff member at the EU Delegation in Beijing, August 2013

Moreover, generally the staff members at the Delegation will shift to other diplomatic posts every 36 months; and this rule also applies to those two members dealing with climate diplomacy¹³⁹. As a result, they have not had much determination to understand, and to investigate, the complexities of the Chinese energy policy-making process and related outcomes.

Beside these institutional constraints and personal incapacity, the EU Delegation also faced challenges from the Embassies of the MS, which have clear and well-structured climate diplomacy agendas to pursue in China. These challenges represent the vertical inconsistency between the EU institutions and the MS. The Delegation has the power to coordinate the activities of the MS' Embassies. However, it is not equipped with sufficient authority to prevent the MS from exploring opportunities for CC collaborations with Chinese companies and governmental institutions individually.

According to my interviews, and NDRC documents to other MS' Embassies in Beijing; the British, the German, the Danish and the French embassies in Beijing have "appointed at least two counsellors or First Secretary level and above officers to work on CC and RE areas with the central governmental bureaucracies, as well as provincial governments" (NDRC, 2009a). Their diplomatic posts on CC and RE in total had already exceeded the numbers of the diplomats in the same policy domains in EU Delegations. For example, "the British Consulates in Chongqing and Guangzhou have one First Secretary respectively, who both focuses on environmental issues within the regions¹⁴⁰" (GOV.UK, 2011:1). They actively participate in all governmental-led conferences and workshops related to energy-saving and carbon reduction. Also, they work together with other departments of the British Embassy in

¹³⁹ Interviews with Dr. Markus Ederer, the Ambassador of the EU Delegation to China, August 2012

¹⁴⁰ Information on First Secretary was obtained from interviews with FCO officials at the British Embassy, August 2012, Beijing

Beijing to seek business opportunities between British firms and Chinese partners (Ibid, 3, 4).

The MS' Embassies have not only carried out climate diplomacy with the Chinese government, but they have also actively engaged with the Chinese SOEs on the subject. For example, pointed out by both a SOE employee and a French diplomat, "the French Embassy has hosted bi-monthly seminars with carbon experts in order to invite the relevant staff members at the Chinese energy SOEs into joining in the discussions"¹⁴¹. With such intense competition from the MS, the EU Delegation has surely been constrained by its institutional and personal shortage in pursing the overall EU's climate diplomacy agenda with China.

Back to Brussels, the DG Clima faced similar challenges as the Delegation encountered in Beijing. DG Clima was established in early 2010, with "the aim of representing the EU at the UNFCCC international climate change negotiations, as well as to pursue the EU 2020 carbon reduction target" (EP, 2009). However, due to its external focus it has been exclusively concentrated on pursuing its own agenda and at monitoring the process of the UNFCCC negotiations. It seemed to spare no extra institutional capacity to engage with the world's second largest carbon emitter, China. This lack of institutional capacity was echoed by a scholar, there "appears to be little acknowledgement of the value that could be gained by devoting addition resources to sustain bilateral outreach with key third countries such as China" (Dorney, 2012: 10).

During the research process, it was rather difficult to find an interviewee and to schedule an interview with staff members at DG Clima. As a result, I interviewed the First Secretary who

¹⁴¹ Interviews with CNOOC employees, confirmed by the French Ambassador to China Sylvie Bermann August 2013

was responsible for work on CC issues at the Chinese Delegation to the EU¹⁴². She had a few direct contacts and exchanges with senior staff members at DG Clima. Her views could complement my lack of primary source from the DG Clima in order to support the view of institutional incapacity in dealing with China. She suggested that "DG Clima treated tackling climate change more like a scientific innovation ambition rather than a strategic outreach where the EU could utilise political capital to increase its global impact. The international climate change negotiation was complex and so far it was difficult to convince developing countries. Yet, DG Clima would not spare extra energy to win diplomatic support from other important countries, such as China and India"¹⁴³.

From the DG Clima website it is clear that "DG Clima was also heavily involved in building consensus on CC policy with the 28 Member States" (DG Clima), which have always expected some different, and generally self-interested, policy mechanism to curb emissions. In addition, "DG Clima did not send any staff members to the EU Delegation in Beijing to carry out the overall EU's climate diplomacy with China"¹⁴⁴. This lack of personnel appointments also demonstrated that DG Clima was not equipped with adequate resources to perform its task as chief executive of the EU's climate diplomacy to Beijing.

DG Clima has not only suffered from a lack of institutional capacity in dealing with China, but its role as the chief executive of the EU's climate diplomacy was also strongly challenged by other institutions in Brussels. DG Clima's challenge was partially driven by a fragmented China policy that the EU had carried out for many years. Since the late 1990s, the EU had conducted policy dialogues in almost all policy areas across different levels of the

¹⁴² Interview with a staff member at the Chinese Delegation to EU, Brussels, November 2012

¹⁴³ Ibid

¹⁴⁴ Ibid and interviews with a staff member at EU Delegation to China, Beijing, August 2013

government apparatus within China. However, it seemed rather difficult to measure the success of such dialogue apart from its sheer quantity. As some scholars asserted, "the EU measured the quantity of dialogue as success, not the quality" (Holslag, 2011: 296). The proliferation of dialogues has characterised the EU's China policy and triggered a sense of fragmentation amongst policy areas.

In the cases of CC and RE, Brussels and Beijing had launched either ministerial or bureau level dialogues in the areas of Climate Change, Energy, Environment, Forestry, and Sustainable Urbanisation, "which was added in February 2012" (EC, 2012b). With diversified yet inter-linked areas of dialogue, the DG Clima is only responsible for the annual ministerial-level of Climate Change Dialogue, without participation in other related Dialogues. For example, according the official document from the Commission, "only DG Energy involved in the China-EU Energy dialogue" without participation of other DGs, even if the contents of those policy dialogues were much related to what DG Clima was familiar with (EC, 2005b).

In the process of dialogue formation and post-dialogue policy execution, DG Clima is mostly challenged by the EEAs and DG Trade. The EEAs is the chief foreign policy executive body in Brussels. It considers that CC and RE collaborations with China should be in accordance with the EU's broader engagements with China. According to one scholar's assessment, the EEAS holds the view that "DG Clima should be equipped with greater flexibility in terms of carbon reduction calculations or other technical details when it seeks to work with Beijing" (De Matties, 2012). For example, during the 2009 EU-China Climate Change Dialogue before the UNFCCC took place in Copenhagen, the Chinese authority represented by the NDRC suggested that "China would only calculate carbon emissions in terms of carbon

intensity per square meters"(NDRC, 2009b). While DG Clima delegates asserted "such a calculation method was inaccurate, and that China should follow the EU's steps to calculate emissions in terms of tonnes per year"¹⁴⁵.

Besides what the Chinese participants had suggested, the EEAs' officials also asserted that "it would be useful if both sides achieved broader consensus to put the EU as China's primary partner to curb carbon emissions. The precise measurement could be discussed at the next dialogue"¹⁴⁶. However, DG Clima appeared to reject the EEAs suggestions and "openly criticised China's unwillingness to contribute to emissions reduction at UNFCCC Copenhagen in 2009" (Carraro& Tavoni, 2010). The division between the EEAs and DG Clima shows the lack of coordination amongst the EU institutions. To this extent, it also illuminated that the persistence of one single institution could hinder the overall Sino-European collaborations on CC and RE.

Despite DG Clima's disagreement with China's measure of carbon reductions, according its own management work plan, "DG Clima has played a rather positive role of introducing the latest technologies on curbing emissions, and renewable energies, to China" (DG Clima 2014: 4). However, the DG Clima's enthusiasms and initiatives were largely challenged by the DG Trade, which was deemed as the most influential institution in Brussels in terms of the EU-China relations. In previous chapters, this thesis made in-depth analyses regarding the DG Trade's antagonistic approach to the solar panel dispute with China, and this case was not the only dispute that the DG Trade launched in the fields of CC and RE. In 2010, DG Clima intended to introduce Carbon Capture Storage (CCS) technologies to several the Chinese State Owned utility companies. "This project was part of the Commission funded EUR 7mn

¹⁴⁵ Interviews with Su Wei, at NDRC, Beijing August 2012

¹⁴⁶ Interviews with a staff member at the EEAS who participated in the dialogue, Brussels November 2012

projects to collaborate with China on CC and RE" (EC 2009a; Ibid 2009b). However, DG Trade was at odds with DG Clima on the subject due to increases in IPRs violations complaints from the European companies. As one scholar commented, DG Trade was "one of the major opponents against DG Clima' initiative of introducing CCS technology to China" (Holslag 2010:123). The Trade Commission insisted that 100% technology transfers would receive no Intellectual Property Right protection in China, which would subsequently endanger European companies in this particular industry.

According to my interviews with a staff member at DG Trade and several others at European think-tanks, DG Trade surely spoke on behalf of the European companies which were leading worldwide players in terms of CCS technology. However, more importantly, "DG Trade had its own departmental interests in opposing the CCS technology transfers. By opposing this particular project, DG Trade could use the CCS technology transfers to negotiate with China on many other long-standing trade and investment issues such as the European companies' market entry barriers, and changes in governmental procurement criteria to favour the Chinese domestic manufacturers"¹⁴⁷. As a result, DG Clima made a concession to DG Trade by only offering China the CCS technology without key technical details being transferred. As a result, the NDRC and the Ministry of Science and Technology and Innovation were furious with the difference between what the EU Commission promised to offer and what it actually offered.

4) The China-EU collaborations on projects under the Clean Development Mechanism

After revealing the institutional incoherence above, this section will offer some examples of Sino-European collaborations under the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) to illustrate

¹⁴⁷ Interviews with a staff member at DG Trade, Fredik Erixon at ECIPE, November 2012, Brussels

the extent to which the EU institutions have largely failed to understand Beijing's policy objectives, and changes in the process of China's energy and foreign policy making. Such insufficient understanding has hindered further fruitful collaborations between Brussels and its Chinese counterparts.

The CDM is one of three Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions reduction schemes established under the Kyoto Protocol. "The CDM allows the countries listed in Annex I, which are mostly developed countries, to invest in GHG emission reduction projects in non-Annex I countries that are mostly developing countries" (UNFCCC). "Investing in CDM projects allows the developed countries to claim and to exchange Certified Emission Reductions (CERs) to help them to achieve binding emission reduction targets domestically. The CDM also facilitates the developments of renewable and climate technologies in beneficiary countries" (IBRD, 2000). Initially, China treated the CDM with a great suspicion and considered that launching energy-efficiency projects under the CDM could reduce the amount of Overseas Direct Assistances (ODA) that China received from other countries and international organisations. However, as scholars observed, "China shifted its initial opinion on CDM projects after the Marrakech Accords (Heggelund and Tangen, 2003: 3, Heggelund, 2007: 180)". And it is now "actively seeking to utilise CDM as a crucial source for the obtaining of cutting-edge technologies on RE and to curb emissions" (Xinhua, 2009a).

As established by a Chinese media, "the EU has been one of the major supporters of China's participation in a numbers of CDM projects" (Ibid). The main reasons for the EU's positive responses were twofold. Firstly from an external perspective, the EU fostered China's understanding of carbon emissions and created the possibility of establishing a carbon trading market in China. Such initiatives were seen as the EU's capacity in acting as a global

champion to tackle CC. The EU's active engagement with China on CDM was also "viewed under a broader framework of the Sino-European strategic partnership on CC" (MFA 2005). Secondly, and from a European perspective; forging CDM collaborations in China would allow European companies using CER generated by CDM projects to offset their already over-subscribed emissions inside the EU. As a result, the EU initiated "the EU-China Clean Development Mechanism" project in April 2007 (EC 2007). "The EU agreed to "provide EUR2.8mn to introduce European and international standards into the CDM projects approval process, as well as the actual management of the projects" (EEAS, 2010).

Projects under the CDM often take several months or even years to get approved. Such a lengthy approval process has become one of main criticisms of CDM. In the case of China, the Chinese government "did not ratify the Treaty until August 2002", even if the Treaty itself had come into force in early 2000 (NCCCC). "China's Designated National Authority (DNA) overseeing CDM projects was not established until 2004. And the State Council in Beijing "did not give the final approval for the DNA's overall management of CDM project until October 2005 (Ibid)". China's hesitance in participating in CDM stemmed from its concerns about heavy foreign participation in the CDM projects. As a result, the Chinese government made the CDM approval and management process as "carefully crafted to heavily favour the Chinese interests and control; and to ensure Chinese resources are protected" (Szymanski, 2006:2).

The Chinese government's extensive interventions and protectionist approach to the CDM policy measures were later turned into a source of dispute between Beijing and Brussels. For example, in wind energy sector, the NDRC requested that "all turbine erected are subject to a 70% of local content requirement" (NDRC&MOST, 2006); the requirement became non-

obligatory three years later (NDRC 2009e). Such preferences certainly discouraged foreign participation in joining the bids for some CDM projects. As a result, responses from the EU had not been positive to China's protectionist approach towards the approval and management of CDM projects.

During the ministerial dialogue in 2010, the EU Commissioner on Climate Action openly criticised that "the Chinese government's local content requirements have not only gone against the principal of bilateral collaboration on CC, but also breached WTO rules" (Erixon&Razeen, 2010: 1). The Chinese authorities, in particular the NDRC and MOST, responded vociferously to "the EU's one-size to fit all approach" and asserted that "the EU and the other developed countries should bear the historical responsibility for the curbing of carbon emissions, requiring total technology transfers, or the use of Chinese home-grown RE equipment as being justified"¹⁴⁸Such views were also echoed widely across the Chinese media (Economic Observer, 2011a; Xinhua 2012d).

The EU misunderstood that the Chinese authority had not only relied on the CDM projects as an important source of technology transfers, but more importantly relied on the projects "to establish home-grown, Chinese, climate and renewable technologies industries, which would accelerate China's own industrial upgrade and economic restructure" (NEA 2007). Beijing intended to reduce their reliance on foreign investments and technologies to achieve its domestic industrial upgrade in the field of clean energy technologies. Therefore, the Chinese government had provided all kinds of subsidies and fiscal measures to promote the industry as a whole.

¹⁴⁸ Interviews with Professor Pan Jiahua, at CASS, August 2012

For examples, in 2012 alone, "the Chinese government paid 1.4bn US dollars for renewable subsides" (Bloomberg 2012b). As exhibited in Chapter 4 and 5, the central government was equipped with a great determination to build a competitive clean energy technology sector in a shortest span of time, even if offering such subsidies would not contribute to the healthy growth of the RE sector. As some observers suggested, "governmental subsidies helped China to become the world leader in wind-power, and an estimated USD30mn in loans and subsidies is now spurring a massive deployment of solar panel energy" (European Voice, 2010).

Besides Brussels' dissatisfaction with Chinese governmental subsidies in RE sector, the EU institutions are mostly concerned with violations of Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs). Indeed, as established by both expert interviews and media reports, the Chinese central institutions had executed various policy measures to insure the relevant IPR protections in clean energy technology sector; and "the desire to protect IPRs was strong at the central level" (Xinhua, 2007)¹⁴⁹. Yet, the EU institutions were not aware that the central government in Beijing had often found it difficult to force the provincial governments to execute an endorsed policy mandate. This was largely because of the practice within the Chinese policy implementation system. Brussels assumed that the Chinese policy execution was a clear and strong "top-down" approach. In this case, the central governmental ministries would establish the overarching policy framework through the Five Years Plan and relevant policy measures, and then, the provincial government would follow accordingly.

On the contrary, this top-down approach has generated great levels of autonomy to provincial government when they come to translate those Plans and measures. As argued in the previous

¹⁴⁹ Interview with a senior adviser for the China Association of Wind Energy, August 2012

chapters, they could adjust the policy mandate from Beijing in accordance with the specific local situation. As Shaun Breslin and some other scholars have observed, "governance failure in China is often attributed to weak implementation or to actors at the provincial level outright ignoring policies developed at higher levels" (Breslin, 2010; Berger et al, 2013). In addition, the provincial governments had little knowledge of IPRs protections and their related practices. But nonetheless, developing renewable and climate technologies held a great potential to generate incomes and to boost the local GDP. Therefore, the provincial governments and relevant companies would only utilise the most rapid way of generating incomes without significant prioritisation of IPRs protection.

Besides a lack of policy understanding, the EU institutions have also underestimated the impact of bureaucratic rifts within the Chinese energy and foreign policy making process. This misunderstanding became a major hindrance to a number of China-EU joint CDM projects applications. As discussed in Chapter 4, there are three major Chinese ministries sharing responsibilities for the formulation and the execution of China's climate diplomacy as well as international collaborations on CC and RE. Similarly, "the CDM Approval Board also consists of those three central governmental institutions, namely the NDRC and the MOST as Co-Chairs, and the MFA as Vice Chair" (NCCC 2005). With several equal bureaucratic ranking ministries involved, the approval process had inevitably become a battle ground for departmental interests.

According to the official website of China's CDM projects, "the CDM approval procedure starts with the NDRC and then is followed by a panel of environmental experts from the Chinese Academy of Environmental Science" (Ibid). With the approvals from experts and the NDRC officials, the project proposals are then sent to the CDM Board and considered by those three institutions jointly. Once the approval is given by the Board, the NDRC will issue a letter of authorisation with formal endorsement from the MFA and the MOST.

However, the weight of each institution in terms of approval authority has shifted over time. According to my interviews with people who applied to the CDM, "the role of MFA had been largely undermined over the years since the CDM Board was established in 2005"¹⁵⁰. Some media has also confirmed interviewees' opinion, "the major reason for its decline was due to the fact the MFA did not have sufficient scientific expertise to evaluate the actual feasibility of the project proposals" (China Briefing, 2011). The role of the MFA "remained as a nominal one, rather than with the subsistence needed to shape the final approval outcome" (China Energy Daily, 2013)[°]

The EU institutions had not fully realised the bureaucratic shifts at the CDM Board. As a result, Brussels facilitated many unsuccessful bids for CDM projects in China. For example, the City of Venice has developed experience in cleaning up chemicals in its numerous canals in the city. The water company¹⁵¹ who managed this project believed its experience in Venice could apply to a city in China with similar geographical condition. If the water company went to propose a CDM project, it would also help itself to gain extra certified emission credits. The Italian government also considered this "clean-water" technology could be a useful experiment to help Italian companies in the clean technologies sector setting foot in the Chinese market.

In 2008, the company which had worked successfully in Venice chose Tianjin Municipal

¹⁵⁰ Interviews with Vera Lehmann, who was responsible to German companies' CDM application in China, Nov 2012, Interviews with Tom Pellman who is government relations manager at VESTAS in Beijing, August 2012

Interviews with rom Perman who is government relations manager at vESTAS in Beijing, August 2

¹⁵¹ The company remained anonymous until further notice for commercial reason

government as partner to jointly bid for the "Desalination of Hai River in Tianjin Municipality" project under the CDM. The Italian company believed that the DG Environment¹⁵² must have extensive experience in dealing with CDM projects in China and it therefore turned to the Commission for advice and assistance during the bidding process. According to my interviews with the project manager, he criticised that "the Commission misled the bidding process by providing inaccurate information. The Commission told us that the MFA would play an important role in the CDM approval process while the MOST was not as influential as it should have been. Therefore, we made frequent exchanges with the Regulation and Law Bureau" at the MFA in Beijing¹⁵³. "This was to ensure that we strictly followed the rule of the Chinese Authority"¹⁵⁴. However, the NDRC and the MOST rejected the Italian company's proposal because they believe that "the project lacked feasibility; the water desalination process in Venice had little resemblance with that of the water purification process in Tianjin"¹⁵⁵.

This case was only the tip of the iceberg to illustrate the EU institutions inability to disentangle the intricate bureaucratic turf wars in Beijing. On the one hand, the Commission continued to criticise the lack of transparency in the Chinese decision-making process as well as to accuse China of a protectionist approach in developing its clean energy technology sector. On the other hand, the EU institutions spared no extra institutional and personal capacity to enhance their understanding of China's climate change policy objectives and its execution process. As a result, the Sino-European collaborations on CDM have largely remained stagnated without much substantial progress achieved at the EU level.

¹⁵² Before DG Clima established. DG Environment was responsible to the overall-European CDM projects initiation 153 外交部条法司

¹⁵⁴ Interviews with Dr Daniele Brombal, Project Manager at "EU-IRSES Project on Global Partners in Contaminated Land Management", November 2013, Berlin 155 Ibid

In conclusion, this section has revealed the institutional complexities and incapacity in Brussels during collaboration with China. It also illustrated that the EU institutions were not sufficiently prepared to respond to policy changes and bureaucratic shifts in the balance of power in Beijing. To make collaborations even more complicated, the EU institutions faced serious challenges from major member states seeking to forge their own sound relationships with China in the areas of trade and climate diplomacy. The next section will exclusively focus on the MS' policy initiatives and activities in collaborating with China. This will consider whether their activities have enhanced or undermined the overall Sino-European partnerships on CC and RE.

Section 6.2 The Role of European Member States in Determining the China-EU collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy

This section will shift the focus of the thesis onto the individual member states (MS) when they collaborate with China on tackling Climate Change (CC) and developing Renewable Energy (RE). As discussed in the previous section, the major EU MS are better equipped than the EU with their own institutional and financial resources when they pursue their own climate diplomacy agendas with Beijing. Their active engagements have posed a serious challenge to the coherence of the EU's overall engagements with China. On several occasions, they have openly opposed Brussels' position in order to improve their own bilateral partnerships with China

The MS individual engagements with China have not always been very successful. In particular, the larger EU MS have brought up normative issues with Beijing while trying to foster stronger economic ties. As demonstrated by many scholars in the field, "normative issues have always caused severe disputes across at all levels of the Sino-European relationships (Casarini, 2010; Wacker, 2012; Crookes, 2013)". Both large MS and Brussels have suffered from very negative consequences by antagonising the Chinese government on recurring issues such as Tibet, Human Rights and the rule of law. China's increasing assertiveness towards the EU and the MS has been largely reflected upon its policies towards the EU. As argued in Chapter two, its staunch belief on state sovereignty and non-interference principals are at the core of the disputes.

However, China's turbocharged economic growth could not be excluded from global economic integration. Meanwhile, its highly-polluting economic model faces daunting

challenges in the years to come. Instead of exclusively preserving the principals and values of its foreign policy, "the Chinese government has therefore given priority to domestic economic developments and tackling carbon emissions" (NDRC 2007, Ibid, 2013a). While at the same time the Sino-EU collaborations on CC and RE largely fit into China's national interests. To this extent, despite the persistent disputes over normative issues, Beijing's relations with Brussels and individual MS come with its own validity. Therefore, climate diplomacy and collaborations on RE have become good remedies to repair the damage caused by normative disputes.

In light of the above, this section will treat the MS as the primary analytical unit. It will seek to understand how the MS respond to the policy changes and bureaucratic shifts in Chinese foreign policy. In other word, it will examine the relationship between the major EU MS and the central government in Beijing. It will use case studies of RE collaborations to illustrate the reasons why climate diplomacy has become an effective means of rapprochement towards China after severe disputes over normative issues. It will also investigate the role of MS in undermining the EU's overall coherence in dealing with China in the field of RE. This section will present with two case studies. Firstly, it will use the case study of the British government seeking rapprochement with Beijing via civil nuclear collaboration after David Cameron's meeting with the Dalai Lama. Secondly, it will utilise the case study of the German government undermining the EU's overall position in the 2013 solar panel dispute.

The British Government Engagements with China after 2012

The British government under David Cameron experienced a drama in its relationship with China. This was mostly due to "David Cameron and Nick Clegg's official meetings with the Dalai Lama in May 2012 at No.10 Downing Street" (BBC 2012b). The Chinese government subsequently cut off all above ministerial-level meetings between the two sides and "declined two requests for the British Prime Minister"¹⁵⁶ to visit China. Only in September 2013 did George Osborne visit Beijing and signal a rapprochement between Beijing and London. Following an official visit from Cameron himself two months later, the November's visit represented that "the Sino-British bilateral relationship has been normalised and is back on track" (People's Daily 2013b).

The British government's recent disputes over human rights were not a new development for the other EU MS. The Chinese government has always been antagonistic towards states or international organisations which place normative issues at the core of their engagement strategies with China. However, the British government did not expect the Chinese to "shelve" their bilateral relations for such a long period of time. Despite the rapprochement in 2013, the Chinese government still managed to manipulate the visit and arranged many last minute cancellations to indicate its dissatisfaction with the Coalition government"¹⁵⁷.

The British government has always placed issues such as the respect of human rights and the rule of law at the centre of its foreign policy when it engages with other countries. In the case of China, London had managed in the past to separate trade and human rights when it decided its China policy after the return of Hong Kong in 1997. The previous Labour government had managed to maintain rather amicable relations with Beijing on the one hand. While on the other, also managed to establish an annual ministerial-level human rights dialogue with the Chinese government. Despite the routine nature of such dialogues, it played only a minimal role in the Sino-British bilateral relationships. Britain remained the fourth largest trade partner with China after Germany, France and Holland.

¹⁵⁶ Interview with staff members at the British Cabinet Office, London, July 2013

¹⁵⁷ Interviews with FCO staff members who participated in the visit in December, London Dec 2013

After the Coalition government came to power, No. 10 Downing Street aimed to distinguish itself from the previous Labour Government's almost exclusive focus on trade only engagements with Beijing. David Cameron insisted that "the respect of human rights is the best guarantor of prosperity and stability" (BBC, 2011a). Meeting with the Dalai Lama, the Tibetan spiritual leader in exile, had therefore become part of the Coalition government's policy mandate to illustrate the government's willingness to represent this fundamental value.

Yet, the British government had largely underestimated the political sensitivity of its official meetings with the Dalai Lama. Issues such as Tibet and minority rights were seen as a "territorial matter and domestic affairs of the PRC" (MFA, 2012). The Chinese government has often used whether foreign leaders would officially meet the Dalai Lama during his/her term in office as a benchmark to measure how amicable the bilateral relations are. Beijing had already punished the former French President Sarkozy by "cancelling a State visit as well as the China-EU Summit in 2008" (BBC 2008). In addition to the visit cancellations, the Chinese government also withdrew from the purchase of Airbus jets and other noticeable trade deals. China's sense of interplay between political sensitivity and economic deals was heavily criticised by the Western governments, and yet it had proved to be one of the most effective and brutal means by which Beijing conducts its foreign policy. Certainly, the Coalition government did not become fully aware of this until May 2012.

Apart from the political sensitivity of Tibet and human rights issues, the Coalition was also caught in the midst of institutional rifts in the Chinese central ministries. Surely, the Coalition government, like the most European governments, viewed China as a monolithic state, and therefore assumed that decisions were made by a group of seven in Politburo. On the contrary, as discussed in previous chapters and as noted by other scholars, "the foreign policy making process in China had been much pre-occupied by inter-departmental conflicts amongst all equally important ministries" (Wang, 2011: 78; Jakobson&Knox, 2010: 47). The outcomes of certain foreign policy decisions are often represented by the results of the lowest common denominator amongst relevant stakeholders.

In the case of the Sino-British bilateral partnership after May 2012, Beijing's abrupt response to David Cameron's meeting was not a surprise to the rest of the world. Rather, it was the length of the "Deep freeze period" which overwhelmed the British government and other EU MS (Daily Telegraph, 2013). One of the major attributes to such a long freeze period was because conflicts arose between the MFA and the MOFCOM over how the Chinese government should respond to the Cameron - Dalai Lama meetings. As described previously, the MFA was the principal actor in dealing with political bilateral relations whereas the MOFCOM was in charge of economic and trade related matters in Chinese foreign policy.

In the case of the Sino-British relationships, bilateral trade ties were seen as "the vital component, of their bilateral partnerships" (Gov.UK, 2013). To this extent, the MFA had only a minimum role to play apart from coordinating the Sino-UK human rights dialogue and arranging high-level visit. Apart from the competition from the MFA's ultimate rival, the MOFCOM has taken the full responsibility towards the Sino-British bilateral trade relationship. There were also frequent and fruitful exchanges between the CCP and all three major political Parties, which are directly dealt with by the CCP International Department (IDCPC 2014). "The continuous Inter-Party dialogue was not cancelled by the recent troublesome Sino-British relations, and was held annually either in London or in Beijing. A multitude of issues had been discussed during the dialogue with great honesty and openness.

The dialogue itself seemed to create more impact on the overall bilateral relations than the Human Rights Dialogue^{,158}.

Paradoxically, Cameron and Clegg's meetings with the Dalai Lama offered the MFA a unique opportunity to play a crucial role in the troubled China-UK relationship, in particular in the field of high politics and bilateral political partnerships. The MFA was designated to act as the chief executive on behalf of the Chinese government on this occasion. According to the conventional practice of China's foreign policy, there were two compelling reasons to argue that China should express its frustration over the meeting. Firstly, the Coalition government under David Cameron had intervened in the domestic affairs of the PRC, and this intervention should be denounced immediately.

Secondly, the British government relied on a sound trade tie with China to revitalise its sluggish domestic economy. Therefore, the bilateral trade and the investments from China were critical to the well-being of the UK economy. Temporarily unplugging the bilateral relations would therefore be a learning opportunity for London. By doing so, the Coalition would be made aware of the importance for respecting the principals of Chinese foreign policy. As a result, the Standing Committee certainly took into consideration the MFA's proposal. And yet the China-UK trade ties were not cut off totally during this period, but were rather carefully maintained via the Chinese Commercial Consulate in London, which was under the direct control of the MOFCOM. The Consulate had actually actively sought to cultivate the existing trade ties by canvassing for opinions and searching for potential opportunities amongst the UK business community¹⁵⁹.

¹⁵⁸ Interviews with the person who is directly in charge of the dialogue, the Chinese Embassy, September 2012 London 159 Interviews with the Ministerial Counsellor of the Chinese Commercial Consulate in London, October 2013

The Coalition government had not only accidentally been caught on the bureaucratic rifts within the Chinese policy making process, but also faced a daunting internal challenge itself in terms of how London should engage with Beijing. Conflicts arose amongst the Cabinet Office, the Treasury and the FCO. As some media established, "there were polarised opinions on the Coalition government's China policy after the Sino-British relationships entered a frozen period" (Stephens 2013; SCMP 2013). My interviews with staff at the UK Cabinet Office also confirmed this internal disagreement on diplomacy towards China.

On the one hand, the Cabinet office headed by David Cameron and George Osborne argued that "they should follow a mercantilist approach to engage with China by doubling bilateral trade as well as attracting Chinese investments. These were the twin pillars of the UK's China policy"¹⁶⁰. On the other hand, the Deputy Prime Minister, Nick Clegg and the Foreign Minister William Hague insisted that "the Coalition government should continue to emphasise the UK's engagements with and concerns over China's human rights issues. The British government should not give up upholding its fundamental values and principals"¹⁶¹. According to my interviews, the Cabinet Office held a meeting each month between January and March 2013 to discuss the possible strategies to engage with China, with none of the meetings reaching agreements between the two sides¹⁶².

The opportunity for a rapprochement with Beijing came in May 2013 when EDF, the French utility company, planned to participate in bidding for the construction of a civil nuclear power station near Hinkley, Somerset. "EDF invited its long-term Chinese partner, China Guangdong Nuclear Company (CGNPC) to join the bid as a minor shareholder" (EDF 2013).

¹⁶⁰ Interviews with the UK Cabinet Office member staff, December 2012,London

¹⁶¹ Interviews with members at FCO, February 2013, March 2013, London

¹⁶² Interviews with a senior British diplomat, July 2013,London

While the EDF sent its proposal to the Cabinet Office and Department of Climate Change and Energy, the Cabinet Office considered the EDF's joint bid with CGNPC as a unique opportunity to organise a rapprochement with the Chinese government. A joint bid in a heightened national security sector also signalled that the UK was very welcoming to foreign investments, in particular from China.

Unlike previous prominent investment projects made by the CIC and the Chinese SOEs between 2009 and 2012, such as Bright Food and Shanghai Automotive, where investments were to come in the form of an equity purchase and in which the Chinese shareholders would not seek to manage the targeted companies or projects (BBC, 2012a; Guardian, 2011; WSJ, 2010).

In this new project the "CGNPC would actively seek to participate in the construction as well as the daily technical management of the Hinkley Point C nuclear power station" (China First Financial Daily 2013c, Ibid: 2014; WNN 2013; Peston, 2013)¹⁶³. However, the Cabinet Office seemed to have more than one compelling reason to be positive towards the EDF-CGNPC deal. Firstly, most infrastructures such as utility and railways in the UK were dated and costly to manage. With the participation from foreign investors, the UK government did not need to spend too much public finance to repair and rebuild the existing infrastructure. Secondly, the UK faced an imminent challenge of energy shortages. Constructing nuclear power stations could be one of the most effective solutions to mitigate the upcoming energy crisis. And thirdly, CGNPC's participation in the UK energy market also signalled that China would very much like to remain as a good trade partner with the UK to profit from London's position as a centre of global finance. The British government should seize this opportunity to

¹⁶³ Interviews with CGNPC staff members, May 2013, Paris

attract more Chinese investors, especially the investments from the energy and utility SOEs. Consequentially, a joint nuclear energy project had become the key to a rapprochement between China and the UK.

However, as established in the British media, "the Cabinet Office's decision to invite the CGNPC's participation in the UK nuclear industry was never short of criticism from both within the government, in particular from the FCO, and the wider public" (SCMP 2013). According to my interviews and several meetings with two very senior FCO members directly involved in the Sino-British relationships, they suggested that "the FCO was furious at the sycophancy and kowtowing by the Chancellor and the Prime Minister. We had strongly advised against such a mercantilist approach and believed that it would gain the UK no respect from Beijing. However, our advice was over-ruled by the Cabinet Office"¹⁶⁴.

The British media had almost universally accused Downing Street of kowtowing to China (Guardian 2014; The Spectator 2013). Besides the criticism of the Coalition government ignoring principles and values, one of main criticisms of the deal was the unprecedented danger involved in national security. The Coalition government was accused of "jeopardising national security to appease an authoritarian government" (BBC 2013). From my in-depth discussions with members of the Cabinet Office, the concern for national security had always been in the mind-set of the UK government. However, with a weak economic recovery ahead, the priority had become to attract the Chinese investors to re-invigorate the British economy.

The British government had used this joint nuclear power station construction as a means to defrost their troublesome bilateral relations. To a large extent, this case reflected how the

¹⁶⁴ Interviews with two very senior FCO members during EDF-CGNPC commercial consultation meetings, October 2012

British government responded to the changes in Chinese foreign policies as well as to shifts in the balance of power amongst the foreign policy making institutions. Firstly, the Sino-UK investment projects were part of China's attempts to rebalance and restructure their domestic economy. The Chinese government aimed to encourage more and more SOEs to participate in foreign investments in order to establish their reputations, as well as honing their management skills. These twin assets were abundant in the UK and the EU, but relatively scarce amongst Chinese companies.

Secondly, China's assertive responses to the Coalition government's Dalai Lama meeting was a demonstration of China's newly acquired economic strength being used to achieve its political goals. In other words, to respect China's principal of foreign policy was the absolute prerequisite to the cultivating of strong economic ties. Equally important, the MFA's vociferous criticism was a reflection of the shifts in the institutional balance of power amongst bureaucratic actors in shaping the outcomes of China's foreign policy. This case did not suggest that the MFA had fully managed to restore its once powerful status amongst other ministries. Rather, it indicated that the MFA still managed to utilise its limited and yet deployable resources to ensure its proposals were agreed to by the ultimate decision-makers. Yet, the British government had largely misunderstood, and stagnated itself in the conflict. To this extent, it indicated that the Sino-UK bilateral relationships had also been largely dictated by an array of actors which produced some unexpected and damaging outcomes.

2. The role of the German government in collaborating with China on climate and renewable technologies

Unlike the British government who rushed to rectify its relations with China, Berlin has

conducted a rather coherent China policy over the past few years. On the one hand, the German government managed to improve their commercial relations and remained as "the largest trade partner with China in the EU (Xinhua, 2014b)". On the other hand, the German government has continued to engage with China in regards to normative issues, but with a markedly softer tone.

In recent years, Berlin was fully aware of the Chinese government's determination to curb their carbon emissions and to establish a competitive renewable industry. Therefore, the German government has successfully combined its expertise in the field of climate science and enthusiasm over curbing emissions as part of its China policy. It established and executed a comprehensive collaboration plan on CC and RE across all levels of the Chinese government apparatus. Meanwhile, both the corporate sector and non-governmental sectors have also developed active programmes to promote German home-grown environmental technologies and emission reductions measures. Most collaborative projects have become major success and have been considered as a great achievement for the Sino-German bilateral partnership. However, Germany's success was at the expenses of undermining the EU's overall engagements with China in the fields of CC and RE.

The EU's core strategy to collaborate with China on CC and RE are mainly through regular policy dialogue and technical consultation. As suggested previously in this thesis, it is rather difficult to measure the success of this policy dialogue as it is a matter of style over subsistence. By contrast, the German government has not only conducted bilateral ministerial dialogues over Climate Change, but more importantly "executed an in-depth collaboration plan with both the central ministries in Beijing as well as the provincial governmental authority simultaneously" (MFA, 2012b; Ecological Institute, 2012a).

The most noticeable and high-level collaborations were initiated by the German International Cooperation Agency (GIZ). In 2010, Angela Merkel paid a visit to China; "GIZ's collaboration plan was part of her visit's agenda" (China Daily 2010a). Beijing and Berlin signed an agreement on a joint "Sino-German Climate Change Programme" (SGCC). This Programme aims to "enhance the capacity of national, provincial and local institutions in order to further develop, implement and monitor Climate Change and carbon reduction" (GIZ). The main Chinese collaborative partner is the NDRC, which has been the most influential institution in China's CC and RE policy formation and execution. The Programme itself covers three broad areas: namely, "the capacity building for Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation, Low Carbon Development in the Power Sector and Low Carbon Development in the Power Sector and Low Carbon Development in the Power sector, GIZ's Chinese partnerships have also been extended to the Ministry of Transportation and several Chinese utility SOEs.

As observed previously, most joint projects between China, the EU and the MS have given a strong emphasis upon technical transfers or scientific innovations. They focused on the technical side of Climate Change whereas the GIZ's Programme placed their focuses towards policy measures as well as the implementation side of Climate Change mitigation. These engagements by the GIZ have been very successful both at the central ministries and several provincial governments across China. According to the training programme manual from GIZ, "the SGCC Programme hosted monthly seminars to train members of staff at the Climate Change Bureau of the NDRC (Ecologic Institute 2012b; Climate Policy, 2013)". The training sessions covered a wide array of carbon reduction and climate change policy related areas. They were mostly to introduce Germany's policy implementation experience in curbing

emissions and experience in increasing the public awareness of climate change.

According to my interviews with the SGCC Programme organisers, they believed that "this particular type of engagement was rather more successful than merely conducting policy dialogue. Such training would facilitate a better understanding of CC and help to result in more efficient policies on curbing emissions in China"¹⁶⁵. For example, one of the most successful training sessions focused on "Carbon Emissions Measurement, Reporting and Verification (MRV)". As established by both media and scholars, "MRV had always been an area of dispute amongst the EU, the MS and China when it came to the UNFCCC negotiations (De Matties, 2012: 29; Torney&Biedenkopf, 2013: 11; 21st Century Economic News, 2010b)". Beijing insisted that "the methods of measuring and reporting emissions were subject to decisions by the Chinese government institutions. As asserted by a Chinese scholar, "these processes were matters of Chinese domestic policy which had nothing to do with the Europeans" (Pan, 2010:2).

Therefore, the Chinese government preferred "to calculate the emission units according to its own MRV mechanism rather than adopting the European MRV system (Caixin, 2010b)". Yet, the refusal to adopt the European MRV mechanism posed a serious challenge to both the Chinese and the European companies that participated in the Clean Development Mechanism projects in China. Under the Kyoto Protocol, "the European MRV system to calculate carbon emissions was considered as one of the accepted standards when it came to qualify the Certificate Emission Reductions (CERs) whereas the Chinese emissions calculating method was not accepted by Kyoto Protocol" (IETA: 3,4; Ibid, 2013:5). Whilst the European MRV lost its validity to Chinese CDM projects, most joint CDM projects between the Chinese and

¹⁶⁵ Interviews with Marcus Muller at SGCC Programme, GIZ, Beijing August 2013

the European enterprises had encountered great difficulties in converting the Chinese emission units into the European standardised units.

As a result, the participants in some Chinese CDM projects lost its economic incentives to qualify CERs. This was largely due to neither the Chinese Designated National Authority (DNA) on CDM nor the European counterpart accepting the MRV system of each side. Such predicaments in carbon emission conversion had discouraged many European companies from entering into Chinese CDM projects, which in turn prevented the Chinese companies from learning the latest climate change or renewable energy technologies. GIZ's SGCC programme spent "almost six month of training to explain the importance of having a universally accepted MRV system (Ecological Institute 2012a)". As asserted by both foreign and Chinese media, "the NDRC finally decided to gradually adopt the European MRV system in selected industries, such as coal and petro-chemical industries, when it came to launch China's pilot project in emissions trading in 2013 (AHK, 2013;Ideacarbon 2013; 21st Century Economic News 2013)". To a large extent, this was deemed as a significant achievement in the German government's effective engagement with China on the subject of CC and RE.

The collaboration under SGCC Programme had not only been carried out at the central level in Beijing. The German government was also fully aware of the division between the central and provincial administration when it came to formulating and executing the decisions on energy and the environment. It was therefore of heightened importance to engage with the provincial governments over the issues of CC and RE. According to SGCC official website, "the GIZ had also conducted a similar training programme at the provincial level of administration. It chose provinces across China, including Guangdong, Hubei, Jilin and Jiangxi (SGCC website)". According to my own knowledge and analysis, there were a few compelling reasons why the GIZ hand-picked the above four provinces as pilot studies of the provincial engagements. Firstly, the chosen provinces had already experienced the benefit of RE, Guangdong and Jiangxi had built and utilised civil nuclear power stations for electricity generation and Hubei used bio-fuel. A sense of familiarity would make it easier for the GIZ to deliver the training programmes. Secondly, provinces such as Jilin and Hubei were treated as the hubs for China's utility grids. Therefore, training for policy measures would help the GIZ to further enhance its own understanding on China's grids, and the German's smart grid projects could be brought in at a later stage. Thirdly, the above four provinces have large populations. Successful results in training and collaboration could bring a greater impact and substantial commercial contracts to the German companies when they place bids for government public procurement projects. These projects were often very hard to bid for unless the bidding companies or the organisations have had similar working experience with the hosting governmental institutions. According to my interviews with staff members at the GIZ, they considered "their multiple engagements with both the central ministries and provincial governments as a major source of success for the bilateral collaboration on CC and RE between China and Germany"¹⁶⁶.

However, the major successes the German government achieved had overshadowed the overall Sino-European collaborations on the CC and RE. This was largely because the Sino-European collaborations were finding it difficult to move beyond the annual policy dialogue and policy consultation process. As a NDRC participant of the GIZ training pointed out, she had the impression that "it was the Germans who drove the overall Sino-European

166 Ibid

collaborations on the CC and RE^{"."¹⁶⁷}. This view was also "echoed by the Chinese Premier Li Keqiang during his trip to Germany in 2013(China Daily 2013)". Certainly, this was merely an impression, yet it reflected the Chinese perception over the collaborations. Su wei, the Head of Climate Change Bureau at the NDRC argued, "the officials from Brussels came to Beijing to discuss issues and errors within our climate policy whereas the Germans came to China to show us how Berlin executed its climate policy. There were fundamental differences in terms of attitudes on how they worked with China between Brussels and Berlin^{" 168}. Mr Su's views were also seconded by some European academics who are researching on this subject, they suggested that "the most intensive EU cooperation came from the MS rather than the Union itself" (Dorney and Biedenkorf, 2013: 11).

Given the German government's multi-level and in-depth collaborations with China on climate change, the German government had therefore openly opposed the EU Commission's decision to launch the "Anti-Dumping& Anti-subsidies" investigations over China's solar panel industry" (FT 2013e). Paradoxically, it was a German solar company that filed the complaint to the Commission because the Chinese government' substantial amount of subsidies towards the solar manufacturers severely threatened the Germany company's competitiveness. The German government also treated the solar panel manufacturers as a crucial industry to secure local employment in the Eastern part of Germany. However, Berlin's opposition towards the EU had not only stunned its solar companies, "but more importantly weakened the overall EU's position to launch the investigations to China (WSJ 2013)".

Angela Merkel's government had several compelling reasons to oppose the investigations. As

¹⁶⁷ Interviews with a NDRC participant of SGCC training seminars, Beijing August 2013 168 Interviews with Su wei, Beijing August 2013

the largest trade partner to China within the EU, the German economy had enjoyed continuous high demand from China on its refined manufacturing products which China could not produce from its own capacity. For example, under the renewable energy development campaign, China had rapidly jumped into the position of being one of the top three global wind turbine manufacturers; as several scholars asserted, "this was all thanks to German turbine technology licenses" (Berger et al, 2012; Lewis, 2008). According to some industrial experts, the growing competitiveness of the Chinese wind power industry depends greatly upon "modularity", which allows the Chinese manufacturers to purchase turbine licenses from selected leading European design houses, and it was several German companies that were the target of Chinese enterprises (Lema&Lema, 2012; Li& Shi, 2010).

With those licenses in hand, the Chinese manufacturers integrated themselves well into the entire turbine industry supply chains. For example, "Goldwind Electricity Co, a leading wind turbine manufacturer bought the famous German turbine design house, Vensys in 2008" (China Daily, 2009). According to data from the German Development Institute and China Construction Bank, there were at least five leading German turbine design houses which were purchased by Chinese manufacturers in 2011 (DIE 2011, CCB 2011).

This link in the wind turbine industry was merely the tip of the iceberg to illustrate how many German manufacturers and exports relied upon Chinese demand. Therefore, Berlin was rather afraid that agreeing to the EU's initiative to launch the investigations would harm the German industry to a considerable extent. This would also undermine the previous efforts being made by the GIZ through the SGCC programme. Berlin consequently opposed Brussels' decisions on the investigations. The German's opposition to the investigations led to other MS which have stronger trade relations with China to side with Berlin. To this extent, the EU's authority has already been largely undermined and overshadowed by the commercial successes that some MS achieved by engaging with China economically. It was almost impossible to expect the EU and the MS to speak with a single voice on issues related to China when each actor has rather distinctive interests to pursue. In the case of Germany, the success of collaboration in regards to climate change would certainly lead to strong attempts to achieve fruitful results in other areas of their bilateral relations with Beijing.

In summary, this section exhibited two large MS' engagements with China on CC and RE. These collaborations had become effective remedies to either repair or enhance the bilateral partnerships. To a large extent, such success was particularly driven by the MS' willingness and their carefully crafted collaboration plans. More important, these successful results were driven by changes in the Chinese energy and FP as China faced the daunting domestic challenge of energy shortages and suffering from its highly polluting growth model. As a result, China had to rely upon foreign collaborations to mitigate an imminent environmental crisis. MS' active engagements certainly impacted upon the overall EU position in engaging with China in these two fields. The EU's overall position was weakened and decisions from Brussels were side-lined. In this context, it indicated that the Sino-European collaborations were very much shaped by the interests and activities from a diverse range of actors. Apart from the European governments at different levels, the European companies have continued to play a major role in different areas of engagement with China. This also applies to the fields of CC and RE. The next section will therefore make an attempt to explain the role of European companies in determining Sino-European collaborations.

Section 6.3 The Role of the European Companies in Determining the China-EU Collaboration on Climate Change and Renewable Energy

This section shifts the focus of the chapter to the relations between European companies and their Chinese counterparts when they have collaborated on projects in the fields of CC and RE. The European companies' collaborative partners have not been restricted only to the large Chinese SOEs, but have also extended to the central ministries and provincial governments. Due to the restrictive length of this section, it will only focus on the interactions between European companies and the central ministries in China, and the relations between European companies and the Chinese utility SOEs.

As observed in Chapter Five, the Chinese SOEs are, in part, economic vehicles for the state. They are characterised simultaneously as both corporate organisations as well as governmental departments. On the contrary, the European companies were mostly publicly listed companies that were directly controlled by their shareholders and investors. Their ultimate objective is to maximise their profits and to expand their businesses into new markets. China, for many European companies, is an attractive yet very opaque market. As a result, the European companies would have to formulate amicable relations with the key decision makers as well as the leading SOEs simultaneously in order to set their foot into, and to profit from, the vast market of China.

Given that the areas of CC and RE had been relatively new industries for both the Chinese government and Chinese companies, this sense of unfamiliarity offered European companies a rare and enormous opportunity to act as harbingers to China. A few European companies helped the Chinese government to establish the rules and regulations for the industry, while some of them introduced the latest cutting edge technologies in the field of RE and carbon emissions.

Yet, not all their collaborations have been free from difficulties and bureaucratic predicaments. As observed by some media outlets, "some of the European companies had to withdraw from the Chinese market because of the increasingly protectionist approach to the RE market undertaken by the Chinese authorities" (Daily Telegraph, 2010; NY Times, 2009). This was largely due to the rapid progress that the Chinese RE manufacturers made in a relatively short span of time.

Beyond this introduction, this section will offer two case studies to illustrate the successes and the failures of the European companies collaborating with Chinese counterparts. By doing so, this section intends to illuminate the overall Sino-European collaborations are very much dictated by a multitude of actors, which have its own distinctive interests to pursue in these collaborative partnerships. Their own interests have certainly impacted upon the dynamics of the collaborations.

As asserted in Chapter 4, the Chinese governmental ministries in Beijing played a decisive role in shaping China's energy policy as well as determining wider international collaborations. The European companies that intended to secure a lion's share of the Chinese market were fully aware of the enormous power that the central ministries have to shape policy outcomes. They have often treated the Chinese governmental ministries as the first choice of collaborative partners when they initially entered the domestic market. Successful collaborations between the central ministries and the European companies mostly took place at the very early stage of developments for the Chinese RE sector. This was largely because formulating and executing RE and CC policies were daunting challenges to the central ministries due to their lack of industrial expertise in both sectors. The European enterprises played the role of "information provider" by introducing technological standards and industrial practices to the central ministries. By providing information, the European companies enabled their preferred policies to be introduced; and their products were adopted by the Chinese authorities.

1. VESTAS and NDRC collaborations to establish the Chinese Wind Industry Standard

VESTAS has been the leading global player of wind energy since the invention of wind power generation technology. It entered the Chinese market in 1998 through the exporting of small-scale offshore turbines and gearboxes to Chinese oil companies which have big offshore oilfield operations. VESTAS did not export its entire turbine technology until 2003 when the Chinese authority allowed foreign participation in wind farm constructions (NDRC 2003). Five years later, VESTAS made a joint bid on China's first offshore wind farm, albeit unsuccessfully.

VESTAS' clients in China have included all five Chinese major utility companies and two oil companies. It has also acted as a major facilitator to the "the Sino-Danish Renewable Energy Development Programme (RED)" under the governance of Energy Research Institute of NDRC (ERI; NDRC2006a).

VESTAS' early successful collaborations with the Chinese government are in marked contrast to the mostly troubled cooperation projects between European companies and their Chinese partners. Its initial success in the Chinese RE market was not with a Chinese utility State Owned Enterprises (SOEs). Rather, VESTAS' most noticeable and successful collaboration was between 2009 and 2010 when the company helped the NDRC and other ministries to draft "the PRC Wind Energy Equipment Manufacturing Entry Standard"¹⁶⁹ (MIIT 2010; Xinhua, 2010a). Yet, according the interviews, VESTAS did not directly participate in the drafting process run by the NDRC; rather, "it acted as a crucial information provider and experienced consultant to the NDRC in carrying out some feasibility studies of establishing an integrated wind energy industry in China"¹⁷⁰.

In 2009, the NDRC and other ministries had intensive discussions over "drafting the industrial standards of various forms of Renewable energies" (NEA 2010). As suggested in Chapter 4, most staff members who worked at the NDRC were part of a "revolving door process"¹⁷¹. It was this process which allowed them to shift from fossil fuels companies into the NDRC and other energy-related government agencies. However, these staff members had very little knowledge in terms of renewable industry. "They were confused by the technologies of power generation via solar, wind and hydro. Some of them had never even seen a wind farm before"¹⁷². As a result, the NDRC realised the challenges it faced to formulate appropriate policy proposals for submission to the State Council for further discussions and endorsements. According to my interviews with the NDRC, "its staff members were familiar with a few names of the European companies in the area of RE, such as Siemens, VESTAS and RWE. Therefore, they sought out these European conglomerates for expert advice"¹⁷³.

VESTAS was one of the few European wind energy companies that had entered China by 1999" (VESTAS). It was automatically chosen by the NDRC to give expert advice on

¹⁶⁹ Referred as "The Standard" in the following paragraphs

¹⁷⁰ Interviews with VESTAS Government relation manager, September 2012, Beijing

¹⁷¹ Interviews with a staff member at the NDRC, August 2012, Beijing

¹⁷² Interviews with VESTAS Government relation manager, September 2012, Beijing

¹⁷³ Interviews with a staff member at NDRC, September 2012, Beijing

establishing an industrial standard for the Chinese wind energy as well as to carry out feasibility studies of wind energy in China. As my interviewees from VESTAS suggested, "the Company was very surprised that it was chosen by the NDRC to consult on the Standard. Yet, it was enthusiastic about doing so because VESTAS would become an information provider and play a vital role of agenda setting when determining the Chinese wind industry's rules and regulations"¹⁷⁴. Combined with four staff members from the NDRC, VESTAS provided a group of 15 wind energy experts and travelled to possible wind farm locations such as, Xinjiang, Inner Mongolia and Gansu provinces for the initial feasibility research.

It had also extensively researched on which types of turbines produced by VESTAS would be most suitable according to the geographic landscape in China. Meanwhile, VESTAS also sent several turbines and gearboxes to test the installation capacity of the potential farm locations. It bore the huge initial financial cost to ship wind energy equipment and to conduct geographic compatibility research. However, VESTAS asserted that "China would began its wind industry expansion very soon, and the more we used our products to show the viability of wind farms in China, the more we would gain financially as well as politically"¹⁷⁵.

The above interviews, demonstrated that VESTAS worked hard to establish its own reputation and to build trust with the Chinese government, just like many other Western companies have done in China. As media outlets have asserted, "the main attribute to VESTAS' success in collaborating with the Chinese government was due to China's nascent developments of RE" (China Energy Daily, 2011). VESTAS managed to act as an insightful information provider which was similar to the way in which some Chinese SOEs did with their corresponding governmental departments. VESTAS realised that in a semi-market

¹⁷⁴ Interviews with VESTAS Government Relations Manager, August, September 2012, Beijing

¹⁷⁵ Ibid

oriented economy like China, the importance of having the trust, and connections, from the central ministries had become vital to the survival and commercial success of a foreign company in the vast Chinese domestic market. Building trust would be even more important than merely transferring the latest technologies or exporting products to China.

After several months of research and testing, the NDRC had finally adopted most of the research findings and conclusions made by the VESTAS team. The NDRC together with Ministry of Industry and Information Technology (MITT) had therefore drafted the final version of China's "Wind Energy Equipment Manufacturing Standard" according to the test results "using almost exclusively VESTAS equipment"¹⁷⁶; and "the draft sent by the NDRC was finally approved by the State Council" (Xinhua 2010). Arguably, VESTAS had successfully shaped the decision-making process of the Chinese RE policy via an alternative avenue which introduced its wide range of products to the Chinese market. As a result, VESTAS was consistently chosen as a collaborative partner by Chinese SOEs in the later projects to construct wind farms because of the endorsements made by the NDRC. In addition, a number of flagship projects between Chinese and VESTAS were highlights of the central government visits led by both the Chinese and Danish Premiers (NDRC, 2011a; MOST 2012).

As demonstrated by other scholars and industrial reports, VESTAS' influence on Chinese RE policy between 2009 and 2010 was not a rare phenomenon just at the early stages of China's RE developments", the impact of foreign companies upon the Chinese industrial upgrade also extended into other sectors such as, the high-spend railways and automotive industries (Berger et al, 2012; IRENA). Yet, for VESTAS, its triumph with the Chinese government

¹⁷⁶ Ibid, and interviews were also complemented by a staff at NDRC and a senior advisor at China Wind Energy Association who participated in drafting the standard, September 2012, Beijing

continued during the period when the Chinese wind industry reached its maturity. It managed to negotiate "a level of policy flexibility" according to its own corporate interests, something which most foreign companies have not succeeded in achieving.

After the Standard was published in 2010, "the NDRC and the newly established NEA made several revisions due to China's rapid progress in the manufacturing of wind equipment and constructing wind farms" (China Business Journal 2011). In particular, the "NEA paid greater attention to the safety standards of the industry after several incidents occurred" (Wind Power Monthly 2011). At this stage, the NEA consulted neither domestic wind energy companies nor the foreign ones regarding the revisions.

In May 2011, "the NEA required all wind turbines built in China have 'Low Volta Rod Through (LVRT)' capacity, which allows turbines to continue spinning when electricity runs very low" (People's Daily 2011). LVRT capability will avoid turbines stopping abruptly which will prevent potential detrimental damage to the entire turbine. "The NEA required all turbine manufacturers to have the LVRT capacity Certificate by the end of 2011" (China Daily, 2011b), and the testing of the turbines had to be completed specifically at the only NEA designated test centre in Hebei province. As a result, a large number of turbine manufacturers scrambled for testing slots in Hebei.

As established in interviews, "despite VESTAS' good relations with the NDRC, just like its peers it faced an equally pressing challenge to suspend all of its operating turbines in China following the updated industrial standard from the NEA, and the Danish giant was not even allowed to use its European certificates of LVRT. It was very much afraid of running out of

time because the test involved possible IPR disclosure in the test centre"¹⁷⁷. After an intensive lobbying process, VESTAS had provided compelling reasons to ask for the LVRT test to take place in Denmark rather than China. "It was finally given permission by the NEA to organise the test outside China as long as staff members from the designated test centre in Hebei were to be present"¹⁷⁸. As a result, VESTAS had no delay in obtaining the LVRT certificate as requested by the NEA. This case served as a classical example on how the European companies which had familiarised themselves with the Chinese policy making system had managed to successfully negotiate it for their own benefit.

This success in interpreting Chinese domestic policy by VESTAS was rather exceptional. In particular, VESTAS successfully established sophisticated and amicable relations with the key departments of the Chinese energy policy making. It fully understood the power of the NDRC over agenda-setting in China's RE developments. VESTAS had also managed to protect its IPRs even if it had experienced small difficulties over the updated policy certificate. Instead of protesting through the EU Commission or the European Chamber of Commerce in China, VESTAS skilfully managed to serve as a good information provider to the Chinese government and negotiated some policy flexibilities for its own benefit.

However, the next case will depict more conventional collaborative relations between a European company and a Chinese SOE, with interventions from several central ministries. But nonetheless, both case studies serve the purpose to demonstrate the extent to which the Sino-European collaborative partnerships on CC and RE are often determined by the diverse interests of a wide range of actors participating in collaborations.

¹⁷⁷ Interviews with a LVRT testing project staff member, Chinese Academy of Science August 2012, Beijing 178 Ibid

2. Siemens and China Hua Neng Renewable Company's collaboration over the construction of China's first offshore wind farm

The German industrial conglomerate Siemens "entered China back in 1872 (Siemens 2013)". Its business operation in China included "power generation and transmission, health care, lighting, high-speed railway, white goods manufacturing and renewable energy" (Ibid). Its main collaborative partners consisted of a large number of the Chinese SOEs across several industries. Siemens' collaborative projects with their Chinese counterparts had often been treated as flagship projects between China and Germany, therefore, "almost every German Chancellor and the Chinese Premier witnessed the signature ceremonies during their frequent bilateral visits" (China News, 2004; Sohu News 2010). The most profitable business units by Siemens in China were located in "the power generation and transmission sector, closely followed by high-speed railways" (Siemens, 2013). After China's endorsement of the Renewable Law, Siemens longed for a lion's share of China's RE boom. Unlike VESTAS, Siemens was not a conventional RE company but "aspired to make its renewable unit into a blue-chip business unit" (Ibid). However, as some experts asserted, "it had not established a strong reputation as a global leading renewable player amongst the Chinese RE policy making community" (Berger et al, 2012: 14). It was therefore much harder for Siemens to compete with VESTAS in the field of RE in China.

As demonstrated in Chapter Five, VESTAS and the CNOOC failed to bid together for the first offshore wind farm in China in 2008. The main reason for the VESTAS-CNOOC's failure was the lack of the requisite license from the State Oceanic Agency (SOA) because CNOOC had not established an amicable working relationship with the SOA. Two years later, "in 2010, the China Hua Neng Renewable Company (CHNRC) began to bid for the

construction of its first offshore wind farm in China, which was located on the coastline alongside the East China Sea" (Sina 2010). Siemens became the joint bid partner with the CHNRC due to its long-term partnership with the China Huang Neng Group (CHN), the parent company of CHNRC.

As media outlets observed, "Siemens had established its long-term and successful collaborative partnership with CHN in 1993" (China Energy Daily, 2014b). CHN is China's largest utility company both in terms of profitability and fixed assets. CHN was also politically well connected, with a member of the Standing Committee of Politburo within the Chinese Communist Party backing its business operation. Siemens' collaboration with CHN was mostly placed in the conventional power generation and transmission sector. "It participated in almost all of CHN's power grids innovation projects as well as the Inter-Generation Combined Gas and Coal technologies project" (Ibid)¹⁷⁹. Therefore, Siemens automatically became the collaborative partner and acted as the exclusive wind turbines supplier to CHNRC for several inland and onshore wind farms in Inner Mongolia and Xinjiang until 2007. However, as a number of scholars asserted, "Siemen's turbine supply business to CHNRC was badly affected by the NDRC and the MOST' policy execution of 'Indigenous Innovation' and the requirement of 'local contents' for all new RE projects commencing in 2007 (Kuntze&Moerenbout, 2013: 17,18; MOST 2007)". These two policies mandate "had been heavily criticised by most European companies that were operating in China" (Roland Berger 2010, ECCC 2011, (Economic Observers, 2011a).

In order to expand its own RE business and avoid conflict with the "local content requirement" policy, Siemens made a good attempt in joining CHNRC to bid for the

¹⁷⁹ A show case project was asked by the NDRC

construction of CHNRC's first offshore wind farm in China, namely the East China Sea Bridge Wind Farm. Until now, "Offshore wind technology was excluded from the NDRC and the MOST' policy mandate of 'local content requirement' due to China's own lack of technical know-how in the area (NDRC 2009e)". Therefore, Siemens realised it again had a large role to play in China's booming RE market.

As suggested in expert interviews, in CHNRC's proposal to the NDRC and the MOST, Siemens was designated to act as CHNRC's exclusive supplier of offshore wind turbines, and CHNRC realised that there were not any other tenders with a real competitive edge necessary to win.¹⁸⁰ Siemens almost certainly enjoyed this exclusivity and the likelihood of becoming a major foreign participant in China's first offshore wind farm construction. Meanwhile, Siemens' partner, CHNRC utilised its omnipresent political capital to convince the NDRC and the MOST to accept the company as the only constructor for the project.

Unfortunately, the Siemens-CHNRC's joint bid was refused by the NDRC and the MOST. Instead, the NDRC and the MOST suggested that the "CHNRC should collaborate with a home-grown Chinese wind turbine manufacturer to build a 100% home grown offshore wind farm"¹⁸¹. As a Chinese newspaper observed, "the NDRC/NEA recommended a company called, Sinovel as the potential supplier to CHNRC's offshore turbines" (China Daily, 2011a). In addition, the NEA and the MOST also advised CHNRC to have "the Shanghai Electric Company, another power generation SOE, to co-develop the project" (Ibid). Based on interviews with CHNRC, they asserted that "the new offshore wind farm should be located on the coastline near Shanghai; therefore, it was crucial to have a local government-owned

¹⁸⁰ Interviews with a staff member at Siemens Renewable Unit, August 2012, Beijing

¹⁸¹ Interviews from a staff member at CHNRC, August 2012

company as a partner to facilitate the project"¹⁸².

Moreover, the other Chinese turbine manufacturers also criticised the German industrial giant because Siemens had entered all government-led projects and benefited enormously from China's favourable policy towards foreign direct investments. It was now time for China to encourage its own home grown technology to flourish" (Economic Observer, 2011b). Despite offshore wind energy being excluded from the policy requirement of "local content", the NDRC and the MOST still insisted on their preferred domestic suppliers for this particular project. As a result, Siemens withdrew from the joint bid and Sinovel became the turbine supplier for CHNRC with Shanghai Electric Company's participating in the construction of the wind farm. Instead, Siemens set up "a Joint Venture with Shanghai Electric Company" to produce the blades and became a minor supplier of CHNRC (Siemens 2011). To date, it was not possible to completely ascertain the reasons for the NDRC and the MOST to insist on having Sinovel and Shanghai Electric Company participate in the project. Such as decision does, however, indicates the opaqueness of the Chinese energy policy decision making system as well as the arbitrary process of bidding for government-led projects.

Siemens became a victim of its own success in the Chinese market. Its expansive business engagements across various state-led industries had certainly alarmed both decision makers in Beijing and its existing Chinese competitors. Siemens was furious about a failure due to the Chinese government's arbitrary and ad-hoc interpretation of the "local content requirements" policy mandate. As a number media outlets observed, it filed complaints with both the German government and the European Chamber of Commerce in China (ECCC 2011; 21st Century Economic news 2010a). In 2011, the Chinese Premier Wen Jiabao was on

¹⁸² Ibid

a goodwill trip to Germany. During his visit, "Chancellor Merkel pointed out the unfair treatment encountered by Siemens and other German companies; and she made similar comments in her 2012 China visit" (BBC, 2011b; WSJ, 2012). Meanwhile, the ECCC published a series of policy documents and a market survey, which were funded by Siemens and other German professional services firms, to indicate that a "lack of openness in government decision over several infrastructure projects had been the biggest obstacle for European companies operating in China" (Roland Berger 2011, 2012). According to the survey, "the European companies mostly feared that the updated investment policies were no longer in favour of foreign enterprises. The European companies had to take more risks to operate in China than five years ago" (Ibid). Despite the protests from Siemens and other European conglomerates, the NDRC and the MOST had continued to execute this policy of "local content requirement" in the fields where it was not mandatory to do so.

However, as the media and experts have asserted, the Chinese government's protectionist approach in the RE sector had triggered "a severe symptom of production overcapacity in the industry and a cross-sector industrial disaster loomed" (Hu, 2013; NY Times, 2012). Whilst Siemens remained in close collaboration with China Hua Neng Group in the power generation sector, it did not continue to fulfill its ambition to become a major player in the Chinese RE market. Siemens learnt from its failure with the CHNRC that the RE sector in China was largely dominated by the government-subsided Chinese enterprises without any real competitiveness in the global market. It could have still set its foot firmly into the Chinese RE sector at the expenses of accepting the price distortion by the Chinese government and by lowering their profit margins. However, Siemens became far less willing to do so. The above case reflected the fact that Siemens failed to adapt to changes in RE policy executed by the Chinese governmental ministries. Shifts in China's RE policy were mostly driven by the rapid and yet unsustainable developments in China's own RE sector. Once China became self-sufficient in certain industries, such as renewable sector, it would begin to take a protectionist approach to its newly established industries. Despite Siemens' long term experience in the Chinese market, it failed to recognise that the purpose for developing a strong RE sector in China was to achieve its own industrial upgrade from "Made in China" to "Invented in China". Therefore, the Chinese government would not allow stiff competition from foreign companies to undermine its own early success even if such a protectionist approach triggered a staggering volume of production overcapacity in the RE sector.

The Chinese government knew well that the European companies would not completely retreat from China's vast domestic market even if the market condition had largely deteriorated compared to five years previous. However, this protectionist approach was a discouragement for further Sino-European collaboration over climate change and RE. Siemens' vociferous criticism to the Chinese government had only prevented further progress in the areas of collaborations for both sides.

To conclude, this section disentangled the European companies' relations with the Chinese central government and the Chinese SOEs when they collaborated in the areas of RE. The above two case studies illustrated the responses, the successes and failures of the European conglomerates in dealing with their Chinese counterparts. Some of the companies had adapted well to the policy shifts in the Chinese government and continued to act as an invaluable partner to both the government and the SOEs. Whilst others had failed to recognise the changes in market condition and shifts in the industrial upgrade in Beijing, and

therefore became bitterly involved in disputes over various issues.

These two examples also demonstrated that the European corporate sector had played a decisive role in determining the quality of the Sino-European RE collaboration. Their success in the Chinese market accelerated the overall collaborations to achieve fruitful results whereas their failure had triggered other European RE companies' hesitation to enter collaborative partnerships with Chinese counterparts. These observations thoroughly tested the hypothesis of the thesis, which is that "the Sino-European collaboration on CC and RE are largely determined by distinctive interests of a diverse range of governmental and corporate sectors". It is therefore a multi-level relationship, not a one-dimensional bilateral partnership between Beijing and Brussels.

Conclusion for Chapter Six:

In conclusion, this chapter investigated the EU's responses to the overall climate change (CC) and renewable energy (RE) collaborations with China. It did not treat the EU as a singular analytical unit. Rather, it disentangled the relations between the EU institutions and ministries in Beijing; the partnerships between the member states (MS) and the Chinese governments across different levels; and the ties between European companies and their Chinese counterparts, either the governmental partners or the corporate ones.

This chapter observed that the EU institutions mostly lacked the sufficient institutional resources and political willingness to accelerate the Sino-EU collaborations on CC and RE. It failed to recognise and to respond to China's own enthusiasm to curb emissions and to develop a fully-fledged RE sector. The EU institutions had largely restrained its collaborations within Beijing to a form of superfluous policy dialogue. Meanwhile, the EU institutions' capacity to engage with China were seriously challenged by the policy agendas and activities conducted by the MS.

However, the MS' engagements with China have not been a total success. A number of large MS complacently underestimated the controversies that would be caused over Tibet and human rights dictating bilateral relations with Beijing. Using RE collaboration as a rapprochement was part of the British government's solution to "normalise" the Sino-British relations. The rapprochement was also much driven by China's own interests in developing a world-class competitive RE sector. Therefore, collaborating with countries such as the UK, with a strong RE industry would be a good learning experience for both the Chinese government and companies.

Whilst the UK was busy at repairing its bilateral relations with China, Berlin had managed to maintain sound commercial ties with China without becoming involved too much in normative issues. Germany had formed a well-established carbon emissions reduction framework as well as a robust RE sector. It had actively engaged with China by sharing its own CC mitigation experience rather than antagonising China on certain irreconcilable issues such as obligatory emission targets. Germany's collaboration with China was not restricted to the central government in Beijing but was also extended to some of the most populous provinces in China. It had responded well to changes in the Chinese government's attitude towards climate change.

The European companies had played an indispensable role in facilitating the overall collaborations on the one hand. However on the other hand, they had also undermined the prospects of further collaborations due to their own lack of understanding of changes in the Chinese RE policy making. Most successful collaborations occurred between the European companies and the Chinese governments when Beijing wished to have European companies acting as information providers and experienced consultants. While a small number of European conglomerates had successfully maintained their reputations and commercial prosperity from their good relations with the Chinese government and companies.

Yet, most European companies did not have the good fortune to develop amicable relations with the governmental ministries and companies in China. This was in particular in the RE sector where China experienced a rapid progress in developing RE. As parts of an "Indigenous Innovation" campaign, the Chinese government took a strong protectionist approach to ensure the home grown manufacturers were treated favourably. However, most European companies became the victim of this policy mandate carried out by Beijing. As a result, they were disenchanted by the "magic" of the Chinese domestic market, and withdrew from their plans to enter the Chinese RE sector.

Overall, this chapter tested the hypothesis of the thesis and dedicated itself to investigating the role of each European actor in determining the outcomes of the Sino-European collaboration on CC and RE. It concluded that the distinctive interests of each actor greatly impacted upon the results of the collaborations. Some of their interests were irreconcilable with China, as well as amongst themselves.

Chapter Seven: Conclusion for the Thesis

Introduction:

This thesis provided an in-depth and detailed examination of China-EU relations between 2001 and 2013. Specifically, this thesis investigated the collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy between China and the European Union. It departed from the conventional academic literature in the field, which has treated Sino-European relations as bilateral ties between Beijing and Brussels, as well as between China and the national capitals of the EU member states (MS). Therefore, this thesis embarked on a research mission to study Sino-European relations by focusing on individual institutions and corporate organisations.

To achieve this, this thesis investigated the foreign policy formation and execution process in Beijing. It examined the extent to which changes in foreign policy priorities and the growing numbers of players involved in Beijing's foreign policy making process have altered China's EU policy. It has also investigated individual actors from the European side. In particular, it has focused on whether the European actors recognise changes in China's foreign policy agenda as well as whether they have responded effectively to shifts in the institutional balance of power in Beijing. This thesis used Sino-European collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy as case studies to answer the key research question "To what extent China-EU relations are pre-dominantly determined by the interests of a diverse range of foreign policy actors?"

This thesis identified who shaped the bargaining process; on which policy each actor bargained with, and the outcomes of the relevant bargaining process. This thesis was conducted under qualitative research methods where in-depth interviews, triangulations of information, and elite interviews were widely applied.

With a strong focus on individual foreign policy actors, either institutional or corporate ones, this thesis adopted a process-oriented approach of Foreign Policy Analysis to examine Sino-European relations. In particular, it drew on the existing literature of the Bureaucratic Politics Model and the Fragmented Authoritarian Model to interpret the subject. Throughout the thesis, each chapter demonstrated several compelling reasons to use BPM and FAM to analyse Sino-European relations. Unlike some existing literature, this thesis did not take a holistic approach to analyse their partnerships with IR grand theories. Instead, it proved that each individual participant in their partnerships plays a crucial part in determining the outcomes of those partnerships.

Besides a theoretical contribution, this thesis also enriched the studies of Sino-European relations from several empirical perspectives. It offered a detailed examination of the relations between elements of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP), as the ultimate decision maker and the Chinese governmental institutions. Examining the CCP-government relations also revealed the changes in the CCP's domestic priorities and how such changes were largely reflected in shifts in Beijing's foreign policy.

This thesis has not only restrained its research scope to the Party-government relationship. It also investigated the interaction between the CCP and the State Owned Enterprises; and the bargaining process between the central governmental agencies and the SOEs. Some of the existing literature portrayed "the SOEs as part of the Chinese government vehicles to achieve its political goals" (Downs, 2008; Jakobson, 2010). Whilst this thesis did not deny the claim, it rather also proved that the SOEs have utilised effectively their expertise to alter the

decision outcomes by both the Party and the government.

This thesis has also paid great attention to the relations between the provincial government and the large private owned enterprises (POEs). This area is a new subject of detailed academic research in regards to the Sino-European relations and the Chinese foreign policy in general. None of the existing literature has focused on this particular pair of relationships. Yet, as exhibited in Chapter 5, a tense and unpredictable provincial-POEs relationship became a major source of the Sino-European solar panel dispute. Given the ever increasing significance of the Chinese POEs overseas direct investments, their activities have indeed proved to influence Beijing's overall foreign policy decision making.

Meanwhile, this thesis also examined the EU's policy making process on its climate diplomacy towards China. In particular, it investigated the EU institutions, the member states (MS) and the European corporate sector's responses towards a fragmented policy making process in China's external affairs. This thesis discovered that the disputes over climate diplomacy amongst the EU institutions and the MS could be applied widely to analyse other areas of the Sino-European relations. However, the major difference between climate change and other policy areas lies in the innovation of technology. The European companies had enjoyed several initial successes while later failing badly when China's renewable sector reached its own maturity.

Beyond this introduction, this chapter is largely divided into three sections. The first short section will conclude the theoretical findings of this thesis, and contributions to the area of the Sino-European studies. Given the strong empirical research of the thesis, the second and longer section will summarise the empirical contributions. The final section will outline the difficulties of conducting the research as well as how this thesis could enlighten further studies in the field.

Section 7.1 Theoretical Contribution

This section will summarise the theoretical findings of the thesis. It will justify the reasons why some parts of the theories of International Relations lack sufficient explanatory value to observe and understand the narratives of the foreign policy decision making processes both in China and within the EU. In particular, both China and the EU have been treated as non-monolithic analytical units in this thesis. It is therefore important to adopt some specific Foreign Policy Analysis approaches which are neither derived from grand IR theories nor inspired by a rational choice model. This section will also justify the reasons why the Bureaucratic Politics Model and the related Fragmented Authoritarian Model have been particularly useful and illuminating to investigate the FP making process in China and in the EU.

As referred to in various chapters, the current literature on Sino-European relations have almost exclusively treated their relations as bilateral ones, with both China and the EU as unitary actors when they conduct their own foreign policies. In contrast, this thesis has extensively tested the hypothesis that the Sino-European relations are mostly determined through a diverse range of foreign policy actors, either institutions or corporate. The current state of the Sino-European relations is the outcomes of interactions amongst those actors. As a result, this thesis has mostly focused on the behaviour, intentions and interactions amongst each individual actor. This thesis does not intend to deny the bilateral dimension of the China-EU relations. Rather, it suggests that the complexities of their relations are best examined through observing the process and the behaviour of individual actors which shape the outcomes of their relations.

Treating the Sino-European relations as bilateral in nature has largely ignored the significance

of each institution in determining relations. In the case of China, despite the ultimate decisions being made by the members at the Standing Committee of the Politburo (SCP) of the CCP, it is impossible for the SCP to decide every detail of the policy mandate. The SCP members usually outline the broader policy priorities whereas the relevant institutions have enjoyed the autonomy of interpreting policies. In the process of interpreting policy mandates, some of departments or corporate organisations have inevitably overlapped their policy domains or responsibilities. As a result, bargaining often arises in the occasions when budgetary and political powers are contested.

In case for the EU, the Union is renowned for its complex bureaucratic structure in Brussels. The EU has also consistently faced severe challenges from the MS in most policy areas. I have given numerous examples to indicate that the MS have often overridden the EU institutions when they came to develop their own relationships with China. Therefore, it would be too simplistic to conduct the academic research exclusively at a bilateral level of Sino-European relations.

This thesis offered a detailed account of the bureaucratic bargaining process within the Chinese foreign policy making framework. The Bureaucratic Politics Model (BPM) design makes it the most appropriate approach to disentangle the complexities of policy making process and to investigate the source of bureaucratic disputes in Beijing's foreign policy making. Unlike the conventional wisdom inspired by a Rational Choice Model of analysis, foreign policies are not necessarily being made under careful considerations of national interests. Rather, the outcome of a specific foreign policy is a result of numerous bargaining amongst relevant stakeholders. Officials who are involved in the foreign policy making process have always manipulated decisions according to their personal, or more often,

departmental preferences.

For example, the Chinese government's Copenhagen fiasco and its disagreements with the EU institutions over issues on climate change have been extensively interpreted through the BPM. Each institution that is involved in climate change policy making in China has had its own particular departmental interests. The NDRC and the MFA lacked a sufficient consensus before attending the UNFCCC Copenhagen Conference. They fought over the appointment of the chief negotiator of the Chinese delegation. Their bureaucratic rifts generated considerable controversies and a negative impact on the EU, creating the impression that China was unwilling to play a greater role in curbing carbon emissions. China's inconsistency in Copenhagen was not a result of rational choice and careful strategy planning, but instead strongly dis-coordinated efforts made by self-interested governmental institutions.

The BPM has become even more suitable for application when interpreting European institutions dealings with China when it came to matters on climate diplomacy. As discussed in the last chapter, there are a number of equally important EU institutions which engage with China over issues on climate change and renewable energy. Each institution has wanted to pursue its own distinctive interests with Beijing. Some institutions have argued that China should establish an obligatory emission target whereas others insisted emission targets were technical details. The EU should focus on its overall long-term relations with China without over-exaggerating the technical details. The result of this diverse range of departmental interests has therefore generated a confused and incoherent foreign policy towards China.

Interestingly, this lack of coordination has not only been exhibited in the EU's climate diplomacy. It has been widely demonstrated in the EU's overall China policy. The EU

institutions and MS have had bitter spats over how the Union should engage with China more effectively. Their climate diplomacy with Beijing has been only the tip of the iceberg which illuminates the complexities of the EU's policy making process. To this extent, one cannot treat the EU as a monolithic entity with only one coordinated interest in the development of its relations with China.

Most scholars who have used the BPM to interpret particular foreign policies believed that the BPM is equipped with solid explanatory value for liberal democracies. However, this thesis discovered that the BPM could also be of invaluable assistance to investigate nonliberal democratic states' foreign policies, such as in the case of China. Despite being without a multi-party system, the Chinese political institutions consists of a number of equally important vested interests groups. These groups are initially formed for the interests of the CCP and have constantly lobbied the Party to ensure their interests are represented in the decisions made by the CCP.

The vested interests groups come in the forms of central governmental institutions, provincial government agencies, the PLA and the State Owned Enterprises (SOEs). With regards to Sino-European relations, this thesis focused on the groups such as central governmental departments, provincial authorities and the SOEs. Throughout several chapters, this thesis investigated various bargaining scenarios amongst these groups as well as their intricate relations with the CCP. Within the bargaining process, this thesis discovered that the relations between the Party and the relevant interests groups have not always been straightforward and are not of the top-down model as often perceived. The interests groups have been effective in their attempts to shape final decision outcomes.

This thesis also discovered that the BPM has also presented a distinctive explanatory value to interpreting both Chinese domestic and external affairs. The main reason for this is due to a consensus-building style of decision-making being widely practised amongst members of the SCP in the CCP. Achieving a consensus requires one, or a few, SCP members to trade off some favours with other SCP members over disagreements on a particular issue. In the process of bargaining, relevant interests groups would seek to influence the opinion of some SCP members to ensure their interests are represented. As a result, consensuses amongst the SCP members have become the lowest common denominator of various interests groups. The BPM has exhibited its great relevance in interpreting Sino-European collaborations on renewable energy. In the case of the CGNPC, it successfully persuaded two members of the SCP to ensure its new model of nuclear reactor with France was the chosen model, which left its corporate competitors empty handed.

Throughout Chapter Two, Four and Five, this thesis emphasised the importance of the Fragmented Authoritarian model (FAM) to interpreting the Chinese FP making process. The FAM derives from the BPM and aims to explain changes in institutional power distribution and intricate bargaining processes amongst relevant actors when it comes to the formulation of decisions. It examined relations between the actors at the very peak of the power structure and those stakeholders who are aiming to constantly seek to influence the ultimate decision makers.

Within this thesis, the FAM allowed one to investigate the complexities of decision-making within the Chinese political system. In particular, it enabled one to examine the relations between the Party and the various bureaucratic actors. Their interactions have resulted in different kinds of Chinese foreign policy that one would not be able to interpret through a

Rational Choice Model. I used the FAM throughout the thesis to explain both policy formation and implementation processes. In the process of policy formation, the Party allowed bureaucratic, or corporate, actors to provide expertise for decision-making. While at the implementation stage, the Party allowed greater institutional autonomy to transform broader policy guidelines into detailed rules and regulations. Each institution and corporate organisation has extensively adapted this policy making system and made attempts to shape the policy outcomes at both stages. Moreover, neither the formation nor the implementation stages are static. A particular policy implementation has often paved the way for policy updates or further reforms.

Related to the empirical subject of the thesis, the FAM is also equipped with a particular value in interpreting China's climate diplomacy. The reasons are twofold: firstly, climate change and energy security are twin priorities of the CCP. They are also dominating both China's domestic and foreign affairs agendas. Within the Chinese policy making process, there are a number of equally important institutions and corporate actors involved in China's domestic environmental policy and climate diplomacy agenda-setting. Given the expansive quality of environmental policy making, the Party mostly relied upon individual institutions' expertise to formulate the relevant energy or climate change policies. As a result, the actual policy outcomes and China's collaborations with the EU are the results of balancing the interests of, and bargaining, amongst a number of relevant stakeholders.

Secondly, unlike some other areas of foreign policy making, environmental diplomacy does not involve territorial disputes and military deployments. Therefore, climate diplomacy does not require the CCP to make swift decisions on the subject. This nature of climate diplomacy allowed various institutions to participate in the process and to make bargains back and forth with the Party as well as amongst themselves. To this extent, the FAM has been of invaluable assistance in interpreting each individual bargaining process. While in states of emergency, the FAM has its own limitations to interpreting China's foreign policy.

As observed throughout these chapters, the scope and contents of the Chinese foreign policy have expanded rapidly since China's admission to the WTO. The roles of economics and nontraditional security have shifted from the peripheral to the centre of China's external affairs. Because of the nature of these new subjects, they deviate from the conventional diplomacy such as territorial disputes and political exchanges, and therefore require the decision makers to have sufficient expertise on every single subject to formulate appropriate policies. As a result, the numbers of institutions that participate in decision-making have expanded correspondingly to meet the criteria of seeking advice from the experts. These shifts have offered various institutions a unique opportunity to shape China's foreign policy.

In particular, those institutions such as the MOST and the NDRC, which are not conventionally perceived as foreign policy actors, have flexed their muscles to shape the final decision according to their preferences. Their influence has become even more substantial as their expertise is required more and more often from the very top of the CCP leadership. As a result, institutions that are conventionally seen as foreign policy actors have been marginalised in the process of policy consultation and formation. The FAM has proved to be particularly useful when examining the shifts in political gravity and balance of power amongst corporate actors. Similarly, the FAM could be used to interpret monetary diplomacy and other non-traditional security domains of external affairs in China. There will be sufficient room for conducting further research on the Chinese foreign policy from a FAM perspective.

In summary, this thesis proved the usefulness of the BPM and the FAM in interpreting China's foreign policy making process. The BPM has also reinforced the observations of a bureaucratic EU in making its China policy. Both models have acted as effective tools to investigate the complexities of Sino-European relations. Yet, this thesis does not deny the validity of grand theories of International Relations in interpreting the China-EU relations. Rather it suggested that a combination of BPM and FAM had provided a good alternative to examining the process of making a state's foreign policy.

Section 7.2: Empirical Conclusion

This longer section will summarise the empirical research findings of this thesis. It aims to justify the relevancies of those case studies discussed throughout this thesis. In particular, this thesis has disentangled the intricate relations between the Party as the ultimate decision maker, and the various relevant stakeholders in shaping China's EU policy. It has also focused on the conflicts and various bargaining scenarios that have occurred in the policy formation and implementation processes amongst various institutional, and corporate, actors. In doing so, this thesis used case studies on the China-EU collaborations on climate change and renewable energy to test the main hypothesis that: China-EU relations have been largely determined by a diverse range of interests from a multitude of foreign policy actors. It has enriched the current literature by focusing on the policy making process from a bureaucratic politics perspective.

1) The Party as the Ultimate Decision Maker and the Central Governmental Institutions as Foreign Policy Actors

As outlined in Chapter One, this thesis intended to examine the complex relations between the Party and the various levels of governmental institutions when they come to take considerations on China's EU policy. It concluded that the relations between the Party and the governmental institutions are not always formed in a top-down and static style as is often perceived amongst the scholars and foreign policy practitioners in the West.

The self assumed legitimacy of the CCP has shifted from ideology to an effective governance and problem solving capacity. Therefore, the CCP has to respond to newly emerging challenges and to change its policy priorities accordingly, in order to improve its effective running of the state. This in turn helps the CCP to retain and reinforce its governing legitimacy. Climate Change and environmental degradations have recently emerged as two of the most daunting challenges for the CCP's capability of governing. Therefore, the Party has prioritised tackling environmental challenges in order to address public grievances driven by a deteriorated environment.

In responding to the changes in policy priorities, the CCP has restructured the existing central governmental institutions and created some new agencies to fulfil the tasks of curbing carbon emissions and maintaining a sustainable level of energy supplies. As a result, the emergence of climate change as an imminent political challenge has triggered profound changes in the distribution of bureaucratic power.

The Party sets the bureaucratic status of each central and provincial institution. It also grants the specific authority of producing certain policy measures, to each institution. This authority that is given by the CCP has often been accompanied with responsibilities and budgetary powers. Certain policy responsibilities are inevitably shared by several governmental departments. Consequentially, relevant departments have competed for influence with the top leadership of the Party and tried their best to retain their share of power.

This thesis gave detailed analysis in Chapter Two and Four to exhibit how relevant government departments have utilised their expertise to make sure they are vital parts in the formulation and execution of China's foreign and energy policies. It has discovered the two major reasons why new FP actors have emerged while some conventional FP actors have declined. Firstly, as argued above, the scope and contents of Beijing's foreign policy have expanded enormously due to changes in the policy priorities of the CCP. Secondly, and a related reason, is the making of China's FP has required more professional expertise than general knowledge. This demand in expertise has corresponded to the expanding scope of China's foreign policy agenda. As a result, those institutions that are equipped with the requisite expertise have gradually become the agenda-setter whereas others have been marginalised. This in turn has led to a considerable shift in the institutional balance of power within the Chinese foreign policy making process.

This thesis has discovered that policy changes and institutional power shifts have generated a greater impact upon China's EU policy. As Chapter Two observed, the Sino-European relations have developed towards an ever more economic and trade focus in the wake of the global financial crisis. The year of 2008 marked a sea-change in Sino-European relations. Mostly, the normative issues that the European governments used to emphasise, have become less relevant to their relations than when compared to the pre-2008 period. Instead, policy areas on monetary policies, China's direct investments to Europe, technology cooperation and tackling climate change have been at the core of the policy agendas on China and the EU.

Accordingly, under China's FP making framework, the role of the MFA as Beijing's FP chief executive has been severely undermined by other economics and science focused institutions when China has sought to forge closer relations with Brussels and the EU Member States (MS). China's participation in the Sino-European ministerial-level dialogues has clearly demonstrated this institutional power shift. For example, the MFA was previously at the centre of almost all China-EU policy dialogues. Yet, the MFA's general knowledge of China's FP has become insufficient to conduct dialogues when those policy dialogues have become more technically focused and areas specific. The most obvious example given in this thesis was in the Sino-European Climate Change Ministerial Dialogue in 2009. China's National Development and Reformation Commission (NDRC) began to dictate the composition of the Chinese participants as well as the contents of the Dialogues, something which the MFA was initially responsible for between 2007 and 2008.

In the area of economic and trade affairs, the MFA's role has been largely challenged by its long-standing ultimate rival, the MOFCOM, and other economic-oriented institutions. The Sino-European solar panel dispute has been particularly illuminating to indicate this institutional rift. The MOFCOM was the chief negotiator to oversee and to resolve the dispute, whereas the MFA had little to get involved with except delivering the negotiation results from the MOFCOM's delegates table.

In the midst of European sovereign debt crisis, the newly emerged FP actor, the PBOC, China's central bank had assumed its position to champion the debate on whether the Chinese government should save the Euro. The other FP actors, such as the MFA and the MOFCOM, could not compete for influence over the final decision outcome even if the MOFCOM aspired to persuade the Chinese government to increase the proportion of the Euro governmental bonds held by China. This is largely because monetary policy certainly requires the decision-maker to have a considerable amount of knowledge on macro-economics. The CCP top leadership has always trusted the PBOC's prudence for managing monetary policy. It had no objection to the PBOC when it decided not to make any further investments in the fragile European bond market.

Beside those conventional FP actors detailed above, the expansion of China's EU policy has also triggered the further involvement of some institutions that were not previously seen as FP actors. The most noticeable institutions are the NDRC and the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST). Throughout these chapters, this thesis has ascertained that their prominences in the Sino-European collaborations were mostly driven by shifts in domestic political priorities. None of the institutions in the past played major parts in the formulation and implementation of Beijing's foreign policy. However, both institutions have recently utilised the imminent environmental challenges as a unique opportunity to become the chief executives in China's climate diplomacy and international collaborations on curbing carbon emissions.

Meanwhile, the nature of tackling climate change (CC) and developing renewable energy (RE) are derived from scientific innovations, in which both institutions have been at the forefront of driving the technology innovations of China's RE sector. The NDRC has enjoyed its undisputed power due to being involved in almost all domestic economic decision-making processes. It has argued that curbing carbon emissions should be an integral part of cultivating industrial innovation. Therefore, the NDRC should naturally become the chief policy executive on China's climate policy.

Based on several interviews from relevant officials, this thesis discovered that the NDRC's determinations were also a result of the MFA's lack of awareness towards the concept of CC. As showed in Chapter Four, since the mid-1990s, the MFA did not think CC would become a major transnational issue which would be placed at the core of international politics. It mistakenly gave up the responsibilities for overseeing China's UNFCCC negotiations between 2001 and 2006. As the importance of tackling CC grew, the MFA made several attempts to restore its authority over dealing with China's climate diplomacy. However, it had largely failed to do so as the NDRC had established its own centre of gravity in the area.

The NDRC's authority over CC has been severely challenged by the MOST. This thesis discovered that the MOST had successfully secured its own lion share of power when it came to collaborating with the EU institutions and the EU member states. The main attribute to the MOST's success was because of their expert role in specific policy areas. The CCP top leadership considered that the MOST is at the forefront of running China's scientific innovation policy. CC is an issue where science and high politics have inexorably intertwined. As a result, the MOST has taken the initiative in charge of most international scientific collaborative projects.

The MOST has effectively utilised its role as the chief science advisor to the top leadership. Alongside the reins of international collaborations, the MOST has established itself as the leader of the Sino-European flagship collaborative projects on nearly-zero carbon emissions, a project which has boosted the MOST's budgetary power and reinforced its bureaucratic status within the policy making process. As the world's second largest carbon emitter, China has inevitably been required to increase in its responsibility to tackle CC. To this extent, CC has gradually become a major component of China's ever expanding FP agenda. Therefore, the MOST has become an indispensable FP actor in the process of formulating FP and forging collaborations with the EU.

Throughout these chapters, this thesis has particularly emphasised the role of "expertise" in determining China's EU policy. The role of "expertise" has become even more prominent when it comes to examining the role of the Chinese state owned enterprises as a type of foreign policy actor in forging collaborations with the EU. This thesis has provided narratives on the formats that the SOEs adopted to persuade the central government, as well as for

whom the SOEs chose to lobby at the top leadership of the CCP.

2) The SOEs as foreign policy actors and their relations with the central government and the Party

This thesis has devoted detailed analysis to the role of the SOEs in determining Sino-EU relations as well as the SOEs' impact upon the overall China's FP making process. In particular, it has retained a strong focus on the SOEs' participation in determining China's policy in the non-fossil fuels sector. In recent years, much literature has investigated how the Chinese SOEs have shaped policies in the fossil fuels sector as well as determined foreign policies related to energy security. However, little research has been conducted in the SOEs' interactions with the central government in the non-fossil fuels sector.

Within the non-fossil fuels sector, this thesis has discovered that the relations between the SOEs and the CCP and the central government are not straight forward top-down or bottomup approaches. Their relations vary significantly depending on individual cases. The key difference between the SOEs in the fossil-fuels sector and those at the renewable sector are their commercial interests are not always in conflict with those of the Party and the central governments agencies. Instead, the role of expertise has been vital to the elimination of the potential conflicts amongst the SOEs, the central agencies and the Party.

As established in Chapter Two and Five, the SOEs are characterised as a hybrid of government departments and corporate organisations. In recent years, the Chinese government has required, and encouraged, the SOEs to become more profitable in international markets as well as at the domestic market. In particular, those SOEs that are located in the fossil-fuels sector have had long term overseas operations. In the process of profit maximisation, these groups of SOEs have often jeopardised themselves in politically unstable quasi-states and contested waters in the search for raw materials for both political and commercial purposes. Most of these raw materials were directly sold in the global market without being shipped back to China.

To this extent, their corporate activities have caused many controversies both at home and afar. The Chinese government has been in frequent disputes with some of the SOEs in the fossil fuel sector. The SOEs have therefore formed as a formidable vested interests group to bargain with the CCP and the central government when they executed the policy mandates made by the very top. They have intensively lobbied the members at the SCP to ensure their commercial gains are sustained and that they are allowed to continue their overseas operations. As a result, there have been inevitably frequent spats amongst the decision makers from the Party, the central agencies and some SOEs in the fossil-fuels sector.

However, the picture looks rather different in the renewable sector as investigated in Chapter Five. The renewable SOEs act as invaluable information providers to both the CCP top leadership¹⁸³ and the central agencies. Developing RE has been a very recent phenomenon in China's energy policy making process. Neither the top leadership nor the officials in the central government is familiar with the RE industry, and both of them have turned to the renewable SOEs for advice and guidance.

In the process of providing advice, the renewable SOEs have often skilfully managed to combine their own commercial and political interests into the top leadership or relevant

¹⁸³ Refers to those seven members of the SCP

agencies. Throughout my interviews, I discovered that the renewable SOEs were particularly close to the top leadership within the Party. And they have often by-passed the central governmental departments and directly advised the very peak of the Party. On most occasions, their proposals are unlikely to be declined by their recipients, primarily because most of their renewable projects have not involved gauging geo-political risks like most overseas fossil-fuels projects have required. The top leadership and the central government agencies are more than happy to follow the policy proposals that were carefully drafted by those renewable SOEs.

Like any other process for making China's foreign policy, competition has often occurred amongst the similar ranked bureaucratic organisations and corporate bodies. There is no exception in the process amongst the renewable SOEs when they come to provide expertise and advice to the ultimate decision makers. They are in fierce competition amongst one other to elevate their bureaucratic standing and grander corporate reputation. The process of advising the top leadership has inevitably become what Nina Halpern has described as a process of "competitive persuasion" where each SOE makes its own best attempts to shape the final decision outcomes (Halpern, 1992: 125).

Such a competition has been particularly relevant to the study of the Sino-European RE collaborations. Chapter Five examined the competition between the CNNC and the CGNPC in searching for European partners to develop China's first locally designed nuclear reactor. The success of this collaboration has been a rare occurrence amongst the many Sino-European projects. One of the key factors for the success was due to the CGNPC's successful persuasion of two members in the SCP of the CCP and the by-passing of the central government agencies. By doing so, the CGNPC became the chosen company to design

China's first home grown civil nuclear reactor. It was distributed a generous amount of financial assistances and made its name known in Europe. It also reinforced its long-term partnership with EDF, the French utility conglomerate; this in turn has further assisted its construction projects in the UK. In this context, it indicated the extent to which a SOE's successful persuasion of decision makers could accelerate Sino-European RE collaborations.

Despite the difference in the various sectors, one cannot deny that the Chinese SOEs formed strong vested interests groups to lobby their superiors in order to ensure their corporate interests. Many SOEs are ranked equally to a ministry or a vice ministry. Therefore, their relations with the central agencies also deserve to have detailed examinations. The central agencies constantly intervene in the business activities of the SOEs. On most occasions, interventions from the central agencies are not welcomed and have caused grave financial damage to the SOEs.

This thesis has also examined the interventions conducted by the central agencies in the SOEs and their severe impacts upon overall Sino-European RE collaborations. It concludes that: firstly, interventions made by the central ministries were driven by the blurring responsibilities of various governmental departments. Despite the SOEs being powerful, they could not insulate themselves from interventions and therefore often become the ultimate victims of the interventions.

Secondly, interventions made by the central agencies are for the purpose of competing for political importance and the large budgetary power of the government department. The central government departments have no direct objections to the business activities from the intervened SOEs. Their interventions in the SOEs are purely for political reasons.

Thirdly, such interventions have often undermined the prospects for international collaborations. This is largely because most foreign partners lack sufficient knowledge of the Chinese political system, and the conflicts between their Chinese SOE partners and the relevant government ministries. In addition, these interventions have mostly occurred at the central government level where the SOEs are overseen by the central agencies.

This thesis provided two detailed case studies on CNOOCs and its collaborations with BP and VESTAS in the RE sector to illustrate that the main attribute to the failure of the collaborations were driven by government intervention and a lack of clarity of institutional responsibilities. These interventions and confusions have inevitably prevented further fruitful collaborative initiatives. It illuminated how much internal conflicts amongst various foreign policy actors could generate negative impacts upon the outcomes of external affairs. It further indicated the study of domestic sources of the foreign policy has been of vital importance to investigate the overall FP making process.

As mentioned previously, scientific innovation and expertise have played a crucial role in facilitating China's renewable energy boom. This renewable renaissance has provided a unique opportunity to allow smaller growth-driven private companies to participate in technology and industrial innovation. Unlike in the fossil-fuels sector, the RE sector is not a state-controlled, monopoly sector. Participations from the private enterprises are encouraged. As a result, private enterprises activities in RE have also deserved to become a subject of academic research.

3) The Relations between the Provincial government and the Private Owned

Enterprises (POEs)

This thesis has explored the relations between the provincial governments and large renewable POEs in the process of participating in Sino-European collaborations. It discovered that the unprecedented commercial success of the large renewable POEs has triggered fierce competition, and not collaborations, with European renewable manufacturers. The provincial government's price manipulations and subsidies have also become another main attribute to the Sino-European solar panel dispute. There are occasions where the POEs are directly influenced by the central agencies. However, this thesis has only studied the relations at the provincial level due to the relevance of the subject matter.

By examining the relations between the renewable POEs and the provincial governments in determining the Sino-European relations, this thesis has made a modest contribution to the existing literature in the field. This is largely because there is a dearth of literature that has examined the role of provincial governments and the POEs as influential foreign policy actors in China's external affairs. Related to the study of the Sino-European relations, this thesis has tested the hypothesis that their relations are shaped by a diverse range of interests from multiple foreign policy actors. As Chapter Five observed, both renewable POEs and their respective provincial governments have emerged as significant foreign policy actors that have generated a considerable impact upon Sino-European relations. Therefore, it is of the vital importance to examine their motivations and deeds in participations in the Sino-European RE collaborations, or more accurately, in their competition with the Europeans.

This thesis also concluded that the bargaining relationships in Chinese energy policy making

have not only existed in the traditional fossil fuels sector between the SOEs and the central bureaucracies but have also largely played out between the POEs and their respective provincial authorities. Despite these bargaining activities occurring at the provincial level, the rules of the bargaining process have largely remained the same as that which takes place at the central level.

Just as the SOEs studied in this thesis are subject to interventions in their business plans by the central government, most POEs are under the direct influence of their respective provincial governments when it comes to their business activities. This thesis discovered that the POEs and their respective provincial governments have forged semi-submissive relations. On the one hand, the POEs are the main contributor to the provincial GDP growth and tax revenues. These POEs' respective provincial authorities have then heavily relied upon their financial contribution to boost the local economy. Therefore, these POEs are offered, and have enjoyed, a whole range of concessions from their provincial authorities.

On the other hand, the provincial governments have mostly retained their autonomy to dictate the proportion of local enterprises revenues shared between themselves and the enterprises. As a result, the provincial governments and local enterprises have formed a classic bargaining relationship under this particular institutional setting. The latter have always wanted to retain a larger proportion of their own profits whereas the former indulged in all sorts of policy tools to extract the profits or to control the prices according to their own political preferences.

In the process of bargaining, the provincial governments have still retained the autonomy to indulge in price manipulations of certain products, and financial resource distribution for enterprises. The local POEs have made their best attempts to access additional financial resources from the authorities. For the local POEs, losing such a bargain could undermine their prospect to obtain state-owned bank loans and favourable tax concessions. In contrast to the SOEs, the local POEs are in a weaker bargaining position with less political capital and allies in the government at their disposal. As a result, the local POEs are more likely to accept the bargaining conditions that are initiated by their provincial authorities, even if such conditions would severely minimise their profitability and cause damage to their corporate brand image.

This thesis offered a detailed case study to disentangle and to expose the complex relations between the provincial governments and the POEs. The Jiangsu provincial government and Suntech, one of the largest solar panel manufacturers in the world, were the main protagonists in that case study. By doing so, this thesis discovered that the companies like Suntech relied upon the provincial authorities' fiscal and political support. Suntech has never acquired a strong bargaining position, even if the Jiangsu Provincial government once relied upon its commercial success to boost the local economy.

Suntech did not voluntarily become involved in the Sino-European solar panel dispute. Rather, it had a very weak bargaining position and was dictated to by the Jiangsu Provincial government's planned solar panel price manipulation. The Jiangsu government's intervention to Suntech's business development strategy was not based on careful business consideration, rather, Suntech served as a convenient vehicle for fulfilling the provincial government's policy target.

The case study of Suntech has only revealed the tip of the iceberg when it comes to the complexities between the provincial governments and their respective local POEs. Yet, it

illuminated the extent to which individual provincial government could trigger substantial influence on overall Sino-European RE collaborations. The Jiangsu government's coercion had already been repeated by other provincial governments on their own local renewable manufacturers. As a result, the price of solar panels dropped drastically in the global market. This was because China accounted for almost 90% of solar panel manufacturing and was under renewed pressure from their European competitors.

To a large extent, the Jiangsu provincial government's price manipulation has decisively undermined the prospect of further Sino-European RE collaborations. Its motivation to do so was not driven by foreign policy considerations. Rather, it was driven by political interests to fulfil a policy target. The provincial government on this occasion inevitably participated in China's EU policy making. It would be impossible to examine the provincial government's motivations through the rational choice model of foreign policy analysis because its motivations have been almost exclusively driven by domestic considerations.

This thesis has given a very strong focus on China's EU policy making process as well as attention to individual Chinese foreign policy actors, either conventional ones or newly emerged actors. Yet, the thesis has also evaluated the responses from the European side; the focus was not exclusively on Brussels, but extended into the larger member states and the European renewable conglomerates that have been heavily involved in the EU's climate diplomacy to China.

4) The EU institutions response to their Chinese counterparts on Climate Change and Renewable Energy Collaborations

It would be impossible to complete this thesis on the Sino-European relations without examining the role of the EU in the relationships. Therefore, the thesis has also dedicated itself to investigating the role of several European foreign policy actors in determining the outcomes of the Sino-European collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy. In particular, it has thoroughly examined the extent to which the EU institutions have responded to the changes in China's EU policy, and the institutional shifts in the balance of power within China's foreign policy making process.

Throughout Chapter Three and Six, this thesis reaffirmed that the EU institutions were renowned for its complex bureaucracies. There was no exception when Brussels formulated its climate diplomacy towards China. It has sided with many other scholarly works in the field, and argued that the EU institutions lacked a "Horizontal Consistency" to reach agreements on the Union's China policy amongst various institutions (Nutall, 2001). Meanwhile, it also summarised that the EU institutions suffered from "Policy Inconsistency" when each aspect of the EU's China policy were in conflicts against one other (Ibid). Related to the climate diplomacy, each institution in Brussels viewed the overall policy objective very differently. As a result, inter-departmental conflicts lingered and deepened in Brussels.

This thesis has contributed to the existing academic literature by specifically investigating how the EU institutions respond to the ever increasingly complex foreign policy making process in China. In particular, it departed from examining the Sino-European relations as a bilateral relationship, which most existing scholarly works have done. Instead, it has investigated the relations between the EU institutions and their Chinese counterparts in the Chinese central government. This thesis has treated each EU institution and member state as individual foreign policy actors. It observed the motivations, behaviour and interactions of each actor to respond their Chinese counterparts. By doing so, it concluded that the distinctive interests of each European actor greatly impacted upon the outcomes of the collaborations. Some of their interests were neither reconciled with China nor amongst themselves.

Throughout Chapter Three and Six, this thesis discovered that the symptom of inconsistency in the EU not only existed in the EU's climate diplomacy but was also persistent in almost every aspect of the EU's China policy. Climate Change (CC) and Renewable Energy (RE) collaborations were not excluded from this condition. It demonstrated two major institutional failures from the EU when it came to their engagements with China on CC issues, namely a lack of institutional resources and insufficient personal capacity.

This thesis concluded that all the examined EU institutions have demonstrated institutional constraints and personal incapacity when they conducted climate diplomacy towards China. Based on various research interviews, it discovered that a large numbers of officials and staff members within the EU were not equipped with sufficient understanding of China's energy policy making process. They could not distinguish the role of the NDRC and the MOST in the process of formulating China's CC policies. None of the officials or staff members have a reasonable level of Mandarin with which to follow the latest updates and shifts in China's CC policies, which are usually only announced in Chinese. Their lack of knowledge of the Chinese language has undermined their ability to gauge and to respond to, the latest policy and bureaucratic shifts in the field of energy and environmental protection in China.

Besides their institutional constraints and personal incapacity, each EU institution that has

been involved in conducting climate diplomacy holds very different views on how they should engage with China. Each institution stood for its own departmental interests. This thesis gave plenty of examples to exhibit a lack of policy coordination and inconsistencies amongst those EU institutions. One of the most obvious examples is when The DG Clima insisted that China should set up obligatory targets whereas the EEAs dismissed the DG Clima's persistence on the subject. The EEAs believed that CC mitigation should become a strategic objective without creating too many disagreements on technical details. Yet, the DG Clima claimed that no obligatory target of curbing emissions indicated China had no willingness to tackle CC issues or to collaborate with the EU.

The DG Trade was seen as the most important institution in dealing with China in Brussels. It insisted on imposing stricter standards on the Chinese renewable manufacturing exports to the EU. It was the initiator and chief operator of the controversial Sino-European solar panel dispute. It relentlessly dismissed all other EU institutions' objections to its high profile accusations towards the Chinese solar panel imports into the Common Market.

This thesis also discovered, like any other aspects of the Sino-European relations that the Ministerial-level policy dialogue on Climate Change was the regular mechanism used by the EU institutions to engage with China. However, this policy dialogue has largely remained superfluous and has shown a lack of subsistence as the years have gone by. Part of the reason for this was because the DG Clima's authority as chief organiser of the dialogue was severely challenged by the other institutions dealing with China simultaneously. Their inter-departmental conflicts on climate diplomacy have sent their Chinese counterparts a confusing message. This in turn triggered the Chinese central institutions to question the willingness of the EU to collaborate with China in these areas. Without trust on both sides, collaborations

were hardly able to progress much further.

5) The EU member states and China collaborations on Climate Change and Renewable Energy

Apart from the symptom of inconsistencies in Brussels, the EU institutions' authorities dealing with China have been severely challenged by the major EU Member States (MS) that have clear climate diplomacy agendas. This thesis selected two large MS as examples to investigate their engagements with China on issues of CC and RE.

In Chapter Six, this thesis chose the United Kingdom and Germany's CC and RE collaborations with China as its case studies. The reasons for Germany and the UK's selection as the analytical objects are threefold. Firstly, both countries have long established, and sound, economic ties with China. Secondly, both countries have had strong competitive edges in CC and RE sectors. They are the front runners for the carbon reduction and renewable technologies which China has long desired. Last, but not least, normative issues have undermined the bilateral relations of both countries with China. They have utilised CC and RE collaborations as a means to repair, or to reinforce, their relations with China. Their renewable collaborations with China have been largely representational of other MS's China strategy in the process of minimising normative issues engagements.

From these two case studies in Chapter Six, and some other examples in Chapter Three, this thesis has concluded that China's perception of interplay between political sensitivity and economic deals was heavily criticised by the European governments, and yet it had proved to be one of the most effective and brutal means by which Beijing conducted its foreign policy. Therefore, progresses in CC and RE collaborations could not be made without amicable bilateral relations between China and the other European countries. The Chinese government's tactic of using normative issues to postpone business deals has been extended into collaborations in CC and RE sectors. This observation has been reinforced by other scholars' remarks that Sino-European relations are the outcomes of intertwined high politics and business contracts. Despite China's own willingness to develop CC and RE technologies, its collaborations with the EU MS could not progress further without overall amicable political relations.

Part of Chapter Six compared and contrasted the UK and Germany in the process of their collaborations with China. The UK had suffered from the consequences of Prime Minister David Cameron meeting with the Dalai Lama, which antagonised the Chinese government. As a result, Beijing had frozen Sino-Britain relations for nearly 18 months as a means to retaliate. The British government offered an invitation to a state-owned Chinese civil nuclear company, CGNPC, to jointly build a civil nuclear power station with EDF, as a rapprochement. Yet, still the Chinese government utilised all sort of diplomatic means to express its dissatisfaction to London. The collaboration on RE has progressed, yet it was much troubled and disturbed by their problematic bilateral relationships.

In contrast, the German government has carefully separated the normative issues with other collaborations with China. Berlin was fully aware of the Chinese government's determination to curb emissions and to establish a competitive renewable industry. It has therefore successfully combined its climate science expertise and enthusiasm over curbing emissions as part of its China policy. Unlike the EU institutions, the EU-China Ministerial Climate Change policy dialogue had only touched the surface of tackling CC. The German government had

set up and executed a comprehensive and well thought-out collaboration plan across all levels of the Chinese government apparatus.

Yet, the German's success in China was at the expenses of undermining the EU's overall engagements with China in the fields of CC and RE. Germany also openly opposed the EU Commission's launching of an investigation against the Chinese solar panel exports even if some of the German companies were the main advocates to the EU Commission on this occasion.

This thesis has also compared and contrasted these two major MS' responses to changes and shifts in the Chinese foreign and energy policy-making process. For the UK, it became caught in an inter-departmental bureaucratic rift between the MFA and the MOFCOM in Beijing. According to several of my interviews, the British government and some of its policy pundits have long viewed China as a monolithic state in which the decisions made by the SCP of the Party would be delivered timely, and without much bargaining, within the decision-making process. However, the British government did not realise that Beijing's foreign policy-making process has gradually evolved from decisions being made by one single committee, to a system where decisions are instead the lowest common denominator amongst the stakeholders.

The MFA in Beijing intended to use the controversies around the Sino-UK relations to compete with its nemesis, the MOFCOM, in terms of influencing the top Party leadership's policy mandates to the UK. It aimed to show both the Party, as well as its rival, that the Sino-UK bilateral political relationship was of equal weight to their trade partnership. The MFA's vociferous criticisms and abrupt response to freeze the China-Britain bilateral ties reflected

its success in persuading the top leaders to take a hard line towards the British government. Based on the research interviews I conducted for Chapter Six, the officials from London seemed not to be aware that such a bureaucratic dispute could generate the most disruptive impact upon its relations with Beijing. To this extent, one can conclude that the British government has failed to recognise and to respond effectively to the institutional shifts in the balance of power in the Chinese foreign policy making process.

In contrast to the clumsiness of the British government, Berlin had prepared and conducted effectively its climate diplomacy agenda with China. As observed in their CC collaboration plans, the German government had not only engaged with the central ministries in Beijing that were in charge of China's CC policy, but also simultaneously engaged with individual provincial governments that possessed sufficient experience in tackling CC issues.

Such provincial level engagements exhibited the German government's understanding of the Chinese energy policy making process. It recognised that the provincial governments did carry considerable political and economic weight when it came to the execution of the central government's climate and environmental policies. Therefore, the German government paid particular attention to, and effectively communicated with, some of those chosen provinces in order to implement its own climate diplomacy agenda with individual provinces.

The MS' individual climate diplomacy has certainly undermined the EU's overall collaboration plan with China. Each MS only stood for its national interests. Brussels' lack of institutional capacity has set up a clear contrast with the MS enthusiasm and in-depth knowledge when engaging with Beijing over CC and RE. Moreover, one cannot ignore the role of the European RE conglomerates in determining the outcomes of their collaborations.

6) Relations amongst the European companies, the Chinese central government and the Chinese State-Owned Enterprises

The last pair of relations that this thesis examined was amongst the European RE conglomerates, the Chinese central governmental agencies and the Chinese SOEs. Due to the restrictive length and limited research resources, this thesis did not examine the equally significant ties amongst the European companies, the provincial governments and the local private enterprises even though these sets of relations are also worthwhile areas in which to conduct further research.

Unlike in the existing literature which has focused upon the extent to which the European conglomerates developed troubled relationships with both the Chinese central government and their partnered Chinese SOEs. This thesis discovered that several European conglomerates have developed amicable relations with the Chinese central government and their collaborative SOEs simultaneously. Surprisingly, some of the European conglomerates became invaluable information providers and experienced consultants to the central agencies that were responsible for the making of China's RE policy. Yet, such occasions were rare occurrences, which only happened at the nascent stage of China's RE development.

This thesis had also discovered that a number of European conglomerates were familiar with the Chinese RE policy making process and quickly gauged the shifts in the RE policy. They had successfully interpreted and responded to policy changes according to their own commercial preferences. Unlike some of the EU institutions and the studied MS, the conglomerates responded to changes in RE policy priorities and institutional shifts far more effectively than the other European actors investigated throughout the thesis.

However, this thesis has not completely disagreed with the existing literature. The European conglomerates collaborations with their Chinese counterparts were not free from difficulties and bureaucratic predicaments. Collaborations with China at the RE sector had not been insulated from the conventional difficulties that European conglomerates encountered in China, such as the increasingly protectionist approach undertaken by the Chinese authorities, the lack of transparency in RE governance and IPRs violations. The main reason for the predicaments that the European companies encountered was due to the rapid progress that the Chinese RE manufacturers made in a relatively short space of time.

Part of Chapter Six offered two in-depth case studies to illustrate the successes and failures of the European conglomerates involved in the process of collaboration in China. Both their successes and failures have made certain impacts upon the overall Sino-European collaborative partnerships on CC and RE. By giving these case studies, part of Chapter Six has extensively tested the hypothesis of this thesis, as the overall collaborations have been largely determined by the multiple interests of a diverse range of actors.

This thesis used a detailed case study to examine the key to the success of VESTAS, a Danish wind energy conglomerate and the Chinese central governmental ministries. This thesis surprisingly discovered that VESTAS managed to act as an insightful information provider that was similar to the way in which some Chinese SOEs do with their corresponding governmental departments.

In contrast to the EU institutions and some MS finger pointing to China's RE sector, the

ultimate goal for VESTAS was to expand its own market share in an ever increasingly competitive wind energy sector in China. VESTAS' assistances to the NDRC over the drafting of the Chinese Wind Energy Industry Standard showed it had gained itself sufficient trust from the Chinese central ministries. VESTAS realised that in a semi-market oriented economy like China, the importance of having the trust of, and connections with, the central ministries had become vital to the survival and commercial success of a foreign company in the vast Chinese market.

Yet, the case study of Siemens and the China Hua Neng Renewable Company (CHNRC) demonstrated that overly relying upon its political connection in the Chinese policy making system was a double edged sword. Siemens became a victim of its own unprecedented success in the Chinese market. Its expansive business engagements across various state-led industries had certainly alarmed the top Party leadership in Beijing and its existing Chinese competitors. In this case study, Siemens was abandoned by the central ministries in Beijing and its potential partner CHNRC during the development of the first offshore wind energy farm.

Siemens was furious about the Chinese government's arbitrary and ad-hoc interpretation of the "local contents requirements" policy mandate. Despite its long term experience in the Chinese market, Siemens failed to recognise that the purpose for developing a strong RE sector in China was to achieve its own industrial upgrade from "Made in China" to "Invented in China".

As part of an "Indigenous Innovation" campaign, the Chinese government took a much stronger protectionist approach to ensure that the home grown manufacturers were treated favourably. It dismissed Siemens and other European conglomerates claims that that they were undermining European companies' commercial interests, and their futile efforts to protest against their decisions. Such discrimination against European enterprises also largely exists in other sectors in which the Chinese government would like to give priority for development. The RE sector is just one of these affected industries.

Therefore, this thesis concluded that while the European companies had played an indispensable role in facilitating the overall collaborations. They had, however, also undermined the prospects of further collaborations due to their furious responses to the stronger protectionist efforts made by Beijing in an attempt to develop its own home grown renewable industry. Their responses not only affected the renewable sector collaboration, but also presented a resemblance to other areas of the Sino-European relations.

Section 7.3 Further Research Prospects

This very short section will explain the difficulties of conducting research during the investigation process for this thesis. Yet it does not suggest that this thesis will shed no light for further research of a similar nature and scope of studies. Rather, this section will outline potential research prospects for the near future.

Research Difficulties:

This thesis was devoted to the studies of the policy making process in Beijing and the responses from Brussels and the EU MS in the ever changing dynamics of Sino-European relations. It sought to disentangle and to investigate the interactions amongst individual foreign policy actors. It has also examined the relations between the ultimate decision makers at the very peak of the Party and those who seek to influence the decisions made by the top leadership. Due to the nature of the research, conducting this particular type of research requires the author to gain access to various central governmental ministries in Beijing and to interview the key personnel. Elite interviews have been extensively used throughout the thesis. During the interview processes, some interviewees indeed provided good insights into the subject.

However, this thesis does not suggest that interviews are the only method to gain access to the information. Yet, it is perhaps the most effective method to disentangle the complexities of the Chinese foreign policy making process. Therefore, the first and foremost reason to utilise elite interviews in Beijing is because the Chinese political system is renowned for its opaqueness. It is rather difficult to gauge who takes the main responsibilities for a certain policy domain, even if the official documents have clearly defined who is in charge. As a result, interviewing the right personnel becomes an effective method to demystify Beijing's policy making process.

During the research process, some of the potentially insightful interviewees declined to be interviewed as they feared that such interviews would jeopardise their own political careers and departmental interests. On several occasions, the author sent interview questions to interviewed officials before the actual interviewing process. Yet, they declined to answer all the questions, as had been agreed in the first place.

The second crucial reason why this thesis has heavily relied upon interviews is because there was a dearth of academic literature on Sino-European relations being written to examine the process of China's EU policy making. One has to rely upon media sources to filter certain relevant information so as to interpret the case studies. Conducting interviews is seen as an effective means to corroborating media sources that have been referred to. In some occasions, those in-depth interviews have become the missing parts of the jigsaws with which to fill the gap where the media sources were insufficient to help the author to investigate a particular policy making process.

This thesis also relied upon the many previous commercial consulting experiences the author acquired prior to the PhD research. This is largely due to the nature of this research subject. Both Chinese enterprises and European conglomerates have formed into formidable foreign policy actors throughout the years. Therefore, the research on the Sino-European relations is not complete without detailed examination of corporate actors' motivations and behaviours to influence the ultimate decision maker.

Yet, one may criticise some chapters of this thesis relating to corporate actors because of a

lack of sufficient secondary sources. The main reason for a lack of secondary sources in these chapters is because none of the interviewed enterprises would like to expose own corporate failures. Also most companies' records and secondary resources contain only the released financial data to their shareholders, and to attract media attention. As this investigation is based on a qualitative methodology, their published financial data could be of little assistances to the research. One cannot evaluate the success of a company's collaborations with their partners purely based on either a Profit and Losses sheet, or a Balance sheet.

Rather, the corporate interviewees would much more prefer to express their own success, rather than offer candid opinions on their business operations in China. The case study of VESTAS has proved my argument here. VESTAS was much happier to exhibit its tremendous success both at the interviews and in the press while they kept silent on their own failure to collaborate with CNOOC. In respect of commercial sensitivities about information revealed in this thesis, most corporate case studies used in the thesis are now beyond the confidentiality stage.

Gaining access to the Chinese political system has been very difficult. Yet, reaching some of the EU institutions for comments has proved to be almost impossible too. The most accessible EU institutions are the Trade Commission (DG Trade) and the EEAs, whilst the DG Clima as the primary institution which conducts the EU's climate diplomacy has consistently refused the author's interview requests. The author has therefore relied upon the Chinese diplomats' views towards the DG Clima to gauge the extent to which the DG Clima has acted as a powerful actor in determining the outcomes of the collaborations. Throughout the chapters, the method of triangulation and cross-referencing has been widely applied.

Potential Research Prospects:

Despite these difficulties mentioned above, this thesis has exhibited potential for the conducting of further research within the nature and the scope of the subject. The reasons for elaborating the further research are in threefold. Firstly, this thesis has departed from the conventional approach to the study of Sino-European relations which is topic based and outcomes-oriented. This research has instead largely concentrated on the process of policy making.

This is not to deny the validity of topic based and outcomes-oriented research on Sino-European relations. Rather the author suggests that the studies of Sino- European relations could be enriched by retaining a focus on the process and the interactions of individual stakeholders. In doing so, the research would be able to generate insights into how the particular outcomes of China's EU policy or Brussels' China policy are shaped.

Secondly, this thesis has enlightened the examination of Chinese foreign policy. As referred to in the early chapters, the study of decision-making in Chinese foreign policy has rapidly gained popularity in recent years. This is largely because the expansion to the scope and contents of China's external affairs have encouraged a wider participation in Beijing's FP decision making by various institutional actors and different vested interests groups. China's foreign agenda has gradually become more inclusive, changing from conventional state to state relations, to a wider focus on global issues.

Yet, this particular area of research has not progressed corresponding to the shifts in Chinese foreign policy. The main reason to the slow progress in research is a lack of sufficient information and valuable insights into the Chinese political system. This thesis made its modest contribution by examining two very small, yet rapidly developed areas of China's foreign policy, namely China's climate diplomacy and the related renewable energy collaborations. It observed the process that non-conventional foreign policy actors such as the NDRC and the MOST managed to create their own centres of gravity in deciding China's climate change and energy policy. As these two areas becoming increasingly important, both institutions have emerged as indispensable foreign policy actors in China. By applying to a similar bureaucratic approach, the further research could be conducted in other policy areas where the departmental or corporate expertise play a determinant role in shaping Beijing's foreign policy agenda. The academic curiosity to discover all the various processes of decision-making in Chinese foreign policy are still to come.

Thirdly, this thesis chose the area of climate change and energy policy which do not involve the examination of military security and geo-politics. These two hard security areas have been dominated within the field of studies of Chinese foreign policy. This has left enormous academic potential to adopt the bureaucratic politics model and the fragmented authoritarian model to investigate the process of making decisions such as on China's disputes with its South East Asia neighbours. Equally, the similar model could examine a pair of the most significant bilateral relations in international politics, namely Sino-US relations. Therefore, this thesis has only opened the first few pages of the book.

Last but not least, this thesis examined the China-EU relations, which are not conventional state to state relations. It treated China as a non-monolithic unit which engages with an entity that is not a sovereign state but a hybrid of inter-governmental organisation and states. Conducting academic research on this particular type of diplomatic relations could equally shield some further light on China's relations with other regional and inter-governmental

organisations such as the ASEAN and the African Union.

In doing so, further research could depart from the conventional understanding on China's relations with regional and inter-governmental organisations as a unitary state, to an inter-governmental organisation. Rather, the further observation of such partnerships could identify individual institutional actors and non-state actors in China, and analyse their motivation and behaviour when they formulate particular sets of foreign policies to an inter-governmental organisation.

Conclusion for Chapter Seven:

To conclude, this thesis has departed from the conventional academic research on China-EU relations. In particular, it has focused on the process of formation and execution of China's EU policy. It utilised case studies on their climate change and renewable energy collaborations to examine the relevant foreign policy stakeholders. This thesis has tested extensively its original hypothesis, with a strong focus on individual foreign policy actors and the process of making foreign policy. It concludes that the China-EU relations are indeed mostly determined by diverse interests from a wide range of foreign policy actors.

Theoretically, this thesis has proved that both the Bureaucratic Politics Model (BPM) and the related Fragmented Authoritarian Model (FAM) has been of invaluable assistance to the analysis of the policy making process within China's foreign policy making framework. By examining foreign policy making through the BPM, this thesis discovered that China's foreign policy is far from what the Rational Choice Model claims, namely that "Foreign Policy is based on careful and considerate calculation of national interests".

Rather, Beijing's foreign policy agenda is the outcomes of intensive bargains amongst a wide array of foreign policy actors. Some of these actors are located in the traditional territory of foreign policy making, while others have recently become prominent and decisive without being inside the realm of conventional external affairs. Both the BPM and the FAM allowed the author to observe the process of these newly emerged actors shifting from periphery to the centre of China's foreign policy formulation.

The BPM has also reinforced my observation on the process of making the EU's China policy. As many scholars pointed out, the EU is fundamentally incoherent and inconsistent

when it comes to deciding a particular set of policies. This thesis has illuminated that its collaborations with China on Climate Change and Renewable Energy could not be exempt from this symptom, even if the EU believed that Climate and Renewable collaborations has the biggest potential to become the most fruitful collaborations in their partnership. The BPM helped the author to disentangle the intricate relations amongst institutions in Brussels as well as to investigate disagreements between Brussels and the Member States.

Empirically, this thesis departed from viewing the Sino-European relations as bilateral in nature. It argued that China is not a monolithic entity as some of the western policy practitioners and scholars perceived. It made a modest contribution to the study of the China's EU policy by examining six pairs of relationships in the Sino-European collaborations on climate change and renewable energy. Most noticeably, this thesis has observed the relations between the Party as the ultimate decision maker, and the relevant actors, either institutional or corporate ones. This thesis has discovered that the CCP has played an omnipresent role in every aspect of policy making. Yet, its relations with governmental institutions at both the central and provincial level not always have been the top-down approach as is often believed.

At the central level, the Party has retained the absolute final decision-making power. Yet, the Party has made decisions largely relying upon various central ministries' policy proposals and agenda. As a result, competitions to influence the ultimate decision makers have been a frequent occurrence. In particular, the Party has prioritised tackling climate change and environmental degradation, both problems which have threatened the governing legitimacy of the CCP.

Making domestic environmental policy and conducting climate diplomacy have involved a large number of ministerial departments. As observed throughout this thesis, each department has managed to create their own centre of gravity to utilise their own expertise to influence the final decision outcomes. Each department's interests have been largely reflected in China's policy agenda when collaborating with the EU as well as in clashes with the Union over tackling Climate Change. The intensive bargaining activities have largely undermined the prospects of further collaborations.

Apart from central governmental institutions, the Chinese SOEs have emerged as a formidable vested interest groups in determining China's foreign policy. Unlike the recent literature on the relations between the SOEs and the Chinese government, this thesis discovered that the corporate interests of the SOEs have not always been in conflict with those of the Chinese government.

Such conflicting scenarios often happen in the traditional fossil-fuels sector. However, in the field of Renewable Energy, the SOEs have often acted as insightful information providers to the top Party leadership. They have combined their interests together with those of the CCP. Yet, some other SOEs have continued to experience tense relations with the central governmental departments. Their conflicts of interests have undermined possible fruitful collaborations with the EU.

At the provincial level, this thesis has made a modest contribution by analysing the extent to which challenging provincial-private enterprises relations have become a major source of the Sino-European dispute. Neither the provincial government nor private enterprises have previously been studied in the current China-EU relations literature. This thesis examined their intricate relations to illustrate the reasons why they have inevitably influenced overall Sino-European relations. To a large extent, their relations have proved that each actor has pursued its own distinctive interests without considering the overall Sino-European partnerships on climate change.

Besides the above detailed examinations on the process of China's EU policy making, this thesis also explored the expansion in content and scope of Chinese foreign policy. It also observed institutional shifts in balance of power which were triggered by the expansion. It investigated the sources and motivations of policy changes and institutional power shifts. By doing so, this thesis has assessed the overall impact of such changes to Sino-European relations.

This thesis has also paid a great attention to the European actors in their responses to changes which have occurred in China. It did not asses the responses of the EU as a single entity to the related changes. Rather, it treated the EU institutions, the MS and the European conglomerates, as separate analytical units to observe their responses to policy shifts in Beijing. On most occasions, the EU institutions have suffered from a lack of institutional capacity to deal with changes inside China. Some of the MS managed to conduct their climate diplomacy more effectively than others.

The European conglomerates have had a very different fate with their business operations in the Middle Kingdom. Some of them have acted as effective information providers to the Chinese government, whereas others have become victims of their own success. Overall, the EU has had grand ambitions in acting as the global leader of curbing climate change, and wished to collaborate with the world second largest carbon emitter to fulfil its aspirations. Yet, it has found itself with insurmountable difficulties to overcome, namely the institutional inconsistency and incoherence between Brussels and the MS. But, ultimately; the European renewable corporate sector is a victim of China's rapidly developing renewable industry.

Overall, this thesis has offered a non-orthodoxical approach to examine China's EU policy making. It also evaluated the EU's ability to adapt to changes in Chinese foreign policy. Despite the research difficulties, this thesis has enriched the study of Sino-European relations by retaining a focus on individual FP actors. In doing so, this thesis has illuminated the analysis of decision-making process in China's foreign policy and has widened the avenues for the further research projects in the field.

List of Interviewees for the Thesis

Please note that interviewees' positions and institutions may change over the four years of research process

Name	Position	Organisation
Professor Liu Jianfei	Professor in International Relations Deputy Director at	the CCP Central Party School
Mr Shen Jianping	International Economics Division	MFA
Mr Wu Jianmin	Former Chinese Ambassador to France	MFA/People's Consultative Committee
Ms Yu Hailing	First Secretary at China Embassy to Sweden	CPC International Department
Mr Dong Zhenyu	Deputy Director of European Division, the 5th Bureau	CPC International Department
Mr Yang Jun	former Political Councillor at the Chinese Embassy to the UK	MFA
Ms Wang Lvxin	First Secretary at the Chinese Embassy to the UK (Policy Analysis) Third Secretary at	MFA
Mr Han Wei	Chinese Embassy to the UK on Parliamentary Affairs	CPC International Department
Mr Lan Tianshan	Deputy Director of Service Trade Bureau Lecturer in Global	MOFCOM
Dr Liu Dong	Economy/Deputy Director of Bank of China, Hong Kong	the CCP Central Party School
Ms Wang Xiaolin	Councillor on Climate change at China Mission to the EU First Secretary at China	MFA/NDRC
Ms Wang Xiaoyao	Mission to the EU (Political affairs)	MFA
Mr Su Wei	Director of Climate Change Bureau	NDRC
Mr Chen Deyu	Division Director at Jiangsu Economic Planning Bureau	Jiangsu Provincial Government
Mr Xiang Hua	Staff member at Renewable Division	NEA/NDRC
Professor Pan Jiahua	Director of Environmental Science Senior Fellow on	Chinese Academy of Social Science Energy Research
Professor Zhou Dadi	Environment	Institute of NDRC

Professor Zhou Hong	Director of European Studies Institute	Chinese Academy of Social Science
Professor Zha Daojong	Professor of International Relations	Peking University
Professor Zhang Jian	Professor of International Relations	Peking University
Professor Li Junfeng	Senior Advisor	Chinese Association to Wind Energy
Mr Liu Yuxing	Government Relations Manager	Suntech
Mr Xu Xiangdi	Analyst of Corporate Strategy	Suntech
Mr Li Songlin	Project Manager, CNOOC Renewable	CNOOC
Mr Tom Pellman	Energy Company Government Relations Manager, Head of China, Chairman	VESTAS, China
Dr Jeorg Wuttke	of EU Chamber of Commerce China	BASF
Miss Miriam Gutzke	Staff member/DG Clima Director at Asia	EU Delegation to China
Mr James Moran	Directorate	the EU Commission
Sir Robert Cooper	Senior Advisor to Lady Ashton	the EEAS
Mr Fredrik Erixon	Director	ECIPE
Mr Guy de Jonquieres	Senior Fellow	ECIPE
Ms Theresa Fallon	Senior Fellow	EISA
Dr Nicola Casarini	Research Fellow	EUISS
Ms Fleur Willson	Head of Political Section, British Consulate in Taiwan	FCO
Mr Sammuel Gosland	Desk Officer, China Team	FCO
Sir Andrew Cahn	Former Head of UKTI/ Board members at Huawei, UK	UKTI/Huawei
Professor Shaun Brelin	Professor of International Relations	University of Warwick
Dr Gudrun Wacker	Senior Fellow	SWP
Mr Wolfang Niedeirmark	Head of Government Relations, Berlin Office	BASF
Dr Daniele Brombal	Project Manager	EU-IRSES Project on Global Partners in Contaminated Land Management
Dr Diarmuid Torney	Postdoctoral Research Fellow	Freie University, Berlin
Mr Stefan Haid	Principle	Roland Berger Strategy, Munich Office
Dr Marcus Muller	Project Manager of SGCC	GIZ
Mr Arjen de Leeuw de Bouter	Head of Renewable engineering	Siemens

Professor Men Jing
Mrs Sylvie-Agnes Bermann
Professor Francois Godement
Dr Denis Depoux
Dr Richard Youngs Dr Jurgen Stutten Mr Clauze Kuntz
Dr Torsten Ploss
Ms Jodi Roussel
Ms Vera Philips Mr Axel Berger Professor Simon Hix

Professor of International Relations, China-EU Chair Ambassador of France to the UK Senior Fellow Head of Corporate Strategy Director Director of Asia Division **Environmental Analyst** Project Manager of Coal Liquefaction/Partner at Roland Berger Strategy Director for Public Relations China Team manager Head of Asia Research **Professor of Politics**

College of Europe French Foreign Ministry ECFR, SCI-PO AREVA, Paris HQ FRIDE ELBERT Stiftung Henrich Boll Stiftung BP

Mercator Stiftung DIE Stiftung LSE

Bibliography for the Thesis:

1. Secondary Literature:

AHK(Delegation of German Industry& Commerce) (2013), "*Politics:2013: 中国碳交易迈出第一步 the Very First Step of China's Carbon trading in 2013*" 31 December 2013, accessed at: <a href="http://china.ahk.de/services/building-energy-environment/new-market-mechanisms/articles/politics/single-article/artikel/politics-2013-%E4%B8%AD%E5%9B%BD%E7%A2%B3%E4%BA%A4%E6%98%93%E8%BF%88%E5%87%BA%E7%AC%AC%E4%B8%80%E6%AD%A5/?cHash=ca2f830f1115f5fc9e2f062d2323e467

Alden, C & Aran, A (2011), "Bureaucracies and Foreign Policy" from 'Foreign Policy Analysis: New Approaches' New York: Routledge, pp36-45

Algeri, F (2008) 'It's the system that matters: institutionalization and making of EU policy towards China', from Shambaugh et al (ed), 2008, "China-Europe Relations: Perceptions, Policies and Prospects" Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 4

Allison, G, (1968), "The Essence of Decision", Boston: Little Brown Press, pp294

Allison, T. G (1969) "Conceptual Models and Cuban Missile Crisis", *American Political Science Review, Vol. 63. No.3*, pp690

Archick.K, Grimmett.R.F and Kan.S (2005) "European Union's Arms Embargo on China: Implications and Options for US Policy", CRS Report Congress, 27 May, Washington DC: Library of Congress

Bachman, D (2003) "New Leaders, New Foreign Policymaking Procedures?" in Gang Lin and Xiaobo Hu (2003), eds, *'China After Jiang'*, Washington DC: Woodrow Wilson Centre Press

Baker, S (2006), *"Environmental values and climate change policy"* from Manners, I and Lucarelli, S (2006), *'Values and Principles in European Union Foreign Policy'*, Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 5

Balducci, G. (2010), "The Limits of Normative Power Europe in Asia: The Case of Human Rights in China", East Asia, Vol.27, No.1, pp35-55

Bailes, A.J.K. And A. Wetter (2007), 'EU-China Security Relations: the 'Softer' Side', in D. Kerr and L. Fei (eds.), *The International Politics of EU-China Relations*, Oxford: The British Academy/Oxford University Press

BBC (2008), "*China Protest at EU-Dalai Meeting*" 7 December 2008, accessed at: <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/europe/7769123.stm</u>

BBC (2011a), "*PM signs China deals but urges respect for human rights*", 27 June 2011, accessed at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news-politics-13919917

BBC (2011b), "*China-German Trade: Wen Meets Merkel in Berlin*" 28 June 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-europe-13937738</u>

BBC (2012a), "Chinese Wealth Fund buys nearly 9% of Thames Water" 20 January 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-16643989</u>

BBC (2012b), "David Cameron's Dalai Lama Meeting Sparks Chinese protest", 16 May 2012, accessed at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-18084223

BBC (2013), "Security fears over Orwellian Chinese nuclear deal" 30 November 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-25156551</u>

Beijing Youth Newspaper (2013), "无锡尚德破产"政府的手'难辞其咎 Suntech's bankruptcy is a fatal result of governmental intervention", 22 March 2013 accessed at: <u>http://bjyouth.ynet.com/3.1/1303/22/7902452.html</u>

Beijing Review (2006), "*Shanghai Maglev Project*", 18 December 2006, accessed at: <u>http://www.bjreview.com.cn/business/txt/2006-12/18/content_51276.htm</u>

Berkofsky, B (2006), "*The EU-China strategic partnership: rhetoric versus reality*" from Zaborowski, M (ed.) 2006, in '*Facing China's rise Guidelines for an EU strategy*', *Chaillot Paper*, No.94, Paris: Institute for Security Studies

Berger et al (2011), "China's Impact on the Global Wind Power Industry", German Development Institute, Discussion Paper 16/2011

Berger et al (2013), "China-European Relations in the Mitigation of Climate Change: A conceptual Framework", Journal of Current Chinese Affairs, Vol.42, No.1 pp71-98

Bienen, H and Gilpin (1981), "*Testimony to Congress*", US Senate, Subcommittee on International Trade of the Committee on Finance, Hearings, U.S. International Trade Strategy, 96th Cong., 2d sess., 1980, pp.160-161

Bloomberg News (2005), "*China may drill Philippine Oil that Chevron, Shell Rejected*", 29 November 2005, accessed at: <u>http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=anrzFgfRSYtY&refer=top_world_new</u> <u>s</u>

Bloomberg News (2008), "*China Announces 4 Trillion Yuan Economic Stimulus (Update 2)*" 9 November 2008, Accessed at: http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=aIpq7IF4BM9Q

Bloomberg News (2010) "CNOOC May Pay BP \$10.2bn for Argentine Asset, Citi Says", 25 September 2010, Accessed at: <u>http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2010-09-15/cnooc-may-pay-bp-10-2-billion-for-argentine-asset-citi-says.html</u>

Bloomberg News (2011) "CnocoPhilips and CNOOC Reach Agreement with State Oceanic Administration", 30 April 2011, accessed at: http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=azCYvEkCwhj4

Bloomberg News (2012a) "*China May 'Move Shortly' on Aid for Europe*", 8 February 2012, accessed at <u>http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2012-02-08/china-s-may-move-shortly-on aid-for -</u> <u>Europe-yuan-s-value.html</u> Bloomberg News (2012b) *"China to Pay \$1.4bn in subsidies for Renewable Energy",19 December 2012*, accessed at: <u>http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2012-12-19/china-to-pay-1-4-billion-in-subsidies-for-renewable-energy.html</u>

Breslin, S (2000), "Decentralisation, Globalisation and China's Partial Re-engagement with the Global Economy", New Political Economy, Vol.5 No.2,2000, pp205-226

Breslin, S (2010), "The EU and Asia within an Evolving Global Order: What is Europe? Where is Asia?" East Asia: an International Journal 27:1: pp1-13

Bretherton.C&Vogler. J (2006) "*The European Union as a Global Actor*", Abingdon: Routledge, Introduction and Chapter 4

Brodsgaard, K (2012), "Politics and Business Group Formation in China: The Party in Control", The China Quarterly, Vol.211, September 2012, pp624-648

Burham et al (2004) "Research Methods in Politics", Basingstoke: Palgrave-Macmillan, Introduction

Caijing Magazine (2008a), "张国宝称能源局不应谋求定价权, The Head of NDRC suggested that NEA should not seek to acquire the power of pricing diesel"24 March 2008, accessed at http://www.caijing.com.cn/2008-03-24/100053748.html

Caijing Magazine (2008b), "国家能源局"三定"方案出炉NEA's controversial Bureaucratic Framework is confirmed" 26 June 2008", accessed at http://www.caijing.com.cn/2008-06-26/100071658.html

Caijing Magazine (2008c), "发改委叫停煤制油新项目 NDRC Called for a Major Overhaul on Coal Liquefaction Projects" 4 September 2008, accessed at <u>http://www.caijing.com.cn/2008-09-04/110010415.html</u>

Caijing Magazine (2009), "中广核集团参与中亚铀资源项目开发 CGNPC participates in Kazakhstan Uranium Exploration" 30 April 2009, accessed at: <u>http://www.caijing.com.cn/2009-04-30/110157443.html</u>

Caixin (2010a), "中广核董事长钱智民调任国家能源局副局长 Chairman of CGNPC appointed as Deputy Director of NEA" 19 March 2010, accessed at: <u>http://companies.caixin.com/2010-03-19/100128081.html</u>

Caixin (2010b), "我国減排行动透明度遭遇国际压力 International Community questions China's transparency of emission reduction mechanism", 5 October 2010, accessed at: http://china.caixin.com/2010-10-05/100186122.html

Caixin (2012), "第三轮中欧高级别对话在京举行 Beijing hosts the Third China-EU high level dialogue", 10 July 2012, accessed at: <u>http://international.caixin.com/2012-07-10/100409406.html</u>

Callahan. W.A (2007). 'Future Imperfect: The European Union's encounter with China (and the United States)', *Journal of Strategic Studies* 30:4, 777-807

Callahan, W. A. (2010) "China: The Pessimist Nation", Oxford: Oxford University Press. pp 20-22

Carlsnaes, W (2008), "Actors, Structures, and Foreign Policy Analysis", in Smith et al (2008) 'Foreign Policy: Theories, Actors, Cases', Oxford: OUP Carraro, C& Tavoni, M (2010), "Looking Ahead from Copenhagen: How Challenging is the Chinese Carbon Intensity Target", 5 January 2010, VOXEU, accessed at: <u>http://www.voxeu.org/article/chinas-copenhagen-commitment-business-usual-or-climate-leadership</u>

Casarini, N (2010), "*Remaking Global Order: The Evolution of Europe-China Relations and its Implications for East Asia and the United States*", Oxford: OUP

CCB International (2011), "Alternative Energy: China Wind Power", Hong Kong: China Construction Bank Corporation

Chen, Zhimin and Armstrong, J (2010) "China's relations with Europe: towards a 'normal' relationship?" in Breslin, S (ed.) (2010) "Handbook of China's International Relations", London: Routledge, pp135

China News (2004), "施罗德助战西门子,中国高铁德国造 Schroder Helped Siemens to build China's high speed railways", 11 December 2004, accessed at: http://www.china.com.cn/chinese/jingji/726299.htm

China Briefing (2011), "China Revises Measures on Clean Development Projects" 28 September 2011, Dezan Shira& Associates, accessed at: <u>http://www.china-briefing.com/news/2011/09/28/china-revises-measures-on-clean-development-mechanism-projects.html</u>

China Business Journal (2011), "风电并网首个行业标准出台后续政策蓄势待发 Wind Energy on grid regulations revised and expected the following-up policies", 5 March 2011, accessed at: http://finance.sina.com.cn/roll/20110305/12159477483.shtml

China Daily (2009), "Goldwind to spread wings overseas for growth" 15 December 2009, accessed at: http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/bizchina/2009-12/15/content_9178876.htm

China Daily (2010a), "China, Germany ink ten agreements amid Merkel's visit", 16 July 2010, accessed at: http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/china/2010-07/16/content_10116652.htm

China Daily (2010b), "CNOOC and BP in Talks on Sharing Oil Production" 25 November 2010, accessed at: <u>http://europe.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2010-11/25/content_11609759.htm</u>

China Daily (2011a), "*China to boost offshore wind power generation*", 16 May 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/china/2011-05/16/content_12520766.htm</u>

China Daily (2011b), "*Chill wind blowing for turbine industry*", 3 June 2011, accessed at: <u>http://usa.chinadaily.com.cn/epaper/2011-06/03/content_12635161.htm</u>

China Daily (2012), "*EU to keep carbon tax*", 10 March 2012, accessed at: http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/bizchina/greenchina/2012-03/10/content_15896236.htm

China Daily (2013), "*Li touts Sino-German ties*" 28 May 2013, accessed at: http://www.chinadailyasia.com/news/2013-05/28/content_15074882.html

China Economic Review (2011), "MOFCOM studies shows subsidies for EU telecom firms", Februrary 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.chinaeconomicreview.com/node/51361</u>

China Electricity Council (2011), "*辉煌五年:十一五电力工业发展成就斐然 Glorious Five Years of Chinese Utility sector under Eleventh Five Years Plan" 10 March 2011*, accessed at: <u>http://www.cec.org.cn/zdldongtai/benbudongtai/2011-03-10/48493.html</u>

China Energy Daily (2011), "维斯塔斯牵手中国电科院风电研究 VESTAS advices wind energy to NDRC'S Institute to China's Electricity Research" 13 June 2011, accessed at: http://paper.people.com.cn/zgnyb/html/2011-06/13/content_844124.htm

China Energy Daily (2012), "从师徒关系到共同建造—记中法核能合作三十年 From Teacher-Pupil Relations to Joint Partnership: The Thirty Years of the Sino-French Nuclear Energy Collaboration" 23 December 2012, accessed at: http://paper.people.com.cn/zgnyb/html/2013-12/23/content_1366136.htm

China Energy Daily (2013), "国家能源局新职能如何开启 What are new roles for NEA?",24 June 2013, accessed at: <u>http://paper.people.com.cn/zgnyb/html/2013-06/24/content_1259275.htm</u>

China Energy Daily (2014a), "中海油千亿元砸向业主开发 CNOOC Plans to Spend over hundreds billion RMB on oil exploration and production, the end of renewable boom" 12 February 2014, accessed at: <u>http://www.cnenergy.org/yq/sy/201402/t20140212_286332.html</u>

China Energy Daily (2014b), "西门子与华能签署战略合作协议 Siemens and China Hua Neng Signed its strategic collaboration partnership agreement", 31 March 2014, accessed at: <u>http://www.cnenergy.org/qyxw/201403/t20140331_299721.html</u>

China Energy Journal (2013), "中海油试错:新能源萎缩向油气回归 CNOOC'S Failed test: From renewable energy back to oil and gas" 15 April 2013, accessed at: <u>http://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/gsnews/20130415/184715154055.shtml</u>

China First Financial Daily (2012), "中国核电技术之争:现代版三国演义 The Chinese Civil Nuclear Technology: A Matter of Chaos" 8 August 2012, accessed at: http://realtime.xmuenergy.com/newsdetail.aspx?newsid=105608

China First Financial Daily (2013a) "李克强经济外交战首战告捷:中欧光伏价格承诺今起实施 The Sino-European Solar Price Agreement came into Force: Li Ke Qiang's First Economic Diplomacy Victory", accessed at: http://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/cyxw/20130806/013016352571.shtml

China First Financial Daily (2013b), "欧盟对华光伏反补贴调查只是内部走流程 The EU's solar panel investigation to China is only a matter of internal procedure" 9 August 2013, accessed at: <u>http://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/cyxw/20130809/020116392329.shtml</u>

China First Financial Daily (2013c), "中广核英国项目谋求扩权 CGNPC's UK project seeks to retain management autonomy" 3 September, accessed at: <u>http://business.sohu.com/20130903/n385712370.shtml</u>

China First Financial Daily (2014a), "中国核电'两会'转向: 抱团走出 The Chinese civil nuclear sector goes global as one conglomerate", 18 March 2014, accessed at: <u>http://news.sohu.com/20140318/n396777704.shtml</u>

China First Financial Daily (2014b), "中广核英国办事处成立,推动中国核电走出去 CGNPC UK office established to help the Chinese civil nuclear go-out" 19 June 2014, accessed at: http://www.yicai.com/news/2014/06/3951089.html

China Guangdong Nuclear Power Company (CGNPC) at a glance, accessed at <u>http://www.cgnpc.com.cn/n1500/n1501/n1502/index.html</u>

China Hua Neng Renewable Offshore, <u>"中国风电机组大型化显著(Major Shifts of Chinese Wind</u> <u>Energy Equipments System Integration)</u>",accessed at <u>http://www.hnr.com.cn/index.php?m=content&c=index&a=show&catid=57&id=104</u>

China Investment Corp, (2011), "Annual Report" pp21, accessed at: <u>http://www.china-inv.cn/wps/wcm/connect/dd2750af-c025-4886-8ee6-</u> 8ce3a9178cbf/CIC_2011_annualreport_en.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CACHEID=dd2750af-c025-4886-8ee6-8ce3a9178cbf

China National Development Bank (CDB), "*Strategic Focus*", accessed at: <u>http://www.cdb.com.cn/english/Column.asp?ColumnId=86</u>

China National Development Bank (CDB)& Xinhua News 30 October 2013, "国开行研究光伏企业 融资细则,光伏空间有望打开", CDB is under discussion of offering loans to private enterprises in solar industry. Accessed at <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/finance/2013-10/30/c_125621230.htm</u>

China National Nuclear Company at a glance, accessed at <u>http://www.cnnc.com.cn/tabid/643/Default.aspx</u>

China National Offshore Oil Company: "Introduction to the Renewable/New Energy Business Unit", accessed at: <u>http://en.cnooc.com.cn/data/html/english/channel_137.html</u>

China.org.cn (2009) "BASF to build chemical plant in Chongqing", 9, July 2009, accessed at: <u>http://www.china.org.cn/environment/news/2009-07/09/content_18099006.htm</u>

China Securities Journal (2013), "尚德破产成光伏产业标志性事件,或引发连锁反应 Suntech Bankruptcy: A Tip of Iceberg, may cause domino effect", 21 March 2013, accessed at: http://news.xinhuanet.com/energy/2013-03/21/c 124484048.htm

China Vitae, "Zhou Yongkang", accessed at: http://chinavitae.com/biography/37

Climate Policy (2013), "*China-Germany Climate Change Programme Training Manual*", accessed at: <u>http://www.climatepolicy.cn/files/Trainers Manual</u> -Chinese.pdf

Conrad, B (2010) "Bureaucratic Land Rush: China's administrative battles in the arena of Climate Change policy", Harvard Asia Quarterly, Spring 2010, pp52-64

Conrad, B (2012) "China in Copenhagen: Reconciling the Beijing Climate Revolution and the Copenhagen Climate Obstinacy", The China Quarterly, 210, June 2012, pp435-455

Crookes, P (2013), "Resetting China-EU Relations from a Value-based to an interest-based engagement", International Politics, Vol.50, Issue 5, pp639-663

Daily Telegraph (2008), "*Nicolas Sarkozy may boycott Olympic Opening*", 26 March 2008, accessed at: <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/1582887/Nicolas-Sarkozy-may-boycott-Olympics-opening.html</u>

Daily Telegraph (2010), "*UK business threaten to pull out China over protectionism*", 9 February 2010, accessed at: <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/china-business/7197087/UK-businesses-threaten-to-pull-out-of-China-over-protectionism.html</u>

Daily Telegraph (2011), "Britain prepared to block Eurozone move to relax arms embargo on China", 4 November 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/politics/8868652/Britain-prepared-to-block-Eurozone-move-to-relax-arms-embargo-on-China.html</u>

Daily Telegraph (2012), "Santenders Sells Thames Water stake to China", accessed http://www.telegraph.co.uk/finance/newsbysector/utilities/9026906/Santander-sells-Thames-Waterstake-to-China.html 22 January

Daily Telegraph (2013) "Political Deep Freeze between Britain and China finally over following Dalai Lama row" 25 June 2013, accessed at: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/asia/china/10142457/Political-deep-freeze-between-Britain-and-China-finally-over-following-Dalai-Lama-row.html

De Jonquieres, G (2012). "Wanted: A European's China Policy" at http://globalpublicsquare.blogs.cnn.com/2012/09/04/wanted-a-european-china-policy/

De Matteis, P (2012), "The EU's and China's Institutional Diplomacy in the field of Climate Change", EUISS Occasional Paper No.96, 15 June 2012

Downs, E (2006), "*The Brookings Foreign Policy Studies Energy Security Series: China*. Washington DC, December 2006, accessed at <u>http://www3.brookings.edu/fp/-research/energy/2006china.pdf</u>

Downs, E (2008), "Business Interests Groups in Chinese Politics: the Case Studies of the Oil Companies", in Li, C (ed), 'China's Changing Political Landscape', Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution, 121-141

DW (2012), "*EU retaliates in public procurement dispute with the US and China*", 22 March 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.dw.de/eu-retaliates-in-public-procurement-dispute-with-us-</u>and-china/a-15824544

Ecological Institute (2012a), "*Project Overview: Sino-German Climate Change Programme*", accessed at: <u>http://www.ecologic.eu/7576</u>

Ecological Institute (2012b), "Development of Training Modules for Climate Protection and Adaption (Sino-German Climate Change Programme)", accessed at: <u>http://www.ecologic.eu/7578</u>

Economy, E (1998), 'China's Environmental Diplomacy' in Kim, Samuel (ed), "China and the World: Chinese Foreign Policy Faces the New Millennium" Boulder, CO: Westview Press, pp 45

Economic Daily (2013), "尚德可转债危机爆发折射中国光伏产业弯路 Suntech Crisis: A Reflection of ill-developed Solar Industry in China", 19 March 2013, accessed at: http://news.xinhuanet.com/energy/2013-03/19/c_124476394_2.htm

Economic Obersvers (2011a), "*美欧抛来新能源绣球非免费午餐中国要发展自身核心技术 There is no free lunch to renewable technologies from the US and the EU, China must develop our own indigenous technologies*", 10 April 2010, accessed at: <u>http://www.360doc.com/content/10/0430/08/547473_25533784.shtml</u>

Economic Observers (2011b), "西门子合资上海电气 扭转在华风电弱势 Siemens set up a JV with Shanghai Electric to save its turbine business", 9 December 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.eeo.com.cn/2011/1209/217481.shtml</u>

Economic Obersvers (2013), "无锡尚德确认 95 亿人民币/1.4 亿美元债权国开行与中行并列榜首 Suntech confirmed its 1.4bn dollars debts mainly from CDB and Bank of China", 12 November 2013, accessed at: <u>http://finance.sina.com.cn/money/bank/20131112/172717299836.shtml</u>

Economic Observers (2014), "中海油新能源公司解散: 连年亏损让决策层失去信心 The Management Team at CNOOC lost confidence to its renewable unit" 3 January, 2014, accessed at: <u>http://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/gsnews/20140103/231017840156.shtml</u>

EconoMonitor (2013), "*China's Sovereign Wealth Fund Shifting Strategy*" 5 April 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.economonitor.com/blog/2013/04/china-sovereign-wealth-funds-shifting-strategy/</u>

EDF (2009), "Major Business Segments in Asia", accessed at: <u>http://yazhou.edf.com/yyyy/yy-52319.html</u>

EDF (2013), "Press Release: Structure of the Partnership for Hinkely Point C Project", 23 October 2013, accessed at:<u>http://www.areva.com/EN/news-9986/structure-of-the-partnership-for-hinkley-point-c-project.html</u>

Energy Research Institute, PRC, "中国丹麦可再生能源发展项目 RED China-Demark Renewable Energy Development Projects", accessed at <u>http://www.eri.org.cn/jgsz.php?aid=230&cid=61</u>and <u>http://www.cnred.org.cn/manageInfo.do?action=showIndex</u>

Erixon, F & Razeen, S (2010), "*Trade, Globalisation and Emerging Protectionism since the Crisis*", *'ECIPE Working Paper Series', 2010:3*, pp1-8 Erixon, F (2012), "*A new approach to EU-China trade policy*", 26 November 2012 *'People's Daily'*, accessed at: <u>http://blog.ecipe.org/2012/11/a-new-approach-for-eu-china-trade-policy.html</u>

EUCCC (2010), "European Chamber of Commerce in China Business Confidence Survey 2010" in Partnership with Roland Berger Strategy Consultants, GmbH, accessed at http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/view/media/publications

EUCCC (2011a), "Study: The European Business experiences in competing for Public Contracts in China", May 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/publications-public-procurement-study-european-business-experiences-competing-for-public-contracts-in-china</u>

EUCCC (2011b), "European Chamber of Commerce in China Business Confidence Survey 2011" in Partnership with Roland Berger Strategy Consultants, GmbH, September 2011, accessed at <u>http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/view/media/publications</u>

EUCCC (2012), "*European Chamber of Commerce in China Business Confidence Survey 2012*" in Partnership with Roland Berger Strategy Consultants, GmbH, accessed at: http://www.europeanchamber.com.cn/en/publications-archive/17/Business_Confidence_Survey_2012

EU-China Clean Energy Centre (EC2) (2012), "*Recommendation for Effective Energy Policies and Measures in China*", *Advisory Report*, pp26, accessed at: http://www.ec2.org.cn/sites/default/files/ec2-reports/report/C.4.6_Executive%20Summary_en_cn.pdf

EU Insight (2012), "Who do you call when you want to call Europe", Washington DC: Delegation of the European Commission to the United States, January 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.euintheus.org/resources-learning/eu-insight/january-2012-who-do-you-call-when-you-want-to-call-europe/</u>

European Voice (2010), "*EU needs green boost to stay competitive*", 14 April 2010, accessed at: <u>http://www.europeanvoice.com/article/eu-needs-green-boost-to-stay-competitive/</u>

Feng Jie & Yuan Duanduan (2011), "Behind China's Green Coals", 'China's Green Revolution, Energy and Enviroment and its Twelfth Five Years Plan', China Dialogue Special Policy Paper, pp31-37

FECN (2011), "财务大佬的神秘炒股路径: 央企财务更凶猛 Finance Departments of the Chinese SOEs became the main driver to foreign derivatives purchasing in the secondary market", November 2011, accessed at: <u>http://finance.fecn.net/2011/1105/11085.html</u>

Feng, Zhongping (1998), "EU's China Policy Analysed", 'Contemporary International Relation' (Beijing) No.8 Issue 4, pp1-6

Ferrero-Walder, B (2005) "The EU, China and the quest for a multilateral world" accessed at <u>http://eeas.europa.eu/comm/external_relations/news/ferrero/2005/sp05_41_4.htm</u>

Financial Times (2011a), "China in Hungary: a Matter of Wen", 16 June 2011, accessed at:

http://blogs.ft.com/beyond-brics/2011/06/16/chinese-fdi-in-hungary-a-matter-of-wen

Financial Times (2011b), "China to back London as offshore renminbi centre", 7 September, 2011,

accessed at: http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/16ffc08a-d974-11e0-b52f-

00144feabdc0.html#axzz3DfMznjkw

Financial Times (2011c), "China Eyes on Western Infrastructure", 27 November 2011, accessed at:

http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/2d795a90-190e-11e1-92d8-00144feabdc0.html#axz23DU9Sc3sC

Financial Times (2012a) "Europe flies into clean air turbulence", 7 February 2012, accessed at:

http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/830f7ea6-5196-11e1-a9d7-00144feabdc0.html#axzz3DU9Sc3sC

Financial Times (2012b), "Carbon trade war edges nearer", 17 February 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/252a88fa-595f-11e1-abf1-00144feabdc0.html#axzz3DfMznjkw</u>

Financial Times Chinese Webisite (2012), "中国民用核能产业超出国界走向全球The Chinese Civil Nuclear Industry Goes Global" 8 June, 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.ftchinese.com/story/001044956?full=y</u> Financial Times (2013a), "EU berates China over Steel Subsidies", 14 January 2013, accessed at:

Thancial Times (2015a), EO berules China over Sieel Substates, 14 January 2015, accessed at

http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/6d4e6408-5e68-11e2-b3cb-00144feab49a.html#axzz3DU9Sc3sC

Financial Times (2013b): "Suntech Clouds China Solar Sector Outlook", 17 March 2013, accessed at: http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/22be9d64-9094-11e2-862b-00144feabdc0.html#axzz3DU9Sc3sC

Financial Times (2013c): "*Suntech a Test for China's Bankruptcy Law*" 21 March 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/536335fe-9221-11e2-a6f4-00144feabdc0.html#axzz3DU9Sc3sC</u>

Financial Times (2013d), "*China-Germany 'Special Relationship' tested by trade frictions*",26 May 2013, accessed at: http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/6253a9d0-c5df-11e2-99d1-

accessed at: <u>http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/6253a9d0-c5df-11e2-99d1-</u> 00144feab7de.html#axzz3CiVk38Zv Financial Times (2013e): "*Solar-Panel Makers Widen China Battle*", 25 July 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/40377b42-d67a-11e1-ba60-00144feabdc0.html#axz3DU9Sc3sC</u>

Falkner, R (2012), "Introduction", in 'International Affairs Special Issue on Rio+20 and the Global Environment: Reflection on Theory and Practice', vol.88, no.3, 2012, pp457-462

Foot, R (2010), "Human Rights and China's International Relations" in Breslin, S. (Ed.) Handbook of China's International Relations. London: Routledge, pp76-84.

Foreign Policy (2009), "How China stiffed the world in Copenhagen?", 21 December 2009, accessed at: http://www.foreignpolicy.com/articles/2009/12/21/how_china_stiffed_the_world_in_copenhagen

Fox, J and Godement (2009), "An Power Audit of EU-China Relations", Policy Report from European Council on Foreign Relations

Garrison, J (2009) "China and the Energy Equation in Asia: The Determinants of Policy Choice", Boulder, CO: FirstForum Press, Chapter 2, pp21-41

Geeraets, G (2011), "China, the EU, and the New Multipolarity", European Review, Vol.19, No.1, pp57-67

GIZ, SGCC Programme Training Notes

Global Entrepreneur Magazine (2013), "施正荣卸任被曝因利益输送: 无锡政府接手尚德 Wuxi City Government in charge of Suntech: Suntech CEO Shi Zheng Rong's Resignation due to the personal wealth accumulation" accessed at: http://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/gsnews/20130122/165714365996.shtml

Godemont, F (2006) "*Neither Hegemon nor soft power: China's rise at the gates of the West*", in Zaborowski, M (ed.) 2006, in *'Facing China's rise Guidelines for an EU strategy'*, *Chaillot Paper*, No.94, Paris: Institute for Security Studies

Godemont. F (2010) "Making Sense of Europe's puzzled China Policy" commentary from Europen Council for Foreign Affairs, accessed

http://ecfr.eu/content/entry/commentary making sense of europes puzzling china policy

Godement, F and Parello-Plesner, J (2011), "The Scramble for Europe", European Council on Foreign Relations Policy Brief

Gottwald. J.C (2010), "Europe and China: Convergence, Politicisation and Assertiveness", East Asia: An International Journal 27:1, 79-97

Green, S (2004), "China's Quest to Market Economy Status", China Brief, Vol, 4 Issue, 16, accessed at:

http://www.jamestown.org/programs/chinabrief/single/?tx_ttnews%5Btt_news%5D=26718&tx_ttnew s%5BbackPid%5D=194&no_cache=1#.VBhC0cJdXTo

Grimmett. R.F and Papademetriou, T (2005) "European Union's Arms Embargo on China: Background and Legal Analysis", CRS Report Congress, 27 May, Washington, DC: Library of Congress The Guardian (2011), "*The New MG: Made in China, Fine-tuned in Birmingham*", *12 April 2011*, accessed at: <u>http://www.theguardian.com/artanddesign/2011/apr/12/mg-new-car-china-birmingham</u>

The Guardian (2014), "*The Guardian View on Chinese Premier Li Keqiang's visit to Britain*" 16 June 2014. accessed at: <u>http://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2014/jun/16/chinese-premier-li-keqiang-visit-britain</u>

Hakim.C (2000) "*Research Design: Successful Design for Social and Economic Research, 2nd ed,* London: Routledge, Introduction

Halperin, M and Claap, P (1974), "*Bureaucratic Politics and Foreign Policy*", Washington D.C: Brookings Institution Press, pp 23

Halpern, N (1992), "Information Flows and Policy Coordination in the Chinese Bureaucracy", from Lieberthal, K& Lampton, D,eds, (1992), 'Bureaucracy, Politics and Decision Making in Post-Mao China' Berkeley: University of California Press, pp125-148

Heggelund, G & Tangen, K (2003), "Will the Clean Development Mechanism be effectively implemented in China?" FNI Report 8/2003, Lysaker: Fridtjof Nansen Institute

Heggelund, G (2007), "China's Climate Change Policy: Domestic and International Developments", 'Asian Perspective', Vol.31, No.2, 2007, pp155-191

Hegelund, G et al (2009), "China's Environmental Governance: Changes in Perspectives", 'Development and Change', Vol.39, No.2, pp34

Herman, C.F. (1978), "Foreign Policy Behaviour: That which is to be explained", in M.A. East and C.F.Herman (eds) (1978), 'Why Nation act', Beverly Hills: Sage

Hermann, C and Hermann, M (1989), "Who Makes Foreign Policy Decisions and How: An Empirical Inquiry", International Quarterly, Vol. 33, No.4, pp 361-387

Hobbs, W & Kostka, G "Local Energy Efficiency Policy Implementation in China: Bridging the Gap between National Priorities and Local Interests", The China Quarterly, 210, September 2012, pp765-785

Holslag, J (2010), "China's Sceptisim of Clean Energy Champion Europe", The International Spectator, 45: 1 115-130

Holslag, J (2011), "The Elusive Axis: Assessing the EU-China Strategic Partnership", Journal of Common Market Studies, 49:2, 293-313

Holsti.K (1970), "National Role Conception in the Study of Foreign Policy", International Studies *Quarterly*, 14: 233-309

Hu, Jintao (2007), "Report at the Seventeenth Party Congress", 24 October 2007, accessed at: http://news.xinhuanet.com/english/2007-10/24/content_6938749.htm

Hu, Jintao (2009), "Speech at the UN Climate Change Summit" 23 September 2009, accessed at : http://news.xinhuanet.com/world/2009-09/23/content_12098887.htm

Hu, Shuli (2013), "*China must avoid creating more problems with actions on overcapacity*", 28 Februrary 2013, South China Morning Post, accesed at: <u>http://www.scmp.com/comment/insight-opinion/article/1160117/china-must-avoid-creating-more-problems-action-overcapacity</u>

Hudson, V (2005), "Foreign Policy Analysis: Actor-Specific Theory and the Ground of International Relations", Foreign Policy Analysis, Vol.1, Issue 1, pp1-30

Ideacarbon (2013), "全国碳市场顶层设计思路明确,预计投资超1亿美元The Chinese Carbon Market is the process of establishing a clear mechanism, estimated investments over 10mn dollars" 15 October 2013, accessed at: <u>http://ideacarbon.org/archives/17331</u>

International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), 2004, "*Clean Development Mechanism in China: Taking a Proactive and Sustainable Approach*", Washington, D.C: World Bank, 2004

International Energy Agency (IEA) 2012, "World Energy Outlook 2012"

International Emissions Trading Association (IETA), "MRV Considerations for Offset Projects: A Comparison of MRV Requirements Across Several GHG Offset Programs",pp1-16, accessed at: http://www.ieta.org/assets/Reports/mrv%20considerations%20for%20offset%20projects-web.pdf

International Emissions Trading Association (IETA) (2013),"A User Guide to Emissions Trading in China", September 2013, pp1-49 accessed at:

https://ieta.memberclicks.net/assets/Reports/ieta_emissionstrading_china_usersguide_sept2013_draft_a4_sf.pdf

International Financial News (2013), "尚德破产:纠结的最优选项Suntech's Bankrupcy: From the Worst to the Best" 21 March 2013, accessed at: http://paper.people.com.cn/gjjrb/html/2013-03/21/content_1213818.htm

International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), "Regional Report on Wind Energy: China", accessed at: <u>https://www.irena.org/DocumentDownloads/Publications/GWEC_China.pdf</u>

Jakobson, L. and Knox, D. (2010), "<u>New Foreign Policy Actors in China</u>", Stockholm: SIPRI, SIPRI Policy Paper no. 26

Keating, D (2012), "*The Secret Environment Champion*", '*European Voice*', 2012, April, Accessed at <u>http://www.europeanvoice.com/folder/euchina/210.aspx?artid=7419</u>

Kerlinger.F.N (1986) "Foundation of Behavioral Research: Educational and Psychological Enquiry, London: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Introduction, pp23

Kong, B (2009), "China's Energy Decision-Making: Becoming More Like the United States", Journal of Contemporary China, Vol.18 No.62, pp780-812

Kostka, G & Hobbs, W (2012), "Local Energy Efficiency Policy Implementation in China: Bridging the Gap between National Priorities and Local Interests", The China Quarterly Vol.211 September 2012, pp765-785

Kuntze, J & Morenbout, T (2013), "Local Cotent Requirements and the Renewable Energy Industry-A Good Match?", International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development, May 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.ictsd.org/downloads/2013/06/local-content-requirements-and-the-renewable-energy-industry-a-good-match.pdf</u>

Lai, Hongyi, (2010) "The Domestic Sources of China's Foreign Policy: Regimes, Leadership, Priorities and Process", Abingdon: Routledge, pp 2 Lampton, D (2001), "China's Foreign and National Security Policy-Making Process: Is It Changing and Does It Matter?", in Lampton, D (ed) (2001) 'The Making of Chinese Foreign and Security Policy', California: Standford University Press, pp 2-38

Lawless, R and Schriver, R (2003), "Administration Views on US-China-Taiwan Relations", from 'Testimony before the US-China Economic and Security Review Commission', Washington, 6 Feburary 2003

The Lawyer (2013), "China's Ministry of Commerce Establishes First Formal Panel" 24 October 2013, accessed at:

http://www.thelawyer.com/news/regions/asia-pacific-news/chinas-ministry-of-commerce-establishes-first-formal-panel/3011467.article

Lee, B (2012), "The EU and China: Time for a Strategtic Renewal?" from 'Hot Issues, Cold Shoulders, Lukewarm Partners: EU Strategic Partnerships and Climate Change' FRIDE: ESPO Report, No.2, accessed at:http://fride.org/download/RP2_EU_Strategic_Partnerships_and_Climate_Change.pdf

Lee, B (2013), "The EU's China Policy On Environment and Resources', in "Brussels-Beijing: Changing the Game", European Institute for International Security Studies Report No.14, Feb 2013, pp41-48

Lema, R& Lema, A (2012), "Wither Technology Transfer? The Rise of China and India in Green Technology Sectors", Innovation and Development, Vol.2, Issue 1, pp23-44

Lenschow, A (2004) "Environmental policy: at a crossroads" in Cowles.M and Dinan. D (eds), *Development in the European Union*, Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillian, 140-59

Lewis, J (2008a), "China's Strategic Priorities in International Climate Change Negotiations", The Washington Quarterly, Vol.31, No.1, pp155-174

Lewis, J (2008b), "Energy Leapfrog in China and India" 10 March 2008, China Dialogue, accessed at: https://www.chinadialogue.net/article/1784-Energy-leapfrogging-in-China-and-India

Li, C (2009), "The Chinese Communist Party: Recruiting and Controlling the New Elites", Jounral of Current China Affairs, Vol.38, No.3, pp13-33

Li, J.& Shi, P (2010), "*China's Wind Power Outlook 2010*, Beijing: Chinese Renewable Energy Industries Association/ Greenpeace China, pp4-6

Lieberthal, K and Lampton, D ,ed.(1992), "Bureaucracy, Politics, and Decision-Making in Post Mao China" Berkeley: University of California, Chapter 1, pp 1-30

Lichtman. A and French. V (1978) "Historian and the Living Past", Illinois: Harlan Davidson

Liu, Z (2013), "中国与中东欧国家合作:问题与对策 Challenges and Solutions: China's collaboration with Central and Eastern European countries", International Studies D822.351, 30 September 2013 accessed at : http://www.ciis.org.cn/gyzz/2013-09/30/content 6346139.htm

Lou, Jiwei (2011), "*China can help west build economic growth*", *Financial Times*, 28 November 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/e3c5aacc-18ed-11e1-92d8-00144feabdc0.html?siteedition=uk#axzz3DfMznjkw</u>

Mastanduno, M (1999), "Economic Statecraft, Interdependence, and national security: Agenda for research", Security Studies, Vol.9. No.1-2, 288-316

Manner, I (2002), "Normative Power Europe: A Contradiction in Terms?", Journal of Common Market Studies, Vol.40. No.2, 235-258

Manner, I (2006), "*The Constitutive nature of values, images and principles in the European Union*" from Manners, I and Lucarelli, S (2006), '*Values and Principles in European Union Foreign Policy*', Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter:2

Marks, D (2010), "China's climate change policy process: Improved but still weak and fragmented", Journal of Contemporary China, Vol. 17, No.67, pp971-986

Mattlin, M (2009), "Thinking clearly on political strategy: The formulation of a common EU policy towards China" from Limell et all (eds), 'The Role of European Union in Asia: China and India as Strategic Partners'. Farnham: Ashgate, pp.95-120

Mattlin, M (2012), "Dead on arrival: Normative EU policy towards China", Asia Europe Journal Vol.10 July Issue: 181-198

Milband, E (2010), "*The Road from Copenhagen*", 20 December 2010, *The Guardian*, accessed at: http://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2009/dec/20/copenhagen-climate-change-accord

Men, J (2011), "*The Chinese Perceptions of the EU, but whose perceptions*?" *EU China Observer*, Issue (6): 6-10

Men, J (2014), "Climate Change and EU-China Partnership: Realist Disguise or Institutional Blessing?", Asia Europe Journal, Vol.12, Issue1-2, pp49-62

Nakano, J (2013), "The United State and China: Making Nuclear Energy Safer", Brooking Institute Policy Paper, July 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/events/2014/2/06%20china%20clean%20energy/uschina%20making%20nuclear%20energy%20safer_jnakano.pdf</u>

National Energy Administration (NEA) (2011), "At a Glance: Introduction", accessed at: <u>http://www.nea.gov.cn/n_home/n_nyjjj/index.htm</u>

Narramore,T (2008) 'China and Europe: Engagement, Multipolarity and Strategy', *The Pacific Review*, 21:1, 87-108

Naughton, B (1992), '*Hierarchy and the Bargaining Economy: Government and Enterprise in the Reform Process*', from Lieberthal, K& Lampton, D,eds, (1992), '*Bureaucracy, Politics and Decision Making in Post-Mao China*' Berkeley: University of California Press, pp245-279

Neack, L (2003) "The New Foreign Policy: U.S and Comparative Foreign Policy in the 21st Century", Lanham: Rowan and Littlefield, pp26

Neustadt (1970), "Alliance Politics", New York: Columbia University Press Nuttall, S, 2001, "Consistency and the CFSP: A categorization and its Consequences", *LSE European Foreign Policy Unit Working Paper* No. 2001/3

New York Times (2009), "*China build high wall to guard energy industry*" 13 July 2009, accessed at: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2009/07/14/business/energy-</u>environment/14energy.html?pagewanted=all& r=0

New York Times (2012), "*Glut of Solar Panel Poses a New Threat to China*", 4 October 2012, accesed at: <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2012/10/05/business/global/glut-of-solar-panels-is-a-new-test-for-china.html?pagewanted=all&_r=0</u>

New Statesman (2012), "Aviation bosses urge EU carbon tax delay" 12 March, 2012, accessed at: http://www.newstatesman.com/low-carbon-economy/2012/03/letter-opposition-france

Nutall, S (2001) "Consistency and the CFSP: A Categorisation and Its Consequences", from LSE European Institute Working Paper Series, pp1-10

Otero-Iglesias, M (2012), "China's Strategy to Save the Euro: From 'Active Support' to 'Wait and Hope', Conference Paper on UACE Collaborative Network Research on EU-China Relations,2012, accessed at:

http://euchinacrn.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/UACES-2012_EU-China_Panel2_MOtero.pdf

Pan, Z (2010), 'Managing the Conceptual Gap on Sovereignty in China-EU Relations', in "Asia-Europe Journal" (8) 227-243

Panebianco, S (2006) "Promoting Human Rights and Democracy in European Union relations with Russia and China" from Manners, I and Lucarelli, S (2006), 'Values and Principles in European Union Foreign Polciy', Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 8

Patten, C (2001), "China's Candidature for Hosting the Olympic Games in 2008", 'Commission Statement in Urgency Debates by External Relation Commissioner in the European Parliament Plenary Session', SPEECH 01/33, 5 July 2001

People's Daily (2001), "2001 年12 月11 日中国正式加入世贸组织 China joins the WTO on 11 December 2001", 11 December 2001, accessed at: http://www.people.com.cn/GB/historic/1211/5433.html

People's Daily (2003), "Beijing-Shanghai High-speed railway on track", 9 September 2003, accessed at: <u>http://english.peopledaily.com.cn/200309/09/print20030909_124012.html</u>

People's Daily (2007), "TCL 董事长李东生专访 Interview with Mr Li Dongsheng, TCL Chairman", 18 June 2007 accessed at <u>http://finance.people.com.cn/GB/72020/74689/86052/5878185.html</u>

People's Daily (2008), "江泽民'走出去'战略的形成极其重要意义 Jiang Zemin's idea on 'Go Global" Analysis", 10 November 2008. accessed at: http://theory.people.com.cn/GB/40557/138172/138202/8311431.html

People's Daily (2011), "China reiterates necessity of LVRT capacity for wind turbines", 6 May 2011, accessed at: <u>http://english.peopledaily.com.cn/90001/90778/90860/7371563.html</u>

People's Daily (2012a), "越是困难遇事要反对贸易保护主义 The Stronger Trade Protectionism grows, the More Determination to Fight Against It" accessed at http://world.people.com.cn/n/2012/0831/c14549-18880994.html

People's Daily (2012b), "*EU suspends airline carbon tax*", 14 November, 2012, accessed at: <u>http://english.people.com.cn/90778/8018447.html</u>

People's Daily (2013a) "江苏光伏守住全国半壁江山" Solar Industry in Jiangsu contribute more than half of China's solar sector, 12 November 2013, accessed at: <u>http://js.people.com.cn/html/2013/11/12/267532.html</u>

People's Daily (2013b), "卡梅伦今起高调访华:中英关系实现正常化 David Cameron's visit to China marked a normalisation of Sino-British relations" 2 December 2013, accessed at: <u>http://uk.people.com.cn/n/2013/1202/c352308-23712554.html</u>

People's Daily (2014), "*普天*, 中海油貌合神离, 中海油调节新能源战略早有预谋" CNOOC had established a long-term exit strategy to withdraw from renewable energy", 9 January 2014, accessed at <u>http://energy.people.com.cn/n/2014/0109/c71890-24065318.html</u>

Peston, R (2013) "Why the Chancellor wants China to invest in UK nuclear" 17 October 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/business-24562388</u>

Qu, B (2011), "European Parliament's New Powers and the Implications for China" from 'Global Re-Ordering: Evolution through European Networks Working Papers', Coventry: University of Warwick, pp 1-12, 8 September, accessed at http://www2.warwick.ac.uk/fac/soc/csgr/green/papers/workingpapers/qu_bing_no.11.pdf

Remond, M (2007) "The EU's refusal to grant China 'Market Economy Status (MES)', Asia Europe Journal, Spring-Summer: 5, 345-356

Reuter (2010), "CNOOC Stars 60,000T Biodiesel Plant in Hainan" 21 January 2010, accessed at: http://uk.reuters.com/article/2010/01/21/cnooc-biodiesel-idUKTOE60K03I20100121

Reuter (2011), "China Ready to Play a part in Eurozone Crisis Fund—PBOC", 12 Janauray 2011, accessed at : <u>http://uk.reuters.com/article/2011/01/12/uk-china-britain-pboc-idUKTRE70B58S20110112</u>

Reuter (2012a), "Analysis: China Gets Restive Taste of Post-Dalai Lama Era", 3 February 2012, accessed at,

http://uk.reuters.com/article/2012/02/03/us-china-tibet-idUKTRE8120BQ20120203

Reuter (2012b), "*China to keep investing in Euro Zone Debt: China Central Bank*", 12 February 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/02/15/us-china-europe-</u>idUSTRE81E07J20120215#cPIkGSlhFSTR42mq.97

Reuter (2012c), "China buys 50 Airbus jets during Merkel's visit", 30 August 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2012/08/30/us-china-germany-airbus-idUSBRE87T06520120830</u>

Reuter (2013), "China investigates more top Petro-China executives over corruption", 27 August, 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2013/08/27/us-china-cnpc-idUSBRE97Q0DE20130827</u>

Romano, G.C (2010), "The EU Partnership on Climate Change: Bilateralism Begetting Multilateralism in Promoting a Climate Change Regime?" EU Framework 7 MERCURY Project, Epaper No.8

Rosati, J (1981), "Developing a Systemic decision-making framework: Bureaucratic Politics in Perspective", 'World Politics', Vol.33, No.2, pp234-252

Rosen, D and Hanemann, T (2009) "China's Changing Outbound Foreign Direct Investment Profile: Drivers and Policy Implications", in 'Peterson Institute for International Economics', Policy Brief: June 2009, No. PB09-14

Rothschild, E (1995), "What is Security", Daedalus, Vol, 124, Summer, pp 53-98

Runge-Metzger, A (2010), "The EU-China Partnership on Climate Change", EU-China Observer, College of Europe, Bruges, January 2010

Ryan, J (2014), "*China and the Emergence of a Multilateral Currency Regime*", Madariaga Paper, College of Europe, *Vol. 7, No. 10*, October 2014, accessed at: <u>http://www.vhi.st-</u>edmunds.cam.ac.uk/research/Ethics-Governance-PublicPolicy/ryan-china-and-the-emergence-of-a-multipolar-currency

Sandschneider, E (2002) "China's Diplomatic Relations with the States of Europe", in Edmonds, R L (2002) 'China and Europe since 1978: A European Perspective', The China Quarterly Special Issues New Series, No.2, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, Chapter 3

Sandschneider, E (2006) "Is China's military modernization a concern for the EU", in Zaborowski, M (ed.) 2006, '*Facing China's rise Guidelines for an EU strategy*', *Chaillot Paper*, No.94, Paris: European Union Institute for Security Studies

Scott, D (2007), "China and the EU: A strategic axis for the 21st Century?" International Relations, Vol.21 No.1, 23-45

Scott, D (2009), "Environmental issues as a strategic key in EU-China relations", Asia Europe Journal, Spring 2009: 7, 211-224

Shambaugh, D (2004) "China-Europe: the emerging axis", Current History 103 (674): 243-8

Shambaugh, D (2005) "The New Strategic triangle: US and European Reaction to China's rise", The Washington Quarterly, 28:3, 5-25

Sbragia, A (1996) "Environmental policy: the push-pull of policy making", in Wallace. H & Wallace. W (eds) 'Policy Making in the European Union', 3rd edn, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 235-255

Shen, Xiaoquan (2009), "*气候峰会未达预期成果,欧洲负有不可推卸的责任,新华社评论 The EU had contributed to the failure of Copenhagen UNFCCC reaching expected agreements*" 21 Dec 2009 Accessed at: <u>http://www.china.com.cn/international/txt/2009-12/21/content_19105877.htm</u>

Sjostedt, G (1976), "*The External Role of the European Community*", London: Saxon House, pp2

Smith, M. and Xie, H. (2010) "The European Union and China: The Logics of Strategic Partnership", Journal of Contemporary European Research Vol. 6 No.4 pp 432-448

Siemens (2011), "Press Release: *Siemens and Shanghai Electric agree on strategic wind power alliance for China*", 9 December 2011, accessed at: http://www.siemens.com/press/en/pressrelease/?press=/en/pressrelease/2011/wind-power/ewp201112017.htm

Siemens (2013), "Siemens Worldwide: China", accessed at: http://www.siemens.com/about/en/worldwide/china_1154598.htm

Sina News (2010), "华能拟投资 60 亿建设全球最大规模海上风电场 China Hua Neng plans to invest RMB 6bn to build the world largest off-shore wind farm", 30 August 2010, accessed at: http://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/gsnews/20100830/11428571481.shtml

Sohu News (2010), "*默克尔务实访华结束 Chancellor Merkel ended her 'practical' trip to China*", 19 July 2010, accessed at: <u>http://news.sohu.com/20100719/n273588768.shtml</u>

Sohu News (2011), "国家海洋局: 渤海污染严重中海油被指屡次漏油排污 SOA: CNOOC caused heavy pollution in Bohai due to its several oil spills and lacked regulation" 5 July 2011, accessed at: http://business.sohu.com/20110705/n312515019.shtml

Song, Xinning (2010) "European Models and Their Implications to China: Internal and External Perspectives", Review of International Studies, Vol. 36 No.3, 755-775

South China Morning Post/SCMP (2013), "British government divided on how to deal with China, report says" 17 February 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.scmp.com/news/china/article/1152320/british-government-divided-how-deal-china-report-says</u>

Southern Weekly (2009), "中国代表团发现气候大会会标有严重误导信息 Chinese delegation complained the signposts at Copenhagen Summit were misleading". 18 December 2009, accessed at: http://discover.news.163.com/09/1218/09/5QQCCB01000125LI.html

Southern Weekly (2013) "只有火药味,没有硝烟,光伏谈判背后的贸易攻防 The China-EU Solar Panel Dispute: A Matter of Words over Deeds", 2 August 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.infzm.com/content/93042</u>

Sovereign Wealth Fund Centre, "*Fund Snapshot: China International Investment Corporation*", accessed at: <u>http://www.sovereignwealthcenter.com/fund/6/China-Investment-</u> Corporation.html#.VBhuZcJdXTo

The Spectator (2013), "David Cameron's craven surrender to China follow a pattern" 3 December 2013, accessed at: <u>http://blogs.spectator.co.uk/coffeehouse/2013/12/david-camerons-craven-surrender-to-china-follows-a-pattern/</u>

Stephens, P (2013) "A Painful Lesson in how not to deal with China", Financial Times, 5 December 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/cb01954e-5d12-11e3-a558-00144feabdc0.html#axz3CiVk38Zv</u>

Suntech Website (2006), "Press Release: Suntech Power Reports 4th Quarter and Fiscal Year 2005 Unaudited Financial Results" 13 February 2006, accessed at: <u>http://www.suntech-power.com/news/news1.html</u>

Suntech Website (2007), "Press Release: Suntech Announce its Sales Agreement with Conergy of Germany" 12 February 2012, accessed at: <u>http://www.suntech-power.com/news/news11.html</u>

Suntech Website (2008), "*Press Release: Suntech and a+f Complete Two Solar Panel Plans in Spain*", *4 December 2008*", accessed at: <u>http://www.suntech-power.com/news/news26.html</u>

Suntech Website (2009), "Press Release: Suntech Signs loan Long-term Supply Agreements for Up to 490MW in Europe", 9 December 2009, accessed at: <u>http://www.suntech-power.com/news/2.html</u>

Suntech Website (2013), "Press Release: Suntech Announces its Preliminary Financial Results for the Fourth Quarter and Full Year 2012", 1 May 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.suntech-power.com/news/news115.html</u>

Suntech Website (2014), "Who we are and what we do", accessed at: <u>http://www.suntech-power.com/menu/about-suntech.html</u>

Sydeny Morning Herald (2013), "*End of era as Suntech pulled into bankruptcy*", 21 March 2013, accessed at:<u>http://www.smh.com.au/business/carbon-economy/end-of-era-as-suntech-pulled-into-bankruptcy-20130321-2ggnz.html</u>

Szymanski,T (2006), "China's Take on Climate Change", 'Sustainable Development, Eco-systemn and Climate Change Committee Newsletter of American Bar Association, Vol. 9, No.1, May 2006, pp1-3

TCL (2007), "Case Studies for Its Merger and Acquisition", from Zheng Jiang University EMBA course reading. Accessed at:http://cc.sjtu.edu.cn/G2S/eWebEditor/uploadfile/20120517091801584.pdf

Thym, D (2006), "Beyond the Parliament's Reach? The Role of the European Parliament in the CFSP", in European Foreign Affairs Review, Vol.11, Issue 1, 2006, pp109-127

Torney, D (2012), "The EU's Engagement with China on Climate Change: Lessons from the EU-China Partnership on Climate Change", 'EU Observer: Issue 3, 2012, College of Europe', pp8-13

Torney, D & Biedenkopf, K (2013), "EU-China Environmental Cooperation: The Case of Emission Trading", Conference Paper from "The EU and Emerging Powers" Conference, Brussels, 28&29 April 2013, pp1-16, accessed at: <u>http://www.usaintlouis.be/fr/pdf/150e/paper_biedenkopfn.pdf</u>

Torney, D (2014), "Challenges of European Union Climate Diplomacy: The Case of China", European Foreign Affairs Review 19, Special Issue, 2014: 119-134

Twenty-First (21st) Century Economic News (2010a), "扶持自主创新政策或变调:遭跨国公司集体 抵制 Indigenous Innovation may have U-turn after Multi-national corporations challenging it", 16 April 2010, accessed at: <u>http://tech.sina.com.cn/it/2010-04-16/01064064112.shtml</u>

Twenty-First (21st) Century Economic News (2010b), "*天津较量: 发达国家要变相MRV, 中国对ICA 态度开放 UNFCCC Tianjin Conference: Developed countries requires universal MRV, China prefers ICA method*" 12 October 2010, accessed at: http://finance.sina.com.cn/roll/20101012/10138763524.shtml

Twenty-First (21st) Century Economic News (2011), "巴斯夫执行董事会副主席薄睦乐: 以客户 为导向的研发, Interviews with deputy chairman of BASF: BASF's success is based on clientsoriented R&D", September 2011, accessed at: <u>http://business.sohu.com/20110913/n319388660.shtml</u>

Twenty-First (21st) Century Economic News (2012a), "我国核电技术路线统一未果,三大集团各走 各路 The Controversy over civil nuclear technologies, Three Giants do whatever they want to" 6 April 2012, accessed at : <u>http://finance.sina.com.cn/roll/20120406/031511757536.shtml</u>

Twenty-First (21st) Century Economic News (2012b), "*安全与高效之辩,核电企业盼重启 Security vs Efficiency: The Chinese civil nuclear SOEs wished to re-launch their power station constructions*", *13 April 2012*,

accessed at: http://www.cgnpc.com.cn/n1302/n1303/c46167/content.html

Twenty-First (21st) Century Economic News (2013), "世行:中国十三五期间有望建立全国碳市场 The World Bank: China expected to establish a nation-wide carbon trading market"14 October 2013, accessed at: <u>http://biz.21cbh.com/2013/10-14/4NNDE3Xzg0NDA4NA.html</u> Twenty-First (21st) Century Economic News (2014), "中海油剥离旗下新能源公司 CNOOC closes its renewable/new energy unit" 7 January 2014, accessed at: <u>http://jjckb.xinhuanet.com/2014-01/07/content_485814.htm</u>

UNFCCC, *"The Clean Development Mechanisms(CDM)"*, accessed at: http://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol/mechanisms/clean_development_mechanism/items/2718.php

Vaisse, J and Kundnani, H (2012), "*China*", in '*European Foreign Policy Scorecard 2012*' European Council on Foreign Relations: Policy Brief, pp 27-41

Van Ham, P (2011) "China's Rise and Europe's Fall: Time to Start Worrying", European View 10(1): 107-114

VESTAS, "Introduction", accessed at: http://vestas.windchn.com/

Vogel. J (2006), "Environmental Policy" in Bretherton.C and Vogler. J (2006) "The European Union as a Global Actor", Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 4

Voss et al (2009), "Thirty Years of Chinese Foreign Investment", in Lattemann, et al (2009) 'China Rules: Globalisation and Political Transformation', London: Palgrave Macmillian, pp 20

Wacker, G (2012), "*Hearing on the China-EU relationship and translantic implications*", Wasington DC: US-China Economic and Security Review Commission, 19 April 2012, accessed at: <u>http://origin.www.uscc.gov/sites/default/files/transcripts/4.19.12HearingTranscript.pdf</u>

Walder, A (1992), "Local Bargaining Relationships and Urban Industrial Finance" in Lieberthal, K& Lampton, D,eds, (1992), 'Bureaucracy, Politics and Decision Making in Post-Mao China' Berkeley: University of California Press

The Wall Street Journal (WSJ) (2010), "*China's Bright Food Considers Buying U.K's United Biscuit*" 26 September 2010, accessed at: http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB10001424052748704082104575515720847644274

The Wall Street Journal (WSJ) (2011), "*EU finds China gives aids to Huawei, ZTE*", 3 Februrary, 2011, accessed at: http://online.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052748703960804576120012288591074

The Wall Street Journal (WSJ) (2012), "*Merkel Nods to China's clout*", 29 August 2012, accessed at: <u>http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB10000872396390444506004577618272934149832</u>

The Wall Street Journal (WSJ) (2013), "Solar-Panel Dispute burns holes in EU strategy", 30 August 2013,

Accessed at: http://online.wsj.com/news/articles/SB10001424127887323681904578642041672361224

Wang.B (2011), "Bilateral security relations between China and Europe", in Van de Putten, P and Shulong, Chu (eds) (2011) "China, Europe and International Security: Interests, roles, and prospects", Abingdon: Routledge, Chapter 3

Wang, Jisi (2011), "China's Search for a Grand Strategy". Foreign Affairs, 90(2): 68-79.

Wen, Jiabao (2009), "Speech at UNFCCC Copenhagen Conference", 18 December 2012, accessed at: <u>http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/gwdt/200912/t20091221_320533.html</u>

Wen, Jiabao (2012), "温家宝: 反对贸易保护主义,加强知识产权保护 Wen Jiabao: Fight for trade protectionism and strengthen the intellectual property rights", 12 September, 2012, accessed at: <u>http://ip.people.com.cn/n/2012/0912/c136655-18983812.html</u>

Weiss, S (2010), "External Action Service: Much Ado about Nothing". Spotlight Europe, Issue 5

Westad, O.A. (2012), "The Restless Empire: China and the World since 1750", London: Basic Book, pp345

Wind Power Monthly (2011), "*LVRT absence causes mass turbine shutdown in China*" April 2011, accessed at: <u>http://www.windpowermonthly.com/article/1064574/lvrt-absence-causes-mass-turbine-shutdown-china</u>

World Nuclear Association (WNA), "Nuclear Power in China" Country Files-China, accessed at: <u>http://www.world-nuclear.org/info/Country-Profiles/Countries-A-F/China--Nuclear-Power/</u>

World Nuclear News (WNN) (2013), "*China Cleared to buy into UK Nuclear plants*" 17 October 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.world-nuclear-news.org/NP-</u> China_cleared_to_buy_into_UK_nuclear_plants-1710137.html

Wu, Jianmin (2004), 吴建民在外交学院演讲表示欧盟不久将解禁对华军售,06 Nov 2004 (Former Chinese Ambassador to France signed the EU would lift arms embargo to China soon), accessed at http://news.sina.com.cn/c/2004-11-06/00344156504s.shtml

Wubbeke, J (2013), "China's Climate Change Expert Community-principles, Mechanisms and Influence", Journal of Contemporary China Vol.22 No.82, pp712-731

Xie Zhenhua (2009), "China made a great contribution to UNFCCC Copenhagen Conference", 26 December 2009, accessed at: http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/gwdt/200912/t20091228_321943.html

Xinhua News Agency (2002), "温家宝简历 Premier Wen Jiabao's Curriculum Vitae" http://news.xinhuanet.com/ziliao/2002-01/16/content_240608.htm

Xinhua News Agency (2003), "精兵减政,转变职能-新中国成立以来历次政府机构改革 Restructuring bureaucracy and Shifting functions: An overview of the PRC's governmental institutions restructure", accessed at: <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/ziliao/2003-</u>03/06/content_761776_8.htm

Xinhua News Agency (2007), "我国启动可再生能源国际科技合作计划 China to launch international scientific collaboration on renewable energy", 12 November 2007, accessed at: <u>http://www.gov.cn/jrzg/2007-11/12/content_803232.htm</u>

Xinhua News Agency (2008), "人大外委会负责人就欧洲议会通过关于西藏的决议发表谈话 CPC Foreign Affairs Committee expresses its view on the European Parliament's vote on Tibet issue", 12 April 2008, accessed at: <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/newscenter/2008-04/12/content_7964923.htm</u>

Xinhua News Agency (2009a), "新闻分析: 金融危机不减中欧拓展 CDM 市场合作热情 News Analysis: The Global Financial Crisis does not stop China-EU collaboration over CDM market" 12 June 2009, accessed at: <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/fortune//2009-06/12/content_11533282.htm</u> Xinhua News Agency (2009b), "新华社发温家宝哥本哈根斡旋内幕Xinhua News Agency's special issue on Premier Wen Jiabao's Copenhagen Trip", accessed at: http://news.china.com.cn/txt/2009-12/25/content_19132542.htm

Xinhua News Agency (2010a), "国家能源局全面启动风电行业标准建设NEA began to prepare the publication of the PRC Wind Energy Industry standard", 30 March 2010, accessed at: http://finance.sina.com.cn/chanjing/cyxw/20100330/17447662290.shtml

Xinhua News Agency (2010b), "我国订购102 架空中客车飞机 China buys 102 Airbus jets", 5 November, 2010, accessed at: http://news.sina.com.cn/c/2010-11-05/162421421356.shtml

Xinhua News (2011), "中海油否认隐瞒多次漏油事件,称媒体哗众取宠 CNOOC denied the ecological damage and accused the SOA and media's exaggeration",5 July 2011 accessed at <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/newmedia/2011-07/05/c 121621941.htm</u>

Xinhua News Agency (2012a), "*欧盟称有条件暂停航空碳税新法规部分内容 The EU Suggested to partially suspend carbon taxes*", accessed at <u>http://finance.china.com.cn/news/gjjj/20120224/554129.shtml</u>

Xinhua News Agency (2012b), "神华宁东 400 万吨煤制油项目获批,产业化前景存争议 The Controversy over the Approval Shenhua 400million ton Coal Liquefication Project", 28 August 2012 Accessed at <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/fortune/2012-08/28/c_123639652.htm</u>

Xinhua News Agency (2012c), "跨国公司纷纷将研发中心移至中国MNCs establish research centres in China", 19 November, 2012, accessed at: <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/world/2012-11/19/c 123967606.htm</u>

Xinhua News Agency (2012d), "发达国家,请放下傲慢与偏见 Developed Countries: Please Give up the Pride and Prejudice on Climate Change", 2 December 2012, accessed at: http://news.xinhuanet.com/world/2012-12/02/c_113877261.htm

Xinhua News Aagency (2013a), "尚德公司债违约显多方面教训 Lessons Learnt: The debt crisis at Suntech" 21 March 2013, accessed at: <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/energy/2013-03/21/c_124485605.htm</u>

Xinhua News Agency (2013b), "中广核十二五期间规划研发投入 72.5 亿,呈现逐年增长 CGNPC gradually Invests RMB7.25bn on Research and Developing Home Grown Nuclear Reactor Technology", 17 November 2013", accessed at: http://news.xinhuanet.com/energy/2013-11/17/c_125715391.htm

Xinhua News Agency (2014a), "署名文章: 达赖兜售的'中间道路'究竟为何物 What does Dalai Lama mean by "The Middle Way'?"22 February 2014, accessed at: http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2014-02/22/c_119455448.htm

Xinhua News Agency (2014b), "新华国际时评:中德关系提前进入提速期 Sino-German Relations accelerated rapidly" 27 March 2014 accessed at: <u>http://news.xinhuanet.com/world/2014-03/27/c_119981625.htm</u>

Xu, G (2014), "地方合作: 中国-中东欧合作新方向 Regional Cooperation: A New Direction for Collaboration between China, Central and Eastern European countries" 12 February 2014, China Social Science Studies Papers D558,

accessed at: http://www.csstoday.net/xueshuzixun/guoneixinwen/87664.html

Yahuda, M (1994), "*China and Europe: The Significance of a Secondary Relationship*", from Robinson, T & Shambaugh, D (1994), '*Chinese Forein Policy: Theory and Practice*', Oxford: Oxford University Press

Youngs, R. (2010) "Europe's decline and fall: the Struggle against global irrelevance", London: Profile Books, pp2

Yu (2011), "China Needs Urgent Guidance on Euro Debt Risks, Yu Yongding Says", Bloomberg Interview, accessed at : <u>http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2011-01-19/china-needs-urgent-guidance-on-euro-debt-risk-yu-yongding-says</u>

Zhang, T (2009), "Sino-European Relations: From the Height to the Width", from Gaens, B, Jokela, J (Eds) 'The Role of the European Union in Asia: China and India as Strategic Partners' Farnham: Ashgate, 121-138

Zheng, Bijian (2006) 郑必坚"中国和平崛起发展道路与中欧关系"(Zheng Bianjian: China's Peaceful Rise and the China-EU Relations)Speech at Central Party School of Chinese Communist Party on 5 Jan 2006,

accessed at $\underline{http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2006-01/05/content_4010811.htm}$

2. Official Documents: <u>a) From the PRC:</u>

Article 10, The Government Procurement Law, PRC

UNFCCCC 中华人民共和国气候变化初始国家信息通报 2004, accessed at <u>http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/natc/chnnc1c.pdf</u>

CCCLSG (2003), "国家应对气候变化领导小组,成员名单(最新版) Members at China Climate Change Leading Small Group (updated)", accessed at: <u>http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/ldxz/</u>

China National Defence and Sciencnes Comission (COSTIND) (2007), "中国核工业十一五发展规 划/The Eleventh Five Years Plan of China's Civil Nuclear Industry"18 April 2007, accessed at: http://www.china.com.cn/policy/txt/2007-04/18/content_8130573.htm

International Department of the Chinese Comunist Party (IDCPC) (2014), "中共中央对外联络部赴 英出席第七届中英政党对话 IDCPC represent the CCP to participate in the Sino-Britain Inter-Party Dialogue" 27 March 2014, accessed at: <u>http://www.idcpc.org.cn/dongtai/140327-3.htm</u>

The Jiangsu Provincial Government (2006): "关于印发江苏省"十一五太阳能光伏产业发展规划" (苏发改高科发 2006 26 号) "The Eleventh Five Years Plan on Solar Industry by the Jiangsu Provincial Government" 14 January 2006, accessed at http://www.cnrec.info/zcfg/gnzc/zhzc/2012-05-23-822.html

Ministry of Commerce, PRC (2009), "Administrative Measures on regulation of Outbound Investment", Effective from 1 May 2009

Ministry of Commerce, PRC (2012a), "公平贸易局刘丹阳副局长赴光伏企业进行贸易摩擦应对指导 Deputy Head of Trade Remedy and Investigation Bureau at MOFCOM held meeting together with the Chinese solar panel manufacturers to discuss possible solution to the Sino-European solar panel dispute" 4 June 2012, accessed at: <u>http://gpj.mofcom.gov.cn/article/b/201204/20120408054133.shtml</u>

Ministry of Commerce, PRC (2012b), "商务部进出口公平贸易局负责人就媒体报道欧盟光伏电池产 业向欧委会提起对华光伏电池反倾销申请一事答记者问 Trade Remedy and Investigation Bureau at MOFCOM Held Press Conference on the EU Commission launched Anti-Dumping Investigation 27 July 2012", Accessed at: <u>http://gpj.mofcom.gov.cn/article/b/201207/20120708255750.shtml</u>

Ministry of Commerce, PRC (2013a), "中国企业赴境外投资的晶内审批程序 the Approval Procedure inside China for the enterprises plan to invest abroad", 7 February, 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.mofcom.gov.cn/article/difang/anhui/201302/20130200025071.shtml</u>

Ministry of Commerce, PRC (2013b), "商务部新闻发言人沈丹阳就中方对欧盟紧固件反倾销措施案

在世贸组织提起执行之诉发表谈话 Press Conference Summary: Spokesperson at MOFCOM for the

EU's request to the WTO Panel to launch anti-dumping investigation on Steel pipes", 30 October, 2013,

accessed at: http://tfs.mofcom.gov.cn/article/bc/201310/20131000371986.shtml

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2003) "中欧关系白皮书 China's EU policy paper", 13 October 2003;

Accessed at http://www.fmprc.gov.cn/eng/topics/ceupp/t27708.htm

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2004) "中国与世界多极化的进程 China's view on the development of multipolarisation", 16 Aug 2004; accessed at <u>http://www.chinaembassy.org.zw/eng/zt/zgdwzc/t149683.htm</u>

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2005), "中欧气候变化联合宣言 China-EU Joint Declaration on Establishing a Strategic Partnership on Climate Change", accessed at http://www.china.com.cn/chinese/huanjing/963842.htm

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2006) "China-EU Partnership on Climate Change Work Rolling Plan 中欧气候变化合作伙伴滚动工作计划", accessed at: http://www.mfa.gov.cn/eng/wjb/zzjg/tyfls/tfsxw/t283051.htm

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2009), "*哥本哈根大会中国代表: 气候变化进入关键期 Chinese Delegation: Copenhagen Summit enters a pivotal period*", accessed at: <u>http://www.fmprc.gov.cn/ce/cegv/chn/qtzz/xbq/t633387.htm</u>

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2011), "中国和平发展战略规划 China's Peaceful Development", September 2011; Accessed at <u>http://www.fmprc.gov.cn/eng/zxxx/t856325.htm</u>

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2012a), "外交部发言人就英国领导人会见达赖,黄岩岛局势等答 问"2012 年5 月 15 日 MFA Press Release: on the British Prime Minister in meeting with Dalai Lama and Island Disputes with Philipine"15 May 2012, accessed at http://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_chn/wjdt_611265/fyrbt_611275/t931997.shtml

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, PRC (2012b), "第二轮中德政府磋商联合声明(全文) Joint Statement from the Second round of PRC-Germany Negotiation ", accessed at: http://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_chn/ziliao_611306/1179_611310/t964782.shtml Ministry of Information and Industrial Technology, Ministry of Finance, "*China's National Indigenous Innovation Product Catalogue (2009)*", accessed at http://www.china.com.cn/policy/txt/2009-12/29/content_19152144.htm

Ministry of Information and Industrial Technology (MITT) (2010), "公开征集对风电设备制造行业 准入标准(意见征求稿)的意见 MITT: Industrial Consultation on the PRC wind energy equipments manufacturing standard (temporary version)", accessed at: http://www.miit.gov.cn/n11293472/n11293832/n11293907/n11368223/13101771.html

Ministry of Science and Technology PRC (2007), "科技部负责人就《国家自主创新产品认定 管理办法》有关问题答记者问Press Conference Release at MOST: The Catalogue of National Indigenous Innovation " 16 March 2007, accessed at: <u>http://www.gov.cn/zwhd/2007-</u> 03/16/content_552435.htm

Ministry of Science and Technology, PRC (2009), "科技部发布关于中欧政府间科技合作备选项目 征集通知 MOST requested proposals for the Sino-European scientific collaborations project", 24 March 2009

Accessed at: http://www.gov.cn/gzdt/2009-03/24/content_1267188.htm

Ministry of Science and Technology, PRC (2012), "科技部教育部提升高校创新能力合作协议 书MOST and Ministry of Education Joint Statement to improve elite universities' innovation capacity (including a list of selected universities "27 July 2012 Accessed at: <u>http://www.gov.cn/gzdt/2012-07/27/content_2193100.htm</u>

NCCCC (the National Coordination Committee on Climate Change) 2005, "*Measures for Operation and Management of Clean Development Mechanism Projects in China*", 21 November 2005, Accessed at: <u>http://cdm-en.ccchina.gov.cn/Detail.aspx?newsId=5628&TId=37</u>

NCCCC (2008), "Description of National Coordination Committee on Climate Change", accessed at <u>http://www.wem.org.cn/news/view.asp?cataid=27&id=165</u>

National Energy Administration (2007), "中国可再生能源中长期发展的规划 China's Mid-Long Term Renewable Energy Development Plan" August 2007, pp1-30, accessed at: <u>http://www.nea.gov.cn/131215784_11n.pdf</u>

National Energy Administration (2010), "国家能源局关于印发'风电标准建设工作规则'有关规定 NEA: The Announcement to Endorse Chinese Wind Energy Equipment Manufacturing Entry Standard", 31 May 2010, accessed at: <u>http://www.nea.gov.cn/2011-10/13/c_131188560.htm</u>

National Energy Administration and State Oceanic Administration (2011) "国家能源局和国家海洋 局关于印发海上风电开发建设管理实施细则的通知, NEA&SOA Joint Announcement on Administrative Measures of Developing Offshore Wind Energy" accessed at http://www.soa.gov.cn/bmzz/jgbmzz/ghs/2011 2012/201211/t20121107 13800.html

NDRC (2003) "国家发展改革委关于印发风电特许权项目前期工作管理办法及有关技术规定的通知 (发改能源[2003]1403 号") NDRC: The Administrative Measures and the Announcement for Special Arrangement of Solar Power Generation Projects", March 2003, accessed at http://www.china5e.com/database/news-852983-1.html NDRC (2004) "国家发展改革委关于印发《全国风能资源评价技术规定》的通知(发改能源 [2004]865 号)NDRC: The announcement to the Publication of National Solar Energy Technology Evaluation Regulation", accessed at <u>http://www.nea.gov.cn/2012-01/04/c_131260326.htm</u>

NDRC (2006a), "中-丹清洁发展机制能力建设项目介绍 Introduction to the China-Danish CDM Projects Collaboration", accessed at <u>http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/gwdt/200902/t20090205_470966.html</u>

NDRC (2006b), "*国家发展改革委关于印发加强煤化工项目建设管理促进产业健康发展的通知*(发改工业[2006]1350 号)The Announcement to Improving Coal liquefaction and Coal to Chemicals Projects Management", 7 July 2006 Accessed at: http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbtz/200607/t20060713_76450.html

NDRC (2007), "关于印发可再生能源中长期发展的规划的通知 The Announcement to Implement China's Mid-Long Term Renewable Energy Development Plan "31 August 2007, Accessed at: <u>http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbghwb/200709/t20070904_579685.html</u>

NDRC (2009a), "中英合作项目省市级气候变化战略与规划研究方案 The Sino-UK Collaboration Plan on Climate Change at Provincial-Municipal Level" 21 March, 2009 accessed at: <u>http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/gwdt/200903/t20090323_470972.html</u>

NDRC (2009b), "*落实巴厘路线图*, 中国政府关于哥本哈根气候变化会议的立场 Based on Bali Road Map: The PRC Government's stance towards Copenhagen UNFCCC", 29 May 2009, Accessed at: http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/gwdt/200905/t20090521_280386.html

NDRC (2009c) "关于印发《海上风电场工程可行性研究报告编制办法(试行)》的通知(风电标委 [2009]5 号) The Announcement to Implement Offshore Wind Farms Viability Assessment (Temporary)", May 2009

NDRC (2009d) "关于印发《海上风电场工程施工组织设计技术规定(试行)》的通知(风电标委 [2009]6 号)The Announcement to Implement Offshore Wind Farms Construction Regulation, June 2009

NDRC (2009e), "关于取消风电工程项目采购设备国产化率要求的通知(发改能源[2009]2991 号) The Annoucment to Cancel Local Content Requirements in Offshore Wind Energy Sector Projects", accessed at <u>http://www.nea.gov.cn/2009-09/25/c_131054274.htm</u>

NDRC (2009f), "China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change-The Progress Report 2009", November 2009, accessed at: http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/zcfg/200911/P020120331342791571147.pdf

NDRC (2010a), "国家发改委:光伏鼓励政策将转向, NDRC : Policy Shifts in Solar Industry", January, 2010, accessed at: http://companies.caixin.com/2010-01-21/100110065.html

NDRC (2010b), "关于印发促进风电装备产业健康有序发展若干意见的通知" [2010]3091 号 NDRC: Advices to Creating a Healthy Solar Energy Equipments Industry" accessed at <u>http://www.windpower.org.cn/news/lawsnews.jsp?id=175</u> NDRC (2010c), "*中欧气候变化建立部长级对话机制及联合声明*",29 April 2010, accessed at: <u>http://www.gov.cn/gzdt/2010-04/29/content_1595630.htm</u>

NDRC (2011a), "国家发改委: 产业结构调整指导目录, NDRC: Catalogue and Guidance for Industrial Restructuring", 27 March 2011 Accessed at <u>http://www.gov.cn/gzdt/att/att/site1/20110426/001e3741a2cc0f20bacd01.pdf</u> please see page 9-10 for offshore wind energy and civil nuclear energy

NDRC (2011b) "发改委: 关于完善光伏发电上网电价政策通知 2011 版 发改价格[2011]1594, NDRC: The Announcement for Optimising Solar Power Generation On-Grid Pricing Policy (2011 Version) 24 July 2011, accessed at: http://www.nea.gov.cn/2011-08/01/c_131065300.htm

NDRC, MOST, MFA and MOF (2011), "*清洁发展机制项目运行机制管理办法*(修订)2011 年8月 3 日 The PRC CDM Implementation Regulation (Revised) 3 August 2011", accessed at: <u>http://cdm.ccchina.gov.cn/WebSite/CDM/UpFile/File2859.pdf</u>

NDRC (2013a), "*China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change*",(*Revised 2013*) Accessed at <u>http://qhs.ndrc.gov.cn/zcfg/201311/W020131107533601343247.pdf</u>

NDRC(2013b) "发改委: 关于完善光伏发电价格政策通知, NDRC: The Announcement for Optimising Solar Power Generation Pricing Policy, 12 March 2013 accessed at: http://energy.people.com.cn/n/2013/0312/c71661-20763467.html

NDRC (2013c), "国家发展改革委关于发挥价格杠杆作用促进光伏产业健康发展的通知,发改价 格[2013]1638 号:NDRC: The Announcement of Using Leverage Pricing to develop a Healthy Solar Power Industry",

26 August 2013, accessed at: http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/zfdj/jggg/dian/t20130830_556127.htm

State Administration of Technology and Industry for National Defence (SASTIND), official introduction, accessed at: <u>http://www.sastind.gov.cn/n4240/index.html</u>

State Assets Supervision and Administration Commission, "*Main Functions and Responsibilities*", accessed at: <u>http://www.sasac.gov.cn/n2963340/n2963393/2965120.html</u>

State Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (SASAC) (2005), "中海油服赢得中菲越 三国南海协议区共同开发项目 CNOOC wins the joint projects with Philippines and Vietnamese oil companies", August 2005, accessed at: http://www.sasac.gov.cn/n1180/n1226/n2410/n314274/1304434.html

State Council, PRC (2013), "中华人民共和国能源发展十二五中长期规划 The Twelfth Five Years Plan in Energy Sector, PRC" 23 January 2013, accessed at http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2013-01/23/content_2318554.htm

State Council (2013), "*国务院关于促进光伏产业健康发展的若干意见*, Advices from the State Council on Developing a Healthy Solar Power Industry" 15 July 2013, accessed at http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2013-07/15/content_2447814.htm

State Oceanic Administration(SOA) (2013), "国家海洋局主要职责 SOA's main responsibilities" July 2013, accessed at: <u>http://www.soa.gov.cn/zwgk/bjgk/jgzz/201212/t20121201_16732.html</u>

b)From the European Union and Member States:

European Commission For Climate Action (DG Clima), "What we do", accessed at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/clima/about-us/mission/index_en.htm</u>

European Commission (2003), "A Maturing Partnership: Shared Interests and Challenges in EU-China Relations", Brussels: Communication of the Commission: Document No. Com (2003) 533/final

European Commission (2004), "Preliminary Assessment of the People's Republic of China's Request for Graduation to Market Economy Status in Trade Defence Investigations", Brussels: Communication of the Commission June 2004

European Commission (2005a), "Joint Declaration on the EU-China Partnership on Climate Change, Brussels: 2 September 2005, accessed at: <u>http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-05-298_en.htm</u>

European Commission (2005b), "EU-China Dialogue on Energy and Transportation Strategies, Memoradom of Understanding (MOU), 8 September 2005 accessd at : <u>http://ec.europa.eu/energy/international/bilateral_cooperation/china/doc/dialogue/2005_mou_eu_chin</u> <u>a_energy_transport_strategies.pdf</u>

European Commission (2006), "EU-China Closer Partners, growing responsibilities", Brussels: Communication of the Commission: Document No. Com (2006) 631/Final

European Commission (2009a), "Demonstrating Carbon Capture and Geological Storage in Emerging Developing Countries: Financing the EU-China Near Zero Emission Coal Plant Project", Brussels: Com/2009/0284/FIN, accessed at: <u>http://www.ipex.eu/IPEXL-</u> WEB/dossier/document.do?code=COM&year=2009&number=284&extension=FIN

European Commission (2009b), "Press Release: Questions and Answers on Demonstrating Carbon Capture and Geological Storage in Emerging Developing Countries: Financing the EU-China Near Zero Emission Coal Plant Project", MEMO 09/295, 25 June 2009, accessed at: http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_MEMO-09-295_en.htm?locale=en

European Commission (2011), "Summary of the contributions the European Commission's public consultation on the future investment relationship between the EU and China", July 2011, accessed at: http://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2011/december/tradoc_148394.pdf

European Commission (2012a), *"Trade Defence: Investigations"*, 2012, accessed at <u>http://trade.ec.europa.eu.tdi/index.cfm?sta=21&en=38&page=28&c_order=date</u>

European Commission (2012b), "Joint Declaration on The EU-China Partnership on Urbanisation", 3 May 2012, accessed at:

http://ec.europa.eu/energy/international/bilateral_cooperation/china/doc/20120503_eu_china_joint_de claration_urbanisation_en.pdf

European Commission (2013), Environmental Cooperation, 14 February 2013, accessed at http://ec.europa.eu/environment/international_issues/relations_china_en.htm

European Commission (2014), "*DG Clima Management Plan 2014*",pp 4, accessed at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/synthesis/amp/doc/clima_mp_en.pdf</u>

European External Action Services (EEAS) (2010), "*EU-China CDM Facilitation Project*" 3 February, 2010, accessed at: <u>http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/china/documents/projects/1_eu-china_cdm_facilitation_project_fiche.pdf</u>

European External Action Services (EEAS) (2013), "EU-China 2020 Strategic Agenda for Cooperation", accessed at : <u>http://eeas.europa.eu/china/docs/eu-china_2020_strategic_agenda_en.pdf</u>

European Parliament and the Council (2009), "On the efforts of Member States to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions to meet the Community's greenhouse gas emission reduction commitments up to 2020" Decision No.406/2009, 23 April 2009, accessed at <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32009D0406&from=EN</u>

The European Union (2000), "Press Release: EU-China Summit, Beijing 23th October 2000", accessed at: http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-00-1202_en.htm

Gov.UK (2011), "*Partners in Low Carbon, High Growth Development*" *11 April 2011*, pp1-9, accessed at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/198166/110404_SPF_c</u> ase_studies_Publication_ENG.pdf

GOV.UK (2013a), "*Press Release: £5.6billion worth of deals signed in China*" 3 December 2013, accessed at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/56-billion-worth-of-deals-signed-in-china</u>